
 
Town of Waynesville, NC  
Board of Aldermen Regular Meeting 
Town Hall, 9 South Main Street, Waynesville, NC  28786                           
Date:      August 11, 2020            Time:  6:30 p.m.  

 

 
The agenda and all related documentation may be accessed electronically at www.waynesvillenc.gov.  

Click on “Government/Mayor & Board” to download materials for town board meetings. 
 

Consider the environment    Conserve resources    Print only when necessary 
 

The Town of Waynesville provides accessible facilities, programs and services for all people, in compliance with the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA). Should you need assistance or accommodation for this meeting, please contact the Town Clerk at:  

 (828) 452-2491 eward@waynesvillenc.gov  
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER - Mayor Gary Caldwell 
 
1. Welcome/Calendar/Announcements 
 
 
2. Adoption of Minutes 
 

 Motion:  To approve the minutes of the July 28th, 2020 regular meeting as 
 presented (or as corrected) 
 
 

B. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
C. PRESENTATION 
 
3.  Presentation of Scholarships to Fire Fighters 

•  Joey Webb, Fire Chief 
 
 

D. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
4. Presentation and Public Hearing on the Town of Waynesville Comprehensive Plan, 

Waynesville 2035:  Planning with Purpose  
• Elizabeth Teague, Development Services Director 
 
 
 *There will be no motion as this is the first of two public hearings on this topic; 

the next public hearing will be on September 8, 2020.  
 

http://www.waynesvillenc.gov/
mailto:eward@waynesvillenc.gov


TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE – REGULAR SESSION AGENDA 
August 11, 2020 

- 2 - 
 

Agenda Posted August 6th, 2020  Page 2 of 2 

E. NEW BUSINESS 
 
5. Budget Amendment for W. Marshall Street Restrooms 

• Dean Trader, Interim Finance Director 
 
  Motion:  To approve Amendment number 2 to the Fiscal Year 2020-2021  
  Budget for the construction of restrooms at the park on W. Marshall Street  
 
 
6.  Career Track Exception for Experienced Officers Onboarding to Town of Waynesville 

• David Adams, Police Chief 
 
  Motion:  To approve the exception to the two year career track progression for  
  an officer who may have previous experience when joining the Waynesville  
  Police Department.   
 
7. Approval of Grant Match - Law Enforcement Education Foundation Equipment Grant 

• Lt. Chris Chandler, Police Department  
 
  Motion: To approve the transfer of Federal Forfieture Funds to cover the  
  match costs of $5,038.75 to purchase 25 FirstVu HD Body Cameras, a 12 Bay  
  docking station, 25 magnet mounts and 25 Professional Service fees.    
 
  Motion:  To approve Amendment number 3 to the Fiscal Year 2020-2021  
  Budget to move Forfeiture Funds to the General Fund for grant matching.  
 
 
F.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM STAFF 
 
8.  Manager’s Report 

• Manager Rob Hites 
 
 

9. Town Attorney Report 

• Town Attorney Bill Cannon 
 
 
G. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR AND BOARD 
 
 
 
H. ADJOURN 

 



 

 

 
CALENDAR 

August 2020 

 

2020 

Tuesday August 11 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Tuesday August 25 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Monday September 7 Town Offices Closed – Labor Day 

Tuesday September 8 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Tuesday September 22 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Tuesday October 13 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Tuesday October 27 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Thursday October 31 First UMC Trunk or Treat 

Tuesday November 10 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

Wednesday November 11 Town Offices Closed – Veterans Day 

Tuesday November 24 Board of Alderman Meeting- Regular Session 

November 26 & 27th Town Offices Closed – Thanksgiving Holidays 

Tuesday December 8 Board of Aldermen Meeting – Regular Session 

December 24, 25 & 28th Town Closed – Christmas Holidays 

  

Saturday June 5, 2021 Oasis Shriners Spring Celebration Parade  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE 

PO Box 100 

16 South Main Street 

Waynesville, NC  28786 

 Phone (828) 452-2491 • Fax (828) 456-2000 

www.waynesvillenc.gov 
 



 

BoA Calendar 

August 2020 

 

Board and Commission Meetings – August 2020 

 

ABC Board 

 

ABC Office – 52 Dayco Drive August 18th 

3
rd
 Tuesdays    

10:00 AM 

Board of Adjustment  

 

Town Hall – 9 S. Main Street August 4th 

1
st
 Tuesdays     

5:30 PM 

Downtown Waynesville 

Association 

 

UCB Board Room – 165 North Main 

 

August 27th 

4
th
 Thursdays 

12 Noon 

Firefighters Relief Fund Board Fire Station 1 – 1022 N. Main Street Meets as needed;  

No meeting currently scheduled  

 

Historic Preservation Commission Town Hall – 9 S. Main Street August 5th 

1
st
 Wednesdays      

2:00 PM 

Planning Board Town Hall – 9 S. Main Street August 17th 

3
rd
 Mondays  

5:30 PM 

Public Art Commission Town Hall – 9 S. Main Street August 13th 

2
nd

 Thursdays    

4:00 PM 

Recreation & Parks Advisory 

Commission 

Rec Center Office – 550 Vance Street August 19th 

3
rd
 Wednesdays     

5:30 PM 

Waynesville Housing Authority Waynesville Towers – 65 Church Street August 11th 

2
nd

 Tuesday 

3:30 PM 

 

  

 

BOARD/STAFF SCHEDULE 

 

August 3 – August 5 Town Manager – Vacation   

     



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN 
Regular Meeting 
July 28th, 2020 

 
THE WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN held a regular meeting on Tuesday, July 28th, 2020 

at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall Board Room, located at 9 South Main Street, Waynesville, NC.  
 
A.  CALL TO ORDER  
 
Mayor Gary Caldwell called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm with the following members present: 
  Mayor Gary Caldwell 
  Mayor Pro Tem Julia Freeman  
  Alderman Anthony Sutton 
  Alderman Jon Feichter  
  Alderman Chuck Dickson  
 
The following staff members were present: 
  Rob Hites, Town Manager 
  Amie Owens, Assistant Town Manager 
  Eddie Ward, Town Clerk 
  Acting Town Attorney Mark Wilson 
  Ben Turnmire, Finance Director 
  Fire Chief Joey Webb 
  Assistant Fire Chief Chris Mehaffey 
  Chief David Adams 
  Lt. Brandon Gilmore 
  Byron Hickox, Land Use Administrator 
  Rhett Langston, Parks and Recreation Director 
  Brittany Angel, HR Specialist 
  Autumn Lyvers, Financial Analyst 
   
The following media representatives were present: 
  Becky Johnson, The Mountaineer  
   
 1.   Welcome/Calendar/Announcements 
 
Mayor Caldwell welcomed everyone and thanked them for coming.  The only announcement was the 
cancellation of the Drug Epidemic Awareness Walk on August 23. 
                                 
2. Adoption of Minutes 
 

A motion was made by Alderman Anthony Sutton, seconded by Alderman Chuck 
Dickson, to approve the minutes of the June 23rd, 2020 Regular Meeting as 
presented.  The motion carried unanimously.   



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 2 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

B. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Diana Gordon 
80 Candler Street 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Gordon expressed concerns about her safety and the safety of her cats.  She discussed actions 
that had been taken by the Police Department with signs she had placed outside the Police 
Department. 
 
 

Donna Corso 
59 Cortland Court 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Corso spoke to the Board concerning the harmful effects of 5G technology.  She said the new 
technology will require small cell antennas to be erected every few houses in neighborhoods.  These 
antennas will emit a constant stream of microwave radiation  daily that could be harmful to children 
and adults.  Ms. Corso urged the Board to take this issue seriously and ban 5G deployment in the 
Town of Waynesville. 
 

Jesse-Lee Dunlap 
28 Georgia Avenue 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Dunlap gave examples of fascism and said all elected leaders needed to decisively state which 
side they are on.  She said she was antifascist and favored standing up against groups that were 
fascists.  She told the Board she wanted it to be clear that she stood for her community, mutual aid, 
sustainability, and self-determination.   
 
 

Beth Elsey 
101 Ninevah Road 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Elsey said the she and other people in her neighborhood are very concerned about traffic along 
this road.  She said she had problems pulling out of her own driveway because of the speeders.  She 
named several things that could be done in the area including speed bumps and signs.  She stated she 
would like to see something done to slow the traffic on the road. 
 
 
 
 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 3 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

Abigail Ahlberg 
612 Dellwood Road 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Ahlberg gave a personal story about a homeless friend of hers and getting to know some of the 
homeless people in Frog Level.  She asked the Board to consider funding for the homeless and a low 
barrier shelter. 
 

Kelly Coe 
Homeless 

 
Ms. Coe said that she did not have an address because she was homeless.  She had concerns about 
the behavior and language of some of the Police during a confrontation she was involved in.  Also, 
she said that is was not fair the way some of the homeless were given a place to stay and others were 
not.  
 

Joey Reece 
108 Maple Street 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Mr. Reece addressed the Budget Amendment that was on the agenda for approval for Amy Murphy-
Nugen for her role on the Homelessness Task Force.  He said that he had understood that the Task 
Force would be a voluntary Task Force, and now the facilitator would be paid a large sum of money.  
He said it is bad timing to be spending money for a part time facilitator and he would be speaking 
with board members privately regarding his continued participation on the task force.   
 

Peggy Hannah 
268 Hemlock Street 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Hannah asked the Board to look at a map she has made concerning properties with vacant houses 
that the homeless and addicts have occupied.  She said she had asked several times that something 
be done to alleviate this problem, and nothing has been done.  She asked that the Board have 
someone come and evaluate the situation because it is getting worse daily.  
 

Dillion Packer 
431 Georgia Avenue 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Mr. Packer told the Board that the fascism in this County is affecting everyone.  As a taxpayer he said 
he wanted to see his money at work for tried and true community service.  He wants to see financial 
support for the homeless population as well as harm reduction.  He said that he felt that if the Town 
didn’t act now, it would get worse before it gets better. 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 4 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

 
Melissa Tinsley 

1277 Brown Avenue 
Waynesville, NC  28786 

 
Ms.  Tinsley  expressed her concerns about commercial traffic issues on Brown Avenue.  She said she 
would like for the Board to work with the residents to make that area safer for everyone. 
  

Bo Prevost 
28 Lodge Lane 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Prevost commented about the traffic and speeding along Ninevah Road, Chelsea Road, and 
Country Club drive.   She said that there was a tremendous amount of traffic and speeding on these 
roads.  She said most citizens are senior citizens and it is very dangerous for them.  She named several 
streets in the area that she feels that the speed limits are not adhered to. 
 

Casey Valentine Steffen 
Allen’s Creek Road 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 
Ms. Steffen said she worked with several organizations that treat substance abuse disorders.  She 
thanked the Board for putting forth an effort in finding and applying for grants to help funding for the 
homeless.  She said she appreciated the development of the Task Force and even with the onset of 
COVID -19, around thirty homeless individuals have been housed.   She said this would be a 
continuous effort to help the homeless and there is a lot of work to be done. 
 
C.  CALL FOR PUBLIC HEARING  
 
3. Call for a Presentation and Public Hearings on the Town of Waynesville Comprehensive Plan,  

Waynesville 2035:  Planning with Purpose to take place August 11 and September 8, 2020. 
• Byron Hickox , Land Use Administrator 

 
Byron Hickox, Land Use Administrator, told the Board that at a special called meeting on June 29th, 
2020, the Planning Board made a unanimous recommendation to the Board of Aldermen to adopt 
the updated Comprehensive Plan as provided.  This draft was developed from the work of the 
Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee, a team of consultants of Stewart, JM Teague, and Chipley 
Consulting, and over a year of Planning Board review, discussion and editing.  He stated that at the 
August 11, 2020 hearing, lead consultant, Jake Petrosky of Stewart will be present to discuss major 
concepts of the plan and answer questions, and the Board can hear initial comments.  At the 
September 8, 2020 hearing, the Board may hear any additional comments and consider adoption.  
This approach will allow for a 30-day period of public review and an opportunity for staff to make any 
edits the Board sees necessary for adoption. 
      



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 5 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

A motion was made by Alderman Chuck Dickson, seconded by Alderman Julia 
Freeman, to call for a public hearing on Tuesday, August 11, 2020 and September 8, 
2020 beginning at 6:30 p.m. or as closely thereafter as possible in the Town Hall 
Board Room located at 9 South Main Street, Waynesville.   The purpose of the public 
hearing is for a presentation on the Town of Waynesville Comprehensive Plan, 
“Waynesville 2035: Planning with Purpose”.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
D. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
4. Conditional District Map Amendment Application submitted by Ingles Markets located at 856 

Russ Avenue, 135 Barber Boulevard, 259 Barber Boulevard, 75 Barber Boulevard, and two 
additional vacant outparcels 

 
Acting Attorney Mark Wilson opened the Public Hearing at 7:12 pm. 
 
Byron Hickox Land Use Administrator Presented the following staff report to the Board. 
 
The project will expand the Ingles Shopping Center within the existing  footprint  of their  conditional 
district designation and increase it by adding the former Barber residence and orchard property . This 
request also includes a pylon sign within an easement on the current Chick-Fil-A property, which is 
owned by Swannanoa Valley LLC. If approved, the Ingles Russ Avenue Regional Center Conditional 
District (RC-CD) would expand and amend the existing Conditional District Master Plan. 
 
At its June 15, 2020 meeting the Planning Board: 
 
1. Adopted a Consistency Statement indicating that the project is reasonable and consistent with 

the 2020 Land Development Plan. 
2. Recommended to the Board  of Aldermen  Approval  of the Application  for Conditional  District 

Map Amendment submitted by Ingles Markets, Inc. 
 
The project will cover 35.44 acres, of which 23.89 is already part of the Conditional District Master 
Plan, expanding the shopping center toward the Garrett-Hillcrest cemetery. The applicant has 
provided an environmental survey, a master plan and elevations in accordance with the major site 
plan application requirements. The applicant has provided a map amendment application, proof of 
unified control over the property, a project narrative and a completed Statement of Consistency  
Worksheet indicating belief in the project' s reasonableness and consistency with the Land Use Plan. 
 
The application and plan covers the extent of the conditions and requests being submitted as part of 
the design and the text amendments as would apply to the area of the Master Plan, including: 
 
1. Section 5.10.3.C.2 - Applicant requests building glazing spacing of more than 20 ' for Retail 

#2,#3, and #4. 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 6 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

2. Section 8.6.2.B - Applicant requests alternative compliance to allow interior parking lot 
plantings greater than 40' from each parking space to allow for underground stormwater 
retention. Applicant has agreed to supplement additional plantings in existing landscaped 
islands and along the boundary with the cemetery property. 

3. Section 9.3 - Applicant requests parking be allowed in front of interior building s, which is 
consistent with what has already been permitted. 

4. Section 11.6.2 and 11.7.1.E - Applicant requests allowance for an additional master 
development ground sign exceeding 160 square feet and exceeding the limit of one per major 
road frontage. 

 
Buildings address an internal roadway system of Barber Boulevard, Frazier Street, interior drives, and 
parking lots. Interior driveway widths range from 20" to 25' and provide access to parking areas and 
to accommodate emergency vehicles. Proposed buildings  will be served by expansions of existing 
parking lots and two newly created parking lots coming off of Frazier Street. (LDS 4.3.1) 
 
Sidewalks are provided along the frontages of proposed new buildings with connecting sidewalks 
running between the driveways at Barber Boulevard and Frazier Street. Additional connecting 
sidewalk segments should be supplemented to connect Retail #3 and #4 to Frazier Street. (LDS 6.8 
and 9.4.4) 
 
A transit stop is already provided, and Haywood Transit stops at the Ingles  store on daily routes. The 
developer has agreed to locate a second transit stop to serve Retail #3, #4, #15, and #16 in 
coordination with Haywood County Transit to determine the location that works best for the 
ridership and the development. (LDS 6.4.3) 
 
As part of the NCDOT Russ Avenue improvement project, existing sidewalk along Russ Avenue will be 
replaced and the width of Frazier Street will be widened to include an additional tum lane. The 
proposal uses the existing three access points to Russ Avenue (Frazier Street, the access Road 
between the bank and Chick-Fil-A, and Barber Boulevard) and the existing Barber Boulevard access at 
Howell Mill Road. Since Russ Avenue and Howell Mill are state rights-of-way, the developer must 
submit a Traffic Impact Analysis to NCDOT for evaluation to determine if any additional traffic control 
requirements are needed for these access points to accommodate the expanded use of the site. 
 
The proposed development will install underground utilities and meet Duke Energy's standards. The 
site is served by Town of Waynesville water and sewer.  There are 4 existing hydrants on the site.  The 
developer has agreed to add more in the vicinity of Retail #3 and 34. Additional hydrants may be 
required by Waynesville's Fire Chief as part of the building permits. (LDS 6.11) 
 
The development will require a State Erosion and Sedimentation and Control Plan and must comply 
with the Town of Waynesville's Stormwater Ordinance. Stormwater will be managed by existing 
management measures (including two surface retention facilities) as well as a proposed underground 
retention system. The stormwater management plan and facilities must receive final approval from 
the Town Engineer. (LDS 6.11.6, 12.4, and 12.5) 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 7 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

The proposed project will expand usage of the existing development as originally permitted with a 
Conditional District Plan approved in 201 1 and revised in 2017. Elevations reflect a continuation of 
the same architectural style to maintain a consistent appearance throughout the development. 
 
Commercial buildings are an allowable building type within the RA-RC District and are described by 
the LDS Section 5.5.6 as follows: 
 
 The commercial building type provides convenient automobile access from the fronting 

thoroughfare, while minimizing impacts of parking lots on an active pedestrian realm. The uses 
permitted within the building are determined by the District in which it is located. The 
Commercial Building typically has four yards (front yard; two side yards; and rear yard) and 
can accommodate a limited amount of parking in the front yard with the remainder to the 
side and rear of the building. 

 
 The proposed commercial buildings appear to meet the Commercial Building Design  
 Guidelines . The materials are primarily standard brick, stacked stone, and cementitious fiber 

board.  Concrete masonry units (CMU) and exterior insulation finishing systems (EIFS) are used 
as secondary building materials . The heavier materials are placed below the lighter materials 
as required.  (LDS 5.10) 

 
In compliance with the LDS, the developer is proposing a landscaped parking lot screen along the 
northern boundary of the development. This screen consists of a dense evergreen hedge and canopy 
trees planted with a maximum spacing of 30' on center. This landscaping is intended to screen 
adjacent properties from car lights and glare. 
 
Because of the size, scale, and number of new businesses proposed within this new development, the 
applicant is proposing a large monument sign 194.2 square feet in area and 22 feet 11 inches tall to 
be located at the intersection of Russ Avenue and Frazier Street. The proposed sign does not meet 
the location or size standards for the following reasons: (1) Off-premise  signs  are prohibited .  This 
sign would be located on the existing Chick-Fil-A property and would contain signage for several 
business located on separate parcels. (2) The maximum size for a master development sign for 
developments 5 acres or greater is 160 square feet and 25 feet tall. As previously noted, at 194.2 
square feet, the proposed sign exceeds this maximum area by 34.2 square feet. Additionally, only one 
master development sign is permitted per street frontage. Therefore, even if the Chick-Fil-A parcel 
was combined with the others to create one large lot, this proposed sign would be the second master 
development sign located along the Russ Avenue frontage. 
 
Staff submits that this Conditional District request is consistent with the Town of Waynesville's 2020 
Land Development Plan in that the proposed development due to: 
 
• "Concentrates commercial with residential development along transportation corridors 

allowing for a mix of uses..."(p. 4-3) 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 8 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

• Creates "infill development in the Town of Waynesville as an alternative to continued outward 
expansion."(p. 4-4) 

 
• Re-uses and improves an existing commercial site promoting the "orderly growth, 

development, and enhanced land values of the Town." (p. 4-4) 
 
•        "Develops alternative transportation opportunities."(p. 4-9) 
 
Staff suggests that this project is reasonable and in the public good in that it: 
 
• Builds out an existing shopping center. 
 
• Re-uses the Barber residence and orchard site, improving an area that is currently blighted 

and is a source of policing concerns. 
 
• Creates new economic opportunities that will create jobs and additional tax revenue for the 

Town. 
 
• Focuses intense development near the Great Smoky Mountains Expressway (U.S. 23/74) and 

on a major transportation corridor. 
 
The representatives for Ingle’s Markets Preston Kendall, Construction Project Manager, John Cox, P.E. 
Land Planning Associates and Martha Bradley, Attorney, Hall Booth Smith answered questions from 
the Board concerning the project.  They discussed the proposed retail shops and restaurants along 
with the landscaping, parking, and renovation of the old Belk Building.  
 
Following the presentation by Ingle’s Market’s representatives, Acting Town Attorney Mark Wilson 
asked if there were any individuals who wished to speak.   
 
The Board had questions including the proposed time frame to begin the project and any issues that 
may arise from two projects going on simultaneously on either end of Russ Avenue – one being this 
project and the other construction of apartments in the former Bi-Lo plaza.  
 
Representatives noted that they would like to start as soon as possible and most of the work would 
be done away from Russ Avenue; however, there would be construction vehicular traffic for some 
time, but that all measures would be taken to minimize delays and run off and would work within 
the NCDOT Russ Avenue changes slated for 2022.   
 
Attorney Wilson asked if anyone from the public wished to speak.  
 

Casey Valentine Steffen 
Allen’s Creek Road 

Waynesville, NC  28786 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 9 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

Ms. Steffen asked if during any of the construction there were artifacts or burial items found would 
the construction stop for study by experts.  Ingle’s representatives answered that they would stop 
as it is statutorily required to do so.  
 
Attorney Wilson closed the public hearing at 7:53 p.m.  
 
Attorney Wilson reminded the board members that they had the duty to consider their consistency 
statement based on whether the project was consistent with the 2020 Land Development standards 
and in the public’s best interest.    
 

A motion was made by Alderman Anthony Sutton, seconded by Alderman Julia 
Freeman to adopt a Consistency Statement indicating that the project is reasonable 
and consistent with the 2020 Land Development Plan as the project: 
 • "Concentrates commercial with residential development along 
transportation corridors allowing for a mix of uses..."(p. 4-3) 
• Creates "infill development in the Town of Waynesville as an alternative to 
continued outward expansion."(p. 4-4) 
• Re-uses and improves an existing commercial site promoting the "orderly 
growth, development, and enhanced land values of the Town." (p. 4-4) 
•        "Develops alternative transportation opportunities."(p. 4-9) 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
A motion was made by Alderman Jon Feichter, seconded by Alderman Anthony 
Sutton to find that the project is reasonable and in the public good in that it: 

• Builds out an existing shopping center. 
• Re-uses the Barber residence and orchard site, improving an area that is 
currently blighted and is a source of policing concerns. 
• Creates new economic opportunities that will create jobs and additional tax 
revenue for the Town. 
• Focuses intense development near the Great Smoky Mountains Expressway 
(U.S. 23/74) and on a major transportation corridor. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
A motion was made by Alderman Jon Feichter, seconded by Alderman Anthony 
Sutton to approve the Conditional District Map Amendment for the Ingle’s Shopping 
Center at Russ Avenue and Barber Boulevard for the reasons noted in the Consistency 
Statement and approved by two motions previously.  The motion carried 
unanimously. 

 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 10 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

E. NEW BUSINESS 
 
5. Request Approval of The Mercer Group to administer the Classification and Compensation 

Study 

• Amie Owens, Assistant Town Manager 
 
Assistant Town Manager Amie Owens said that at the February 2020 Board Retreat, the Board 
approved consideration of the classification and compensation study.  At the March 10, 2020 meeting, 
the Board approved moving forward with the RFP process.  Eleven (11) submissions were received on 
April 17, 2020.  All the packets were reviewed based on criteria outlined in the RFP including 
responsiveness, experience, cost, methodology, schedule for the project and references.    The 
submissions were reduced to a top 3 and each group was contacted by Assistant Town Manager 
Owens following assessment score sheet completion.  
 
The Mercer Group is the recommended partner for the project.  This group was solid in methodology, 
had a tool available for use with all positions, has done work in WNC,  and all references were positive.    
 
Phillip Robertson, Senior Vice President, The Mercer Group, called in to the meeting and provided an 
overview of the process and answered questions from the Board.    
 

A motion was made by Alderman Anthony Sutton, seconded by Alderman  Julia 
Freeman, to approve The Mercer Group to administer the Classification and 
Compensation Study and approve contract to begin effective July 28, 2020.  The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by Alderman Chuck Dickson, seconded by Alderman Anthony 
Sutton to approve the comparable employers for the market analysis.  The motion 
carried unanimously.  

 
 
6. West Marshall Street Restroom Project – Award of Contract 

• Rhett Langston, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
Rhett Langston, Parks and Recreation Director stated that he was presenting a contract for 
Construction of a public restroom facility located near the park on W. Marshall St. in Waynesville.  The 
proposed structure has been approved at an earlier board meeting this year, and  will consist of a slab 
on grade, wooden framed structure that will take the place of the mobile restrooms that are currently 
being utilized at the park.  The aesthetic appearance of the restrooms will mimic closely to the newly 
constructed restrooms in downtown Hazelwood.      
 
The project was advertised for three weeks in which local contractors were solicited to bid.  From that 
advertisement, only two contractors chose to bid.  The project was issued again for bid in an attempt 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 11 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

to receive a minimum of three bids.  After an additional two weeks there were four bids received as 
follows:  
 
- Shick Construction:           $135,480.00 
- Clint Watkins Construction:      $137,500.00 
- Live Edge Builders:         $163,556.00 
- Lowell Ball, Inc.:    $180,000.00 
 

A motion was made by Alderman Anthony Sutton, seconded by Alderman Jon 
Feichter, to approve contract to Shick Construction in the amount of $135,480.00.  
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

 Due to the fact that there was only $90,000 budgeted for this bathroom project, a budget 
 amendment will be required prior to contract award.  The budget amendment will be brought 
 forth at the August 11, 2020 meeting.    
 
7. Agreement to use water supply Balsam Willets Ochre Hill Fire Department 

• Joey Webb, Fire Chief 
 
Chief Joey Webb explained to the Board that in 2011 Balsam Willets Ochre Hill Fire Department 
requested permission to have access to the fire hydrant located at the NCDOT rest area on Highway 
23/74, for the purpose of filling fire trucks during emergency calls in the northeast section of their fire 
district which borders Haywood County. 
 
For this water access point to meet the NC Department of Insurance requirement, Balsam Fire 
Department needed a simple agreement indicating that Balsam Fire Department has been given 
permission to use the water point. 
 
Balsam Fire Department is getting ready for their upcoming Inspection / Survey with the NC Rating 
Division and would like to renew said agreement that had been signed in 2011 by Town Manager Lee 
Galloway.  Balsam Fire Department has responded to several fires in Waynesville providing mutual 
aid for water supply and manpower. Chief Webb said that they have provided backup coverage for 
Waynesville and Saunook during previous fires. 
 
 

A motion was made by Alderman Anthony Sutton, seconded by Alderman Chuck 
 Dickson  to approve the agreement with Balsam Willets Ochre Hill Fire Department  
 as presented.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 12 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

8. Appointments to Boards and Commissions 

• Amie Owens, Assistant Town Manager 
 
The Aldermen were provided with ballots at their seats and asked to fill them out so that they could 
be tallied during the meeting.  The names listed below are those who received the most votes for 
appointment.   
 
ABC Board  - one vacancy -  3-yr term ending June 30, 2023   
   Jack Swanger 
  
Cemetery Committee – seven vacancies – initial appointment for all members – in order to properly 
stagger terms, names were drawn by lot.  
 
 (2) appointees - 1-yr term ending June 30, 2021 
 Elizabeth (Buzzy) Atkinson 
 Randy Mathis 
 
 (2) appointees - 2-yr term ending June 30, 2022 
 James (Jim) Burke 
 Warren Putnam 
 
 (3) appointees - 3-yr term ending June 30, 2023 
 Edwin Fish 
 Sandy Giles 
 William (Bill) Revis 
 
Historic Preservation Commission – two vacancies - 3-yr. term ending June 30, 2023  
 William (Bill) Revis 
 Merritt Tonger 
 
Planning Board – three vacancies – one must be ETJ representative - 3-yr term ending June 30, 2023  
 (2) appointees - Town representatives 
 John Thornton (Tommy) Thomas, Jr. 
 Gregory Wheeler 
    

(1) Appointee - ETJ Representative 
  Stuart Bass 
 
 
Public Art Commission – three vacancies - 3-yr term ending June 30, 2023 
 Steve Lloyd 
 Vicki Mangieri 
 Sam McCarson 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 13 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

Recreation Advisory Board – four vacancies - 3-yr term ending June 30, 2023 
 Eva Hansen 
 Dan Schultz 
 William (Bill) Skelton 
 Laura Turner 
 
 
Waynesville Housing Authority – one vacancy - 5-yr term ending June 30, 2025 
 Jamye Sheppard 
 
 
Zoning Board of Adjustment  - one vacancy for an Alternate position - 3-yr term ending June 30, 2023  
 Robert Herrmann 
 

A motion was made by Alderman Chuck Dickson, seconded by Alderman Anthony 
Sutton to appoint the following applicants to the Boards and Commissions as 
indicated above. The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
F. COMMUNICATIONS FROM STAFF 
 
9. Manager’s Report 

• Manager Rob Hites 
 
Renewal of Forest Steward’s Contract to Manage Watershed 
 
Town Manager Rob Hites explained to the Board that Forest Stewards has been performing forest 
management and academic research in Waynesville’s watershed for several years. He said that they 
conduct surface water quality testing and forest management practices such as thinning of white pine 
to encourage growth of hardwoods, and removal of non- native species such as Oriental Bittersweet. 
Their goal is to re- establish a hardwood forest. They propose a $42,000 per annum contract, the 
same contract amount as last year. 
 

 A motion was made by Alderman Julia Freeman, seconded by Alderman Chuck 
Dickson, to approve the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 contract with Forest Stewards in the 
amount of $42,000.00  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
Update Related to Sales Tax 
 
Finance Director Ben Turnmire provided an abbreviated update related to sales tax revenues from April 
2020.  He noted that there was a 10.5% decline in sales tax for the month.  This followed a decline of 9% 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 14 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

 in March.  Mr. Turnmire cautioned that May’s numbers could also be into the double-digit losses as 
 well.  The impact of the COVID-19 shutdowns will be felt for some time to come.  

 
Mr. Turnmire also added that there were 570 letters that will be sent out to individuals with 
delinquent account balances encouraging them to set up payment plans.  The amount of these 
delinquencies impacts the town by approximately $1 million dollars.  Town Manager Hites and  
 
Town Manager Hites introduced Autumn Lyvers, Financial Analyst, who will be assisting Interim 
Finance Director Dean Trader.  Ms. Lyvers has a master’s degree in Accounting and worked for 
multiple years in Buncombe County’s finance office.   
 
 
10.     Town Attorney Report 

• Acting Town Attorney Mark Wilson 
 
 Attorney Wilson had nothing to report.  
 
 
G.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR AND BOARD 
 
11.       Consulting Proposals for Town of Waynesville Task Force on Homelessness 

• Dr. Amy Murphy-Nugen 
 
Dr.  Amy Murphy-Nugen was selected to be the consultant for the Task Force on Homelessness when 
it was first formed.  She has drafted two proposals to fund the activities of the Taskforce on 
Homelessness. Option A in the amount of $53,487.50 and Option B in the amount of $32,287.50. The 
major difference between the proposals is the time budgeted for community interaction.  
 
Dr. Murphy-Nugen’s hourly rate is proposed to be $100 per hour, with $4,487.50 budgeted for travel 
and supplies. Dr. Murphy-Nugen outlined her proposals in the information in the packet. 
 
Manager Hites said that if either option is selected, a budget amendment will need to be completed. 
Two sample budget amendments have been prepared for the Board’s consideration. 
 
  A motion was made by Alderman Jon Feichter, seconded by Alderman  
  Anthony Sutton to approve the contract with Dr. Murphy-Nugen  and  
  funding proposal option A.  
 
  A motion was made by Alderman Anthony Sutton, seconded by Alderman 
  Chuck Dickson to approve Ordinance O-10-20 in the amount of $53,500.   
  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 15 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

12. Consideration of televising Board Meetings 
• Alderman Chuck Dickson 
• Alderman Jon Feichter 
 

Alderman Chuck Dickson opened discussion related to the televising of Board of Aldermen meetings 
by explaining that there were three distinct opportunities presented such as:  including individuals 
who cannot come to the meetings; meet people where they are – online; and to reach out to those 
who do not know what we (the Board) do.   
 
Alderman Chuck Dickson illustrated that there are many challenges for some to come to the meetings 
such as physical disabilities, transportation issues, busy schedules, young children, involvement with 
sports or school activities and now COVID-19 safety concerns.  Secondly, people’s lives have become 
more digital – people engage in different ways now.  Most activities are online; the average American 
spends 24 hours a week online.  He noted that there are many people who don’t read the newspapers 
and that the newspapers cannot carry all that we do each meeting.  While the written minutes are 
online and tell what we did but not about how and the process and how we arrived at the decision.  
Televising meetings will give the whole picture for each item on the agenda quickly and efficiently.  
Finally, there are misperceptions of what the Board does.  While campaigning, Alderman Chuck 
Dickson was presented with the question of what does the town board do?  Televising meetings 
would help to educate people on what the board does and assist with demystifying government.   
Alderman Chuck Dickson acknowledged that with more transparency comes the potential for more 
criticism, but also allows viewers to see that the Board tries hard, sometimes have to make difficult 
decisions, and are dedicated to their positions and making the community and the quality of life 
better for citizens. 
 
Alderman Jon Feichter added that he has looked at this from many perspectives including legal 
aspects.  He noted that in looking at the technology of this whole process there are lots of ways that 
we can do this (televising).  Alderman Jon Feichter added that such a change would be easy and 
relatively inexpensive to do.  Meetings could be online in real-time.  This becomes another way for 
citizens to participate in our government.  He commented that he looked forward to hearing from 
other board members and talking about it again.  The goal is to schedule some presentations at future 
meetings to see if the Board could get used to the idea.   

 
13.  Discussion about speeding/traffic 

• Alderman Jon Feichter 
 
Alderman Jon Feichter explained that since the last Board meeting, he had had three individuals 
contact him about speeding and other traffic issues.  He proposed that due to the increase in 
complaints from citizens that the Town approach the issues using a process much like for the 
Cemetery and appoint a citizen committee to discuss issues with staff and come back with potential 
solutions.  Alderman Jon Feichter added that the ordinance for the cemetery was much better now 
and felt that the same could be achieved with traffic issues.  We have a problem and need to 
address it, and this may be a great way to do that.   
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 16 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

Town Manager Hites noted that he has been working on a traffic calming policy (speed bumps, 
tables and/or signage).  He has used information from across North Carolina to try an address some 
of the same issues noted, but with policy backing rather than just a knee-jerk reaction.  Manager 
Hites would bring that policy to the board at a later date. 
 
Lt. Brandon Gilmore asked to address the Board.  Lt. Gilmore noted that they were aware of this 
discussion and have some suggestions in lieu of a committee.  There are several new hires which 
will be in place soon.  The plan is to have one individual on each shift who would be in charge of 
traffic concerns.  They would hear and address these concerns and serve as a contact for citizens.  It 
is hoped that this will alleviate some of those phone calls to Board members.  The police 
department feels like they would recognize that potential issues and address them as they occur. 
 
Chief David Adams thanked the Board and the community for their support during these uncertain 
times.     
 
14.   Helping Hands of Haywood – donation  

• Alderman Jon Feichter 
 
Alderman Jon Feichter brought up the potential of utilizing the undesignated special appropriation 
funding to support sheltering of the homeless during the COVID-19.  With the expiration of the 
federal and state moratoriums on evictions, there could be many more unsheltered individuals who 
are already struggling to keep up.  Helping Hands of Haywood (HHH) is a group who is assisting 
these folks and HHH may need some financial assistance to continue with their work.   
 
  A motion was made by Alderman Jon Feichter, seconded by Alderman Anthony  
  Sutton to utilize $5,041 of the undesignated special appropriation funds  for  
  Helping Hands of Haywood to assist those experiencing sheltering problems.  The 
  motion carried unanimously.  
 
 
H. CLOSED SESSION 
 
15.   Enter into Closed Session For discussion of the annual evaluation of the Town Manager 
 NCGS 143-318.11(a)(6) – Personnel 
 
  A motion was made by Alderman Chuck Dickson, seconded by Alderman 
  Julia Freeman to enter into closed session for the annual evaluation of Town 
  Manager at  9:16 p.m.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
  A motion was made by Alderman Chuck Dickson, seconded by Alderman 
  Julia Freeman to return to open session at 9:46 p.m.  The motion carried 
  unanimously. 
 



Waynesville Board of Alderman Minutes  Page 17 of 17 
Regular Meeting July 28th, 2020 
 
 

I. ADJOURN 
 

With no further business to discuss, a motion was made by Alderman Chuck 
Dickson, seconded by Alderman Julia Freeman to adjourn the meeting at 9:47 p.m.  
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST:         
 
        ____________________________ 
        Gary Caldwell, Mayor  

 
 
 
 
_________________________  

         Robert W. Hites, Jr. Town Manager 
 
________________________ 
Eddie Ward, Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  

Meeting Date:  August 11, 2020 
 

  

SUBJECT: Presentation of Scholarships North Carolina State Firefighters’ Association 
 
AGENDA INFORMATION:  
  
Agenda Location:   Presentation    
Item Number:   3C  
Department:    Fire Department  
Contact:    Joey Webb, Fire Chief 
Presenter:    Joey Webb, Fire Chief 
    
BRIEF SUMMARY:   
Firefighters Cody Parton and Ben Hooper have been selected to receive a $2,000.00 scholarship 
from the NC State Firefighters Association. Two $2,000.00 scholarships are awarded in each 
region for those attending a regionally accredited two-year college/university.  
 
Firefighter Parton is seeking his Associates Degree in Fire Protection Technology at Blue Ridge 
Community College. He is a full time Waynesville Firefighter.  
 

Firefighter Hooper is completing his second year of his Associates Degree in Fire Protection 
Technology at Blue Ridge Community College. Firefighter Hooper received the scholarship 
award last year as well. He is a former full-time firefighter now employed with the City of 
Asheville Fire Department. Firefighter Hooper continues part time employment with the 
Waynesville Fire Department.  
  

MOTION FOR CONSIDERATION:   Recognition only no motion 

 

FUNDING SOURCE/IMPACT:  N/A no budgetary impact 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Copies of the Scholarships 
  
  
MANAGER’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:  Congratulations to these firefighters.  







TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  

Meeting Date:  August 11, 2020 
 

  
SUBJECT:  Presentation and Public Hearing on the Town of Waynesville Comprehensive Plan,  
Waynesville 2035:  Planning with Purpose  
 
 
AGENDA INFORMATION:  
  
Agenda Location:   Public Hearing   
Item Number:    4D 
Department:    Development Services  
Contact:    Elizabeth Teague, Planning Director; Jesse Fowler, Planner 
Presenter:    Elizabeth Teague, Planning Director 
    
 
BRIEF SUMMARY:  At a special called meeting on June 29th, 2020, the Town Planning Board made a 
unanimous recommendation to the Board of Aldermen to adopt the updated Comprehensive Plan as 
provided.  This draft was developed from the work of the Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee, a 
team of consultants of Stewart, JM Teague, and Chipley Consulting, and over a year of Planning Board 
review, discussion and editing.  At the August 11, 2020 hearing, lead consultant, Jake Petrosky of Stewart 
will be present to discuss major concepts of the plan and answer questions, and the Board can hear initial 
comments.  At the September 8, 2020 hearing, the Board may hear any additional comments and consider 
adoption.  This approach will allow for a 30-day period of public review and an opportunity for staff to 
make any edits the Board sees necessary for adoption. 
 
Public hearing notices were published on August 1 and August 5 in the Mountaineer.   
      

 
MOTION FOR CONSIDERATION:   No motion until the September 8 meeting;  hearing for public input only.  

 
FUNDING SOURCE/IMPACT:  This work was completed under contract with Stewart and by the work of 
many volunteers.  The Board has approved $25,000 in this fiscal year’s budget to assist with Plan 
finalization and associated ordinance updates and initial implementation work. 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS:   

1. Draft Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 
MANAGER’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:   



WAYNESVILLE 2035
PLANNING WITH PURPOSE

COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN 

July 2020



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE2 DRAFT

Board of Aldermen

Planning Board

Town Staff

Steering Committee

Consultants

Gary Caldwell, Mayor
Julia Boyd Freeman, Mayor Pro Tem
Jon Feichter
Chuck Dickson
Anthony Sutton

Patrick McDowell, Chair
Michael Blackburn
H.P. Dykes, Jr.
Robert Herrmann
Marty Prevost
Susan Teas Smith
Ginger Hain
Don McGowan
Jason Rogers
Anthony Sutton

Elizabeth Teague, Planning Director 
Michelle Baker, Development Services Administration
Jesse Fowler, Planner
David Foster, Public Services Director, Retired
Preston Gregg, Town Engineer
Jeff Stines, Water and Wastewater Superintendent
Daryl Hannah, Streets and Sanitation Superintendent, Retired
Joey Webb, Fire Chief
Rhett Langston, Parks and Recreation Director
David Adams, Police Chief
Rob Hites, Town Manager
Amie Owens, Assistant Town Manager
Brian Beck, Police Chief, Retired

Martha Bradley
Michael Blackburn
Brian J. Cagle
Ginger Hain
Jennie Kirby
Austin Lee
Lorna Sterling
John Ammons
Gregory Wheeler
Tausha Forney
Hilda Rios

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to:
The Haywood Realtor Association
Dr. Todd Collins, Public Policy Institute 
(PPI),  Western Carolina University
Gavin Brown, Mayor (2008-2019)
LeRoy Roberson



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  3JULY 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS
1. INTRODUCTION	            					                            4

PURPOSE
BACKGROUND
PLANNING PROCESS
PLAN STRUCTURE

2. VISION & GOALS                				              			  16
VISION STATEMENT
GOALS & OBJECTIVES

3. RECOMMENDATIONS     								        22
FUTURE LAND USE MAP
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATIONS
LAND USE & DEVELOPMENT
INFILL DEVELOPMENT & REDEVELOPMENT CONCEPTS
HOUSING & NEIGHBORHOODS
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
TRANSPORTATION & CONNECTIVITY
RECREATION, CULTURAL & NATURAL RESOURCES
INFRASTRUCTURE & SERVICES

4. 2035 ACTION PLAN									        64
5. COMMUNITY PROFILE 						                 	 76

POPULATION & HOUSING
EMPLOYMENT
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
MARKET ANALYSIS
STRENGTHS, WEAKNESSES, OPPORTUNITIES, THREATS
PLAN ASSESSMENT

6. EXISTING CONDITIONS							                  98
EXISTING LAND USE
ADOPTED POLICY & REGULATIONS
SLOPES & FLOODPLAIN
LAND SUITABILITY
INFRASTRUCTURE
PARKS, OPEN SPACE & NATURAL RESOURCES
HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES	           

7. APPENDIX						                            		  126



w1



Waynesville 2035:  Planning with 
Purpose is the Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan for the Town of 
Waynesville.  This plan provides 
policy guidance for development 
standards, subdivision, zoning, 
and the provisions of public 
services.  It updates and replaces 
Waynesville:  Our Heritage, Our 
Future, Town of Waynesville 
2020 Land Development Plan 
as the comprehensive planning 
document for the Town.

This chapter provides an 
introduction to the plan and 
includes a description of  the 
plan’s purpose, background 
information, an overview of the 
planning process, and a summary 
of input.  

INTRODUCTION

Rail Line through Frog Level



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE6 DRAFT

INTRODUCTION1

PURPOSE
Waynesville 2035: Planning with Purpose updates the Waynesville:  Our Heritage, Our Future, 
Town of Waynesville 2020 Comprehensive Land Development Plan, to serve as a guideline 
for community decision making into the future.  It is intended to be used by the town staff, 
the Board of Aldermen, and other Town Boards and Commissions as they make decisions 
about resources and land use in accordance with North Carolina General Statutes.  It is also 
intended as a reference document for the public at large and for those investing in land and 
development within Waynesville.  This document lays out strategies and recommendations to 
accomplish community goals over a 15 year planning horizon. 

The plan should be reviewed and may be amended periodically in response to land use 
trends, changes in populations, or to facilitate evolving Town goals. Waynesville 2035: Planning 
with Purpose will leverage the successes of the past to enhance future potential of the Town.

BACKGROUND
Waynesville, known as the “Gateway to the Smokies” is located off the US Routes 23 and 
74 (the Great Smoky Mountains Expressway). The Town is a popular destination for visitors 
to Western North Carolina, and at more than 10,000 residents, is the largest town in North 
Carolina west of Asheville. It is the county seat for Haywood County. The Town has a strong 
historical heritage, vibrant arts community and diverse culture.   

Waynesville has a rich history of community 
planning. The 2002, Waynesville: Our 
Heritage, Our Future, 2020 Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan was adopted after a two-
year planning effort. That planning process 
established a forward-thinking standard for 
development and growth that:

	» Implemented Smart Growth principles.

	» Promoted multi-modal transportation.

	» Recommended controlled infrastructure 
expansion through the adoption of an 
Urban Services Boundary.

	» Encouraged mixed-use development.

	» Protected the Town’s natural and 
historic resources.

To implement the objectives of the 2002 
Land Use Plan, the Town updated its Land 
Development Standards (zoning regulations) 
in  2003, 2009 and 2011.

In 2018, the Town initiated an update to the 
current plan in order to keep it relevant and 
reflect the current needs and desires of the 
Town with a new future planning horizon of 
2035. 

WAYNESVILLE

ASHEVILLE

BREVARD

[
0 11,000 22,0005,500

Feet

Waynesville’s Regional Context



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  7JULY 2020

INTRODUCTION 1

PLANNING PROCESS
In action, planning with purpose is accomplished by addressing and analyzing existing 
conditions and making implementable recommendations for the future. Topics include: 

	» Land Use & Development

	» Housing & Neighborhoods

	» Economic Development

	» Transportation & Connectivity

	» Recreation, Cultural and Natural Resources

	» Utilities & Infrastructure

The plan update began in early 2018 following a 4-phase process illustrated below. The early 
phases included listening to staff and stakeholders and an analysis of existing conditions.  
Diverse methods of public engagement were implemented to ensure community support 
and buy-in. The Plan includes community-wide recommendations, the future land use map, 
and conceptual scenarios for areas targeted for potential redevelopment areas. Staff and 
community leaders, already accustomed to using the Comprehensive Land Use Plan when 
making development decisions, were asked to evaluate the plan for its practical application 
and usefulness.

IN
IT

IA
TI

O
N Kick-Off

Community 
Tour

Stakeholder 
Interviews

Public  
Engagement

Community Profile

Plan Assessments

GIS Mapping

Analysis

Vision & Goals

Future Land Use 
Map

Infrastructure

Area Concept 
Plans

Draft Plan

Implementation

Final Document

Adoption

Continuing ServicesA
N

A
LY

S
IS

D
R
A
FT

A
D

O
PT

IO
N

Plan Development

1
32

4



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE8 DRAFT

INTRODUCTION1

Summary of Input
The love for and commitment to Waynesville 
shown by residents, business owners, 
and visitors provided no shortage of 
input, guidance, and review throughout 
the development of the Plan. The Plan 
is a reflection of the values and desires 
of the community and the plan’s 
recommendations and implementation 
strategies are influenced by the comments 
received. 

The engagement strategy combined 
traditional and online methods including:

	» Stakeholder group interviews

	» Steering committee meetings

	» Web presence through the 
Development Department portal

	» Public online survey

	» Public visioning workshop (sponsored by Haywood County Board of Realtors)

	» Public open house to reveal the plan

	» Public hearings for adoption

	» Public meetings held at the Pigeon Community Center, 
Waynesville Recreation Center, Waynesville Fire Department, 
and Folkmoot

Staff conducted further outreach with advisory Boards and 
Commissions.

Steering Committee

Town Aldermen appointed a steering committee of individuals from 
diverse backgrounds to provide guidance and make decisions 
related to this plan’s vision, goals, and recommendations. The 
steering committee met throughout the process and participated in 
other public events. 

Stakeholder Groups

Early in the process, stakeholder groups consisting of in-town and 
regional professionals from the following sectors were interviewed:

	» Real Estate

Stakeholder Group Meeting

Steering Committee activity



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  9JULY 2020

INTRODUCTION 1

	» Social Services and Housing

	» Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts

	» Town and County staff

Real estate professionals shared that people, including many 
retirees, are moving to Waynesville because of the high 
quality of life. Buyers are attracted to Waynesville’s recreation 
and fitness opportunities, access to natural features such as 
the Great Smoky Mountains National Park and hiking trails, 
and the Town’s greenways.  Moderately priced housing is 
quickly sold, creating a high demand for new housing and 
rental opportunities.

Social services professionals shared that Waynesville has a 
growing homeless and “working-poor” population.  Local 
agencies such as Mountain Housing Opportunities and 
Habitat for Humanity are finding that they cannot meet the 
demand of qualified applicants for housing, and the creation 
of new projects is difficult because of land costs and geographical constraints.  Another 
concern identified is the need for increased mental health and substance abuse resources, 
particularly as it relates to opioid addiction.

The Economic Development professionals, which included Waynesville’s major employers, 
shared concerns about being able to recruit and retain employees with advanced training 
and professional skills.  Nursing is an area particularly difficult to find staffing.  A shortage of 
entry-level workforce was also a concern and related back to a lack of housing and mental 
health and substance abuse resources.  Tourism and the arts are an important sector of 
Waynesville’s economy, and these businesses rely on seasonal and entry level employees.  
Healthcare and workforce preparedness and education were therefore identified as critical 
areas for growth.  Stakeholders noted that the Town should encourage the expansion of 
broadband internet in support of these sectors as well as local businesses.    

Visioning Workshop

On June 21, 2018, the public was 
invited to a visioning workshop at the 
Waynesville Recreation Center. The 
workshop, made possible by a Smart 
Growth Action Grant secured by the 
Haywood County Board of Realtors, 
was attended by at least 85 people 
who signed the attendance log. The 
workshop was an open house-style 
event with ten activity stations, which 
were designed to inform attendees 
about the plan as well as to gather 
input on specific topics that affect 
Waynesville.

Workshop Activity: Keep, Toss, Create

Waynesville - A Vision in the Making
Comprehensive Land Plan

Visioning Workshop

WE WANT YOUR INPUT 
TO SHAPE THE TOWN’S FUTURE!

Thursday June 21sT,  3pm-7pm

WaynesVille recreaTion cenTer

Visioning Workshop Flyer



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE10 DRAFT

INTRODUCTION1

Stations included:

	» A Comprehensive Plan background

	» A project overview that framed potential issues, outlined 
economic trends, and existing land use

	» A “keep/toss/create” station  that allowed attendees to 
identify areas they love, areas that need work, and areas 
where they would like to see something created

	» A transportation and mobility station illustrating existing 
transportation conditions and proposed improvements.

	» A station that highlighted Waynesville’s natural resources, 
utility network and urban services boundary

	» A visual preference station that asked attendees to place 
a dot next to preferred images depicting different styles of 
development

	» A station for attendees to validate goals and objectives 
from the current land use plan and add new  goals

	» A station that invited attendees to sketch ideas for downtown, Hazelwood, and Frog 
Level

	» A survey station where attendees could take the online survey

The workshop and online survey contained visual preference exercises related to design, 
aesthetics, recreation, housing, and density. Responses showed preferences for:

	» Protected bike/pedestrian infrastructure

	» Richland Creek greenway expansion

	» Improving ADA compliance with the town’s pedestrian infrastructure

	» Keeping Waynesville a walkable community

Development-related comments included concerns about a large apartment project and a 
desire for more downtown infill development.

Participants demonstrated support for improvements to the commercial areas of Frog Level, 
downtown Hazelwoood, and the Waynesville Plaza. The Steering Committee notes that the 
workshop attendance was limited and mostly attended by older citizens.

Pigeon Center Community Meeting

The Pigeon Community Multicultural Development Center hosted a meeting to discuss the 
Land Use Plan, parks planning and historic preservation on August 16th, 2018.  The meeting 
provided an overview of a study of the Town’s Historic Preservation Commission to document 
African-American resources within Waynesville.  The Pigeon Community Center and Dix Hill 
Cemetery were identified as community resources for possible listing on the National Register.  

Preferred development types exer-
cise from visioning workshop



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  11JULY 2020

INTRODUCTION 1

Additionally, important stories and history were collected and will be used in creating a 
historic marker in a park that 
the Town is developing within 
the neighborhood.  Issues of  
housing, inclusionary zoning, 
and infrastructure were also 
discussed.

Project Website

The Town created a link to the 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan 
Update on the Development 
Services Department website. 
There, the public could track 
the Plan’s progress, review 
meeting summaries, survey 
results, and see notices for 
upcoming meetings and maps 
with convenient 24/7 access. 

Online Survey

368 individuals (over 3% 
percent of the community 
over 18 years old) took an 
online survey offered in June and July 2018.  The survey was designed to gather information 
on community priorities related to land use, conservation, mobility and more. These responses 
from people living and 
working in Waynesville and 
its extraterritorial jurisdiction 
(ETJ) provided another 
viewpoint shaping the goals 
and objectives of this plan.  

Based on survey results 
the top four issues were 
jobs and economics, 
growth management, 
redevelopment and 
affordable housing.    

The Public Policy Institute 
(PPI) of Western Carolina 
University provided a  
detailed analysis of the 
Survey Monkey results. View the full analysis in the Appendix.  

Survey results indicated that Waynesville’s “small town friendliness” was what folks valued 
most and was the primary reason people stay, move, or visit the Town. 

Results from a survey conducted by Dr. Todd Collins and students from the 
Public Policy Institute at Western Carolina University

9%

9%

14%

15%

15%

18%

21%

28%

29%

30%

30%

34%

38%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%

Housing Development

Other

Recreational

Historic Preservation

Transportation

Quality of Schools

Utility Improvements

Addiction Crisis

Agricultural Land

Affordable Housing

Redevelopment

Growth Management

Jobs and Economics

MOST PRESSING ISSUES FACING WAYNESVILLE



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE12 DRAFT

INTRODUCTION1

Draft Plan Neighborhood Meetings

Town planning staff held public meetings during the 
month of April 2019 at the Recreation Center, the Fire 
Department, and Folkmoot. These meetings allowed 
the public to review and provide feedback on draft 
recommendations in an informal setting. 

Comments from these public meetings included the 
following:

•	 Maintain what is valuable to Waynesville aesthetic and 
what is valuable for the community.

	- Balance and manage growth (Avoid becoming 
Asheville or Atlanta).

	- Keep Waynesville beautiful.

	- We need housing, but we need housing with mindfulness.

	- There is a sense of Waynesville that we do not want to lose.

	- Concern over density, and keep in mind why people move to Waynesville.

	- Promote local businesses and shops.

	- New development should meet the Waynesville character. Architectural design is 
important.

•	 Good planning and economic development

	- Need jobs and industry to support families and want our children to be able to stay here

	- Put high density where we can.

	- Need to ensure infrastructure planning for commercial and residential

	- Need jobs that are not just geared towards the service industry

	- Concern over providing housing and services for all ages

•	 Protect the environment and provide flexibility

	- Respect steep topography

	- Respect land owner decisions and expectations

	- “Agrihoods” not just for the wealthy, build for the middle class

	- Support for greenways along Richland and Raccoon Rd.

•	 Neighborhoods, historic preservation, arts and culture

	- Concern for the historic preservation of the Bethel corridor and Pigeon gap (interested 
in conservation / preservation)

	- How do arts and community inclusion play a part in the plan?

	- Bring unkempt buildings up to a better standard and use in Frog Level

	- We want to see Waynesville grow and preserve its historic character.

Neighborhood meetings were held 
in the spring of 2019 to share draft 
recommendations and gather input 
on changes needed.  



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  13JULY 2020

INTRODUCTION 1

Kids weighed in on ideas for the Town at the Open Streets 
community event at Folkmoot in May of 2019 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE14 DRAFT

INTRODUCTION1

PLAN STRUCTURE
The Waynesville 2035 plan is divided into 7 chapters.  Each of the chapters is described in the 
graphic below.   

INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides an introduction 
to the plan and includes a description 
of  the plan’s purpose, background 
information, an overview of the 
planning process and a summary of 
input.  

APPENDIX

This chapter includes detailed survey 
results, market analysis, a transportation 
plan assessment and existing conditions 
analysis and copies of maps.  

VISION & GOALS

The vision statement and goals of the 
plan are outlined in this chapter.  Under 
each goal are objectives that clarify 
the goal statements.  The vision, goals 
and objectives helped to frame all 
recommendations in the plan.  

21

COMMUNITY PROFILE

Demographic data is provided to detail 
trends in the Waynesville area.  This 
chapter also includes a summary of 
strengths, weaknesses, opportunities 
and threats as well as an assessment of 
previous plans.  

EXISTING CONDITIONS

This chapter provides an analysis of 
the current conditions in Waynesville.  
Existing land use is summarized as 
well as environmental constraints, 
development suitability, infrastructure 
and natural and cultural resources. 

65

RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter includes the Future 
Land Use Map, area descriptions, 
and policies and strategies that are 
organized by topic area and meant to 
guide decisions.  

ACTION PLAN

The 2035 Action Plan contains specific, 
actionable steps Waynesville can take 
to meet the goals and vision identified 
during this planning process. 

43

7



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  15JULY 2020

INTRODUCTION 1

Page Intentionally Left Blank



w2



The comprehensive planning 
process is a unique opportunity 
to reflect on the big picture. 
Updating the community’s vision  
sets the direction of the plan and 
the goals establish a baseline for 
measuring success.

The vision expresses the 
collective desires of many for 
the future development, growth, 
conservation, and quality of life 
in town. The goals address a 
consistent theme that emerged 
through the process which is to be 
true to the character and history of 
the Town of Waynesville. 

VISION & GOALS

w Folkmoot Center



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE18 DRAFT

VISION & GOALS2

VISION STATEMENT
The 2020 Land Development Plan, its vision statement and its smart growth framework, has 
worked well for the Town. Many goals and objectives laid out have been accomplished, 
and the Land Use Map and Urban Services Boundary created the basis for effective policies.  
The purpose of this Plan is to build on that success and to continue to work towards social, 
environmental, and economic benefits as envisioned in 2002 when the original plan and vision 
statement (below) were adopted. 

Waynesville’s vision is preserving its heritage and inviting the future through quality 
planning for living today and tomorrow. Our mission is to preserve and promote our 

neighborhoods, open spaces, vistas, natural and cultural resources, and historic places.  
We will achieve this through planning mixed-use developments, aesthetic infrastructure 
design for economic prosperity, healthy community and family-life, education, and the 

arts for public enjoyment.  Waynesville will be regarded as the model town for the twenty-
first century.

Waynesville:  Our Heritage, Our Future, 2020 Land Development Plan
-Adopted April 23, 2002

However, the Steering Committee and staff felt that while the overall vision for the community 
had not fundamentally changed, the vision statement could be improved.   There was 
consensus that the vision statement for the updated plan should encompass new needs and 
concerns looking forward, should be more concise and easier to understand, and should 
provide a fresh take on the good intentions of the original.  There was also a desire to be “true 
to Waynesville” and who we are as a community, by keying on common values and what the 
community hopes to encompass through the plan’s adoption. 

Waynesville will enable the growth of a vibrant, healthy, and successful 
community - true to our history, small-town culture and heritage; 

responsive to the changing aspirations and needs of all our citizens; 
purposefully built on the principles of smart growth; mindful of the gift 
of our rivers and creeks, farmland and mountain vistas; and attentive 

to the opportunities presented in regional preservation, arts and 
education, economic development, and land use initiatives.

Our Vision For The 2035 Waynesville Comprehensive Plan



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  19JULY 2020

VISION & GOALS 2

GOALS & OBJECTIVES
Six over-arching goals were developed from the previous plan, community input, and 
guidance from the Steering Committee and consultants.  Objectives help to clarify the goals 
and provide a framework for policy recommendations, strategies and detailed action steps to 
implement the plan in Chapters 5 and 6.  

Goal 1: Continue to promote smart growth 
principles in land use planning and zoning.

	» Create walkable and attractive neighborhoods and 
commercial centers. 

	» Encourage infill, mixed-use and context-sensitive 
development.

	» Promote conservation design to preserve important natural 
resources. 

	» Reinforce the unique character of Waynesville.

Goal 2: Create a range of housing opportunities and choices.
	» Encourage new housing inside Waynesville’s city limits and Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ)

	» Promote a diverse housing stock including market rate, workforce housing and 
affordable options that appeal to a variety of households

The graphic above illustrates the importance of housing to the success of the Town of Waynesville and the myriad 
impacts that housing options and home ownership can have on the community, the economy, the environment 
and health.  

THE 
COMMUNITY THE ECONOMY

THE 
ENVIRONMENT HEALTH &

WELLNESS
Homeowners are more 
likely to repair and 
improve their home

Homeowners 
are more likely 

to participate in 
elections

Housing options 
are critical to young 
people and families 

New homes in town 
can reduce demand 
for conversion of 
farms and forests

New homes and residents 
can lead to more local 
businesses including 
professional services, retail 
and restaurants

Owning a home is the 
largest source of personal 
wealth for most families.

The construction and sale 
of each home generates a 
signficant impact on the 
economy.

Homes closer to work and 
services can reduce vehicle 
miles and cost of living$$

Low-income home owners report 
higher satisfaction, self-esteem 
and control over their lives

Housing positively impacts 
physical and psychological 

health

When a household spends 
less than 30% of their income 
on housing, they can allocate 
more towards buying healthier 

food, medicine and health care

Infill near 
walkable areas 

can lead to more 
walk and bike trips

HOUSING IS KEY

Smart growth is an 
approach to development 
that encourages a mix of 
building types and uses 
in walkable centers and 
prioritizes infill over urban 
sprawl that could have 
negative impacts on 
natural systems.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE20 DRAFT

VISION & GOALS2

Goal 3: Protect and enhance 
Waynesville’s natural resources.

	» Conserve open space and farmland 
by promoting infill and encouraging 
development in the urbanized areas of 
town.

	» Protect and enhance water quality and 
forests.

	» Encourage park and greenway 
development to protect watersheds and 
improve access to open space.

	» Protect rural lands, iconic views and 
mountain vistas.

	» Continue to engage in and promote best 
management practices related to energy 
use, efficiency and waste management.  

Goal 4: Protect and promote 
Waynesville’s cultural resources.

	» Invest in preservation, restoration and 
promotion of Waynesville’s history.  

	» Integrate art within the Town’s public 
realm.

	» Encourage collaboration among local 
cultural and heritage organizations and 
artists to enrich our community with events 
and education.  

Goal 5: Create opportunities for a 
sustainable economy.

	» Strengthen Waynesville’s current and future 
workforce through education and training.

	» Promote the growth of existing local 
businesses and Waynesville’s “maker 
economy.”

	» Promote Waynesville’s downtown districts, 
inns, restaurants, and reputation as the 
“Gateway to the Smokies.” 

Greenhill Cemetery

Historic Frog Level District



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  21JULY 2020

VISION & GOALS 2

Historic Shelton House

	» Encourage creatively designed, mixed-use, walkable centers and commercial districts 
that appeal to residents and visitors.

	» Support the Town’s Parks and Recreation Master Plan and develop recreational facilities 
and a greenway system that appeals to neighborhood and regional users.

	» Work with local agencies to address the housing shortage, promote a “living wage,” and 
increase Waynesville’s medical, health and wellness resources that serve all ages.

	» Support 21st century technology and infrastructure by broadening the availability of 
high-speed internet, modernizing wireless communication facilities, and promoting green 
building and the use of solar and wind technologies.

Goal 6: Create an attractive, safe and multi-modal transportation system. 
	» Provide an interconnected transportation network of roadways, greenways, freight 
mobility, bicycle routes, and sidewalks that improves safety and strategic access for all 
users. 

	» Coordinate with NCDOT on roadway improvement projects, particularly those along 
South Main, North Main, Russ Avenue, Pigeon Road and Dellwood Road.

	» Work with regional and local businesses and planning agencies to develop public transit 
opportunities that connect users to local destinations, educational centers, and jobs.

	» Support development of the Richland Creek greenway and regional greenway 
connections  between Waynesville, Asheville and other Haywood County and Western 
Carolina destinations.

	» Ensure citizenry has access to recreational, health and wellness, and medical services.



w3



w
RECOMMENDATIONS

Purposeful land use planning is 
required for a successful, well 
managed community. This land 
use plan includes policies and 
recommendations for town-wide 
land use,  development, utilities, 
transportation, and conservation. 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE24 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

FUTURE LAND USE MAP
The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and recommendations that follow envision a Waynesville 
that continues to maintain its character, environmental protections, sustainable growth, and 
diversity. The Future Land Use plan is the result of considering all the 
factors facing a town including housing, the natural environment, 
economic health and sustainability, cultural and historic resources, 
recreation, wellness, multi-modal mobility, and more. 

Adoption of the 2020 Land Development Plan, committed the Town 
to 

	» Planned “Smart Growth”

	» Redefinition/reexamination of transportation planning as it has 
been handled in the past

	» Controlled infrastructure expansion

	» Encouragement of the mixing of uses where appropriate

	» Protection of the community’s valuable natural resources

This plan reiterates the Smart Grown Principles in its policies and 
recommendations, refining them to reflect current times. 

The 2002 Future Land Use Map categorized land use into eight 
designations. The updated FLUM on page 25 adds two additional 
designations to better reflect the community goals. The designations 
are broad brush, not parcel specific as in the Zoning map. A 
character description of each designation and accompanying image 
are shown on pages 26-27. 

This plan adds two new future land use designations: Residential 
Conservation which encourages cluster development in areas with 
steep slopes, woodlands, or sensitive water resources, and Downtown 
Core Mixed-Use which describes a combination of urban residential 
and business district mixed-use areas with a predominance of early 
and mid 20th century construction (e.g. Main Street, Hazelwood and 
Frog Level).  

Additional updates include changing Low to Medium Mixed Use to 
Community Mixed Use and Medium to High Density Mixed Use to 
Regional Mixed Use. 

The Future Land Use Plan is a representation of the intended growth 
pattern based on the community’s collective vision balanced with the 
availability of infrastructure and conservation of the natural environment. 

1.	 Mix land uses

2.	 Take advantage of 
compact building 
design

3.	 Create a range of 
housing opportunities 
and choices

4.	 Create walkable 
neighborhoods

5.	 Foster distinctive, 
attractive communities 
with a strong sense of 
place

6.	 Preserve open space, 
farmland, natural 
beauty, and critical 
environmental areas

7.	 Strengthen and direct 
development towards 
existing communities

8.	 Provide a variety of 
transportation choices

9.	 Make development 
decisions predictable, 
fair, and cost effective

10.	Encourage community 
and stakeholder 
collaboration in 
development decisions

Smart Growth 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  25JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

 Draft Future Land Use Map



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE26 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Open Space
This designation is best suited for environmentally sensitive (floodplain, steep 
slopes) or preserved lands or passive recreational uses. In most instances, 
such land is to be preserved in its natural state or minimally developed for an 
intended recreational use. These areas should be well-connected to schools 
and neighborhoods. Passive use neighborhood and community parks, 
greenways, trails, community centers and cemeteries are found here. 

Residential - Low to Medium Density 
This designation should be located within the urban service boundary. The 
roadway network is not likely to accommodate higher density development. 
Types of development include:

	• Single family uses at average densities of 3-4 units/acre, occasional small-
scale attached housing types
	• Compatible development such as educational, civic, and faith-based 
uses, as well as parks, etc.

Residential Conservation 
Best suited for low density residential development that is clustered or of 
a conservation design. Generally these areas contain steep slopes and /
or working agricultural lands. These areas may have narrow streets and 
may or may not to be connected to water and sewer utilities.  Low Impact 
Development (LID) techniques should be encouraged to reduce stormwater 
runoff and development should be clustered away from resources.  

Residential - Medium to High Density
Located on lands suitable for higher density residential development that 
are readily accessible and where utilities are available. Uses are the same 
as those in  the low/medium category above but with increased densities 
generally five to ten units per acre (5-10 units /acre) with some higher density 
in the Urban Residential zoning district and/or with Special Use Permits. 
Development should provide sidewalks or multi-use paths and connect to 
parks, schools, and commercial areas. Types of development include:

	• Patio homes
	• Townhomes
	• Bungalow courts
	• Multifamily

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATIONS



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  27JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3
Mixed Use - Downtown Core
The Downtown Core mixed use designation encompasses the central 
business districts and is characterized by pedestrian-oriented commercial uses 
that may be mixed vertically or horizontally with office and residential and is 
surrounded by traditional residential pattern neighborhoods of single-family 
and small multifamily structures. These areas are connected to municipal 
utilities, typically on grid street network with access to transit, parks, and civic 
uses. Site redevelopment and infill is encouraged on underutilized parcels. 

Community Facilities
Community facilities are institutional-type land uses operated by a public or 
semi-public organization which serve the community as a whole. Depending 
on the intensity, these uses may appropriately be incorporated into the higher 
density residential and mixed use districts. Types of development include:

	• Government centers
	• Educational institutions
	• Hospitals and medical centers
	• Cultural centers (e.g. Faith-based uses, Folkmoot)

Mixed Use - Community

This designation is intended for nodes of activity areas on major streets and 
thoroughfares incorporating commercial retail and office, light industrial, 
employment centers and institutional uses to serve the community. Residential 
single and multifamily development of medium densities may be vertically 
or horizontally integrated with the commercial. These areas will likely have 
access to municipal utilities and development should be connected to transit 
and pedestrian ways.  Scale of these areas should vary based on context. 

Mixed Use - Regional
Major nodes of activity located on major thoroughfares or adjacent to 
highways include commercial, lodging, entertainment, manufacturing, 
warehousing, tech-flex, research and development, health care facilities 
and light industrial uses. Uses draw visitors from the town and adjacent  
communities. They typically require high visibility, high traffic counts, 
connectivity to the region, and are sited on larger parcels. Being visible, new 
development should consider architectural style, building materials, and 
screen landscaping. Medium to high density multifamily residential may be 
appropriate. Connection to utilities and access management is a priority.

Industrial
This encompasses lands with access to strong roadway and/or rail networks 
located on large lots with room for expansion. Reuse of existing facilities is 
encouraged. The impact of noise, dust, vibration, odor, should be minimized 
with screening and fencing when adjacent to dissimilar uses. These areas 
are located in the southwestern Hazelwood area and north in the vicinity of 
Exit 103. Giles Chemical has a presence in Frog Level. Types of development 
encouraged include research and development, clean manufacturing, tech-
flex, warehousing and distribution centers, microbreweries, and makerspaces.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE28 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

LAND USE & DEVELOPMENT
By implementing the 2020 Land Use Plan through the Land Development Standards (“LDS”), 
Waynesville has grown in an orderly manner within the established urban services boundary 
(USB) for two decades.  Looking toward 2035, the Town continues its commitment to compact 
and smart growth, an urban services boundary, and directing more intense development 
away from steep slopes and outlying agricultural lands towards existing developed areas 
and roadway corridors. The urban suitability map illustrates which areas are most suitable for 
development and those which are not.     

This land use approach provides a more efficient return on investment for infrastructure, but 
will require re-investment into existing developed areas.  Three concepts are provided to re-
envision existing commercial areas with mixed-uses, infill design, and greenway and roadway 
connectivity.  These were identified during the planning process and are provided below with 
recommendations supporting goals for land use and development.

LU-1: Limit sprawl and promote a sustainable land development pattern.  
A.  Create walkable and attractive neighborhoods and commercial centers.

	- Encourage walkable, mixed-use developments along major thoroughfares and 
within central business and regional center districts. Policies and codes should 
promote urban form, context, and an attractive public realm (block size, minimal 
setbacks, active frontages, streetscape).  Development “nodes” should promote 
public interaction, transportation accessibility, and use of existing infrastructure.

	- Allow  small-scale restaurants, retail and services within planned developments.

	- Encourage personal, professional services, restaurants and neighborhood retail 
within designated mixed-use areas and corridors.

	- Strive for nodal development around intersections as opposed to linear 
strips adjacent to roadways. New commercial should connect to residential 
areas whenever possible with pedestrian and bicycle facilities and should be 
accompanied by road and site design that supports traffic safety (such as 
turning lanes, access management, parking).

	» Candidate intersections for mixed-use nodes and/or gateway treatments 
designed to their context, include:

	• US 23 (Asheville Highway) and Ratcliff Cove;
	• Raccoon Road and US276; 
	• Dellwood Road and Russ Avenue (US276);
	• The Great Smoky Mountains Expressway (“GSME” 23/74) and Russ Avenue; 
	• The GSME and Eagle’s Nest Road/Elysinia;
	• The GSME and Plott Creek Road;
	• The GSME and Hyatt Creek Road;
	• Howell Mill Road and Vance Street;
	• Howell Mill Road and Russ Avenue; and
	• Brown Avenue, Allen’s Creek Road, and South Main
	• Hazelwood and Elysinia Avenues

	- New development or redevelopment, including commercial buildings, within, 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  29JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

or adjacent to, residential areas 
should mimic the scale, and design of 
residential patterns.

B.  Restrict development intensity in rural 
areas and areas with important natural 
resources.

	- Encourage only low density or cluster/ 
conservation development in areas 
with sensitive natural resources.

C.  Direct medium to high density and mixed-
use development to within the revised urban 
service boundary and major thoroughfares. 

	- Update LDS and zoning map to permit residential development that is consistent 
with the future land use map.

D.  Limit Town water and sewer services to within the urban services boundary (USB).

	- Only allow extension of utilities beyond the established USB under specific 
circumstances (see detail about USB policies).

LU-2	 Encourage infill and context-sensitive development
A.  Promote infill with more flexible zoning along the Great Smoky Mountain 
Expressway and existing Regional Center Districts.

	- Update LDS to allow designs that are sensitive to existing context and protect 
views from major roads.

	- Ensure flexibility in zoning for small-scale manufacturing and flex–tenant uses 
in certain areas. Since opportunities for large-scale industrial development are 
limited, re-use of former manufacturing space for other uses is important and  
supports local entrepreneurs, crafts people and industries.

B.  Promote redevelopment along the railroad and planned greenway corridor.

	- Preserve industrial uses along the railroad corridor.

	- Create an overlay district or policy for track-adjacent or greenway-adjacent 
development to allow more housing and mixing of uses (including industrial 
along the railroad).

	- New sites for multifamily, duplexes, accessory dwellings along the railroad 
corridor should meet the following criteria (map included in the Appendix):

	» Located within 500 ft of railroad track

	» Minimal visual and traffic impacts on existing single family development

	» Re-use of under-utilized industrial or commercial properties

C.  Create a range of housing opportunities and choices.

Potential for new development in the 
vicinity of Old Balsam Road south of the 
Smoky Mountain Expressway



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE30 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3
	- Promote mixed density and product types in new residential Development.

	- Strengthen multi-family design standards and buffer requirements to ensure 
compatibility with adjacent residential.  Attention to site layout, access, setbacks, 
scale, design and materials should complement adjacent development.

LU-3	 Promote conservation design in new residential developments
A.  Allow conservation or cluster development design as an alternative to large lot 
subdivisions or other development in areas designated Residential Conservation.

	- Conservation design should reduce cut and fill slopes, follow the natural contours 
of the land, apply low-impact stormwater design. and preserve open space or 
sensitive habitats (e.g., water features, woodland stands, meadows).

	- Update the LDS to provide flexibility in density, setbacks  and unit types to 
preserve views and agricultural lands on the edges of town.  This approach 
should allow new development to meet current low density designations while 
creating open space by clustering of structures.

LU-4	 Reinforce the unique character of Main Street, Frog Level, and 
Hazelwood Central Business Districts

A.  Provide access to a variety of amenities and services for current and future 
residents, visitors and workers including retail, employment, and recreation. 

B.  Maintain the “Downtown Character” that distinguishes these areas from other 
commercial areas.

	- Require compatibility in siting, scale, massing, materials and detail, and 
enforcement of design standards within historic districts (this does not imply that 
all new development should replicate historic structures).

	- Update Historic Guidelines for store frontages and commercial buildings.

	- Update the LDS’ Table of Permitted Uses to extend select CBD uses into other 
activity nodes and reinforce neighborhood character.

	- Encourage uses that generate commerce focused on arts, crafts, food /brew 
specialties, supporting “the maker economy,” in addition to retail.

C.  Connect downtown Waynesville, Frog Level, and Hazelwood with surrounding 
neighborhoods, schools, trails and parks. 

	- Enhance the pedestrian environment by reducing curb cuts from main 
thoroughfares (access from side streets or alleys), and providing visible, safe 
crosswalks. 

	- Enhance urban gateways through redevelopment, landscaping, outdoor 
seating where feasible, signage and improved pedestrian facilities.

	- Install directional wayfinding signs to central business districts, to public parking 
options, and to greenway and parks connections.

	- Implement streetscape improvements to visually connect Frog Level with Main 
Street and promote visitor activity between the two areas along Depot, Miller, 
Commerce and Welch Streets.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  31JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3
	- Improve visual and physical connection to Richland Creek, including 
opportunities with private development to create connections through alleys 
and structures to sidewalks and greenways, and consider additional trail spurs 
along the street to increase visibility and use

D.  Support development of mixed uses and mixed use buildings that incorporate 
shopping, dining, lodging, residential, small industries, offices, and studios.

	- Expand Business Districts at their edges by continuing their form and scale, 
applying mixed-use zoning to transition into adjacent  residential districts.

	- Define entrances into CBDs through Wayfinding, gateway treatments, crosswalk 
enhancements, decorative lights, and other streetscape elements.

	- Continue small-scale placemaking in public places, including public art and 
historical markers reflecting the Town’s heritage and culture.

	- Promote mixed-use of buildings, including housing opportunities in upper stories 
within CBDs.  Encourage adaptive reuse of structures to suit new needs such as 
housing and office space. Permit public uses of rooftop spaces.

E.  Build on recent public realm improvements (parking lot, public art) in Hazelwood.

	- Expand the character of Hazelwood westward toward the expressway with 
streetscape improvements from the expressway to the railroad, including street 
trees, sidewalks, and gateway features.

	- Allow for mixed-use along Elysinia and Hazelwood Avenue between the railroad 
and expressway.

	- Redevelopment should employ village-style, form-based characteristics including 
building orientation, pedestrian facilities, screening of parking and loading areas, 
and signage.

	- Encourage mix of uses including retail, residential, office, manufacturing and 
small industry.

F.  Encourage the redevelopment of Waynesville Plaza to a walkable mixed-use center   
incorporating retail, office, multifamily, and open space.

	- Redevelopment at the intersection of Howell Mill Road and Russ Avenue should 
be oriented to the street with parking behind, and a streetscape that creates a 
defined entry into Waynesville.

	- Improve access to and from Russ Avenue and create a new connection 
to Howell-Mill Road and West Marshall Street, enhancing connectivity and 
providing an internal street system.

	- Support opportunities to “green” the floodplain by replacing impervious surfaces 
with greenspace along the Richland Creek as an amenity and stormwater 
management practice.

G.  Encourage community and stakeholder collaboration in land use decisions.

	- Consider updates to LDS processes to promote collaboaration between staff, 

elected officials, developers, and citizens..



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE32 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Consolidated 
results map 
from steering 
committee 
exercise

INFILL DEVELOPMENT & REDEVELOPMENT CONCEPTS
One of the goals that emerged during the planning process is the desire to expand on the 
success of Main Street by envisioning redevelopment potential in other areas.  Target areas 
have the potential for new investment, infill and growth:   

	- Waynesville Plaza (Russ Avenue) is a high-occupancy commercial center with steady 
business, national and local retailers, and a theater.

	- Frog Level is within walking distance of Main Street, bisected by the railroad, and has an 
industrial heritage and historic structures. This business district presents an opportunity for 
mixed-use development and attractive storefronts.

HART Theater; 
farmers’ market

Pigeon 
Community 

Development 
Center

Areas of potential 
growth include US 276 

west of the Pigeon 
Community to Lake 
Lynn and the Blue 

Ridge Parkway

Commercial 
Waynesville 

Plaza

Housing
redevelopment 

opportunities

New commercial 
development 
(Pharmacy, 

Credit Union)

200-unit 
multi-family 

project recently 
permitted

Underutilized area; 
former industrial 
site with housing

Large vacant site 
behind Walmart ready 

for development

Potential 
gateway (needs 

improvement)

Potential sites 
for residential 

development (Ray 
tract; Wingate/May 

property)Allens Creek Rd. - 
distressed housing 

(mobile homes)

Potential 
development 

site



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  33JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Scenes from Main Street

	- Hazelwood, once the downtown for a unique Town, is now the southern gateway to 
Waynesville.  It is surrounded by traditional, affordable neighborhoods, and contains 
under-utilized industrial and commercial space.

Proposed concepts leverage each area’s strengths and increase housing and job 
opportunities.  The scenarios reflect recommendations for compact /infill development, 
mixed uses, increased density, housing options and connectivity for all modes.  Note that 
the illustrations are conceptual and not intended to be a representation of any proposed 
development or specific plan.

Main street provides the example for amenities with attention to design desired in the target 
areas, including:  interaction of storefronts with a sidewalk, landscaping and shade trees, 
screened and strategic parking, and a mixture of large and small retail, restaurants, galleries, 
and residential uses.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE34 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

WAYNESVILLE PLAZA
Directly north of downtown, Waynesville Plaza is an auto-oriented shopping center of two 
individual ownerships.  The Plaza is adjacent to Richland Creek and proximate to Howell Mill 
Road, but is only connected by Russ Avenue.  The proposed concept calls for reconfiguring 
retail, adding mixed use and residential options, and creating new community spaces.  
Circulation is improved with new connections to Howell Mill Road and West Marshall Street 
(with a greenway link).  Concept also recommends that parking areas are more pedestrian-
friendly (e.g. trees, sidewalks, and accessibility), the creation of greenway connections, and 
implementation of cohesive architectural and signage design.

N

R
us

s 
Av

e.

Apartments
Townhomes
Mixed Use
Retail

Legend

Waynesville 
Tire

Taylor Ford 
of Waynesville

Keller Williams

Greenspace and Rich-
land Creek Greenway  
provide amenities

Howell Mill Rd.

Improved site circulation 
provides access to How-
ell Mill Road and new 
development opportuni-
ties for adjacent parcels

Commercial 
retail, office or 
institutional uses 
anchor this major 
intersection node

Simplified access 
from Russ Avenue

Mix of residential uses 
within walking dis-
tance of retail center 

Pedestri-
an-friendly 
internal streets

Potential for vertical 
mix of uses that in-
clude retail, office and 
residential



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  35JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Above: The large impervious surface provides opportunities for infill development at Waynesville Plaza main shop-
ping center to create additional commercial and residential spaces. Infill could create a Main Street feel similar to 
Waynesville’s historic downtown.

Above: Main Street Waynesville draws citizens and visitors with its welcoming, pedestrian-scale design. The inviting 
storefronts create a prime location for festivals and gatherings.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE36 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Haywood Street

Depot Street

Miller Street

Co
m

m
er

ce
 St

re
et

FROG LEVEL DISTRICT
Frog Level is the low-lying area of Depot and Commerce Street developed around the 
railroad and is an historic district recognized on the National Register.  The rail is still active. 
Current development includes a number of historic structures housing commercial, industrial, 
institutional, and residential.  The proposed design utilizes strategic infill development and 
streetscape improvements as well as a more cohesive transition to nearby residential 
neighborhoods. It includes railroad track adjacent development and the compatible 
integration of diverse and multiple uses in an urban mixed-use form.

Apartments
Townhomes
Mixed Use
Retail

Legend

Veterans of 
Foreign Wars

Historic Home

N

Retention of the 
existing local retail 
establishments is 
encouraged

Transition from retail area 
to residential character. 
On-street parking on 
Miller extends downtown 
access. 

Consolidation of driveways 
and enhanced streetscape 
on Depot Street

R
ai

lr
oa

d

Smaller footprint 
multifamily/ at-
tached housing 
could be sensitive 
to topography, 
while increasing 
housing options to 
FL and downtown

Trail Connection



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  37JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Shops on Miller Street between Frog Level and Down-
town



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE38 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

HAZELWOOD GATEWAY
Exit 100 from US Highway 74/23 serves as one of the primary access routes to downtown 
Waynesville.  However, the Hazelwood Avenue corridor does little to convey a sense of arrival 
to visitors and lacks connection to Browning Branch or Richland Creeks. This proposed concept 
plan formalizes the Hazelwood Gateway through streetscape improvements including two 
new roundabouts, vegetative screening of high-intensity uses, and connections to the creeks. 
A new, mixed use area with residences on the western side of the rail road contributes to 
place-making along the corridor and creates new commercial opportunity.

Apartments
Townhomes
Mixed Use
Retail

Legend

N

Hazelwood Ave.

U
S 

H
w

y 
74

-2
3 Elysinia Avenue

St. Peter’s 
Anglican Church

North Hazelwood 
Baptist Church

Richland Creek Trail
Connection

Singleton’s Tire
& Service

Development an-
choring the corner 
at the gateway 
to the Hazelwood 
district

Streetscape and 
intersection im-
provements

Pocket Park / 
Access Point on 
Richland Creek

Potential for railroad 
adjacent mixed use 
redevelopment to 
provide additional 
housing options

Multi-modal trail 
connections per 
Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Plan



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  39JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

A mix of use types in Hazelwood. 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE40 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

HOUSING & NEIGHBORHOODS
As Waynesville and the western North Carolina region continue to grow, particularly in an 
environment where cost of living out-paces wages, the need for quality housing choices for all 
persists. This Plan focuses attention and prioritizes resources for options at all levels.  Investment 
in housing can yield social and economic returns that strengthen the Town of Waynesville as a 
desirable place to live for all.

HN-1 Increase the availability of affordable and workforce housing
A.  Support safe, affordable housing to rent and own at median price points. 

	- Partner with Haywood County, Habitat for Humanity, Mountain Projects, Inc., 
Waynesville Housing Authority and other housing providers to provide safe, 
affordable housing to rent or own. 

	- Maintain and participate in the Haywood County affordable housing assessment 
and rental market study, and housing strategy.

	» Quantify cost-burdened households

	» Estimate current and future demand for affordable and workforce housing

	» Examine the impact of short-term housing rentals on housing availability

B.  Provide Town infrastructure incentive grants for affordable and workforce housing.

C.  Support the creation of a housing trust fund and public incentive grants for 
infrastructure to create affordable or workforce housing.

Key Terms
“Workforce housing” refers to housing that is affordable to workers and close to employment centers.  Often 
the term refers to employees considered essential to communities such as public servants, police and fire 
personnel, teachers, and those in the service industry.

“Affordable housing” is the term used to describe housing that a household can obtain for 30% or less of its 
income.

“Housing choice vouchers (HCV)” are administered locally, but are funded through United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The HCV is the federal government’s major program 
for assisting low-income individuals, the elderly, and the disabled to afford decent, safe, and sanitary housing 
in the private market.

“Public housing” is housing managed by local housing agencies such as the Waynesville Housing Authority 
(WHA) for low-income residents.

“Living wages” provide for basic necessities such as food and housing expenses as well as economic 
mobility.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  41JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Currently, 63% of 
housing is single-family 
detached units1. 
This lack of diversity coupled 
with low rental vacancy rates 
(1.6% ), and very little new 
housing stock since the Great 
Recession (1%) has created a 
need to actively work toward 
increasing availability of both 
market-rate and affordable 
housing. 

1 2016 ACS

D.  Partner with Mountain Projects and other nonprofit organizations to support low-
income residents.

	- Educate residents regarding affordable, 
workforce and subsidized housing 
opportunities

HN-2 Increase the availability of multifamily 
and mixed-income housing

A. Focus higher-density, mixed-use development, 
including residential development where there is 
walkable access to services, shopping, and other 
amenities.  

	- Candidate locations include the 
redeveloping districts of Frog Level, 
Hazelwood, Waynesville Plaza and in the 
vicinity of Main Street. Encourage flexibility, including higher density housing 
types in other mixed use and commercial areas.

	- Create cohesive and architecturally distinctive multifamily residential being 
mindful of the size, scale, and context of the surrounding neighborhood.

	- Redevelopment of government-owned property, such as the Historic Haywood 
hospital site, that is vacant or underutilized through public/private partnerships.

	- Encourage the reuse / repurposing of well-located, properties for affordable or 
mixed-income housing.

	- Consider updates to the LDS to allow, by-right, mixed-income housing with 
accompanying special requirements and ensure code allows multi-family and 
single-family attached housing with appropriate accompanying densities.

	- Consider adopting inclusionary zoning practices that encourage the 
construction of affordable and workforce housing through incentives and 
density bonuses for projects that include the construction of affordable and/or 
workforce housing.

HN- 3 Evaluate impact of short-term rentals on housing affordability and 
neighborhoods.

A. Consider LDS updates that define and manage how and where short-term rentals 
are allowed. Consider cottage development options within the LDS to allow small foot-
print or “tiny-home,” development.

B.  Allow accessory dwelling units (i.e. garage apartments and “granny flats”) in all 
districts.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE42 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Jobs and economic growth were identified as the most pressing issues that Waynesville faces 
today. Waynesville and the former Town of Hazelwood have a history of successful industry 
and tourism which allowed for sustained economic growth and employment. As larger 
scale manufacturing decreased, and the impacts of the 2008 recession carried forward, the 
Waynesville housing, retail and manufacturing sectors stagnated. In 2015, the Town’s economy 
began rebounding, particularly in the area of tourism. However, the planning process 
revealed that the public recognizes that Waynesville’s economy must grow in a balanced 
way that creates multiple opportunities for job growth beyond just services related to tourism 
and retail.

Several areas of opportunity for economic growth were identified in stakeholder discussions. 
Healthcare needs are growing as Waynesville and Haywood County’s population grows 
and as the “baby boom” generation retires to the area or is aging in place. Additionally, 
entrepreneurship is growing as a new generation of creative business people are starting 
brewing, soda-making, restaurants, olive oils, soaps, and other goods and services which have 
tremendous potential to expand

ED-1 Strengthen Waynesville’s existing and future workforce
A.  Coordinate closely with Haywood County Board of Education, Haywood 
Community College, and Western Carolina University to match job needs from 
employers with job training programs.

B.  Work in partnership with local agencies to increase housing options and increase 
substance abuse and mental health treatment and counseling opportunities.

C.  Promote and increase Waynesville’s medical, health and wellness resources that 
serve all ages.

ED-2 Support the growth of local businesses
A.  Support existing, and recruit additional, industry and business types that are 
projected to grow in the region and pay higher wages.

B.  Work with regional efforts to enhance broadband services to expand on-line 
marketing and business potential.

C.  Support local farmers markets and special events that both connect local farmers 
and crafts people to markets, while providing attractions for visitors.

D.  Broaden the availability of high speed internet and modernize wireless 
communication facilities by participating in regional planning efforts and public/
private partnerships.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  43JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

ED-3 Focus new business recruitment strategies 
A.  Continue to work closely with the Haywood County Chamber of Commerce, 
Asheville Chamber of Commerce, Haywood County Tourism Development Authority, 
and other regional partners

	- Promote a healthy, open dialogue with this partnership to make sure Waynesville 
continues to be a player for new, expanding, or relocating businesses

	- Encourage a “Responsible Regionalism” approach to economic development 
by coordinating with the greater region

	- Provide information to enable updates to the Haywood Economic Development 
Council website to highlight available sites and buildings in Waynesville

Industry Title
2014 

Employee
Estimate

2024
Employee
Estimate

Net
Change

%
Change

Annualized
Growth

Rate

Haywood
2017 Avg.

Weekly 
Earning

Leisure and Hospitality 9,363 10,973 1,610 17.2 1.6 $312.97
Accommodation and 
Food Services 7,914 9,411 1,497 18.9 1.7 $377.22

Food Services and 
Drinking Places 6,484 7,859 1,375 21.2 1.9 $293.50

Professional and 
Business Services 4,707 5,624 917 19.5 1.8 $886.56

Trade, Transport., and 
Utilities 10,592 11,420 828 7.8 0.8 $922.48

Construction 3,208 3,902 694 21.6 2.0 $771.06
Health Care and Social 
Assistance 8,990 9,673 683 7.6 0.7 $833.68

Educational Services 7,002 7,527 525 7.5 0.7 $647.89
Professional, Scientific, 
and Technical Services 2,525 3,029 504 20.0 1.8 $886.56

The table above shows average earnings by industry and projected growth (Source:  NC Department of Com-
merce).  Industries with higher projected growth rates and wages should be the focus of recruitment programs.  

AVERAGE EARNINGS BY INDUSTRY



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE44 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

ED-4 Support the continued growth of tourism in Waynesville
A.  Encourage creatively designed, mixed-use, walkable centers.

	- Design for walkable 
commercial districts and 
pedestrian infrastructure that 
appeals to residents and 
visitors.

	- Implement updates to 
streetscapes along and 
around Main Street.

B.  Promote Waynesville as 
a destination through the 
Tourism Development Authority, 
highlighting its downtown districts, 
historic bed and breakfasts inns, 
restaurants, and local reputation 
for hospitality as the “gateway to 
the Great Smoky Mountain Park” 
in support of our growing tourism 
industry.

C.  Promote festivals, programs 
and events organized by historical 
and cultural organizations.

D.  Support the Town’s Parks 
and Recreation Master Plan and Greenway Feasibility Study to develop recreational 
facilities that appeal to regional and neighborhood users.

ED-5 Promote small and independent businesses, entrepreneurship, and 
the maker economy

A.  Support Waynesville’s “maker economy” of craft, art, brewing, furniture making, 
and other small, local manufacturing.

	- Leverage the low vacancy rate (2%) in downtown to create business 
opportunities in Frog Level and Hazelwood.

	- Promote the construction of a dedicated makerspace within Waynesville to assist 
small businesses owners and entrepreneurs.

	- Actively educate residents on the tools available through Haywood Community 
College’s Small Business Center and the Chamber of Commerce’s Business 
Incubator

	- Support events that celebrate local and regional makers and artists, such as 
Farmer’s Markets, Craft Fairs, Art Walks and the Folkmoot International Festival.

B.  Support the year-round growth of Folkmoot as the cultural arts center of WNC.

Informal seating and planters in downtown Waynesville are 
examples of furnishings that should be common in pedestrian 
areas to invite visitors to linger. 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  45JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

What’s a Maker Space?
“Makers’ Spaces emerged across the world in the last decade born out of a Do-it-
Yourself (DIY) philosophy coupled by innovative technologies. These spaces located 
in communities, large and small, foster creative, sharing of products, services and 
ideas.  Some maker communities are partnered with established education or business 
organizations and help drive the start ups and encourage entrepreneurship. The Frog 
Level and Hazelwood districts are perfect locations to grow this movement. There is an 
abundance of underutilized commercial and industrial structures that can be repurposed 
(adaptive reuse) to accommodate these studios, workshops and live-work spaces if the 
costs are competitive in these sometimes not fully finished spaces. 

The maker movement contribution to Frog Level and Hazelwood could serve to further 
catalyze revitalization and extend the experience of visitors to Main Street. The spaces 
must be developed with the principles for a walkable, cohesive mixed-use district and as 
suggested in the concepts on previous pages. 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE46 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

TRANSPORTATION & CONNECTIVITY
Planning of multimodal transportation requires a coordinated effort involving local, regional, 
state, federal and other entities.  Multi-modal transportation includes automobiles, transit and 
freight vehicles, pedestrians, cyclists, and other types of transportation (such as wheelchairs, 
segues, scooters, etc.) that move people and/or goods.  The impact of transportation 
infrastructure on land use, economic development, recreation, and employment should be 
considered in all contexts.

STREETS
Planners and engineers must consider the need and purpose of a transportation project 
and how it may equally address safety, mobility, and the preservation of scenic, aesthetic, 
historic, environmental, and other community values.  This requires a purposeful effort by the 
Town to work collaboratively with other agencies, citizens and property owners as part of the 
design process. Goal of roadway planning should be the safe, efficient movement of people 
(regardless of mode of travel), safety, and overall improvement of public space.

TC-1 Use roadway projects for community development – Improvements 
in streets should improve adjacent land values and aesthetics, and create 
economic opportunities.

A.  Prioritize the design of each street to complement surrounding neighborhood land 
use and tailored to fit the environment for which it is being built. 

	- Monitor NCDOT projects and leverage funding for local goals through the French 
Broad River Metropolitan Planning Organization (FBRMPO).

	- Ensure that NCDOT understands Town plans for adjacent land use along 
thoroughfares such as Russ Avenue, North and South Main Street. 

	- Continue to facilitate discussions between NCDOT and the public to address 
concerns related to project impacts and develop links to, or a page of, 
information on local transportation projects.

	- Partner with NCDOT for new gateway elements, especially planned roundabouts 
to foster a sense of place for residents and visitors as they travel into Waynesville.

	- Develop external street connections at Waynesville Plaza and work with business 
owners to make parking areas more pedestrian-friendly.

	- Provide residents with mobility options by making sure neighborhoods are 
walkable and connected by transportation corridors. Encourage connectivity 
and include sidewalks and/or greenways as part of new commercial and major 
residential development.

B.  Use data-driven analysis (traffic, pedestrian and/or bicycle studies) to manage 
transportation decisions.  Consider lowering the LDS threshold for Traffic Impact Studies.

C.  Conduct a sign inventory along Waynesville streets to identify areas that lack 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  47JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices standard compliance and determine 
whether new signs are needed. Coordinate existing signage with regional wayfinding 
signage.

D.  Implement short-term, low cost demonstration projects to highlight the feasibility 
of transportation infrastructure improvements and gain support for more permanent 
measures. 

TC-2 Improve the local street network
A.  Continue to allocate Town funding and/or Powell Bill funds for small scale 
community-supported transportation improvements.

B.  Re-evaluate roadway design standards in the LDS to accomplish multi-modal goals 
while being sensitive and realistic within Waynesville’s mountain topography.

	- Evaluate roadway standards to reduce impacts on the natural environment and 
improve conditions for pedestrians and bicyclists, allowing for alternative street 
standards for areas with steep topography.

	- Evaluate narrower lane widths to deter unsafe behavior. New or redesigned 
streets with speeds under 45 miles per hour could have a default lane width of 
10 feet; this can be flexible (e.g. increasing the lane width for high bus or freight 
traffic, or for emergency vehicle accessibility).

C.  Develop a “Smart Roads” framework, a metric for roadway network planning by 
modes, using Level of Service (LOS) evaluations to decide which roads should prioritize 
different travel modes (such as transit, bicycle, pedestrians, freight, cars) and update 
the Town’s street classification system accordingly.

D.  Implement a proactive approach to stormwater management using available 
rights-of-way to expand vegetated areas to capture and filter excess rainwater as part 
of the Town’s stormwater utility function.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE48 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

GREENWAYS
Greenways can increase a community’s physical activity, improve water quality in streams, 
shorten commute times, and boost real estate value and business investment. The Town has 
demonstrated a commitment to adding miles to the greenway network, with plans in place for 
a continuation of the Richland Creek Greenway that will ultimately traverse the entire length 
of Waynesville. 

TC-3	 Implement the 2010 Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan in designated 
greenway corridors.

A.  Continue to design and implement shared use pathways according to the NCDOT 
Bicycle Facilities Planning and Design Guidelines, with equal or more progressive 
designs to accommodate both pedestrians and cyclists. 

	- Update the Town’s LDS to state that trails shall be 8-14 ft wide (instead of 6-14); 8 
ft wide can be allowed in short, constrained sections, 10 ft wide is standard, but 
12 ft or 14 ft wide pathways are preferred in high volume areas or near parks and 
schools.

	- Ensure all roadway crossings along greenway routes are properly marked and 
designed with current pavement marking and signage standards to ensure 
safety, comfort, and effectiveness of this network

	- Ensure that all cost estimates include pavement marking and signage costs and 
maintain an up-to-date cost estimation tool for multimodal design

	- Require all greenway easement agreements on private property to specify 
adequate room for both the construction and maintenance of the trail.

	- Use available easements as a preliminary trajectory for greenways such as 
unopened, platted rights of way, utility and sewer easements for cost-effective 
routing in accordance with the Greenway Feasibility study.

B.  Continue to fund the planning, design, and construction of the Richland Creek 
Greenway. 

	- Pursue funding for new feasibility studies for greenways along Raccoon Creek, 
Allen’s Creek, and connecting the Recreation Center, the Town’s new property 
along Woodland Drive, and the Waynesville Industrial Park.

	- Consider connecting Waynesville Plaza, the Richland Creek Greenway, and West 
Marshall Street with the construction of a new pedestrian bridge.

	- Coordinate greenway and greenway connection planning with redevelopment 
such as the Mountain Creek Plaza, improvements to the Waynesville Plaza, and 
Russ Avenue or South Main.

C. Conduct a feasibility study on the Raccoon Creek Greenway that will service 
Junaluska Elementary School and help with water quality efforts.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  49JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Excerpt from the 2010 Waynesville Pedestrian Plan

LEGEND

Existing Greenway

Proposed Greenway

Proposed Sidewalk

Greenway & Sidewalks (Proposed)



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE50 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3
BICYCLES & PEDESTRIANS
As the region plans for and develops greenways, it is important to also invest in a network 
of on-road bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure to enable safe access to and from off-
road facilities.  Waynesville should continue its commitment to bicycling and walking as a 
commonplace form of transportation as well as an enjoyable recreational activity. While 
not everyone rides a bicycle, everyone is a pedestrian. Pedestrian safety should be an 
early consideration in every transportation and development decision, whether it is parking, 
landscaping, speed limits, or roadway design.

TC-4 Support bicycling and walking as a viable modes of transportation
A.  Maintain own policies in support of bicycling infrastructure, such as the provision of 
bicycle parking by the Town and as part of new development.

B.  Invest in Bicycling infrastructure as part of new NCDOT and local projects, including 
connections to greenways, bikelanes, and shared lane markings (sharrows).

C.  Prioritize pedestrian safety, connectivity and accessibility through LDS standards for 
sidewalks, accessibility, street trees and vegetation.

	- Conduct a comprehensive sidewalk condition survey to prioritize infrastructure 
improvements and adhere to ADA accessibility standards and the Town’s ADA 
Transition Plan.

	- Where opportunities arise in the roadway design process, ensure pedestrian refuge 
islands, bulb-outs, and reduced curb radii are programmed and installed on 
improvement and repaving projects to improve pedestrian safety

	- Consider lowering speed limits where pedestrian activity is high.

D.  Update the Comprehensive Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan as a combined plan which 
includes updated roadway, greenway and other infrastructure information.

The Waynesville Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan and the Haywood County Comprehensive Bicycle 
Plan were adopted in 2010 and 2011, respectively.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  51JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

TRANSIT, EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES, & PARKING
The French Broad River Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and Land of Sky Rural 
Planning Organization (RPO) allocate substantial funding for improvements to rural and small-
town transit service. Haywood County established a fixed-route bus system in 2019.  Land-of-
Sky Regional Council Transportation Demand Management works to promote information 
and opportunities for transit access and regional connections including ride-sharing. Bus-stops, 
park and ride areas, and education are needed to support these efforts. Additionally, new 
technology may bring autonomous vehicles (AVs) and micro-mobility options like electric 
scooters and bikeshare programs that should be addressed for their infrastructure needs, 
potential, and impacts.

TC-5 Support Haywood County Transit
A.  Prioritize the addition of fixed-route bus service both within Waynesville and 
regionally by advocating for its funding and implementation.

B.  Prioritize pedestrian infrastructure along designated bus routes and insure adequate 
facilities, including signage and seating, at transit stops.

TC-6 Prepare for micro-mobility and autonomous vehicles (AVs)
A.  Draft a preliminary permitting process for bicycle and e-scooter rentals so that the 
Town is prepared if a pilot program is launched.

	- Research existing data and case studies to weigh pros and cons from cities and 
towns that have implemented micro-mobility programs

B.  Monitor advances in autonomous vehicles and planning resources in preparation 
for the potential impacts of AVs.

	- Ensure that Public Services can maintain and update traffic control devices 
(signage and striping), which influences AVs’ ability to communicate and respond 
to the built environment.

	- Develop specific curbside AV pickup and drop-off policies in different places.

TC-7 Rethink parking in Waynesville
A.  Identify sensible yet innovative approaches to parking policy, infrastructure, 
pricing, and enforcement for all vehicular types.

	- Conduct a parking study to evaluate and monitor parking demand, particularly 
around the Central Business Districts, and revisit parking requirements within the 
LDS. Modify as needed 

	» Re-evaluate minimum requirements may to accommodate visitor and shared 
parking needs in new residential developments over a certain threshold.

	» Evaluate driveway spacing standards for residential uses and consider 
requiring alley loaded lots and on-street parking in certain circumstances.

	- Evaluate and improve wayfinding signage and/or education to encourage 
utilization of existing public parking.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE52 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

RECREATION, CULTURAL & NATURAL RESOURCES
The location, geography, and other physical characteristics within and around Waynesville 
have drawn people to the Town for generations. The heart of the Town sits in a valley along 
Richland Creek between the Plott Balsams to the west and the Great Balsam Mountains to the 
east. Views from town extend up the forested mountain sides to peaks that exceed 5,000 feet. 
As the Gateway to the Smokies, Waynesville is the social, commercial and historic center for 
the area, and is the largest municipality west of Asheville.

Preserving vistas and access to the out-of-doors is a priority for the residents and stakeholders 
that participated in public input for this plan. The following recommendations conserve and 
protect the visual and ecological integrity of the landscape and encourage development 
and site design that respect natural assets.   

REC-1: Provide adequate access to parks and open space
A.  Maintain and enhance existing parks and improve access to open space through 
implementation of the Parks and Recreation Master Plan and LDS Standards.

	- Partner with public and private entities to provide public open space in 
underserved areas of town.  Neighborhood Parks such as those being developed 
at Chestnut Park and Calvary/Craven provide important public greenspace that 
enhance surrounding areas.

	- Prioritize sidewalk and greenway projects that improve access to parks.

B.  Continue to require open space reservation in new development and revisit 
LDS regulations to ensure open spaces are contextually adequate, consistent with 
community goals, and easy to understand and apply as part of development 
approvals.

	- Areas with unique natural features on the urban rural fringe may need a higher 
amount of passive open space to fit into the surrounding environment or as part 
of Conservation Subdivision Design. 

	- Clarify civic space vs. open space requirements in new developments. 

Improving access to multiple types of open spaces and amenities can improve the quality of life enjoyed by exist-
ing and future residents of Waynesville.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  53JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Plateau

Potential Slope

Valley Wall

Secondary Ridge

Development 
Zone

Secondary 
Development Zone

Farmland (<9% Slope)

Road

Road

Primary Ridge

Floodplain/Pastoral

Conservation & Open 
Space Priorities 

Development Zone

Secondary 
Development Zone

On the edges of Waynesville, valleys extend into the mountains with views of agricultural lands along floodplains. In 
these areas development should be clustered near the valley wall near a existing or newly planted tree-line. Pasture 
lands on the valley floor could be preserved as open space in the foreground. Steeper slopes and primary and 
secondary ridges should be preserved to avoid landslides and impacts to views.

Valley & Ridge Cluster Development

C. Allow public art and historic markers as an option to fulfill civic space requirements 
as part of new development in industrial districts, along the railroad corridor, and 
designated gateways.

D. Develop neighborhood parks to provide convenient greenspace and recreational 
opportunities in residential areas.

REC-2: Be stewards of the natural environment through land use planning 
and site design

A.  Conserve open space and farmland by promoting infill and encouraging 
development in the urbanized areas of town.

	- Promote the re-use and redevelopment of existing commercial and residential 
areas through zoning tools such as flexible standards, conditional districts, and 
special use permits.

	- Discourage utility extension outside of the defined Urban Services Boundary (USB) 

B.  Limit disturbance and protect ridgelines and slope areas over 2,900 feet in elevation 
with continued enforcement of hillside development and steep slope standards. 

	- Discourage clear cutting and mass grading, especially on slopes visible from 
public rights-of-way, and design residential streets and neighborhoods with the 
contours of the land to reduce cut and fill on slopes.

C. Promote the use of natural species in all landscape and buffer requirements, and in 
public parks, greenways, streetscapes, and municipal facilities.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE54 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

C.  Encourage conservation design for areas on the urban fringe with high value 
natural resources such as steep slopes, views and vistas, agricultural lands and/or 
important habitat.

	- Utilize the conditional zoning option to allow for creative design appropriate for 
Residential Conservation areas.

	- Amend the LDS to allow for cluster or conservation option in the Residential 
Conservation and Low to Medium Density areas on the Future Land Use Map 
and associated zoning districts.  This option could allow for narrower lot widths 
and lower minimum lot sizes, and flexibility in roadway and parking standards, in 
exchange for higher amounts of open space.

	» Prioritize reservation of primary conservation areas such as steep slopes (greater 
than 25%), view sheds, vistas, floodplain, stream corridors and buffers, mature 
forest, areas adjacent to Natural Heritage Natural Areas (NHNA), wetlands, 
and unique habitats, etc.

D.  Protect and enhance the Town’s forests.

	- Encourage/ require tree preservation along road frontages and streams through 
enforcement of landscaping and buffer requirements.

	- Develop the Town arboretum and continue local forestry practices within public 
areas and parks to preserve and enhance our urban forest, with an emphasis on 
native species.

REC-3: Protect and connect unique features, parks and trails
A.  Protect rural lands, iconic views and mountain vistas.

	- Work with local Land Trusts and conservation programs using land conservation 
and agricultural easements and other tools.

B.  Think of greenways, parks and open space as a system of green infrastructure 
that protects environmentally sensitive areas, that provides stormwater and flood 
management, and promotes urban forestry.

	- Encourage interconnected open space preservation with new subdivisions to 
facilitate safe passage for wildlife and enjoyment for residents.

	- Identify and inventory outstanding scenic landscapes, areas, views, heritage 
trees and other features which define the character of the Waynesville area and 
work to conserve areas identified as natural assets, including:

	» Plott Creek Valley, Eagles Nest Mountain (especially at elevations over 3,000 
ft), land adjacent to and connections to public lands and the Pinnacle Ridge 
Natural Heritage Natural Area (NHNA) on the south side of Town, the Richland 
Creek floodplain and important wildlife corridors.

C.  Manage and green the floodplain.

	- Revisit the Town’s Flood Hazard Mitigation Ordinance to discourage fill in the 
100 year floodplain, require a minimum structural elevation, flood proofing and 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  55JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

mitigation projects, and monitor areas within the 500 year floodplain projections 
on the Flood Insurance Rate Map.

REC-4: Protect and enhance gateway features
A.  Pursue targeted public art, beautification projects, landscape plantings and 
streetscape improvements in the rights-of-way of major gateways to town.

	- Specific Recommendations for Major Gateways include:  

	» US23 / Great Smoky Mountains Expressway: Evergreen plantings and stonework 
could be located on the south side of the expressway and define the approach 
into Waynesville. Trees in these areas could increase the canopy in the riparian 
area of Richland Creek, which would have benefits related to capturing and 
storing stormwater upstream of town.

	» Russ Avenue: Street improvements should improve conditions for pedestrians. 
New development should be oriented towards the street and buildings brought 
close to intersections. Street trees should provide shade to pedestrians and 
buildings should have architectural details, depth and transparent facades.

	» US276 (Main Street and Pigeon Street): Pedestrian scale lighting and crossing 
improvements should be implemented at key locations. Opportunities 
for public art including sculpture and murals should be evaluated. New 
development should mimic the urban form of Downtown with multi-story 
buildings, architectural details and parking located behind buildings.

	» South Main/Hyatt Creek Road and North Main:  tie gateway features into 
roundabouts and streetscape elements in conjunction with NCDOT roadway 
improvements. Encourage extension of sidewalks, thru connections between 
new developments, street trees and plantings, buildings brought close to the 
street, and screening of parking lots and storage areas.

B.  Encourage preservation of  mature forests and foreground meadows as open space 
along secondary gateways and in developing areas. In areas of redevelopment, 
encourage new pedestrian facilities, street trees, consolidation of driveways and 
screening of parking lots and storage areas.  

	- Specific Recommendations for Secondary Gateways include: 

	» Allens Creek Road: New development should mimic the small-scale,  residential 
form of this corridor. The existing sidewalk should be repaired and extended 
toward the Town boundary.

	» Howell Mill Road: New development should be sensitive to the existing residential 
in the area and respect topography. New residential development should be 
designed to limit impacts on views from Howell Mill Road. Heritage trees should 
be preserved, particularly along property lines and steep slopes. Agricultural 
fields should be preserved as open space, a community garden or commons. 
New homes should front open space where possible.

	» Asheville Highway / Ratcliff Cove Road Area: Building masses should be 
concentrated near intersection. Parking and service areas should be located in 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE56 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Gateways Map

The map above shows important gateways into Waynesville.  Types of gateways and recommendations are out-
lined below. 
•	 Major Gateway: These corridors are primary entrances into Waynesville along major corridors.  Targeted public 

art, beautification projects, landscape plantings and streetscape improvements within the rights-of-way should 
be considered for these corridors.  New development should be oriented to the street, buildings should have 
architectural details, transparent facades with depth.  Buildings should be brought close to intersections and 
parking should be located behind buildings.  Street trees, improved pedestrian crossings and pedestrian scaled 
lighting should be part of roadway improvements and/or new development.  

•	 Secondary Gateways: These corridors are located along areas prime for new development or redevelopment.  
In areas of new development encourage preservation of heritage trees, mature forests and foreground mead-
ows as open space.  In areas of redevelopment encourage new pedestrian facilities, street trees, consolidation 
of driveways and screening of parking lots and outdoor storage areas.  

•	 Rural/Edge Gateways: These gateways mark the transition from urbanized areas to agricultural and natural ar-
eas surrounding Town.  These corridors’ development intensity should be limited using conservation design that 
preserves viewsheds and sensitive natural areas by clustering development away from natural resources.  



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  57JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

rear of buildings and/or screened. Setbacks and landscaping should increase 
along Ratcliff Cove Rd farther away from Asheville Highway.

	» Russ Avenue (North of GSM Expressway): New development should improve 
the standardization of the streetscape and include sidewalks and street trees. 
Development should be scaled to manage topography and minimize mass 
grading of hillsides.

C.  Limit intensity of development and encourage cluster or conservation design along 
rural gateways.

	- Specific Recommendations for Rural Gateways include: 

	» Raccoon Road, east Pigeon Street, Hyatt Creek Road and Plott Creek Road 
west of GSM:  Preserve viewsheds and valuable natural resources as amenities 
by clustering development away from these features. Locate and design 
buildings and employ landscape plantings to minimize visibility from public 
roads.  Cluster mixed uses at key intersections or close to the GSM.

REC-5: Protect and improve water quality through managing stormwater, 
encouraging Low-Impact Development (LID) techniques and targeted 
restoration activities.

A.  Protect the Richland Creek Watershed through park and greenway development, 
the enforcement of buffers, stormwater and land disturbance regulations.

	- Monitor and regulate stormwater and implement best management practices 
and education according to the Town’s Phase II Stormwater Plan.

	- Consider implementing a stormwater fee to help mitigate water quality and 
flooding impacts of impervious surfaces and to assist with implementation of 
the Plan, including activities such as storm drain maintenance, street sweeping, 
urban forestry, stream bank restoration, development of rain gardens and 

Watershed Restoration 
Activities

Planting vegetation in riparian areas 
can help stabilize stream banks, 
reduce stream temperatures and 
improve water quality.  The Haywood 
Waterways Association has partnered 
with the Town and landowners to 
conduct restoration activities, including 
riparian plantings, livestock exclusion 
fencing and installation stormwater 
collection devices in the Richland 
Creek and Hyatt Creek watersheds.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE58 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Reduce runoff at 
source of rainfall

Prioritize in areas 
that provide 
public green 

space

Enhanced tree 
canopy for 

heat and runoff 
mitigation

Support 
neighborhood 
revitalization

PERMEABLE 
PAVERS

BIORETENTION

SILVA CELL

GREEN STREETS

WHAT IS LOW-IMPACT DEVELOPMENT?
Low impact development (LID) is an innovative 
stormwater approach with a basic principle that is 
modeled after nature.  LID’s goal is to mimic a site’s 
pre-development hydrology by using techniques to 
infiltrate, filter, store, and evaporate runoff close to its 
source.  LID is viewed as a more environmentally sound 
technology and a more economically sustainable 
approach to addressing urbanization.

Why use LID?

Source: lid-stormwater.net



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  59JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

swales, and preservation of greenspace within Town parks, greenways, and 
other rights-of-way.

B.  Continue partnership with Haywood Waterways Association and other entities to 
monitor and improve water quality.

	- Identify opportunities for tree planting on public lands, rights-of-ways and in 
coordination with large land owners.

	- Identify opportunities for stream and riparian area restoration along Richland 
Creek and its tributaries.

	- Partner to preserve land along Richland Creek for greenways, neighborhood 
parks and fishing access.

C.  Encourage the utilization of Low-Impact Development techniques to the maximum 
extent possible.

	- Where possible, avoid development of steep slopes (i.e. >25%) to reduce erosion 
and potential land slides.

	- Encourage incorporation of low impact development techniques such as 
pervious pavements, silva cells, bioretention areas and green roofs in new 
development and redevelopment.

	- Provide Low Impact Development guidance/best practices for industrial, 
commercial, and residential projects and allow for alternative street design for 
very low-density residential areas.

REC-6: Promote best management practices in energy efficiency and 
waste management.

A.  Continue to engage in and promote best management practices related to clean 
vehicles and fleet management, energy efficiency, collection and processing of solid 
waste, recycling, and vegetation debris, and the elimination of blight and litter.

B.  Promote green buildings and the use of solar and wind technologies.

	- Consider green building certification for new town-owned buildings and promote 
educational opportunities for builders to improve energy efficiency of buildings 
during major retrofits or new construction.

	- Continue alternative fuel vehicles as part of fleet updates and participation in 
the Clean Air Campaign.

	- Study cost/benefit and feasibility of solar and wind energy installations on town-
owned buildings and sites.

REC-7: Protect and promote Waynesville’s historic and cultural resources
A.  Seek opportunities for public space improvements within historic districts.

	- Implement streetscape improvements and updates along Main Street and in 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE60 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Frog Level.

B.  Continue to invest in Historic Preservation

	- Maintain an active Historic Preservation Commission and promote applications 
to the National Register and Local Landmark programs, educational events 
that promote Waynesville’s history and encourage private property owner 
participation in historic preservation.

	- Seek state and federal grants/funds and target projects that enhance historic 
resources, such as:

	» Update the Waynesville Study List 

	» Conduct study and application for National Register designation for the Love 
Lane Neighborhood.

	» Pursue additional research on Dix Hill Cemetery

	» Restoration of the Spring House gazebo at Sulphur Springs Park

	» Other projects identified by the Historic Preservation Commission

	» Update the Town of Waynesville Design Review Guidelines for Historic properties 
and districts and the process for certificates of appropriateness.

C.  Support collaboration between local cultural institutions, artists and organizations to 
educate Waynesville residents about our unique heritage



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  61JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Page Intentionally Left Blank



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE62 DRAFT

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

INFRASTRUCTURE & SERVICES
The Town of Waynesville provides a variety of infrastructure 
and services to support development within the town 
including water and sewer, waste management, electrical 
power, and stormwater control. Maintaining adequate 
services to support the desired growth pattern is the principle 
focus of the recommendations in this chapter.

IS-1  Continue to carefully plan for water and 
sewer utility needs.

A.  Limit extension of urban services beyond the 
revised Urban Services Boundary (USB). 

	- Prioritize system expansion to sustain existing 
development and direct growth to targeted 
areas and away from sensitive habitats.  

	- Consider exceptions to the USB on a case-by-
case basis for:  

	» Civic uses

	» Economic development

	» Conservation subdivisions

	» Improving resiliency of utility system (e.g. 
water loops)

	» Special situations including (NCDOT needs)

	» Environmental, health and safety concerns

B.  Promote an efficient wastewater collection system 
by discouraging pump stations in new development.

C.  Execute plans for upgrades to the sewer plant.

D.  Use the USB to exercise context sensitive planning  
and zoning compliance in the extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ).

E.  Encourage only very low density development (cluster-type or large-lot single 
family) in rural areas and/or areas outside of the USB.

IS-2  Improve public safety coverage.
A. Focus police, fire and emergency service improvements within the USB.

IS-3  Improve broadband and wireless availability
A.  Coordinate with regional internet infrastructure providers of to enhance high speed 
internet to areas outside of the core of downtown. 

B.  Continue policies of co-location and permitting of wireless facilities and towers.

The Urban Services 
Boundary (USB) is a 
growth management 
tool that limits the extent to 
which the Town will extend 
water and sewer services. 
This limits the intensity of 
development in rural area 
surrounding the town and 
helps to preserve agriculture, 
sensitive habitats and mountain 
views and vistas. 

The USB was established in 2002 
with the adoption of the 2020 
Land Use Plan and is meant to 
be re-evaluated periodically. 
During this planning process 
the USB was updated. 

The revised USB has been 
brought in near areas where 
steep slopes and ridges exist 
and development would 
impact these resources.  It was 
also extended in some areas.   
Two major areas where the USB 
has been extended are along 
Mauney Cove Road and along 
the GSM Expressway.  Much of 
these areas is still included in 
the Rural land use classification.  

Overall the USB has increased 
by 10%. From 19.5 square miles 
to 21.6 square miles. 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  63JULY 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS 3

Urban Services Boundary - Updated



w 4



w
The 2035 Action Plan contains 
specific, actionable steps 
Waynesville can take to meet the 
goals and vision identified during 
this planning process.  Each step 
will involve collaboration between 
local and regional stakeholders 
such as town staff, elected 
officials, appointed boards, 
residents, community leaders, 
businesses and non-governmental 
organizations.  

2035 
ACTION PLAN



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE66 DRAFT

2035 ACTION PLAN4

The recommendations in Chapter 5 are distilled into discreet actionable items in this section. 
The proposed actions provide strategies to accomplish the community’s goals and vision.  The 
2035 Action Plan is designed as a tool for making decisions about land use, transportation, the 
investment of resources and use of public funds. The Town Aldermen, Planning Board, Town 
departments including Development Services, Public Services, and Parks and Recreation 
will consult the Plan, as will those in the development community, non-profits, and regional 
agencies.   

The success of the Comprehensive Land Use Plan will be measured in part by the application 
and practice of the recommendations and actions. The Town should review the action plan 
periodically to see if priorities still align with the community goals. That review is a time to check 
actions off the list and shift priorities as necessary. 

AGENCIES AND PARTNERS
The Comprehensive Land Use Plan is intended to be 
implemented over several years during which boards, 
commissions, and staff may change. It is important to 
identify the organization taking the lead on a specific 
action and list the partners needed to accomplish that 
task. The partners may not always be governmental 
organizations. Business groups, major employers, non-
profits and others are needed to stay on task and assist 
with resources. A list of agencies and abbreviations is 
shown in the adjacent sidebar. 

It is important to note that the goals and actions 
outlined on the matrix on the following pages are for 
consideration only, and do not constitute an obligation 
on any organization’s part to lead or even participate in 
any given activity.

TIME FRAME
The following action steps are assigned approximate time 
frames for implementation which may vary based on 
economic influences and other factors:

	» Ongoing: Tasks that may be implemented in a series 
of incremental steps or tasks that are ongoing, 
continuous efforts. 

	» Quick Wins: Tasks that could be undertaken 
immediately and/or implemented within twelve 
months of the Plan’s adoption.

	» Short-Term Opportunities: Tasks that could be 
initiated within 0-3 years of the Plan’s adoption. 

	» Medium-Term Opportunities: Tasks that are on a 2-5 
years time-frame after the Plan’s adoption.

	» Long-Term Opportunities: Tasks that are on a 5+ years after the Plan’s adoption. 

Primary Agencies
BA	 Board of Alderman

PB 	 Planning Board

ZBA	 Zoning Board of Adjustment

CC 	 Chamber of Commerce

DS 	 Development Services

PS	 Public Services

PR	 Parks and Recreation

HPC 	 Historic Preservation Commission

AC	 Arts Commission

HC	 Haywood County

NCDOT NC Department of Transportation

HEDC	 Haywood Economic Development 	

	 Council

WHA	 Waynesville Housing Authority

DW 	 Downtown Waynesville Association 

SC	 Southwestern Commission

LS	 Land of Sky Regional Council

FBRMPO  French Broad Regional 		

	 Metropolitan Planning Organization

LNGO	 Local Non-governmental 		

	 Organization

SMHP	 Smoky Mountain Housing 	

	 Partnership

HCC	 Haywood County Community 

College

TDA	 Tourism Development Authority

SC	 Southwestern Commission



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  67JULY 2020

2035 ACTION PLAN 4

Goals Action
Lead 

Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 1

: C
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
to

 p
ro

m
o

te
 s

m
ar

t 
g

ro
w

th

1. Update design requirements in the land develop-
ment standards.

	» Update commercial/mixed use design 
requirements to ensure:

	» High quality design regardless of major vs 
minor site plan

	» Adjust applicability of design guidelines 
for commercial, non-residentialw and 
multifamily structures and sites regardless 
of proximity to right of way 

	» Designation of primary street (street that 
development is facing) and excluded limited 
access roads 

	» Clarify transparency regulations to 
emphasize high degree of transparency on 
primary street-facing facade

	» Review design regulations for single family 
homes to ensure compliance with State statutes 
and equity among review types (subdivisions v 
individual home permits)

 DS, PB, BA Short-term

2. Update land development standards to encourage 
infill and new housing opportunities within the Town 
limits.  

	» Provide flexibility in housing type and 
dimensional requirements to support infill 
development and conservation design

	» Study/implement a railroad overlay district to 
encourage redevelopment along the railroad 
corridor, especially in areas with access to 
existing/future greenway

DS, PB, BA Short-term

3. Consider updates to land development regulations 
and processes to promote collaboration between 
staff, elected officials, developers and citizens.   

	» Consider a legislative review process for Major 
Site Plans and Major Subdivisions that is not 
quasi-judicial.

	» Remove all references to Appearance 
Commission, and Protect Petitions.

	» Expand pre-submittal meeting to include the 
Technical Review Committee.

	» Require application completeness and prior to 
Planning Board and Alderman review.

	» Task ZBA with all quasi-judicial procedures: 
special use permits, variances, and appeals.

	» Update LDS to comply with statutory changes 
in G.S. Chapter 160D.

DS, PB, ZBA, 
BA

Short-term



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE68 DRAFT

2035 ACTION PLAN4

Goals Action
Lead 

Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 2

: C
re

at
e 

ra
n

g
e 

o
f 

h
o

u
si

n
g

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

an
d

 c
h

o
ic

es
.

1. Preserve and reinforce community character through 
updates to buffer standards and development design 
along gateways

	» Create standards to require buffers or other 
acceptable site and building design along the 
Great Smoky Mountain Expressway to create 
a unified natural appearance and screen back 
of house functions of adjacent development, 
except in areas where building facades are 
possible

	» Develop  context sensitive design standards 
for gateways that facilitate high quality 
development that is pedestrian-friendly, 
composed of high quality materials, and 
complimentary of the existing gateway and 
community character. 

DS, PB, BA Short-term

2. Create a range of housing opportunities and choic-
es

	» Maintain a land supply database that identifies 
vacant and under-utilized properties in 
potential infill areas for mixed use and 
residential development.

	» Consider inclusionary zoning policies and 
incentives in all districts within the LDS.

	» Support the efforts of the Realtor community in 
the creation of a Housing Trust Fund.

	» Work with other Municipalities and Haywood 
County to implement the Haywood County 
Housing strategy and monitor housing goals.

DS, HEDC, 
WHA, SMHP

Short-term

3. Create an Infill Action Plan that identifies key infill 
opportunities and may include:

	» Conceptual design
	» Specific  recommendations to ensure 
compatibility with existing development

	» Conversations with land owners and/or 
developers

	» Land acquisition strategies and potential 
partnerships to increase housing options

	» Begin study to determine potential uses of 
Town-owned properties.

DS, HEDC Short-term

4. Limit extension of utilities and town services to the 
extent of the revised Urban Services Boundary

DS, PS Ongoing



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  69JULY 2020

2035 ACTION PLAN 4

Goals Action
Lead 

Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 3

: P
ro

te
ct

 a
n

d
 e

n
h

an
ce

 n
at

u
ra

l r
es

o
u

rc
es

1. Revisit land development regulations to improve 
open space/civic requirements.

	» Evaluate and update open space 
requirements and criteria

	» Consider the addition of a cluster or 
conservation option in the land development 
regulations

	» Update development regulations to 
encourage the preservation of key natural 
features along Secondary and Rural 
Gateways, and to expand the Town’s Parks 
and Greenways system

DS, PR Short-term

2. Continue to inventory and map unique natural, cul-
tural and historic resources.

	» Evaluate and prioritize land for conservation. 
See conservation suitability map on page 121.

	» Include cultural assets in all planning initiatives.
	» Update the Historic Study List in coordination 
with the State Historic Preservation Office.

DS, HPC Ongoing

3. Maintain and improve access to parks

	» Implement and update the Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan

	» Partner with Haywood County and other 
entities to acquire land for parks and open 
space

	» Update Pedestrian and Bicycle Plans to study 
where missing links in the pedestrian and 
greenway network can improve access

	» Continue neighborhood parks development (i.e. 
Chesnut Park, Calvary Craven Park, East Street 
Park, Sulphur Springs Park).

DS, PR Long-term

4. Continue efforts to improve water quality

	» Implement a stormwater fee to create an 
on-going funding source for management 
practices

	» Identify opportunities for tree planting and 
stream and riparian area restoration

	» Provide LID guidance/best practices for 
industrial, commercial, and residential projects

	» Utilize partnership with Haywood Waterways 
to improve public awareness and implement 
projects

DS, PS Short-term

&

Medium-term



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE70 DRAFT

2035 ACTION PLAN4

Goals Action
Lead 

Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 4

: P
ro

te
ct

 a
n

d
 p

ro
-

m
o

te
 c

u
lt

u
ra

l r
es

o
u

rc
es

1. Integrate historic and cultural resources into town 
planning and development regulations

	» Study/implement opportunities for public 
space improvements in mixed use areas and 
central business districts

	» Promote public art and historic information
	» Include art and history installations as an 
option to fulfill civic space requirements in 
new development 

	» Incentivize the inclusion of art and historic 
markers in new development

	» Study potential role for public art in 
revitalization efforts

DW, DS, PR Medium-term

2. Study/implement gateway improvements along ma-
jor corridors (i.e. streetscape improvements, lighting, 
pedestrian enhancements, wayfinding and signage, 
public art, undergrounding utilities, etc.)

DW, DS, PR Medium to 
Long-term

G
o

al
 5

: C
re

at
e 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

a 
su

s-
ta

in
ab

le
 e

co
n

o
m

y

1. Support Workforce Development and Educational 
programs

	» Partner with Haywood County Community 
College to promote the Community Health 
Foundation’s program to expand professional 
education in medical fields; and to expand 
HCC’s professional training, small business, and 
other programs.

	» Look for opportunities to expand Western 
Carolina University programs and classes in 
Waynesville.

	» Create internships and opportunities within the 
Town of Waynesville.

CC, TDA, 
HEDC, HCC

Ongoing

2. Support Growth of and recruitment of businesses 
in Waynesville by maintaining active participation in 
the Chamber of Commerce, Economic Development 
Committee, and the Tourism Development Authority.

CC, TDA, 
HEDC, HCC

Ongoing

3. Support tourism and the maker economy

	» Provide continued support of and partnership 
with the Downtown Waynesville Association 
and support activities within the Town’s Central 
Business Districts.

	» Continue implementation of Special Events 
policies and coordination

	» Review the LDS to create opportunities within 
the Town of Waynesville’s industrial areas and 
along the railroad corridor.

CC, TDA, 
HEDC, HCC

Ongoing



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  71JULY 2020

2035 ACTION PLAN 4

Goals Action
Lead 

Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 6

: C
re

at
e 

an
 a

tt
ra

ct
iv

e,
 s

af
e 

an
d

 m
u

lt
i-

m
o

d
al

 t
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 

sy
st

em

1. Implement the 2010 Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan 
and Greenway Study.

	» Continue planning and development efforts of 
the Richland Creek Greenway. 

	» Develop a long-term funding approach to 
break the project into manageable phases 
and eventually connect this project to Lake 
Junaluska and other regional trail projects. 

	» Waynesville can lead through vocal advocacy, 
financial commitments, and working with local 
landowners on property easements.

PR, DS, NC-
DOT, Haywood 
County, Prop-
erty Owners, 

Haywood Gre-
enways Coun-
cil, Haywood 
Waterways 
Association.

On-going

2. Support the Haywood Greenways Council 
	» Collaborate to develop a comprehensive 
greenway map for the county region

	» Participate in developing the Pigeon River 
Greenway, Hellbender Trail, and other broader 
regional connections.

PR, Towns of 
Waynesville, 
Clyde, Can-
ton, Maggie 
Valley, and 

Lake Junalus-
ka, Haywood 

County.

On-going

3. Build local and regional multimodal transportation 
advocacy and planning capacity

	» Consider enlisting a volunteer Bicycle & 
Pedestrian Coordinator or dedicated staff 
member to organize meetings in an effort 
to continue a dialogue about multimodal 
transportation 

	» Meet with nearby towns in the region and share 
successes and opportunities

	» Support or begin bicycle and/or pedestrian 
counts at key locations 

	» These could be led by consultants, regional 
agencies and/or NCDOT

	» Biannual volunteer counts could be 
considered

DS, Towns of 
Waynesville, 
Clyde, Canton, 
Maggie Valley, 
and Lake 
Junaluska, 
FBRMPO, HC

Medium-term

4. Participate in regional transportation planning and 
NCDOT’s STIP Prioritization Process

	» Participate in all NCDOT STIP prioritization 
meetings, French Broad River MPO TCC 
meetings, and any other regional corridor 
planning efforts to make sure Town officials 
and residents are aware of NCDOT’s roadway 
improvements in the area. 

	» Advocate for multimodal infrastructure on all 
NCDOT projects and work to install gateway 
artwork or monuments in all roundabout 
designs.

DS, NCDOT, 
French Broad 
River MPO, 
Town of 
Waynesville, 
Haywood 
County.

Ongoing



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE72 DRAFT

2035 ACTION PLAN4

Action Lead Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 7

: 
C

re
at

e 
an

 a
tt

ra
ct

iv
e,

 s
af

e 
an

d
 m

u
lt

i-
m

o
d

al
 

tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 s
ys

te
m

1. Adopt a Complete Streets Policy

	» Include policy and make decisions about 
bicycle, pedestrian, and transit oriented 
language in LDS. 

	» Revise LDS street design guidelines.

BA, DS, PW, NC-
DOT.

Short-term  
(2021);

 Ongoing Re-
view (every 2-4 

years)

2. Support Haywood County Transit

	» Demonstrate support for Haywood County’s 
plan for a fixed-route bus system in the 
region. 

	» Stay involved in the planning process and 
make sure that all bus stops will have access 
to a connected sidewalk system with ADA 
accessibility. 

	» Coordinate with local property owners 
along the fixed route and host several public 
meetings to make sure that the bus system 
meets the needs of residents. 

	» Help to fund bike racks at bus stop locations 
in town.

BA, DS, PW, CC, 
FBRMPO, Haywood  
County, Mountain 
Projects

Short-term

3. Improve safety and design of local streets

	» Develop a priority list of key intersections 
and corridors for short-term, low-cost, and 
scalable bicycle and pedestrian projects. 

	» Work with community to design traffic and 
street improvements (protected bike lanes, 
bulb outs, midblock crossings, street trees, 
pocket parks, greenspace, etc.).

BA, FBRMPO, NC-
DOT

Short-term 
(2020-2021);

 Ongoing on 
an annual basis 

(i.e. one new 
project per 

year)

4. Organize an Open Street Events

	» Allow non-motorized transportation to enjoy 
full use of a roadway segment. 

	» Vehicular traffic can be rerouted effectively to 
allow Virginia Ave, Commerce St, Branner Ave, 
Montgomery St, or portions of Main Street to 
be locations for events.

BA, FBRMPO, CC Ongoing on an 
annual basis



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  73JULY 2020

2035 ACTION PLAN 4

Action Lead Agency Timetable

G
o

al
 

8
: 

C
re

at
e 

an
 

at
tr

ac
ti

ve
, 

sa
fe

 
an

d
 

m
u

lt
i-

m
o

d
al

 t
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 s

ys
te

m

1. Prepare for Micro-Mobility and Autonomous Vehi-
cles (AVs)

	» Investigate experiences with bikeshare and 
e-scooters among peer communities. 

	» Draft preliminary permitting processes so the 
Town is not caught off-guard if a company 
offers to provide service. 

	» Ensure Waynesville’s Public Services 
Department is equipped to update and 
maintain sufficient traffic control devices. 

	» Monitor emerging AV policy examples and 
develop language regarding AVs to include in 
the Code of Ordinances.

DS, FBRMPO, Blue 
Ridge Bicycle Club.

Ongoing review 
of current 

trends, FHWA 
guidelines, and 
NCDOT policies

2. Rethink Parking in Waynesville

	» Study the potential for street retrofits to 
increase on-street parking and improve 
bicycle facilities

	» Strategically repurpose certain on-street 
parking spaces along key commercial 
corridors for streetscape improvements such 
as street trees, wayfinding, and bulb-outs. 

	» Monitor and evaluate parking requirements.
	» Update Unified Development Ordinance
	» Conduct a downtown parking study 

	» Create a streamlined process for businesses 
and property owners to install bike parking 
in the right-of-way (corrals on the street and 
single racks on the sidewalk).

BA, DS, PW, NCDOT. Medium-term



3w5



w
Demographic data including age, 
income, housing, the economy, 
and other information provide 
a quantitative understanding of 
trends in Waynesville and the 
surrounding area.

Analysis of the data augments  
community feedback, and 
reveals key themes that 
support the Town’s goals and 
influence the plan’s policies and 
recommendations.

COMMUNITY 
PROFILE 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE76 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

POPULATION & HOUSING

Population
Western North Carolina continues to be a desirable place to 
live, work, and play, and Waynesville is no exception. Between 
2000-2016, Waynesville’s population has grown approximately 8 
percent and Haywood County 10 percent. 

In 2016, the largest age group was 60+ years, suggesting that 
people stay (or move to Waynesville) when they retire. The next 
largest groups were age 15 or less and the 25-34 year age cohort, respectively.

According to 2016 American Community Survey (ACS) data, the median age in Waynesville  
was 48.3 years, slightly higher than Haywood County (47.2) and around 25% higher than North 
Carolina (38.3).

The median age in 
Waynesville  is 48.3 
years, slightly higher than 
Haywood County (47.2), 
and 25% higher than NC 
(38.3).

24%

10%

8%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

North Carolina

Haywood County

Waynesville

POPULATION GROWTH COMPARISON 2000-

Source: US Census Bureau (2016 ACS)



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  77JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Housing
The number of housing units in 
Waynesville has grown nearly 
25 percent between 2000 and 
2016, representing an increase of 
approximately 1,155 units.  However, 
of that total, only 1 percent were built 
since 2010. 

The lack of new housing stock 
has caused rental rates and real 
estate prices to rise significantly, 
resulting in a need for workforce and 
affordable housing. The ACS data 
from 2016 reveals median rent to 
be approximately $725 dollars per 
month.  Anecdotally, in 2019, it is not 
uncommon to hear of manufactured 
homes or single-bedroom apartments 
renting for $800- $1000 dollars per 
month. 

More of concern is that 40 percent 
of individuals paying rent are paying 
35 percent or more of their annual 
household income on housing. Twenty-
three percent of single-family home 
owners are paying more than 35 
percent of their annual household 
income on housing. When a family 
pays more than 30% of household 
income toward housing, they are 
considered “cost burdened.” Among 
single-family home owners, 23.2% are 
paying more than 35% of their annual 
household income on housing.

Source: US Census (2016 ACS)

HOUSING BY TYPE

63%

2%

22%

14%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Detached Attached Apartments Mobile Home/Other

HOUSING GROWTH

Out of a total of 
5,900 housing units, 
only 1 percent 
have been built 
since 2010.  



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE78 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Housing Value

After the 2007-2008 recession, the median home value in Waynesville 
dropped by $15,000, but has been growing steadily since 2013.  
Increases in housing value are due to a variety of factors but includes 
limited new housing product and the fact that Waynesville serves as 
a center for housing for the greater region.  Demand for seasonal 
homes in Waynesville and Haywood County as a whole has also led to 
increases in housing value and concerns over availability of affordable 
housing for a wide range of income levels.    

Housing Preference

In 2016, over 60 percent of Waynesville residents lived in single-family detached homes.  
Apartments were the second-most common type of housing units, followed by mobile homes 
and attached single-family homes (townhomes, etc.).

Visioning workshop attendees who represented an older population expressed a preference 
for single-family attached and detached housing over multi-family housing. For the low-to-
moderate income housing visual preference exercise, attendees selected two-story detached 
single-unit dwellings as their preferred style with two-story attached single-unit dwellings as the 
next preferred style of residential development. Denser, multi-family apartment complexes 
received almost no votes as the preferred style of low to moderate income housing. 

For town center/infill housing, attendees overwhelmingly preferred small, craftsman-style 
bungalow visuals over more suburban style single-family dwellings. Single-story “bungalow 

Images preferred by visioning workshop participants included homes with front porches and craftsman style. 

What is Affordable Housing?
Federal guidelines classify a household as “low-income” if it makes less than 80 percent 
of the median income in the local area. The federal Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) defines an affordable dwelling as one that a household can obtain 
for 30 percent or less of its income. HUD considers families who pay more than 30 percent 
of their income for housing “cost burdened” and recognizes these families “may have 
difficulty affording necessities such as food, clothing, transportation and medical care.” So, 
a dwelling is considered “affordable” for low-income families if it costs less than 24 percent 

$211,250
Median home 
value in the Town 

Source: MLS, February, 2019



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  79JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

WORKFLOW PATTERNS

5,274
 People live 

outside of the 
Study Area 
and work 
within the 

Study Area

3,303
 People live 
in the Study 
Area and 

work outside 
of the Study 

Area

1,195
 People live 
and work 

in the Study 
Area

EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR IN 2016

INCOME AND POVERTY

2.6%
The unemployment 
rate is lower than 
the State (5.1%) and 
Nation(4.7%).

COMMUNITY PROFILE Waynesville Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan Update

Series1

0 250 500 750 1000

16

60

85

118

143

191

249

257

304

407

516

528

932Educational services, and health care and social assistance
  

Retail trade
Arts, entertainment, recreation, accommodation and food services

Professional, scientific, administrative and waste mgmt services
Construction

Manufacturing
Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing

Public administration
Other services, except public administration

Information
Transportation and warehousing, and utilities

Wholesale trade
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining

TOP 3 INDUSTRIES

Accommodation and 
Food Services

Educational Services, 
Health Care and Social 
Assistance

Retail Trade

 $-   

 $15,000 

 $30,000 

 $45,000 

 $60,000 

Waynesville North Carolina United States

55322

48256

37612

The number of families that fall below the poverty 
threshold is 18.7%, well above North Carolina (12.4%) and 
the United States (11%).

Source: US Census

Source: US Census

TOP 5 EMPLOYERS

• Haywood County Consolidated Schools
• Ingles Markets Inc
• Haywood Vocation Opportunities Inc
• Wal-Mart Associates Inc
• Giles Chemical Division

   

               $77.1 million
General 

Merchandise 
Stores

      

$9.2 million
Furniture and 
Home Stores

   

$30.9 million
Food services and 

drinking places
(including restaurants 

breweries)

   

$341,000
Clothing and 
accessories

   

$68.3 million
Food and 

beverage stores
    (including grocery)

   

               $2.2 million
Building materials, 

garden equipment, 
and supply

A retail market analysis is usually completed to identify the types of businesses that could 
be most successful in an area. In this assessment Leakage (pink text) happens when 
residents spend money outside their community. Surplus (blue text) occurs when more 
money is spent in town (by both residents and visitors). 

$37,612

$48,256

$55,322

court” style apartments were second-most popular based on visual preference.

The median household income in Waynesville ($37,612) is lower than that of the county, 
state, and nation. Unemployment is low, but the Town’s poverty rate (23.1%) is relatively high 
compared to North Carolina. 

EMPLOYMENT
According to the ACS survey, the largest employment 
sectors in Waynesville in 2016 were Education, 
Healthcare, and Social Assistance Services, followed 
closely by Retail Trade. 

The top 5 employers in the Waynesville area are:

	» Haywood County School System

	» Ingles Markets

	» Haywood Vocation Opportunities, Inc.

$37,612 

$48,256 

$55,322 

 $-

 $10,000

 $20,000

 $30,000

 $40,000

 $50,000

 $60,000

Waynesville North Carolina United States

MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME

Source: US Census Bureau (2016 ACS)



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE80 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  81JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Employment projections for the region show that industry types projected to grow the 
most include leisure and hospitality; accommodation and food services, construction, and 
professional, scientific, and technical services. Weekly wages for some of those growth areas 
however, are low.  Industries with average weekly wages over $700/week in Haywood County 
include education and health services, local government, health care and social assistance, 
professional and business services, and professional, scientific, and technical services.

WORKFLOW PATTERNS

5,274
 People live 

outside of the 
Study Area 
and work 
within the 

Study Area

3,303
 People live 
in the Study 
Area and 

work outside 
of the Study 

Area

1,195
 People live 
and work 

in the Study 
Area

EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR IN 2016

INCOME AND POVERTY

2.6%
The unemployment 
rate is lower than 
the State (5.1%) and 
Nation(4.7%).

COMMUNITY PROFILE Waynesville Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan Update

Series1

0 250 500 750 1000

16

60

85

118

143

191

249

257

304

407

516

528

932Educational services, and health care and social assistance
  

Retail trade
Arts, entertainment, recreation, accommodation and food services

Professional, scientific, administrative and waste mgmt services
Construction

Manufacturing
Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing

Public administration
Other services, except public administration

Information
Transportation and warehousing, and utilities

Wholesale trade
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining

TOP 3 INDUSTRIES

Accommodation and 
Food Services

Educational Services, 
Health Care and Social 
Assistance

Retail Trade

 $-   

 $15,000 

 $30,000 

 $45,000 

 $60,000 

Waynesville North Carolina United States

55322

48256

37612

The number of families that fall below the poverty 
threshold is 18.7%, well above North Carolina (12.4%) and 
the United States (11%).

Source: US Census

Source: US Census

TOP 5 EMPLOYERS

• Haywood County Consolidated Schools
• Ingles Markets Inc
• Haywood Vocation Opportunities Inc
• Wal-Mart Associates Inc
• Giles Chemical Division

   

               $77.1 million
General 

Merchandise 
Stores

      

$9.2 million
Furniture and 
Home Stores

   

$30.9 million
Food services and 

drinking places
(including restaurants 

breweries)

   

$341,000
Clothing and 
accessories

   

$68.3 million
Food and 

beverage stores
    (including grocery)

   

               $2.2 million
Building materials, 

garden equipment, 
and supply

A retail market analysis is usually completed to identify the types of businesses that could 
be most successful in an area. In this assessment Leakage (pink text) happens when 
residents spend money outside their community. Surplus (blue text) occurs when more 
money is spent in town (by both residents and visitors). 

$37,612

$48,256

$55,322

Waynesville’s 
unemployment rate is 
lower than the State 
(5.1%) and Nation(4.7%).

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

2000 2005 2010 2015

Education and Health Care Trade, Transportation, and Utilities Leisure and Hospitality

EMPLOYMENT TRENDS OVER 
TIME

Source: NC Commerce LEAD, 2016



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE82 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

INDUSTRIES EXPECTED TO GROW IN THE REGION

Commute Patterns
More people “in-commute” to Waynesville than “out-commute” and remain in Waynesville 
for work. The high rate of in-commuting could be 
due to relatively high housing values and rents inside 
Waynesville compared to other locations.  

In 2015, the top places people who live in Waynesville 
travel for work are:

1.	Waynesville (24%)

2.	Asheville (11%)

3.	Canton (4%)

4.	Sylva (4%)

5.	Maggie Valley (2%)

A few examples of other locations to where workers out-commute from Waynesville include 
Hendersonville, Lake Junaluska, Knoxville, TN, Cherokee, Woodfin, Cullowhee, Weaverville, and 

WORKFLOW PATTERNS

5,274
 People live 

outside of the 
Study Area 
and work 
within the 

Study Area

3,303
 People live 
in the Study 
Area and 

work outside 
of the Study 

Area

1,195
 People live 
and work 

in the Study 
Area

EMPLOYMENT BY SECTOR IN 2016

INCOME AND POVERTY

2.6%
The unemployment 
rate is lower than 
the State (5.1%) and 
Nation(4.7%).

COMMUNITY PROFILE Waynesville Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan Update

Series1

0 250 500 750 1000

16

60

85

118

143

191

249

257

304

407

516

528

932Educational services, and health care and social assistance
  

Retail trade
Arts, entertainment, recreation, accommodation and food services

Professional, scientific, administrative and waste mgmt services
Construction

Manufacturing
Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing

Public administration
Other services, except public administration

Information
Transportation and warehousing, and utilities

Wholesale trade
Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining

TOP 3 INDUSTRIES

Accommodation and 
Food Services

Educational Services, 
Health Care and Social 
Assistance

Retail Trade

 $-   

 $15,000 

 $30,000 

 $45,000 

 $60,000 

Waynesville North Carolina United States

55322

48256

37612

The number of families that fall below the poverty 
threshold is 18.7%, well above North Carolina (12.4%) and 
the United States (11%).

Source: US Census

Source: US Census

TOP 5 EMPLOYERS

• Haywood County Consolidated Schools
• Ingles Markets Inc
• Haywood Vocation Opportunities Inc
• Wal-Mart Associates Inc
• Giles Chemical Division

   

               $77.1 million
General 

Merchandise 
Stores

      

$9.2 million
Furniture and 
Home Stores

   

$30.9 million
Food services and 

drinking places
(including restaurants 

breweries)

   

$341,000
Clothing and 
accessories

   

$68.3 million
Food and 

beverage stores
    (including grocery)

   

               $2.2 million
Building materials, 

garden equipment, 
and supply

A retail market analysis is usually completed to identify the types of businesses that could 
be most successful in an area. In this assessment Leakage (pink text) happens when 
residents spend money outside their community. Surplus (blue text) occurs when more 
money is spent in town (by both residents and visitors). 

$37,612

$48,256

$55,322

Industry Title
2014 

Employee
Estimate

2024
Employee
Estimate

Net
Change

%
Change

Annualized
Growth

Rate

Haywood
2017 Avg.

Weekly 
Earning

Leisure and Hospitality 9,363 10,973 1,610 17.2 1.6 $312.97
Accommodation and 
Food Services 7,914 9,411 1,497 18.9 1.7 $377.22

Food Services and 
Drinking Places 6,484 7,859 1,375 21.2 1.9 $293.50

Professional and 
Business Services 4,707 5,624 917 19.5 1.8 $886.56

Trade, Transport., and 
Utilities 10,592 11,420 828 7.8 0.8 $922.48

Construction 3,208 3,902 694 21.6 2.0 $771.06
Health Care and 
Social Assistance 8,990 9,673 683 7.6 0.7 $833.68

Educational Services 7,002 7,527 525 7.5 0.7 $647.89
Professional, 
Scientific, and 
Technical Services

2,525 3,029 504 20.0 1.8 $886.56



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  83JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
The Haywood Economic Development Council and the Haywood Chamber of Commerce 
work together to promote and attract local businesses.  In 2018, they contracted with the City 
of Asheville Chamber of Commerce to market industrial sites and commercial properties.  This 
new relationship is intended to broaden Waynesville and Haywood County’s outreach.

Waynesville and Hazelwood have a history of manufacturing and 
lost many jobs as manufacturing shrunk nationally.  Hazelwood in 
particular was known for its industrial strength and was home to 
the “Junuluska Leather Co., Unagusta Manufacturing Co., and the 
Waynesville Furniture Company when it incorporated in 1905.  The 
Dayton Rubber Company, which became Dayco, was vital to the 
war effort, and other industries such as Wellco, UnAugusta and 
Lea Furniture, were situated to take advantage of the railroad and 
a skilled industrial work force.  By 1995, when Hazelwood merged 
with Waynesville, most of the industries had closed, leaving behind 
industrial properties and warehouse space served by valuable 
infrastructure:  water, sewer, power, railroad, and road networks. 

Today, Giles Chemical is the leading manufacturer of epsom salts 
in the United States and has expanded to take advantage of 
under-utilized industrial space to build a new headquarters, and 
locate needed warehousing in Waynesville.  Similarly, Southern 
Concrete is also expanding operations, re-using property adjacent 
to the railroad corridor.  The Dayco site was redeveloped with 
the EPA Brownfield program as a regional shopping destination 
that hosts Wal-Mart, Best-Buy, and other major retailers.   Smaller 

manufacturing such as the Sunburst Trout Company, 
the Hazelwood Soap Company, Boojum Brewing, 
and the Waynesville Soda Jerks represent new 
and creative companies that are carrying on the 
community’s legacy of manufacturing, and are 
marketing directly to consumers.  While the Town 
has seen a loss in the industrial sector from what it 
used to be, industrial and commercial properties, 
particularly along the railroad corridor, are creating 
new opportunities and are a valuable economic 
resource for the future generation of manufacturing.

Additionally, Waynesville is still known as a source 
for fine furniture, crafts, and the arts.  The central 
business districts of Main Street, Frog Level and 
Hazelwood provide venues for consumers and 
tourists to interact with artists, craftsmen, restaurants 
and retail.  These areas are vital for tourism and 
are themselves economic generators by attracting 
visitors from outside of Waynesville.  These downtown 
districts offer studio and retail space for “makers” 
that draws in business regionally and nationally, 

...”Mayor Brown 
said that economic 
incentives wouldn’t 
transform the town 
overnight. When 
companies look 
to locate, first and 
foremost they look for 
a good workforce, a 
cheap and steady 
power supply 
and convenient 
transportation.” 

Source: Smoky Mountain 
News, October 2017



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE84 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

bringing dollars into the Waynesville economy.

Critical to a successful economy is support for local citizenry of all ages by providing a high 
quality of life.  “Quality of life” that is “true to Waynesville” includes good schools, work 
force training opportunities, parks and recreation facilities, healthcare resources, and strong 
neighborhoods with a variety of housing options that support a workforce.  The Plan update 
team used ArcGIS ESRI Business Analyst to gather data that depicts “geodemographic 
segmentation.”  This is a statistical classification technique to identify consumer traits of a 
population and to identify markets.  Results of this analysis is found in Appendix B. 

MARKET ANALYSIS
A retail market analysis was completed to identify the types of businesses that could be most 
successful in the area. In this assessment, leakage happens when residents spend money 
outside of their community. Surplus occurs when more money is spent inside of town (by both 
residents and visitors). As a popular tourist destination and shopping destination, Waynesville 
has a large surplus of some types of retail.  However, the community is losing money in that 
people go outside of Waynesville for clothing, accessories, building and garden materials and 
other supplies.  

TOWN-WIDE RETAIL SURPLUS AND LEAKAGE 

Waynesville has a surplus in some types of retail and leakage in clothing and accessories and building materials.  
Surpluses are likely due to the high number of tourists and residents of surrounding areas that visit town for shop-
ping and restaurants.  

   

               $77.1 million
General 

Merchandise 
Stores

      

$9.2 million
Furniture and Home 

Stores

   

$30.9 million
Food services and 

drinking places
(including restaurants 

breweries)
   

$341,000
Clothing and 
accessories

   

$68.3 million
Food and beverage 

stores

    (including grocery)

   

               $2.2 million
Building materials, 

garden equipment, 
and supply

Two focus areas which could address this leakage and which represent opportunities for 
redevelopment, are Russ Avenue and the Waynesville Plaza, and the commercial areas of 
Hazelwood.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  85JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Russ Avenue Trade Area (Waynesville Plaza vicinity)
Waynesville Plaza and the Russ Avenue corridor south of the Great Smoky Mountains 
Expressway have long been a commercial retail, office and entertainment center, as well as 
a “gateway” into Waynesville for travelers on the Expressway.  New developments such as 
Ingles, Publix, Chick-Fil-A, and Starbucks reflect the desirability and visibility of Russ Avenue as a 
commercial corridor.  NCDOT is planning an upgrade to Russ Avenue that will improve safety, 
install sidewalks, crosswalks, and landscaping, and which will promote better access points 
into adjacent properties.  Adjacent property owners can take advantage of the roadway 
project to make decisions regarding future development and redevelopment, and could 
maximize the use of property with infill, driveway and parking lot connections among property 
owners and to the roadway network, coordinated sidewalks, landscaping, signage and other 
design features.

In the Primary Trade Area (PTA) for Waynesville Plaza (1-mile radius), there is a total population 
of 3,570 residents, with a per capita median income of $34,123. The Secondary Trade Area 
(STA) (3-mile radius) has a total population of 16,012 residents, with a per capita median 
income of $30,634. The gap in clothing and accessories syncs with public input about the 
challenges of finding sporting goods and outdoor clothing. 

Waynesville Plaza

Waynesville Plaza Trade Area 

RETAIL SURPLUS AND LEAKAGE- RUSS AVENUE

General 
Merchandise Stores:
PTA: $5.02 million

STA: $69 million

Furniture and 
Home Stores
PTA: $7.99 million

STA: $9.7 million

Food Services 
and Drinking 
Places
PTA: $21.4 million

STA: $27 million

Clothing and 
Accessories:
PTA: $3.5 million

STA: $1 million

Food and 
Beverage stores 
(inc. Grocery)
PTA: $47 million

STA: $74 million 

Building 
materials, garden 
equipment, and 
supply 

PTA: $3.5 million

STA: $10 million 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE86 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Hazelwood Trade Area
Hazelwood’s history as a company town for 
major industry influenced the type of housing 
and commercial development, and created 
a mixed-use development pattern in which 
industry, commercial and residential properties 
were close together.  It also is close to the 
Great Smoky Mountains Expressway and a 
“gateway” area.  However, Hazelwood is not 
as visible from the Expressway and has divided 
expressway access between two exits which 
can be confusing for visitors.  It does have 
an added advantage in that the Folkmoot 
Center, Hazelwood Elementary School and 
two golf courses are accessed from these exits.  
Additionally, the Folkmoot Center is beginning year round programming to provide cultural 
arts and entertainment activities to serve locals and visitors.  The Hazelwood Trade area could 
improve market opportunities through wayfinding signage to/from the Expressway, improved 
streetscape and sidewalks, and re-investment in the Hazelwood business district to expand 
retail, restaurant and other commercial space within existing commercial properties and 
corridors. 

In the Primary Trade Area (PTA) for Hazelwood (1-mile radius), there is a total population of 
4,119 residents, with a per capita median income of $26,188. The Secondary Trade Area (STA) 
(3-mile radius) there is a total population of residents, with a per capita median income of 
$30,634. 

Hazelwood Avenue businesses

Hazelwood Trade Area 

RETAIL SURPLUS AND LEAKAGE- HAZELWOOD

General 
Merchandise Stores:
PTA: $69.9 million

STA: $62.7 million

Furniture and 
Home Stores
PTA: $1.7 million

STA: $6.3 million

Food Services and 
Drinking Places
PTA: $9.1 million

STA: $24.7 million

Clothing and 
Accessories:
PTA: $104,598

STA: $2.6 million

Food and 
Beverage stores 
(inc. Grocery)
PTA: $18.8 million

STA: $54.5 million 

Building materials, 
garden equipment, 
and supply 

PTA: $3.1 million

STA: $5.4 million 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  87JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Second Home Ownership
Second home ownership rates in Haywood County and Waynesville are significant.  Of 22,871 
single-family parcels in Haywood County, 21.8 percent or 4,995 units qualify as belonging to a 
second-home owner1.  For comparison, Florida is the state with the highest number of second-
home owners, representing 10.1 percent of the total or 2,316 parcels.  Similar trends exist for 
the Town and the ETJ.  Twelve percent of single-family parcels in the Town of Waynesville and 
in the Town’s ETJ qualify as belonging to a second-home owner.  Florida is also the leading 
location of owners’ primary addresses in these areas followed by North Carolina and South 
Carolina.  

1	 A single-family parcel must have a single-family dwelling with a building value greater than $10,000. For a 
parcel to qualify as belonging to a second-home owner, the parcel owner’s primary address must be outside Hay-
wood County and beyond a 40-mile radius from the county.  

July (max) January (min)
Resident Workers 48,808 48,808
In-Commuters 5,606 5,606
Overnight Visitors 3,669 1,424
Day Visitors 1,970 765
Total 60,053 56,603

Number of Parcels Percent of Total
Total parcels (single-family dwelling, building value >$10K) 22,871 100%
Owner address in Haywood County 17,173 75.1%
Owner address within 40-mile radius (to limit rentals) 703 3.1%
Owner address outside Haywood County and 40-
mile radius 4,995 21.8%

Parcel Source: Haywood County Land Records/GIS Department, August 2018

Estimated Day Population and Tourism
It has been estimated that the daytime population in Haywood County increases from 56,603 
people in January to over 60,053 in July due to an influx in day visitors and overnight visitors 
(Source: SYNEVA Economics).  It is estimated that tourism revenues in 2017 reached $182.27 
million for Haywood County (Source: Visit North Carolina). 

ESTIMATED DAYTIME POPULATION

ESTIMATED DAYTIME POPULATION

Source: SYNEVA Economics based on annual residents, employment and in-commuters:  U.S. Census Bureau, 
2017-population and 2015-commuting;  Overnight visitors: Monthly rooms sold from STR Destination Report, 
Haywood County TDA 2017 and 2017 North Carolina Regional Travel Summary, Mountain Region, Economic 
Development Partnership of North Carolina; Day visitors: Extrapolation from North Carolina Regional Travel 
Summary, Mountain Region, Economic Development Partnership of North Carolina



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE88 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

STRENGTHS, WEAKNESSES, OPPORTUNITIES, THREATS
Engaging participants in a series of exercises to identify the strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats facing Waynesville in 2018, was a key part of the process to update 
the Comprehensive Land Use Plan. Many of the strengths are familiar from the 2020 Plan, 
but due to changes in the economy, politics, and other internal and external pressures, 
new weaknesses and threats have emerged that need to be addressed. The opportunities 
for the Town are bright and recommendations incorporated in this Plan are meant to take 
advantage.

STRENGTHS
	• historic neighborhoods and architecture
	• iconic views,geographic and natural features
	• Folkmoot, Hart Theater and the Arts community
	• control of municipal utilities
	• greenway system and parks
	• land development ordinance supports quality 
development and design

	• partnership with Asheville Area Chamber of 
Commerce and Haywood County 

	• mixed-use corridors and Regional Center 
Districts 

	• Main Street, Frog Level, and Hazelwood 
Business Districts

WEAKNESSES
	• limited assisted living and nursing facilities for 
an aging population

	• poverty and a growing homeless population
	• lack of housing options for all income levels 
and lifestyles

	• lack of resources to address opioid crisis and 
substance abuse

	• gaps in pedestrian facilities
	• broadband not always available
	• workforce preparedness, technical training 
opportunities could be expanded

OPPORTUNITIES
	• strong retail growth
	• numerous redevelopment and infill sites
	• build differently on flood prone/floodplain sites
	• low impact development to manage 
stormwater

	• emerging market for specialty agriculture, 
including farm to table industry and new crops 
(i.e. herbs, hemp, etc.)

	• increase density (multifamily housing) to 
maximize use of sites

	• consider railroad corridor for development 
potential

	• NCDOT improvements along Russ St., S. Main 
St., N. Main St. and Pigeon St. 

	• proximity to the Blue Ridge Parkway, Great 
Smoky Mountains National Park, and Interstate 

	• proximity to Western Carolina University and 
Haywood Community College

	• regional trail planning initiatives

THREATS
	• many areas ripe for redevelopment are 
located in floodplain

	• potential for loss of land for industrial 
development due to other types of 
development pressure

	• desire to develop on steep slopes
	• costs to update sewer plant
	• speculative land and housing sales that drive 
prices up

	• growth in short-term rentals that could diminish 
housing inventory



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  89JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

PLAN ASSESSMENT
There are several adopted plans and studies prepared by the Town of Waynesville and 
other governmental agencies that inform the Comprehensive Land Use Plan. Each contains 
goals, policies, and recommendations related on topics including but not limited to land use, 
transportation, and economic development. 

These plans will work in tandem with, the recommendations and implementation strategies in 
the Waynesville 2035: Planning with Purpose comprehensive planning document. 

Waynesville:  Our Heritage, Our 
Future  2020 Land Development Plan 
(2002)
The Comprehensive Land Use Plan was 
intended to guide the Town of Waynesville 
through the year 2020 and community 
decision makers have used the plan to 
support land use decisions. Of the numerous 
action steps, key successes included:  

	» Informed revisions to the zoning 
ordinance, development ordinances, 
and zoning map to include steep 
slope protections, and, higher density 
residential, and other proposed 
changes.

	» Establish standards to encourage 
mixed-use and infill development and 
retirement communities.

	» Concentrate commercial and industrial 
development in nodes and along 
transportation corridors.

	» Adopt an Urban Services Area and develop policies limiting water/sewer expansion 
outside it.

	» Improve the transportation infrastructure to improve mobility, connectivity, safety, and 
aesthetics.

2020 Land Development Plan Work Program /Score Sheet
Chapter 5 of the previous Land Development Plan contained a twenty-year Work Program 
that set forth a schedule of actions to achieve the goals, objectives, and vision which the 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE90 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

community had established for itself. A similar implementation matrix for Waynesville 2035 can 
be found in Chapter 5. 

Waynesville Land Development Standards 
Included in the 2020 Land Development Plan Work Program were multiple recommendations 
on implementing the Goals of the 2020 Plan through revisions to development regulations.  
After the 2020 Plan was adopted, the Town updated its zoning ordinances, subdivision 
regulations and design guidelines in accordance with the goals and recommendations of the 
Plan.  The Land Development Standards now provides a unified ordinance that regulates how 
land is developed within Waynesville and its Extra Territorial Jurisdiction.  It was first adopted in 
2003, was  updated in 2009 and 2011, and is found in the Municipal Code of Ordinances as 
Appendix A (http://www.waynesvillenc.gov/code-of-ordinances).

The Land Development Standards divide the community into neighborhood districts, each 
with its own “purpose and goal” statement that is tailored to neighborhood characteristics 
and desired development pattern.  Each of the neighborhood districts is then grouped into 
zoning categories, with each zoning category having density, lot standards, and a proscribed 
set of allowable uses.  The purpose of this approach is to protect and sustain neighborhood 
character and to identify areas for higher or lower density.  In keeping with Smart Growth 
Principles, residential uses are allowed in all of the Town’s commercial districts except for the 
Commercial-Industrial district.

The Land Development Standards also include “overlay districts” which provide additional 
regulations to particular areas.  The designated floodplains, shown on the 2012 Flood Insurance 
Rate Maps, provide additional construction requirements and limitations within Special Flood 
Hazard areas. Three historic overlay districts - Main Street, Frog Level, and Spread Out - which 
are listed on the National Register, have historic guidelines that must be followed for new 
development and redevelopment.  Nine mixed-use overlay districts allow select commercial 
uses along transportation corridors within residential districts.  These create transitional areas 
between residential neighborhoods and commercial districts:

•	 Dellwood Residential Medium Density MXO – A 1,000-foot wide corridor centered on Russ 
Avenue from U.S. Highway 23/74 to Jules Noland Drive and Dayton Drive.

•	 Francis Cove Residential Low Density MXO – A corridor of adjacent properties along Pigeon 
Road from Old School Road to Bluegrass Lane.

•	 Hazelwood Urban Residential MXO – A corridor consisting of properties located on the west 
side of South Main Street from Virginia Avenue to Mississippi Avenue.

•	 Love Lane Neighborhood Residential MXO – Most of the properties fronting Dellwood City 
Road from Chestnut Park Drive to Arnold Heights plus three properties north of Paralee 
Lane.

•	 Main Street Neighborhood Residential MXO – Two properties at corner of Richland and 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  91JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Goodyear Streets.

•	 Ninevah Neighborhood Residential MXO – A corridor of properties at the corner of Country 
Club Drive/Crymes Cove Road and Oakdale Road.

•	 Raccoon Creek Neighborhood Residential MXO – A corridor consisting of the properties 
north of Asheville Highway from Piccadilly Drive to Hillside Terrace.

•	 South Waynesville Residential Medium Density MXO – A corridor of properties along Old 
Balsam Road from 120 Old Balsam Road to Skyland Road (the westernmost portion of the 
town’s jurisdiction) and a property located on the Great Smoky Mountains Expressway.

•	 Walnut Street Neighborhood Residential MXO – Properties along streets of Walnut, West 
Marshall, North Main, and Wall Streets and along Nelson Park Drive and Woolsey Heights.

•	 East Waynesville Neighborhood Residential MXO – Properties along Broadview between 
North Main and Overbrook.

This neighborhood based approach is the foundation for the Town’s land development 
regulations and has proven successful for the Town.  The future land use map in this revised 

District Category District Name

Residential- Low Density (RL)

Country Club Residential - Low Density (CC-RL)

Eagles Nest Residential - Low Density (EN-RL)

Francis Cove Residential - Low Density (FC-RL) 

Hall Top Residential - Low Density (HT-RL)

Residential- Medium Density (RM)

Chestnut Park Residential - Medium Density (CP-RM)

Dellwood Residential - Medium Density (D-RM)

Howell Mill Residential - Medium Density (HM-RM)

South Waynesville Residential - Medium Density (SW-RM)

Neighborhood Residential (NR)

Allens Creek Neighborhood (AC-NR)

Love Lane Neighborhood (LL-NR)

Main Street Neighborhood (MS-NR)

Ninevah Neighborhood (N-NR)

Pigeon Street Neighborhood (PS-NR)

Plott Creek Neighborhood (PC-NR)

Raccoon Creek Neighborhood (RC-NR)

Sulphur Springs Neighborhood (SS-NR)

Walnut Street Neighborhood (WS-NR)

RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE92 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

plan carries on that neighborhood framework but identifies those areas where density could 
be amended (increased or decreased) in order to be consistent with existing land use, 
realistic in development goals, better protect slopes and mountain vistas, and to increase 
density and housing opportunities in neighborhoods closer in to the Town’s business districts 
and commercial areas.

Haywood County Affordable Housing Assessment
In 2016 Haywood County created a task force to examine affordable housing issues.  
The Affordable Housing Assessment provided a baseline evaluation of the need for and 
availability of affordable housing in Haywood County.  Key findings included:

•	 Need for Housing Diversity: Haywood County’s population growth is dependent on in-
migration and a supply of housing, in a range of income categories, and will be needed to 
attract new residents, including young families.  Single family homes constitute the majority 
of the county’s housing supply (72.6%); followed by mobile homes (18.3%). Only 7.4% of 
housing units are in multifamily units.

•	 Aging Population: By 2030 29% of the county’s population will be age 65 or older.  These 
households, especially those on fixed incomes, may face issues with housing affordability 
and accessibility.  

•	 Poverty and Low Income Renters: An estimated 15.8% of the county’s population lives 
below the poverty level (approximately 9,210 persons). Nearly 1/3 (27.2%) of children under 
the age of 18 and 7.7% of those over the age of 65, live below the poverty level. Nearly 

NON-RESIDENTIAL AND MIXED USE ZONING DISTRICTS

District Category District Name

Urban Residential (UR)
East Waynesville Neighborhood (EW-UR)

Hazelwood Neighborhood (H-UR)

Howell Mill Road (HM-UR)

Neighborhood Center (NC)
North Main Street Neighborhood Center (NM-NC)

Pigeon Street Neighborhood Center (PS-NC)

Raccoon Creek Neighborhood Center (RC-NC) 

Business District (BD)
Central Business District (CBD)

Hazelwood Business District (H-BD)

South Main Street Business District (SM-BD) 

Regional Center (RC)
Dellwood/Junaluska Regional Center (DJ-RC) 

Hyatt Creek Regional Center (HC-RC) 

Russ Avenue Regional Center (RA-RC)

Commercial Industrial (CI) Commercial-Industrial (CI)

 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  93JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

half of renters (46.3%) have household incomes below $25,000. 

•	 Housing Cost Burden: Housing is said to be “affordable” when housing costs are 30% or less 
of household income. Households that pay 30% or more of their household income in rent 
are said to have a “housing cost burden”. Over half of all renters report paying 30% or more 
of their household income in rent. In Haywood County over half of all renters, and 35% of 
homeowners, are “housing cost burdened”.

•	 Home Values and Home Prices Increasing: The median home value for the county is 
expected to rise 25% between 2015 and 2020. The median sale price of a home in the 
county rose 17% between April 2015 and 2016.

•	 Strong Residential Market and Shrinking Supply: Rental vacancy rates are very low 
and prices are high, with two bedroom units averaging $964/month in the Asheville 
metropolitan region.  The supply of homes for sale in Haywood County has decreased in 
recent years and houses below $200,000 are in short supply.  

•	 Seasonal Housing Impacts Affordability:  In 2010 there were 9,391 vacant units in Haywood 
County (26.9%) of the total.  The number of vacant units exceeds the total number of rental 
units in the county.  The majority of vacant units (60.5%) are seasonal homes.

Transportation Plans

NCDOT State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP)

The 2018-2027 NCDOT State Transportation Improvement Program, or STIP, is NCDOT’s data-
driven, multi-year schedule for its transportation projects. Projects in the STIP include highway, 
bridge, public transit, bike, pedestrian, railroad, and other improvements. 

The NCDOT projects for Haywood County include bridge replacements, I-40 maintenance, 
and a few roadway improvements in Waynesville. Russ Avenue and South Main Street will 
see major construction in 2022 and beyond, while Brown Avenue will see school safety 
improvements. Several new roundabouts are planned for both North and South Main Street, 
and Hazelwood will see pedestrian safety improvements near the elementary school. For more 
information on TIP projects in Waynesville, see the Appendix. 

Corridor Studies and Long Range Transportation Plans

Corridor studies have been conducted for Russ Avenue, South Main Street and North Main 
Street.  Other improvements and needs were identified in the Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan 
and County Bike Plan. Many of the recommendations in these plans include improvements to 
gateways and the construction of new pedestrian and bicycle facilities.  

The French Broad River MPO is the planning organization in charge of transportation planning 
in a five-county region that includes the Town of Waynesville.  A Metropolitan Transportation 
Plan (MTP) is a fiscally constrained plan that identifies how multi-modal transportation will be 
managed and operated, and recommends projects for the STIP. Often, projects included in 
the MTP are pulled from supporting plans like the Pedestrian Plan.  Projects are prioritized, and 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE94 DRAFT

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

money is programmed for plans such as transit, roadway improvements, greenways, multi-use 
paths, sidewalks, and other upgrades and amenities. For more information on transportation 
plans, see the Appendix. 

Greenway Feasibility Study (2017)

The Greenway Feasibility Study examined opportunities and constraints within the study area 
to determine the most feasible and preferred alignment for a greenway trail along Richland 
Creek. The study area included Richland Creek, Frog Level Historic District, Waynesville Middle 
School, and Hazelwood Park and is approximately 3.25 linear miles. Preferred routes were 
chosen based on project goals, existing conditions, opportunities and constraints.  The plan 
calls for a connected greenway from just south of Lake Junaluska to Hyatt Creek Road.  

Other Plans
See the Appendix for more information on additional plans including the GroWNC Regional 
Plan, Opt-In Regional Vision, Waynesville Systemwide Parks Master Plan 2017-2026, Bikes in 
Beds, Blue Ridge Bike Plan, the Haywood County Comprehensive Bicycle Plan, MountainWise 
Health Impact Assessment for Western North Carolina, and the Waynesville Comprehensive 
Pedestrian Plan.  

These plans influence the Land Development Standards and current and future projects by:

The greenway feasibility study from 2017 recommended a route for a greenway and connections through 
the heart of Waynesville utilizing the Richland Creek corridor and on-street multi-use paths.  



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  95JULY 2020

COMMUNITY PROFILE 5

Page Intentionally Left Blank



w6



This chapter provides an analysis 
of the current conditions in 
Waynesville in late 2018. The use 
of digital tools including GIS, field 
observation, and other research 
provides information on how 
land is currently used in the area 
within and surrounding the Town of 
Waynesville, where development 
is likely to occur and what 
infrastructure and services are 
available.  

Quantitative and qualitative 
analyses of parks, the natural 
environment, and the State 
and local transportation system 
provide a foundation for the future 
land use plan recommendations.

EXISTING 
CONDITIONS

w



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE98 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

EXISTING LAND USE
The mapping of existing land use is different from the Zoning map or the Future Land Use 
designation of an area. It is a reflection of what is actually occurring on a given parcel and 
land use trends. The predominant land uses in Waynesville by acreage are single-family 
residential,  and vacant land (undeveloped land, e.g. agricultural or without a structure). 
Rural residential, defined as a residential parcel greater than 5 acres in size, also represents a 
significant amount of total existing land use within the Town. Waynesville lost over 1,000 acres 
of pasture between 2008 and 2017 according to USDA Cropscape Landcover Data (2008, 
2017) for the Waynesville area and 326 acres of land have been newly developed during the 
same period. Agriculture still contributes to the economy and cultural heritage of Haywood 
County.

The more dense residential areas are located in the heart of Waynesville in the vicinity of Main 
Street, Frog Level, and the Hazelwood district. Density decreases in a radial pattern closer to 
the limits of the extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ), where slopes become steeper, and in areas 
outside of the Urban Services Boundary. 

Commercial areas are concentrated on Russ Avenue, downtown Waynesville, South Main 
Street, and at the interchange of the Great Smoky Mountain Expressway and Hyatt Creek 
Road.

Land use issues and trends in the area include:

	» Lack of existing housing stock for the workforce 

	» Need for redevelopment in some existing, distressed commercial centers

	» Unfavorable view of proposed multifamily and high density construction 

	» Desire to protect the rural character in some areas of town (i.e. valleys that are or were 
once farmland)

	» Need to avoid hillside areas that have been identified as susceptible to slope failures. 

	» Continued support for compact development and redevelopment in the core, 
especially in underutilized commercial areasHOW IS LAND BEING UTILIZED?

LAND USE ISSUES AND TRENDS

• Dolesciam invendaerest undam re est mo volupta sinvero velentia sed magnimet deleceperum volest, quo incipsu 
nducimuscia dollaborem la con pro volorrovid qui coreiuntem dunt imoluptas molo blacea none molor aborepel 
iureptatis aceribusdam aut magnisc ilibus que voloris et aut quamus elluptiorrum fugit, vidist, seque as eatquam, cone 
derit magnis nobit aut dolorioribus quodipsam qui torepta tendant que pedit, omnimus magnis eost rerro quo et eostrum 
qui conet, senis solorrovit unt eicae. Facepud ionsero vitiorp orest, incidendem nobis volum es enimil min nis adis ab inis 
niminim lanim nonsequi optur? Igentur? Quiae nos ut officip isimpeliciat aturehent volut quid maxim in con evelign ientium 
volutempores maxim alicit la nita non re re natentem eosam, exere cor arum facescipsa pel magnatem fuga. Tur, vent 
audiorerunt volorempedit liatur modipsam fugias sundi inctotas doloren dendam este con nobis ullab iust, solum, alicipi 
ditio. Cae pe soluptiat exeruptatur solest, quissusdae dolesti aecaborupta prorporias etur?

EXISTING LAND USE

Lake Junaluska

Raccoon Creek

Al
le

n 
C

re
ek

Browning Branch

Plott C
ree

k

Farm
er Branch

Shelton Branch

Camp Branch

Factory Branch

Nick Creek

Jonathans C
reek

Hyatt Creek

Eaglenest Creek

Mauney Cove 
Branch

G
addis Branch

Ri
ch

la
nd

 C
re

ek

Sam Branch

Medford Branch

Cove Field Branch

McElroy Branch

Richland Creek (Lake Junaluska)

Rogers Cove Branch

Ratcliffe C
ove Branch

Shingle Cove Branch

Jones C
ove Branch

Jaynes Cove Branch

Big Spring Branch

Lake Palcoy

Roc
ky 

Bran
ch

McClure Creek

Hyatt Creek

Jo
na

th
an

s C
re

ek

Rich
land Cree

k

Ri
ch

la
nd

 C
re

ek
 (L

ak
e 

Ju
na

lu
sk

a)

Jaynes Cove Branch

Walmart

Hazelwood

Frog Level

Waynesville Plaza

Green Hill Cemetery

Downtown Waynesville

Mountain View Creek Park

Mountain Research Station

Haywood County Courthouse

Laurel Ridge Country Club

Garrett Hillcrest Cemetery

Lake Junaluska Golf Course

Haywood County Public Library

Pigeon Community Development Center

The Waynesville Inn Golf Resort and Spa

SOCO RD

R
A

C
C

O
O

N
R

D

E
X

IT
 9

8

ASGI TR

ASHEV

IL
L
E

R
D

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY

US 1
9-2

3-7
4 E

XPW
Y E

US 19-23-74 EXPWY W

LO

V
E

L
N

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

JU
LI

A
 L

N

J
O

N
A

T
H

A
N

C
R
E
E
K

R
D

S
A

U
N

O
O

K
R

D

W
A

L
L
 S

T

GADDIS BR
A NCH

RD

EXIT 103

ROCKY KNOB RD

DELLW
O

OD
RD

TEST
FARM

RD

T

A
W

O
D

I
T

R

HOWELL MIL
L

R

D

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

HALL TOP RD

V
A

N
C

E
 S

T

HARRIETTS TR

HIG
H RIDGE RD

H
E

A
D

R
D

HOSPITAL DR

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
D

R

W
A

L
E

L
A

T
R

S
LE

E
P
Y

H
O

LLO

W

D
R

ST
A NDREWS RD

PLO
TT

CREEK RD

F R ANCIS FARM
R

D

SKYLINE DR

P
R

E
SIDE NTIAL DR

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

 D
R

TANNER
T
R

H
U

G
H

M
A

S
S

IE
R

D

KILLIAN ST

KNOLLW
OOD D

R

S
LAK

E
S
H

O
RE DR

OXNER
C

O
V

E
R

D

HICKORY HIL L

R
D

RU
S

T
IC

R
D

H
A

L
L
 D

R

JO

Y
L
N

T
A

R
H

E
E

L
 D

R

FARLEY ST

A
R

L
IN

G
T

O
N

R D

LIC
K
S
T
O

N
E

R
D

C
O

U
N
T
Y

R
D

WOLFPEN RD

P

H
IL

LIP

S
R

D

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E

R
D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

TILLM
A

N
R

D

B
R
O

W
N
 A

V

SUNNYSIDE RD

EAGLES NEST
RD

D
A

IS
E

Y
A

V

PIGEON ST

N
IG

H
T
IN

G
A

L E PL

PARRISH FARM RD

CRUM
D

R

W
O

O
D

Y
L

N

A
C

R
E

S
V

IE
W

D
R

OWL RIDGE RD

D
O

G

WOOD TR

L
O

C
U

S
T

 D
R

HAPPY ACRE
S

R
D

O
LD

B
A

L
S

A
M

R
D

G
E

N
T

IA
N

W
A

Y

HICKORY DR

APPLE CREEK
RD

S
A

W
Y

E
R

S
T

GRIMBA
L
L

D
R

AC
C

E

S
S

R
D

B
A

L
S

A
M

D
R

SIM
S

C

IR

HIGHLAND RD

AW

O
H

A

LI TR

S
A

N
C

T
U

A

R
Y DR

T
W

IS
T

E
D

T
R

EX
IT

 1
00

FOURTH S T

O
R

A
C

IR

WALNUT
COVE RD

C
A

M
P

B
R

A
N

C
H

R
D

H
U

G
H

E
S

R
D

M
E
S
S

ER
RD

MIL

L
S

T

RIDG
E RD

LITTLE MO UNTAIN RD

PINEY MOUNT AIN RD

PIGEON

R
D

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

C
A

R
D

I NAL LN

L
O

NG
V IE W

DR

APR

IL
P

K

LITTLE COVE
RD

F ULLER DR

MOODY FARM RD

F
A

IR
WAY DR

TA
N

N
EHILL LN

MIAMI DR

L
O

G
C

A
B

IN
R

D

SWEETHART PL

H
Y

A
T
T

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

P
L
O

T
T

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
R
D

W
A

L
N

U

T TRAIL RD

CLEM
SO

N
R
D

WIL
D

C
A

T
M

TN
RD

BRIDGET DR

LAU R
E
L

R
ID

GE DR

HILLTOP DR

P
A

R
ADISE

LN

E
A
S
T

S
T

RA

Y
S

T

H
E

A
T

H
D

R

SHIN
ERS

TR

R
O

Y
A

L
C

R
E

S
T

H
T
S

WILEY FRANKLIN
RD

VISTA
RD

BLUE
RID

GE PKWY

CRYMES COVE RD

E
XIT

102A

LINER C OVE
RD

A
F
T

O
N

P
L

K
U

D
Z

U
L
O

O

P

HENRY
DIN

G
U

S
W

A
Y

LO

RR
AIN

E DR

DOCK RATCLIFFE RD

RAMBLING RID
G

E
R
D

HERBERT TR

A
B

E
L
 L

N

PEACE

M

O
UNTAIN

R D

GREENVIEW DR

PINEW
OO

D
D

R

QUINLAN
DR

H
ID

D
E

N
RD G

C ARDINAL D R

ANG LERS RD G

D
A
N
IE

L LN

M ICADALE LN

S
T
E
P

P
IN

G
STO

N
E

LN

LEGIO
N D

R

IVY HILL DR

D
E
E
R

C
R

EEK
TR

L
EA PL A NT RD

SC
E

N
IC

C
IR

MAPLE ST

D
A

L
E

D
R

P
IT

T
S

 S
T

PARAGON
PKWY

W
AY NEVIE

W
D
R

S
K
Y
LA

N
D

R

D

MAUNEY COVE

R
D

FL O YD RD

N
 H

IL
L
 S

T

L
IT

T
L
E

 L
N

H
E

GGIE LN

E
C

H
O

D
R

SHAD
O

W
O

OD
LN

B
R

E
C

K
E
N

R
ID

G
E

R
D

N MAIN ST

TIMBER
C
R
EE

K
H

T
S

CHILDREN ST

ALP

IN
E

L
N

LEWIS
D

R

RATCLIFF CO
VE

R

D

WILSON DR

N
E

Y
LAND PL

WILL HY

A
T
T

R
D

C
O

O
L

A
U

G
U

S
T

H
T

S

T
R

IS
T

O
N

D
R

MOUNTAIN HAVEN
RD

C AMP SCHA UB
RD

A
L
L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

OLD CLYDE RD

MILLER ST

KILGORE RD

E
A

G
L

E

FO
R
K

DR

GWEN ST

TO RDA TRC

G
R

E
E

N
V

A
L

L
E

Y
R

D

FR
E

E
M

AN

R
D

LINCOLN WAY

K
E

R
O

U
A

C
D

R

TIM
O

THY L
N

V
ILL

A

G
E LN

R
ED

O
A

K LN

F
O

X

R
UN RD

V
IC

T
O

R
IA

W
A

Y

BLA
N

T
O

N
D

R

S

H
I L

L
S

T

H
O

W
ELL ST

S P

IR
IT

M
T

N
T

R

M

U
SE

ST

K
A

T
R

IN
A

W
A

Y

JU
S

TIC
E TR

K

A
N

U
S

A
T
I T

R

H

IL
LV

IE
W

C
IR

BIG
COVE

RD

A
T

A
R

I
R

D

JU
L
IA

D
R

BARBER B
LVD

VIO
LE

T
R

DG

PARK
DR

B

E
T
H

ESD

A
LN

INGLE W
OOD

CV

TSALAGI T R

TR
EE

T
O

P
L
N

JULE NOLAND
D

R

R
A

Y
M

O
N

D

D
R

S
U

L
P
H

U
R

 S
P
R

IN
G

S
 R

D

TRIALS GAP DR

BO
Y
SEN

BERRY LN

BL

A
Z

IN
G

T
R

S
T
E

E

P
T
R

JUDY
LN

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

 C
IR

SPRINGBROOK FAR
M

R
D

FARMVIE
W D

R

L
A

K
E

V
IE

W
DR

H
U

N

T

E
S

T
A

T
E

S
D

R

C
IN

D
Y

 L
N

P

RIVAT E CV

A
D

O
H

I
T

R

W
A

L
N

U
T

F
O

R
D

R
D

NICHOLAS L N

BEGONIA DR

N

LAKESHORE DR

W
ESLE

Y
W

A
Y

MILLWOOD DR

OLD SC

H
O

O
L

R
D

L
E

A
T

H
E

R
W

O
O

D
C

O
V

E
R

D

LEATHERW
OOD R

D

T
USC

O
LA SCHO

OL RD

HENGESTO
N

E
C

V

R
E

IN
E

R
T

S
O

N
D

R

PARKER
P
T

FOX
CH

A
S

E RD

SHINGLE C OVE RD

CICADA DR
S
Y
LV

A
N
 S

T

R
ID

G
E

T
O

P
R

D

JA
RVIS

S
T

L
O

N

G ST

M C CRACKEN ST

BOR DE R ST

WELDON WAY

G
R

EE
NWOOD LN

FU R

R
Y

LN

BEN
T

O
AK DR

MOUNTAIN VIEW DR

D
ANA

RD

PAVI LION LN

P
O

P
L
A

R

H
O

LLER
R
D

F
U

L
B

R
IG

H
T

R
D

VALLEY VIE W

T
E

R

C
A
M

P
B

E
L
L

M
T

N
D

R

BR
IE

R
L
N

CHAPEL DR

BUCHANAN DR

C
L

A

R
K

D
R

T
H

E
T
R

A
N

G
E

L
IC

A
W

A
Y

EA G LE GAP

R
D

C
H

A
N

C
E

R

Y LN

E
D

W
A

R
D

S
 S

T

B
R

E
N

D
L
E

 S
T

R
A
C

H
AEL DR

F
R

ADY
LN

HODGES D
R

APPLE TREE CT

B
IG

STOMP RD

G RE EN
DR

A
U

B
U

R
N

R
D

W
E

A
T
H

E
R

W
ATCH

LN

BURM A
R
D

C
LE

M
E
N

T
 D

R

B RAD LEY ST

D
O

UBLE TOP DR

TIMUCUA TR

S
P

IR
E

A DR

TA R A
N

O
V

A
D

R

A
R

M
S

A
V

O
A

K
D

A
L
E

R
D

O
SCE OLA CI R

BROADVIEW
 RD

WIN DSOR
P

L

JA
D

E
S

T

H
Y

T
E

C

H

H
T
S

S
Q

U
A

W

R
ID

G
E

R
D

T URKEY TR

C

O
M

B

O
C

T

GIL

E
S

P
L

B
IB

L
E

B
A

P
T
IS

T
D

R

C

O
U

Z
IN

S
L

N

MCLEAN LN

HEN

S
O

N
D

R

RA INBOW
RD

HAZELWOOD AV

C
R

O
S
S
C
R

EEK R D

HAMER A V

W
IL

L
O

W
R

D

PANDA
TR

WALNUT ST

UNDERWOOD COVE RD

GOODSON SP R IN
G

R
D

MOUZON RD

NAN C

Y
L
N

POND VIEW DR

A
S
S
E
M

B
LY

 S
T

KENTUCKY AV

IN
D

U
S
T
R

IA
L

PARK DR

P
IN

K
D

O
G

W
O

O
D

L
N

W

R
E

N
WAY

S
E
D

I TR

B
A

B

B
ST

MONTEREY PL

W
R

IG
H

T
S

R
D
G

SUMMER WAY

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V

THOMAS PK

BLU
EG

R
AS

S
L
N

JE
F
FR

E
Y

LN

C
A

M
E

L
O

T
 D

R

B
O

U
L
D

E
R

 D
R

C
L
IF

F
L
N

S
M

OKY LN

S

AS

S
Y

LN

ROLLING DR

K
E

R
L
E

Y
 S

T

JAMES LOOP

FRAZIER ST

R

O
BIN LN

CRESTM ONT DR

VEN
TU

R
A D

R

G
IY

U
G

A
T

R

N
E
S

B
IT

T
 S

T

W
E

L
L
S

 R
D

CORTLAND CT

S
K
Y
LA

R
K

LN

GEORGIA AV

DRAGONFIRE LN

GOLFVIEW DR

LAMBUTH DR

CAROLINA AV

D
O

LAN
 R

D

G
E

O
R

G
E

S
B

R
A

N
C

H
R

D

RED
S WANGER RD

C
O
U
N
TR

Y
C

LUB DR

ES
S EX RD

OX F

O
RD RD

W
A
Y

UP YONDER RD

MEDCLIF F DR

L
A

N
N

IN
G

 D
R

S ILER CIR

JU
N

E

B
U

G
T
R

W
O RSH AM DR

JUNALUSKA OAKS DR

G
R

A
S

S
Y

 B
A

L
D

 R
D

R
IC

H
LAN

D
 S

T

EAGLE R DG

G
O
LF

C
O

U
R

S
E

R
D

G
R

A

H

A
M

S
T

R
A

D
IO

 T
O

W
E

R
 R

D

ASHLEY LN

RANDALL RD

D U

C
K

E
T
T

C
O

V
E

R
D

RUTH L

N

S
A

N
D

S
R

ID
G

E
W

A
Y

W
H

IT
E

D
O

G
W

O
O

D
L
N

FOXW O OD DR

EQ
U

ESTR
IA

N
D

R

ALDERSG
A

TE
R
D

M
Y

S
T
IC

 P
T

LEN WOOD DR

L
U

M
B

O
O

N
E

C
IR

S
H

O
N

D
R

A
 D

R

IND IGO
DR

S
T

R
E

A
M

W

O
O

D
C

IR

O
A

K
V
IE

W
DR

V
IG

O
R

O
LN

SMATHERS ST

LOW
ELL S

T

M

ACON ST

S
H

O
R

T
S

T

CHAMBERS RD

W MARS
H

A
L
L

S
T

TRI VISTA DR

M
A

PLE GROVE CH RD

LIBERTY RD

LEGEND
RD

COLLIER
LN

H
A
M

P
S

H
IR

E
D

R

CLUB CRES
T

D
R

F
R

A
N

K
L
IN

 S
T

LOFTY
RIDGE DR

NINEVAH RD

S
E
V
E
N
TH

 S
T

WOODSID E CIR

FITZG E

R
A
LD

L
N

A
L
L
IS

O
N

D
R

B
L

A
Y

C
O

D
R

R
U
S
S

A
V
E

- G
R
E
A
T

S
M

O
K
Y

M
TN

A
N
D
R
E
W

 L
N

G

RO VE PK

GARLAND ST

N
IC

H
O

L
S

R
D

G

D
E

L
LW

O
O

D
 C

IT
Y

 R
D

HALFB

A
C

K

TR

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

 S
T

H
O

O
S

IE
R CT

FAIRLANE DR

RAGW

O
O

D
L
N

PURCELL DR

HO
G

FA

R
M

R
D

GRANDVIEW CIR

L
E

O
P

A
R

D
 D

R

BOUNDARY ST

M
A
G

N
OLIA WAY

HIGH ACRES RD

FOXFIRE ESTATES CIR

HIG H
S
T

KE NDOR LN

P
IO

N

EE
R

D
R

SKYVIE
W

DR

E
M

A
R

SH ALL ST

E
N

C

LA
V

E
D

R

BRO
W

N
RID

G
E

R
D

W
AY

NESVILLE PLZ

W
INC HESTER DR

WOODS EDGE RD

FOREST VIEW DR

RASPBERRY LN

TIG
E
R

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
R

D

SECRET

H
O

L
LO

W
LN

COCHRAN ST

CHEROKE
E

ST

MEADOW ST

AUBUR

N PARK DR

SH
AC

KFO
R

D
HALL

RD

CIDER MILL RD

LEISURE
L
N

BA LD W IN
D

R

E
X
IT

102

MOCKINGBIRD DR

CO
KESB URY CIR

B IG
B
E
AR

RD

T
O

P
V
IE

W DR

LO IS

L
N

KENNEL WAY

GL EN
EAGLE DR

BE TSY

A
C

R
E
S

LN

S
H
E

R
R

IL
L

DR

CHIC KERING LN

H
AZELVIEW DR

C
L
O

V
E

R
H

ILL
R

D

W
IN

D
M

ERE TRC

SEMEION RDG

FRIENDLY ACRES DR

ROVING W
O

O
D

D
R

RIDGE CREST LN

D
E

E
R

G
LADE LN

BA NB URY CT

TAP

R
O

O
T

D
R

TREBLE CLEF LN

P
L
A
Y

G
R

O
U

N
D

 S
T

SORRELLS
COVE RD

ATKIN
S

LO
O

P

APPLE BLOSSOM
LN

ANTHONY
ST

LANSIN
G

R
D

MARY JOH
N

D
R

ANGEL PU
PPY

LN

J
O

S

H
HILL DR

B
E

L
L

E
V

IE
W

 R
D

J 
F
 M

O
R

R
IS

 D
R

N
E
LS

ON
PARK DR

W
H

IS
P

E
R

IN
G

HILL
DR

STAY M ON RD

ALE X TR

R
O

S
E

P
A

T
H

L
N

C

H
E

R
RYW

OOD
LN

BLINK B O
N

N
Y

D
R

HAYNES HOLLE
R

D
R

TREASU R

E
T
R
C

LL
O

Y
D
S

M

T

N
R

D
G

JEFF ERSON LN

BUCKEY
E

D
R

LONG DR

HUMMIN
G

BIR
D

L
N

CL E ARVIE
W

DR

PLATE
AU

 P
L

T
A

H
O

E
D

R

MAYAPPLE
LN

UNITY DR

LARCHWOOD PT

HATTIE HILL
D
R

FAIR
VIE

W HTS

GROUSE

R
ID

G
E

R
D

MILNER DR

ROCKWOO

D
R

D

W
AYNEW

OO

D
D

R

MONTE

V ISTA DR

G
A

T
O

R
 D

R

RAV E
N

R
D

G

N
AGS TRAIL RD

GRANDVIEW CLIFF HTS

LI
T
T
L
E

A
C

R
E

S
R

D

U
P

C HURCH RD

COYOTE RDG

FAMILY RDG

CRYMES PL

TSAYOGA TR

APPLEHOUSE RD

KIMBER

L
Y

L
N

TRANQUIL LOOP

FARE
N

L
N

H
A
P
P
Y
 H

O
LLO

W
 A

C
C

E
S
S
 R

D

OL D
ORCHARD

RD

PIGEON R D

CRESTMONT DR

H YATT CREEK RD

C

AM
PBELL

M

T
N

D
R

OLD BALSAM RD

E
X

IT
 1

0
0

H
O

W

ELL MILL RD

CRYMES COVE RD

GRANDVIEW CIR

BIG CO

V
E

R
D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

S
L
A
K
E

S

H
O

R
E

D
R

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E

R
D

S M
A
IN

 S
T

DELLWOOD RD

PLOTT
CREEK RD

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

W
E
S

T
W

O
O

D
 C

IR

EAG
LES

NEST RD

P
H
IL

LIP
S

RD

OLD BALSAM RD

O
R

A
C

IR

BIG
COVE RD

H
Y

A
T

T
 C

R
E

E
K

 R
D

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E
 R

D

SPIRIT MTN
TR

E
X

IT
9

8

V
A
N

C
E

S
T

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T
N

 E
X

P
W

Y

A
L
L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

C
O

U
N

T
Y

R
D

S
C

E
N

IC
C IR

C
O

U
N

T
Y

R
D

R
U

S
S

A
V

BIG COVE RD

CHAMBERS
R

D

MAUNEY C
OVE R

D

PLOTT CREEK RD

C
A

M
P

BRANCH

R
D

APRIL
PK

R
U

S
S

A
V

L
IN

E
R

C
O

V
E

R
D

PIGEON RD

SAU NOOK RD

S
U

LP
HUR

SPRIN
GS

RD

DELLWOOD RD

A
LL

E
N

S
C

R
E

E
K

R
D

B

LUE RID
GE PKWY

K
U

D
Z

U
L
O

O
P

GADDIS BRANCH RD

EAGLES NEST RD

A
S

H
E
V

IL
L
E
 R

D

N
 L

A
K

E
S

H
O

R
E

 D
R

DELLWOOD RD

D
A
L
E
 D

R

ST ANDREWS RD

APPLE CREEK RD

B
R

O
W

N
 A

V

MAUNEY COVE RD

G
R

E
ENVIEW DR

CRYMES
CO

V

E
R

D

HYATT CREEK RD

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T
N

 E
X

P
W

Y
 W

A
C

C
E

S
S

R
D

A
L

L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

PIGEON RD

GADDIS BRANCH RD

DOGWOOD TR

A
S

H
E
V

ILL
E
 R

D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

GEORGIA AV

RATCLIF
F

C
O

V
E

R
D

PIGEON RD

MAUNEY
C

O
V
E

R
D

E
A

G
L

E
S

N
E

S
T

R
D

DA N
IE

L
LN

TAWO DI TR

EAGLES NEST RD

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

APPLE
TREE CT

COUNTY RD

O
A

K
D

A
L
E

R
D

COUNTY RD

LO
CUST

D
R

S
C

E
N

IC
C

IR

P
IN

N
A

C
L
E

D
R

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

APPLE CREEK RD

CAMP BRANCH RD

B
A

L
S

A
M

D
R

S
A

U
N

O
O

K
 R

D

DELLWOOD RD

CO U
N

T
Y

R
D

EAGLES NEST RD

APRIL PK

PIGEON RD

P
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T
IA

L
D

R

COUNTY RD

SUNNYSIDE RD

£¤23

£¤276

£¤19

£¤19
£¤19

UV1812

UV1173

UV209

UV1818

UV1809

UV1147

WAYNESVILLE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN

Context
Waynesville City Limits

Waynesville ETJ

Urban Services Boundary

# Local Landmarks

Transportation
Interstate

Primary US and State Highways

Secondary State and County Highways

Local Streets (Haywood County)

Railroad

Natural Features
Lakes

Streams

Existing Land Use
VACANT

PARKS/RECREATION

RURAL RESIDENTIAL (> 5 ACRES)

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

INSTITUTIONAL

OFFICE

COMMERCIAL

INDUSTRIAL

[
0 1,600 3,200800

Feet

1 in = 1,058 ft

Date: 4/20/2018

- EXISTING LAND USE -

Pisgah
National Forest

EXISTING LAND USE BY CATEGORY

Waynesville Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan Update

4.4%

35.2%

17.7%

30.2%

0.7%
6.1%

1.4% 3.3% 1.0%

Park, Golf Course, or
Cemetery

Vacant

Rural Residential (>
5 Acres)

Single-Family
Residential

Multi-Family
Residential

Institutional
(Church, Gov't,
School)
Office

Commercial

Industrial

Commercial land 
uses only make 
up approximately 
3.3% of study area.  
These uses typically 
provide more tax 
revenue than the cost of 
providing services.

 
EXISTING LAND USE BY CATEGORY



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  99JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

 EXISTING LAND USE MAP - WAYNESVILLE AREA



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE100 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

Land Supply
An analysis of the land supply using data derived from Haywood 
County tax records divided land into three categories: Available, 
Underutilized, and Utilized.  

•	 Available land can be vacant land or land currently used for 
farming purposes, but lacks a significant on-site structure. 

•	 Underutilized parcels are those that have a low structure 
value to land value ratio.  Although some land identified as 
underutilized might already be developed, the potential for 
redevelopment may benefit the owner and the community.   

•	 Utilized, or “built” lands are those that have structures such as 
homes, businesses, churches, or schools with a higher structure 
to land value ratio. 

The analysis indicated that nearly 47% percent of land in 
Waynesville’s ETJ is either available or underutilized.  The greatest 
amount of “available” land is primarily on the urban fringe and 
much of this land has significant development constraints including steep slopes, floodplains, 
limited utilities and poor road access.  

29%

18%

53%

Available Underutilized Utilized

LAND SUPPLY SUMMARY

Over half of the 
land area in 
Waynesville’s 
Extraterritorial 
Jurisdiction (ETJ) 
is developed. 
Vacant or Available 
land is limited and 
redevelopment may be 
more prevalent in the 
future.  



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  101JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

 LAND SUPPLY IN THE WAYNESVILLE AREA

Source: Haywood County Tax Office



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE102 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

ADOPTED POLICY & REGULATIONS

Adopted Future Land Use Map (2002)
The Waynesville: Our Heritage, Our Future, 2020 Comprehensive Land Use Plan included the 
Future Land Use Map adopted in 2002. Community decision use the recommendations in 
the plan and on the map (below) to determine appropriate use of land and expenditure of 
resources. 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  103JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

2018 Zoning
Further implementation of the land use plan occurs with the adoption of Land Use Ordinances 
and amendments to the Town Zoning Map. The Zoning Map below is from November 2018. 

S M
A
IN

 S
T

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T

N
 E

X
P

W
Y

EAST ST

R
U

S
S

 A
V

EA
G

LE
S
 N

E
S
T R

D

B
R

O
W

N
 A

V

O
A

K
D

A
L
E

 R
D

R
A

C
C

O
O

N
 R

D

DELLWOOD RD

P
IG

E
O

N
 S

T

A
L

L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

PIGEON RD

HOWELL MILL RD

CAMP BRANCH RD

N MAIN ST

H
A

L
L
 T

O
P

 R
D

E
X

IT
 9

8

C
R
Y
M

E
S
 C

O
V
E
 R

D

V
A

N
C

E
 S

T

OLD BALSAM RD

ROCKY K
NOB R

D

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

 D
R

LO
CU

ST D
R

B
O

Y
D

 A
V

LOVE LN

HAZELWOOD AV

C
A

M
E

L
O

T
 D

R

TEST FARM RD

W
A

L
L
 S

T

PH
IL

LIP
S R

D

E
C

H
O

 D
R

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

SUNNYSIDE RD

KILLIAN ST

HIG
H R

ID
GE R

D

COUNTRY CLUB DR

L
IC

K
S

T
O

N
E

 R
D

B
A

L
S

A
M

 D
R

FARLEY ST

GEORGIA AV

S
H

E
LT

O
N

 S
T

T
A

R
H

E
E

L
 D

R

GREENVIEW DR

W
E

L
C

H
 S

T

S
U

LP
H

U
R

 S
P

R
IN

G
S

 R
D

S
K

Y
L

IN
E

 D
R

S
H

IL
O

H
 T

R

A
U

B
U

R
N

 R
D

RATCLIFF COVE RD

KNOLLW
OO

D D
R

APRIL PK

HICKORY DR

D
O

LAN
 R

D

WALNUT ST

JO
Y
 L

N

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

 S
T

BOUNDARY ST

P
IN

E
W

O
O

D
 D

R

CAROLINA AV

R
A
Y

 S
T

G
R

IM
BALL D

R

B
R

O
W

N
IN

G
 R

D

SMATHERS ST

D
E
P
O

T S
T

DAISEY AV

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

S
Y

LV
A

N
 S

T

FOURTH ST

R
E

IN
E

R
T

S
O

N
 D

R

WOODY LN

A
S
S
E
M

B
LY

 S
T

DAYTON DR

DOGWOOD TR

B
A
N
K
E
R
 D

R

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
 D

R

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V

THOMAS PK

H
O

W
ELL S

T

S
A

W
Y

E
R

 S
T

PINEY MOUNTAIN RD

RIDGE RD

W
IL

D
C
AT M

TN
 R

D

CARDINAL LN

F
A

IR
W

A
Y

 D
R

SIM
S C

IR

HIGHLAND RD

MILLER ST

EX
IT

 1
00

R
IC

H
LAN

D
 S

T

A
S
H

E
V
IL

LE
 R

D

HAZEL ST

BR
U
N
S
W

IC
K
 D

R

CALHOUN R
D

M
A
U

N
E
Y
 C

O
V
E
 R

D

T
A
T

E
 S

T

S
C

E
N

IC
 C

IR

B
R

Y
S

O
N

 S
T

L
A

U
R

E
L
 R

ID
G

E
 D

R

CHESTNUT PARK DR

W
IL

L 
H

Y
A

T
T

 R
D

CHURCH ST

WAYNEVIEW DR

HYATT CREEK RD

D
A

V
IS

 C
O

V
E

 R
D

W
IL

L
O

W
 R

D

D
E

L
LW

O
O

D
 C

IT
Y

 R
D

BRIDGET DR

LITTLE MOUNTAIN RD

LEGIO
N D

R

E
 M

A
R

S
H

A
L
L
 S

T

C
U
P
P
 LN

HAMER AV

LONGVIEW DR

F
O

R
D

 R
D

C
LE

M
S
O

N
 R

D

HILLTOP DR

E
L
Y

S
IN

IA
 A

V

M
U

L
L
 S

T

PREVOST ST

K
E

L
L

E
R

 S
T

TIMUCUA TR

S
 H

IL
L
 S

T

ODALU TR

P
A

R
K

 D
R

FRANCIS FARM RD

EX
IT

 1
02A

A
U

B
U

R
N

 P
A

R
K

 D
R

LEA PLANT RD

BROADVIEW
 RD

PARRISH FARM RD

BROOK ST

LEATHERW
O

O
D R

D

A
B

E
L
 L

N

RAMBLING RIDGE RD

L
E

N
O

IR
 C

IR

M
E

A
D

O
W

 S
T

MICADALE LN

HENDRIX ST

N
O

R
R

IS
 S

T

S
 H

A
Y

W
O

O
D

 S
T

BR
AN

N
ER

 A
V

MAPLE ST

P
IT

T
S

 S
T

ESSEX RD

BROAD ST

BUCHANAN DR

VALLEY VIEW CIR RD

N
 H

IL
L
 S

T

L
IT

T
L

E
 L

N

FRAZIER ST

HIG
H S

T

CHILDREN ST

ALPIN
E L

N

M
IL

L 
S

T

H
IL

L
S

ID
E

 R
D

B
U

R
K
E
 S

T

CAMP SCHAUB RD

C
IN

D
Y

 L
N

LEE ST

A
Z
A
LE

A D
R

D
E
LA

N
N
E
 D

R

TORDA TRC

C
O

U
Z

IN
S

 L
N

R
O

A
M

IN
G

 B
E

A
R

 R
D

G

LEISURE LN

B
E

L
L

E
V

IE
W

 R
D

ZEM
ERY LN

TIM
O

TH
Y L

N

CONLEY ST

H
A

W
K

S
 C

R
E

S
T

 D
R

H
E

A
D

 R
D

H
A

P
P

Y
 H

IL
L
 R

D

R
E

D
 O

A
K

 L
N

WREN WAY

K
E

R
L
E

Y
 S

T

PLOTT CREEK RD

H
IL

L
V

IE
W

 C
IR

M
U

S
E

 S
T

H
O

L
S

T
O

N
 V

IL
L

A
G

E
 R

D

FULLER DR

BARBER B
LVD

POPLAR ST

BETHESDA LN

LANIER LN

C
H

IN
Q

U
A

P
IN

 L
N

JULE NOLAND DR

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
IR

 D
R

A
V

E
R

Y
 S

T

BO
YSENBERRY L

N

NINEVAH RD

FARMVIE
W

 D
R

BURMA RD

RAINBOW RD

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

 C
IR

M
O

R
G

A
N

 S
T

B
L

A
Z

IN
G

 T
R

NUNNEHI T
R

BEGONIA DR

GLEN E
AGLE D

R

O
L
D

 S
C

H
O

O
L
 R

D

G
O

L
F
 C

O
U

R
S

E
 R

D

W
 M

A
R

S
H

A
L
L S

T

S
K

Y
L
A

R
K

 L
N

SHINGLE COVE RD

R
ID

G
E

T
O

P
 R

D

JA
R

V
IS

 S
T

F
A

IR
W

A
Y

 H
IL

L
S

 D
R

FU
R
R
Y
 L

N

DANA RD

L
O

N
G

 S
T

MCCRACKEN ST

BORDER ST
BENT O

AK D
R

SHORT ST

BRADLEY ST

C
L
A

R
K

 D
R

E
A

G
L
E

 F
O

R
K

 D
R

M
O

R
N

IN
G

 D
R

E
D

W
A

R
D

S
 S

T

EAGLE GAP RD

GARCI DR

B
R

E
N

D
L
E

 S
T

A
R

M
S

 A
V

ROLLING DR

F
R

A
D

Y
 L

N

H
A
M

P
S
H

IR
E
 D

R

G
R

A
S

S
Y

 B
A

L
D

 R
D

C
LE

M
E
N

T
 D

R

ROBINSON ST

C
H

A
R

LE
S
 S

T

IN
D

U
S
T
R

IA
L 

PA
R

K
 D

R

C
R

A
V

E
N

 R
D

COVEY TR

FOREST VIEW DR

WOODS EDGE RD

VALLEY VIEW TER

H
A
ZE

LV
IE

W
 D

R

T
O

W
N

 C
E

N
T

E
R

 L
O

O
P

B
R

E
E

Z
E

M
O

N
T

 D
R

BELLE MEADE DR

VERM
ONT DR

ACADEMY ST

CO
M

BO
 C

T

B
IB

L
E

 B
A

P
T
IS

T
 D

R

G
IL

ES P
L

SUMMER WAY

H
E

N
S

O
N

 D
R

POLK ST

KENTUCKY AV

O
A

K
 S

T

WAYNESVILLE PLZ

SIX
TH

 S
T

M
O

O
D

Y
 D

R

HENRY ST

B
A

B
B

 S
T

K
E

N
T

 L
N

SCATES ST

N
 H

A
Y

W
O

O
D

 S
T

S
M

O
K
Y
 L

N

C
L
IF

F
 L

N

BUCKEYE DR

F
L
A

G
 S

T

PUTNAM ST

P
IO

N
E

E
R

 D
R

C
A

R
L
 A

R
R

IN
G

T
O

N
 R

D

N
E

S
B

IT
T
 S

T

C
O

R
TLA

N
D
 C

T

R
U

F
F

E
D

 G
R

O
U

S
E

 L
N

W
ILLS W

AY

A
R

D
E

N
 S

T

LA
YFIE

LD
 D

R

D
U

C
K

E
T

T
 C

O
V

E
 R

D

BU
FFALO

 L
N

W
ATER

 S
T

SHINING ROCK TR

VETERANS CIR

O
S

P
R

E
Y

 L
O

O
P

FITZGERALD LN

RIDGEWOOD DR

T
A

R
A

 N
O

V
A

 D
R

WORSHAM DR

R
A

D
IO

 T
O

W
E

R
 R

D

G
R

A
H

A
M

 S
T

RAYTOWN HTS

L
IN

E
R

 S
T

RANDALL RD

S
C

O
T

C
H

M
A

N
S

 R
D

RUTH LN

SUMMITT ST

L
O

W
E

 D
R

J
O

H
N

 M
O

R
R

O
W

 R
D

P J D
R

FIF
T
H
 S

T

S
U

T
T

O
N

 L
O

O
P

PRICE LN

IR
IS

 L
N

HY VU DR

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E S
T

G
LEN

D
ALE D

R

LO
W

ELL 
ST

N
A
T
U

R
E

 L
N

MACON ST

M
O

N
T

G
O

M
E

R
Y

 S
T

HODGES DR

A
D

D
IE

 L
N

MOSAIC PL

PIN
E
 D

R

PLAZA PL

F
E

L
M

E
T

 S
T

M
A

P
LE

 G
R

O
V

E
 C

H
 R

D

Q
U

A
IL

 R
D

G
R
O

LL
IN

G
 G

R
E
E
N
 D

R

BLIN
K
 B

O
N
N
Y D

R

EAGLE RDG

QUEEN S
T

COLLIER LN

GRANDVIEW CIR

G
R

A
Y

D
E

N
 S

T

UNNAMED RD

M
 &

 M
 D

R

F
R

A
N

K
L

IN
 S

T

LOFTY RIDGE DR

SE
V
E
N
TH

 S
T

WOODSIDE CIR

F
R

O
N

T
A

G
E

 P
K

M
O

NTE VISTA DR

EAG
LE V

IE
W

 C
IR

ROGERS ST

CLELLIE VIEW DR

C
A

V
A

L
IE

R
 D

R

U
N
IT

Y
 D

R

A
N

D
R

E
W

 L
N

M
C

E
L

R
O

Y
 S

T

GARLAND ST

L
U

N
D

Y
 L

N

SLO
A
N
 D

R

FAIRLANE DR

N
O

R
M

A
N

 S
T

L
E

O
P

A
R

D
 D

R

H
E

M
L
O

C
K

 S
T

MAGNOLIA W
AY

S
A

N
B

O
R

N
 R

D

J
IM

S
 C

O
V

E
 R

D

M
E

D
F

O
R

D
 A

V

O
C

TA
G

O
N

 P
L

WILKINSON PASS LN

LYNN ST

LA
U

R
E
L C

IR

CHELSEA R
D

S
A
X
O

N
Y
 P

L

OSHEA LN

S
K

Y
V

IE
W

 D
R

OAKCREST LN

R
ID

G
E
FIE

LD
 R

D

SWEETHART PL

C
H

E
R

R
Y

 S
T

P
L
A
Y

G
R

O
U

N
D

 S
T

W
E

S
T

 S
T

N OAK ST

H
A

R
R

IS
 S

T

COCHRAN ST

CHEROKEE ST

G
E

O
R

G
E

 D
R

B
O

N
N

IE
S

 L
N

R
A

IL
R

O
A

D
 S

T

M
A

Y
O

 M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
 R

D

R
E

E
C

E
 R

D

C
H

IP
P

IN
G

 S
P

A
R

R
O

W
 L

N

EXIT 102

K
A
T
H

Y
 D

R

CHAMBERS RD

ESTERO RD

TOP VIEW DR

C
LI

F
T
O

N
 S

T

SPRUCE ST

LO
IS

 L
N

C
U

LPEPPER
 D

R

H
IL

L
S

ID
E

 T
E

R
R

A
C

E
 D

R

CO
UNSEL PL

CHICKERING LN

P
IS

G
A

H
 D

R

TAYLOR AV

E
S

T
E

S
 D

R

S
H

E
R

R
ILL D

R

V
IG

O
R

O
 L

N

DAYCO DR

T
A

P
R

O
O

T
 D

R

SEMEION RDG

RIDGE CREST LN

BANBURY CTD
E

E
R

 G
L
A

D
E

 L
N

M
E

L
IN

D
A

 D
R

S
T

O
V

A
L

L
 S

T

M
E

A
D

O
W

IN
D

 C
T

S
W

A
N

 S
T

T
W

IL
IG

H
T

 D
R

L
A

N
S

IN
G

 R
D

Q
U

A
IL

 M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
 L

N

MEADOWLARK LN

C
L
A

Y
 S

T

AARON WAY

MISSISSIPPI AV

M
E

A
D

 S
T

J 
F
 M

O
R

R
IS

 D
R

R
AN

G
ER

 D
R

A
N

TH
O

N
Y
 S

T

JO
N

E
S

 D
R

P
A

L
M

E
R

 H
IL

L
 D

R

WARREN ST

FERN BROOK DR

M
A

X
IM

A
 L

N

MINT DR

REDBUD LN

A
S

T
E

R
 L

N

ALEX TR

FULL MOON CV

G
A
LL

O
W

AY
 S

T

MIMOSA LN

FRANCIS ST

W
O

O
D
FIE

LD
 D

R

CAMP ST

PARKVIEW DR

T
R

E
A

S
U

R
E

 T
R

C

SURREY RD

LL
O

Y
D

S
 M

T
N

 R
D

G

ARNOLD HTS

T
O

W
E

R
 LN

F
IR

S
T

 S
T

PLOTT HTS

A
D

A
M

S
 S

T

D
E

E
R

 R
U

N
 D

R

CHARLIE
 M

ULL R
D

W
E

L
C

H
 F

A
R

M
 R

D

A
R

B
O

R
 D

R

W
A

Y
N

E
W

O
O

D
 D

R

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
 V

IE
W

 D
R

LEAF LN

PLATEAU P
L

T
A

H
O

E
 D

R

TO
S
C

O
 D

R

H
Y

D
E

 S
T

LARCHW
OOD P

T

SEEKHAVEN WAY

DEE ANN DR

S
P
R

IN
G

V
IE

W
 D

R

BRAD ST

EXIT 102B

W
O

O
L
S

E
Y

 H
T

S

M
A

S
S

IE
 H

IL
L D

R

G
R

O
U

S
E

 R
ID

G
E

 R
D

SYCAMORE LN

S
H

A
C

K
F

O
R

D
 S

T

M
A
C

S
 L

N

YARBOROUGH ST

B
R

IG
H

T
 S

T

ETHEL LN

M
OUNTAINEER DR

VETERANS DR

PATCHENS ESTATE RD

S
E

Y
M

O
U

R
 S

T

AUGUSTA CIR

SOLITARY M
EADOW C

IR

NAGS TRAIL RD

L
IT

T
L

E
 A

C
R

E
S

 R
D

MCNABB ST

ROSS STK
E

L
L
E
Y

 S
T

IN
T

R
E

P
ID

 D
R

C
O

V
E

N
T

R
Y

 L
N

ID
LE

W
IL

D
 D

R

C
L
U

B
 V

IE
W

 D
R

EVANS DR

U
N

D
E

R
W

O
O

D
 D

R

COUGAR CT

CENTRAL ST

LIGHTNING BUG LN

PARKWAY VIEW DR

S
T

O
N

E
C

R
E

S
T

 H
T

S

BLA
C
K
B
E
R
R
Y R

D
G

H
A

L
L

E
L
U

J
A

H
 D

R

W
IN

T
E

R
B

E
R

R
Y

 D
R

ROCK ST

PENNANT DR

BURRIS LN

SAND TRAP RD

MAGELLAN DR

P
L

O
T

T
 C

R
E

E
K

 R
D

 - G
R

E
A

T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T

N

H
O

W
A

R
D

 H
T
S

KIMBERLY LN

IN
DIA

N S
PRIN

GS D
R

CALVARY ST

W
E
LC

O
M

E
 LN

LITTLE HORSE RD

CANDLER ST

ALLISON ACRES DR

MEGHAN LN

RENEE TRC

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

C
A

R
T
W

R
IG

H
T
 D

R ANDERSON D
R

MEADOW VIEW CIR

W
H

IT
E

 P
IN

E
 D

R

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

 S
T

O
V

E
R

L
O

O
K

 C
T

SU
N
S
ET S

T

DOLLY DR

A
LAV

IS
TA

 W
AY

VILLA CT

B
U

X
T
O

N
 S

T

L
IN

G
E

R
M

O
R

E
 D

R

WINGHAVEN HTS

T
IT

L
E

IS
T

 D
R

P
L
O

W
 P

T

W
H
IS

P
E
R
IN

G
 P

IN
E
S
 D

R

LAB LN

Q
U

E
S

T
 L

N

M
E
T
E
O

R
 C

T

BROOKSIDE CT

LOGGIN
G TR

H
A
P
P
Y
 H

O
LLO

W
 A

C
C

E
S
S
 R

D

LARK CT

B
A
G

E
 S

T

MULBERRY DR

B
O

A
R

D
W

A
L
K

 L
N

LA
N

E
S

 E
N

D
 D

R

BENNETT ST

P
L

A
Y

G
R

O
U

N
D

 C
T

ALLISON VIEW LN

E
Q

U
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 D

R

BOWDEN LN

BENJAMIN
 TR

B
L

U
E

G
R

A
S

S
 L

N

CHLOE L
N

M
ELO

DY DR

GRAHL ST

MORNINGVIEW
 RD

B
U

N
G

A
L
O

W
 D

R

W
A
K
E
 S

T

PLEASANT H
IL

L C
IR

B
U

R
G

IN
 S

P
R

IN
G

S
 R

D

FR
IE

N
D
S
H
IP

 C
IR

N
E

O
N

 P
L

CANARY RDG
DUNGANNON DR

SHELBY LN

L
A

R
A

M
IE

 L
N

PICCADILLY DR

E
M

E
R

A
LD

 T
R

W
IN

S
TO

N
 W

A
Y

C
O

S
M

IC
 LN

MUSKOGEE TR

M
IS

T
I L

E
IG

H
 L

N

HONEYSUCKLE DR

S
E

A
G

R
A
V

E
S

 L
N

SONORA LN

MERRY HILL LN

TIFFANY LN

CARAVAN CT

T
IM

B
E

R
G

R
O

V
E

 L
N

C
O

LO
N

IA
L C

T

C
O

O
N

 H
O

L
LO

W
 R

D

OLD HICKORY ST

C
E

D
A

R
 S

T

J
E

N
N

IN
G

S
 L

N

MAYWOOD TER

M
O

S
S
 C

T

B
U

N
TIN

 S
T

N
O

L
A

N
D

 D
R

L
A

D
Y

B
U

G
 D

R

WATKINS HARPE DR

MOUNT OLIVE RD

CORNWELL DR

MONARCH SQ

C
H

E
E
R

FU
L 

D
R

W FARLEY ST

LU
M

B
E
R

 L
N

CLANCY CV

T
E

R
R

E
L

L
 S

T

FA
R

G
O

 LN

BRANKRIS DR

B
R

O
N

Z
E
W

IN
G

 L
N

HAPPY LN

PINEVIEW DR

BR
IARW

O
O

D DR

ORCHARD V
IE

W D
R

GRAYBARK CT

HAW
KS L

IF
T D

R

CHATHAM ST

VOYAGER PL

E
G

R
E

T
 C

T

S
IM

P
S

O
N

 T
R

P
O

LA
R

IS
 P

L

R
U

S
S

 A
V

C
H

E
L
S

E
A

 R
D

S
P

R
IN

G
V

IE
W

 D
R

E
A

G
L
E

S
 N

E
S

T
 R

D

EAGLES NEST RD

R
U
S
S
 A

V

H
O

W
E

L
L
 S

T

B
R

O
W

N
 A

V

H
A

M
E

R
 A

V

A
S

H
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

E
X

IT
 9

8

W
ALL S

T

E M
AR

SH
ALL ST

A
L

L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

N
 M

A
IN

 S
T

W
A

L
N

U
T

 S
T

DELLWOOD RD

E
X

IT
 1

0
0

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T

N
 E

X
P

W
Y

 W

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

M
IL

L 
S

T

H
E

M
L

O
C

K
 S

T

DELLWOOD RD

RUSS AV

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY

S M
AIN ST

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

EAGLES NEST RD

CO
UN

TY
 R

D

BROWN AV

EAST S
T

PIGEON RD

OLD BALSAM RD

MAUNEY COVE RD

AL
LE

NS
 C

RE
EK

 R
D

HYATT CREEK RD

CAMP BRANCH RD

SOCO RD

PLOTT CREEK RD

N MAIN ST

O
A

K
D

A
LE

 R
D

BIG COVE RD

RA
CC

OON
 R

D

LICKSTONE RD

PIGEON ST

ODALU TR

HOWELL MILL RD

G
AD

D
IS

 B
R

AN
C

H 
RD

ASHEVILLE RD

CR
AB

TR
EE

 R
D

PINNACLE DR

HALL TOP RD

EX
IT

 9
8

CRYMES COVE RD

ASGI TR

JO
N

ATH
AN CREEK RD

PRESIDENTIAL DR

VA
NC

E 
ST

WALL ST
W

O
O

D
LA

N
D

 D
R

ROCKY KNOB RD

LO
CUST DR

N LAKESHORE DR

BOYD AV

LO
VE LN

CA
M

EL
O

T 
DR

HAZELWOOD AV

TA
W

ODI T
R

JU
LIA

 LN

SL
EE

PY
 H

O
LL

O
W

 D
R

ROGERS COVE RD

EXIT 103

S LAKESHORE DR

TEST FARM RD

PHILLIPS R
D

EC
H

O
 D

R

H
YA

TT
 S

T

SUNNYSIDE RD

HIGH RIDGE RD

HARRIETTS TR

UNULA LOOP

KILLIAN ST

MIAMI DR

H
EA

D
 R

D

C
A

M
PB

EL
L 

M
TN

 D
R

DANIEL LN

SH
EL

TO
N 

ST

APPLE CREEK RD

RATCLIFF COVE RD

FARLEY ST

GOLF COURSE RD

GEORGIA AV

WOLFPEN RD

B
A

LS
A

M
 D

R

W
AL

EL
A 

TR

ST ANDREW
S RD

TA
R

H
EE

L 
D

R

H
A

LL
 D

R

SULPHUR SPRINGS RD

SK
YL

IN
E 

DR

SH
IL

O
H

 T
R

HUG
H

 M
ASSIE RD

AU
BU

RN
 R

D

US 19-23-74 EXPWY E

W
A

LN
UT

 S
T

HOWELL STKN
OL

LW
OOD 

DR

SANCTUARY DR

US 19-23-74 EXPWY W

HICKORY DR

HICKORY HILL RD

APRIL PK

ATAYA TR

RUSTIC RD

DOLAN RD

GREEN VALLEY RD

JO
Y 

LN

R
IV

ER
B

EN
D

 S
T

PINEW
OOD DR

FR
AN

CI
S 

FA
RM

 R
D

SMATHERS ST

RAY ST

B
R

O
W

N
IN

G
 R

D

OXNER COVE RD

TILLMAN RD

DEPOT ST

SHINERS TR

GRIMBALL DR

D
A

IS
EY

 A
V

REINERTSO
N DR

PARRISH FARM RD

CRUM DR

W
O

O
DY LN

MUCKLE COVE RD

DOG
W

OO
D TR

A
C

C
ES

S 
R

D

SA
UN

O
O

K 
RD

MOUZON RD

GENTIAN WAY

HAPPY ACRES RD

LOG CABIN RD

VIR
G

IN
IA AV

ORA CIR

RID
GE 

RD

THOMAS PK

SA
W

YE
R 

ST

HENDRIX ST

SIM
S C

IR

JAYNES COVE RD

H
U

G
H

ES
 R

D

FAIRWAY DR

TW
IS

TE
D

 T
R

EXIT 
10

0

AWOHALI T
R

H
A

M
ER

 A
V

CARDINAL LN

WALNUT COVE RD

FOX RUN RD

E MARSHALL ST

SPIRIT MTN TR

LIN
ER CO

VE RD

MESSER RD

SCENIC CIR

HOPPER CV

BR
YS

O
N 

ST

CHURCH ST

ARLING
TO

N RD

HEGGIE LN

LA
UR

EL
 R

ID
G

E 
DR

D
AV

IS
 C

O
VE

 R
D

TR
IA

LS
 G

A
P 

D
R

WILL HYATT RD

N
EW

 A
LL

EN
S 

C
R

EE
K

 R
D

LITTLE COVE RD

BRIDGET DR

LITTLE MOUNTAIN RD
LEGION DR

JU
STIC

E TR

TANNEHILL LN

MOODY FARM RD

CUPP LN

M
ETHODIST DR

FORD RD

SWEETHART PL

BROWNING BRANCH RD

SPY ROCK RD
OLD CLYDE RD

QU
EE

N 
CO

VE
 R

D

HILLTOP DR

B
LA

N
TO

N
 D

R

J B
 IVEY LN

H
EA

TH
 D

R

PARADISE LN

K
U

D
ZU

 L
O

O
P

CARLEY RD

VISTA RD

PL
OTT

 M
OUNT

AIN
 R

D

RO
YA

L 
CR

ES
T 

HT
S

RE
VI

S 
M

TN
 R

D

K
ELLER

 ST

TR
EE

TO
P 

LN

G
AT

EW
AY

 S
T

HE
NR

Y 
DI

NG
US

 W
AY

LI
TT

LE
TO

N
 R

D

PARK DR

BR
EC

KE
NR

ID
GE 

RD

EXIT 102A

AFTON PL

RODEO DR
HERBERT TR

LE
A 

PL
AN

T 
RD

ANNIES RD

IVY HILL DR

LENO
IR CIR

LORRAINE DR

SKYLAND RD

QUINLAN DR

LEN
W

O
O

D
 D

R

FR
EE

M
AN

 R
D

OLY
MPIA LN

AN
GL

ER
S 

RD
G

STEPPIN
G

 STO
N

E LN

ABEL
 LN

ESSEX RD

HUNT ESTATES D
R

MACALLAN DR

KILG
O

RE RD

MICADALE LN

CHAPEL DR

FLO
YD RD

D
A

LE D
R

DUSTY RD

BUCHANAN DR

N HILL ST

CO
O

L A
UG

U
ST HTS

NATH
ANIEL DR

LI
BE

RT
Y 

RD

ECHO RDG

PO
W

DE
RH

OR
N 

DR

SHADOWOOD LN

ST
ONE H

AV
EN D

R

BLUE RIDGE PKWY

TRISTO
N DR

M
O

U
N

TA
IN

 H
AV

EN
 R

D

CHESTNUT WALK DR

KATU
A TR

ALPINE LN

MOUNTAIN VIEW DR

NEYLAND PL

CAMP SCHAUB RD

IN
G

LE
W

O
O

D
 C

V

LINCOLN WAY

APPLE TREE CT

KE
RO

UA
C 

DR

CO
NL

EY
 S

T

M
AR

RE
TT

A 
LN

GR
EE

NV
IE

W
 D

R

EX
IT 

10
4

CAROLINA RD

W
R

EN
 W

AY

FULBRIGHT RD

MUSE ST

RED OAK LN

LA
KEVIEW

 D
R

LEG
END R

D

HILLV
IEW CIR

KA
NU

SA
TI

 T
R

AMANUGI TR

SHADYSIDE DR

VIOLET RDG

CI
CA

DA
 D

R

CRESTMONT DR

STEINW
ALD TRL

A
U

N
T 

B
EL

LE
S 

C
V

CHINQUAPIN LN

SASSY LN

BETHESDA LN

JULIA DR

WILEY FRANKLIN RD

R
AYM

O
N

D
 D

R

HARRELL DR

R
ESER

VO
IR

 D
R

TS
AL

AG
I T

R

OXFORD RD

PA
G

E R
D

JO
N

ATH
AN JAM

ES CV

W
ES

TW
OOD 

CI
R

FARMVIEW DR

W
ES

LE
Y 

W
AY

ETTA ROY PL

JUDY LN

ADOHI TR

H
EN

G
ES

TO
N

E 
C

V

MILLWOOD DR

PARKER PT

FOX CHASE RD

KATHRYN CV

WELDON WAY

SORRELLS COVE RD

JADE ST

BORDER ST

JA
RV

IS
 S

T

MCCRACKEN ST

MEM
ORY LN

SQUAW RIDGE RD

SKYLARK LN

SH
OR

T 
ST

AD
EL

A 
TR

PINELLA
S LN

ANG
ELICA W

AY

TURKEY TR

W
EATHERW

ATCH LN

EQ
UE

ST
RI

AN
 D

R

CH
AN

CE
RY

 L
N

B
R

A
N

SC
O

M
B

 D
R

CLARK DR

HOSPITAL DR

DENM
AN DR

FRADY LN

UPCHURCH RD

ORCHARD DR

SPIREA DR

G
EO

R
G

ES
 B

R
AN

CH
 R

D

NATSI TR

LU
SK

A 
RD

G

O
SC

EO
LA

 C
IR

HY TECH HTS

TO
W

N 
CE

NT
ER

 L
OO

P

WINDSOR PL

EW
AR

T 
RD

WINCHESTER DR

ARRINGTON ACRES DR

PARAGON PKWY

KYL
ES

 FA
RM R

D

PANDA TR

GALEGA TR

G
IL

ES
 P

L

RACHAEL
 D

R

QUEENS FARM LN

HARMON AV

M
AY

FL
O

W
ER

 C
T

JEFFERSON LN

MCLEAN LN

SPRINGBROOK FARM RD

POND VIEW DR

W
HI

TE
 D

OG
W

OO
D 

LN

OAKVIEW
 DR

A
IR

ISH
 LN

SE
DI T

R

NA
NC

Y 
LN

PI
N

K
 D

O
G

W
O

O
D

 L
N

W
RIG

HTS RDG

MONTEREY PL

ELAM
 R

SILER CIR

SANCTUARY RD

JEFFREY LN

B
O

U
LD

ER
 D

R

PI
O

NE
ER

 D
R

GI
YU

G
A 

TR

BL
UE

G
RA

SS
 L

N

SNAKES LO
OPRONS RDG

ROBIN LN

RATH
BONE R

D

WAY UP YONDER RD

CORTLAND CT

W
H

ITN
ER

 D
R

HYDRANGEA DR

STUART CIR

LA
N

N
IN

G
 D

R

JUNEBUG TR

LE
VI

S 
LN

GO
 W

AY

FOXWOOD DR

LO
W

E DR

PEPPER AV

ALDERSGATE RD

TROY CT

KATRINA W
AY

ALLISO
N DR

DO
TS

U 
TR

INDIGO DR

SH
O

N
D

R
A D

R

TALADU TR

COY DR

G
EN

TR
Y 

DR

HODGES DR

OGANA TR

AIREDALE TR

G
YPSY R

D

ANISIDI TR

EN
TR

ATA D
R

GRANDVIEW CIR

BRAEBURN W
AY

HAYES ST

BLINK BONNY DR

LU
CAS LN

LI
BB

IE
S 

LN

BL
AY

CO
 D

R

APPLE BLOSSOM LN

GROVE PK

LU
M

 B
O

O
N

E 
C

IR

LAMBUTH DR

SOQUILI T
R

NETTIE DR

PURCELL DR

W
 &

 W
 D

R

C
R

ESC
EN

T D
R

STEEP TR

BURNT FORK TR

ANNE ST

ENCLAVE DR

CL
EA

RW
AT

ER
 D

R

ALTIMA LN

W
HITFIELD W

AY

NIGHTINGALE PL

RASPBERRY LN

SW
EETW

ATER LN

DROP TINE WAY

EMENU TR

SHEEP LN

CIDER MILL RD

EXIT 102

GALA LN

CAM
AK DR

MOCKINGBIRD DR

TA
M

 D
R

KE
NN

EL
 W

AY

EMMA DR

W
A

LD
O

N
PO

N
D

 PL

BIG BEAR RD

HILLSIDE TERRACE DR

B
O

O
N

E 
O

R
C

H
A

R
D

 R
D

SEMEION RDG

RO
VI

NG
W

O
O

D 
DR

EQUITY CT

REGENTS PL

GIBSON DR

DEER GLADE LN

LEAPING FOX TR

SM
O

K
EY

 H
IL

L 
D

R

AT
KIN

S 
LO

OP

MEL
IN

DA 
DR

PHEASANT R
UN C

IR

BEN MEDFORD RD

D
EVA TR

KINCAID LN

LAN
SING

 RD

YARROW RD

ANGEL PUPPY LN

STAYMON RD

JOSH HILL DR

W
HISPERING

 HILL DR

PONDER LN

DRAKES WAY

GLADE WAY

CHERRYWOOD LN

STEPHENS RD

ROCKWOOD RD

BEVERLY LN

EDWARD ALLEN DR

IV
A

N
H

O
E 

C
T

LONE ROCK LN

AN
GU

S 
LN

W
AR

IN
G

 W
AY

TA
H

O
E 

D
R

KA
M

AM
A 

TR

CLEARVIEW DR

SPLIT RAIL LN

FAR SIDE WAY

NARCISSUS CT

PATTEN PARK DR

SP
R

IN
G

VI
EW

 D
R

AWI TR

PL
AN

TA
TI

ON
 D

R

D
EVO

E D
R

DALMORE TRC

BOB WHITE LOOP

EXIT 102B

REFLECTION DR

LO
G

AN
 D

R

RUBY PK

DENNIS FARM RD

G
AT

O
R

 D
R

PRESTIGE PT

CELESTIAL WAY

SA
NDOW

 LN

FAMILY RDG

DUTCH APPLE LN

C
A

LI
N

E 
D

R

TS
AY

O
G

A 
TR

CRYMES P
L

HARD RDG

C
EL

TI
C

 C
T

JU
NIPER LN

STANDING ROCK TR

HUCKLEBERRY LN

HOLIDAY DR

ISLANDER LN

GRAPELEAF DR

C
H

AT
EA

U
 P

L

PERIWINKLE PK

SNYDER CIR

APPLEWOOD LN

WERTZ DR

FOX HILL LN

PRUETT LN

KING HORN RDG

LEW
IS BUCHANAN CV

PA
TE

S 
LN

WILSON DR

KIRTON LN

BIRCHWOOD LN

SAWBRIA
R LN

FERGUSON LN

BRITTS WAY

H
A

M
PT

O
N

 C
T

FAREN LN

PACIFIC DR

JESS MAN RD

ARLEN DR

THORNAPPLE LN

CODY DR

BEARFOOT LN

LEDFORD DR

C
O

YO
TE

 T
R

DAWEN CIR

EMILY DR

BOWMAN DR

ABBY LN

RU
MBL

E 
RD

MABELTON PL

VIZSLA W
AY

R
ID

ER
 D

R

ENDEAVOR LN

M
AG

G
IE

 D
R

KAMMERER DR

SW
ANGER LN

GALE WIND DR

CECILS DR

TH
IS

TL
E 

LN

BRAG
G

 LN

O
RCH

ID LN

EXIT 104

JO
NAT

HAN C
REE

K R
D

ASHEVILLE RD

DALE DR

GREENVIEW DR

EX
IT

 9
8

Official Land Development Map
Town of Waynesville, North Carolina

District Key
Railroad

Conditional (CD)

Mixed Use Overlay (MXO)

Business District (BD)

Neighborhood Residential (NR)

Residential Medium Density (RM)

Commercial Industrial (CI)

Regional Center (RC)

Residential Low Density (RL)

Urban Residential (UR)

Neighborhood Center (NC)

Ü

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

RUSS AVENUE (RC-CD)

RUSS AVENUE (RC)

COMMERCIAL INDUSTRIAL (CI)

COMMERCIAL INDUSTRIAL (CI)

COMMERCIAL INDUSTRIAL (CI)

COMMERCIAL INDUSTRIAL (CI-CD

CENTRAL (BD)

HAZELWOOD (BD)

SOUTH MAIN (BD)

COUNTRY CLUB (RL)

COUNTRY CLUB (RL-MXO)

EAGLES NEST (RL)

FRANCIS COVE (RL)

FRANCIS COVE (RL-MXO)

HALL TOP (RL)

EAST WAYNESVILLE (UR)

HAZELWOOD (UR)

HAZELWOOD (UR-MXO)

HOWELL MILL (UR)

DELLWOOD / JUNALUSKA (RC)

DELLWOOD / JUNALUSKA (RC)

HYATT CREEK (RC)

HYATT CREEK (RC-CD)

NORTH MAIN (NC)

PIGEON STREET (NC)

RACOON CREEK (NC)
CHESTNUT PARK (RM)

DELLWOOD (RM)

DELLWOOD (RM)

DELLWOOD (RM-MXO)

HOWELL MILL (RM)

SOUTH WAYNESVILLE (RM)

SOUTH WAYNESVILLE (RM-MXO)

ALLENS CREEK (NR)

LOVE LANE (NR)

LOVE LANE (NR-MXO)

LOVE LANE (NR-MXO)

MAIN STREET (NR)

MAIN STREET (NR-MXO)

NINEVA (NR)

NINEVA (NR-MXO)

PIGEON STREET (NR)

PLOTT CREEK (NR)

RACOON CREEK (NR)

RACOON CREEK (NR-MXO)

SULPHUR SPRINGS (NR)
WALNUT STREET (NR-MXO)

WALNUT STREET (NR)

EAST WAYNESVILLE (UR-MXO)

In accordance with the Town of Waynesville
Land Development Standards adopted April 12, 2011.

(LDS Section 2.1)

Development Services, October 2018



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE104 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

SLOPES & FLOODPLAIN
A large portion of Waynesville lies within the 100-year floodplain of Richland Creek and its 
tributaries. About 13% of the Town’s 1,200± incorporated acres lie within this area. That includes 
major portions of the Town’s nonresidential (commercial and industrial) land uses. Together the 
uses within the 100-year floodplain account for 18.6% ($223M) of the town’s assessed value. 
Additionally, many areas within Waynesville have steep slopes and are located on protected 
ridgelines, limiting development due to cost or environmental impact.

The floodplain, which includes the floodway and floodway fringe, has a 1% annual chance of flooding. While 
this may not seem concerning, consider that over the typical lifespan of a nonresidential structure (~100 
years), there is a 63.4% chance of experiencing at least one 100-year flood.  

Floodplains
Haywood County and the Town of Waynesville are subject to the Flood Insurance 
Rate Maps (or “FIRMs”) that were adopted on April 3, 2012 as the official maps.  These 
maps were developed by the State of North Carolina Floodplain Mapping Program 
under a cooperative agreement between the State of North Carolina and the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA).  The maps provide an estimation of flood 
levels and hazards for events having a one percent chance of being equaled or 
exceeded in any given year, or “the base flood.”  

The FIRMs delineate those areas within the Town’s jurisdiction that are within the:

•	 Floodway - which includes the channel of a river or watercourse and the adjacent land 
areas that must be reserved in order to accommodate the base flood without cumulatively 
increasing the flood elevation more than one foot.

•	 “100 year” floodplain - which includes those areas susceptible to flooding during a base flood 
event; and 

•	 “500 year” floodplain - which includes those areas susceptible to flooding during an event that 
exceeds the projected base flood and have a 0.2% chance of occurring in any given year.

Together, the floodway and 100-year floodplain make up the Special Flood Hazard Area 
or regulatory floodplain in which the Town must enforce the flood hazard prevention 
ordinance.  These regulations prohibit construction or encroachment into the floodway 
and require construction or structures within the 100 year floodplain to be elevated to 
one foot above the projected base flood elevation along with other requirements.  

Any development within the floodplain that increases impervious surfaces and reduces 
the amount of area for rain and/or flood waters to be absorbed or retained can increase 
the risk for elevated flood levels within the watershed system.  The Town’s stormwater 
management ordinance, stream buffer and setback requirements, and parks and 
greenway planning also play roles in managing the floodplain and reducing hazards.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  105JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6
SLOPE AND FLOODPLAIN MAP

13% of 
the town’s 
incorporated 
acres are 
within the 
100-year 
floodplain



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE106 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

LAND SUITABILITY
A land suitability analysis was conducted using GIS data to identify areas economically and 
environmentally suitable for development. The analysis factored in: 

	» Developed areas
	» Proximity to utilities
	» Locations of existing commercial and services
	» Parcel size
	» Environmental constraints (i.e. floodplain  and slope)

Suitability categories refer to the capacity of land to support a type of land use based on 
attributes that make the area more or less attractive for future growth. In the “Development 
Suitability Map”: 

	» Green indicates high suitability for development based many factors including 
topography, transportation access, availability of utilities

	» Yellow indicates a medium suitability, and

	» Orange to red areas are generally slopes above 25%, located outside of the urban 
services boundary, and with limited points of access.  

Basic findings from the suitability analysis include:

	» Lands within the Town limits and adjacent valley floors are most suitable for development.

	» The Town’s interchanges along the Great Smoky Mountain Expressway (US 23) are 
suitable for development.

	» North Russ Avenue and Allens Creek Road (both areas identified by the Town as 
potential growth areas) are highly suitable for development.

	» Many areas suitable for development, including the Plott Creek area on the west and 
Francis Cove on the east have valuable cultural and natural resources, accordingly any 
development activities should be carefully orchestrated to preserve assets.

	» Many areas where land is available, on Waynesville’s periphery are less suitable for 
development, mainly due to the presence of steep slopes and distance from utilities. 

This analysis informed adjustments to new the Future Land Use Map and recommended 
changes to the urban services boundary as shown in Chapter 5.

Development Suitability Factors
The following environmental and economic factors were used to analyze development 
suitability.

•	 Identify land with concentrations of residential development

•	 Identify lands proximal to sewer

•	 Identify lands proximal to municipal limits

•	 Identify lands near existing commercial development

•	 Identify lands near schools and parks



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  107JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

DEVELOPMENT SUITABILITY MAP 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE108 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

INFRASTRUCTURE

Urban Services Boundary and Smart Growth
The 2002 Land Development Plan established an Urban Services Boundary (USB). The Urban 
Services Boundary limits “urban sprawl” and promotes infill development by establishing 
a planned growth area where utilities, water and sewer, and 
urban services will be provided. Developing in areas with existing 
utilities results in more efficient and cost-effective provision of 
infrastructure. Since the USB was established, Waynesville has not 
provided utilities outside of the boundary area except in special 
situations. These include improving resiliency of the utility system 
(water loops, etc.) for the NCDOT welcome center and rest area 
on Hwy 23/74, and for environmental reasons.

Water and Wastewater (Sewer)
Water and sewer lines primarily fall inside the USB with some 
exceptions for water, as noted above. The town operates a water 
plant along Richland Creek with a permitted capacity of 8 million 
gallons per day (MGD).  Average daily withdrawal is 3.45 MGD.  
Additional loops and connections could improve the resilience of 
the water system and help maintain water quality. The town also 
operates a sewer plant and is working with an engineering firm 
and the State on Capital Improvements. The plant hasa permitted 
capacity of 6 MGD and average usage 
is 4 MGD. 

Growth is expected along the North 
Russ Avenue corridor  and Allens Creek 
Road. Both of these areas are already 
served by utilities, but may require 
upgrades depending on the amount 
of development and the type of 
infrastructure. Adequate capacity exists 
for additional industrial development and 
for infill development in the downtown 
area. 

Topographical constraints are inhibiting 
factors when providing water and 
sewer infrastructure and much of the 
service area has slopes exceeding 25%. 
Topography is also a benefit in that 
most areas drain toward existing gravity 
sewer lines so the town has been able to 
provide sewer service without a need for 
pump stations, resulting in fewer capital 
expenditures to replace stations.

Looping and 
connecting water lines 
is an important industry-
standard practice that 
ensures chemicals 
added to drinking water 
are effectively disbursed. 
Water lines that are not 
interconnected require 
more flushing, as the 
added chemicals will no 
longer be effective after 
long periods of inactivity.

UTILITIES IN WAYNESVILLE
ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES

• The Town is looking to replace its aging Pigeon 
River plant.  This would increase capacity and 
also help comply with increasingly stringent 
state outfall requirements.

• The Plott Creek area is difficult to serve due to 
topographical constraints.

• There is enough water capacity to serve 
addtional industrial development in town.

• Growth is expected along the north Russ Ave. 
corridor as well as the Allens Creek Rd. corridor 
which will increase demand in water and sewer 
infrastructure in those areas.

•  The Town has capacity for infill development 
in the downtown/Main St. areas.  Mixed-use 
development would increase density and 
make the most of existing sewer infrastructure.

UTILITIES

Pigeon

Half Top

Hazelwood

Hard Ridge

Pinnacle Knob

Lake Junaluska

Little Mountain

Eaglenest Mountain

Downtown Waynesville

Pisgah National Forest

Lake Junaluska

Raccoon Creek

Browning Branch

Plott C
ree

k

Al
le

n 
C

re
ek

Farm
er Branch

Sh
el

to
n 

Br
an

ch

Camp Branch

Factory Branch

Hyatt Creek

Eaglenest Creek

Mauney Cove 
Branch

Jonathans C
reek

Nick Creek

G
addis Branch

Ri
ch

la
nd

 C
re

ek
 (L

ak
e J

un
al

us
ka

)

M
cElroy Branch

Ri
ch

la
nd

 C
re

ek

Sam Branch

Rogers Cove Branch

Ratcliffe C
ove Branch

Medford Branch

Shingle Cove Branch

Cove Field Branch

Lake Palcoy

Jo
na

th
an

s C
re

ek

Richland Creek (Lake Junaluska)

Hyatt Creek

Richland Creek

Walmart

Hazelwood

Frog Level

Waynesville Plaza

Green Hill Cemetery

Downtown Waynesville

Mountain View Creek Park

Mountain Research Station

Haywood County Courthouse

Laurel Ridge Country Club

Garrett Hillcrest Cemetery

Lake Junaluska Golf Course

Haywood County Public Library

Pigeon Community Development Center

The Waynesville Inn Golf Resort and Spa

SOCO RD

R
A

C
C

O
O

N
R

D

E
X

IT
 9

8

A
S

G
I 
T
R

ASHEV

IL
L
E

R
D

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY

LO

V
E

L
N

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

JU
LI

A
 L

N

WALL ST

GADDIS BRANCH
RD

EXIT 103

RO
CKY KNOB RD

DELLWOOD RD

TEST
FARM

RD

T A
W

O
D

I
T

R

US 1
9-2

3-7
4 E

XPW
Y E

HOWELL MIL
L

R

D

S M
AIN

 S
T

HALL TOP RD

V
A

N
C

E
 S

T

HARRIETTS TR

HIG
H RIDGE RD

US 19-23-74 EXPWY W

H
E

A
D

R
D

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
D

R

J
O

N
A

T
H

A
N

C
R

E
E
K

R
D

W
A

L
E

L
A

T
R

PLO
TT

CREEK RD

SKYLINE DR

P
R

ESIDEN TIAL DR

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

D
R

T
A

N
N

E
R

T
R

H
U

G
H

M
A

S
S

IE
R

D

KILLIAN ST

KNOLLW
OOD D

R

S
LA

K
E
S
H

ORE DR

HICKORY HILL RD

RU
S

T
IC

R
D

H
A

L
L
 D

R

JO

Y
L
N

T
A

R
H

E
E

L
 D

R

FARLEY ST

LIC
K
S
T
O

N
E

R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y
 R

D

WOLFPEN RD

P

HIL
LI

P

S
R

D

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E

R
D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

TILL
M

A
N

R
D

ST
AN

DR
EW

S RD

B
R
O

W
N
 A

V

SUNNYSIDE RD

EAGLES NEST
RD

D
A

IS
E

Y
A

V

PIGEON ST

PARRISH FARM RD

CRUM
D

R

W
O

O
D

Y
L
N

O
X

N
E

R
C

O
V

E
R

D

D
O

G

WOOD TR

L
O

C
U

S
T

 D
R

S
LE

E
P
Y

H
O

LLO
W

D
R

HAPPY ACRE

S
R

D

O

LD
B
A

L
S

A
M

R
D

G
E

N
T

IA
N

W
A

Y

HICKORY DR

B
A

N
K

E
R

D
R

APPLE CREEK
RD

S
A

W
Y

E
R

S
T

GRIMBA

L
L

D
R

AC
C

E
S

S
R

D

B
A

L
S

A
M

D
R

SIM
S

C

IR

HIGHLAND RD

AW

O
H

A

LI TR

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
D R

T
W

IS
T
E

D
T
R

EX
IT

 1
00

FOURTH S T

O
R

A
C

IR

WALNUT
COVE RD

C
ALHOUN

RD

C
A

M
P

B
R

A
N

C
H

R
D

H
U

G
H

E
S

R
D

M
E

S

SER
RD

M
IL

L
S

T

RIDG
E RD

PIGEON RD

B
R

O
W

N
IN

G
R

D

B
R

Y
S

O
N

S
T

LITTLE MOUNTAIN RD

PINEY MOUN TAIN R D

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

C
A
R

D
IN

A
L LN

L
O

N
GVI E W DR

APRIL

P
K

F ULLER DR

R
OGERS

C
O

V
E

R
D

F
A

IR
WAY DR

TA
NN

EH
ILL L N

L
O

G
C

A
B

IN
R

D

SWEETH ART PL

P
L
O

T
T

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
R
D

CL EMSO
N

R
D

W
IL

D

C
A

T
M

TN
RD

S
P

Y

R

O
C

K
R
D

BRIDGET DR

QUEE N COVE
R
D

LAU R EL
R
ID

G
E

DR

HILLTOP DR

E
A
S

T
S

T

FRANCIS FAR M RD

R

A

Y

S
T

H
E

A
T

H
D

R

SHIN
ERS

TR

MOODY FARM RD

R
O

Y
A

L
C

R
E

S
T

H
T

S

WILEY FRANKLIN
RD

VISTA
R
D

CRYMES COVE RD

E
XIT

102A

A
F
T

O
N

P

L

K
U

D
Z

U
L

O
O

P

HENRY DIN

G
U

S
W

A
Y

HO
SPITAL DR

LO
RR

AIN
E DR

RAMBLIN
G RID

G

E
R
D

HERBERT TR

A
B

E
L
 L

N

GREENVIEW DR

PINEW
O

O
D

D
R

Q
U

IN
LA

N
D
R

H
ID

D
E

N

RD G

LITTLE COVE RD

C ARDINAL DR

ANG LERS RD G

D
A
N

IE

L
LN

MICADALE LN

STEPPING ST
O

N
E

L
N

LEGIO
N D

R

IVY HILL D R

LEA PLA NT RD

SCENIC
C

IR

MAPLE ST

D
A

L
E

D
R

P
IT

T
S

 S
T

PAR AG
ON

PKWY

WA YNEVIE
W

D
R

S
K

Y
LA

N
D

R
D

MAUNEY
COVE RD

FL OYD RD

N
 H

IL
L
 S

T

L
IT

T
L
E

 L
N

H
E

G
GIE LN

E
C

H
O

D
R

SH A
D

O

WOOD
LN

S
A

U
N

O
O

K
R

D

N MAIN ST

CHILDREN ST

AL

P
IN

E
LN

RATCLIFF CO
V
E

R
D

NE

Y

LAND PL

WILL HY
A

T
T

R
D

C
O

O
L

A
U

G
U

S
T

H
T

S

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
H

A
V

E
N

R
D

CAMP SCHA UB
RD

A
L

L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

OLD CLYDE RD

MILLER ST

KILGORE RD

E
A

G
L
E

FO
R

K
DR

F O

X
R

U

N
R
D

T ORDA TRC

G
R

E
E

N
V

A
L

L
E

Y
R

D

F R
E
E
M

AN
R

D

LIN
E

R
C
O

V
E RD

LINCOLN WAY

K
E

R
O

U
A

C
D

R

CHE
S
T NUT WAL K DR

TIM
O

THY L
N

R
E

D
OAK LN

M
A

R
R

E
T
T
A

L
N

B
LA

N
T

O
N

D
R

S

H
IL

L
S

T

HOW

E
LL

S
T

S P

IR
IT

M
T

N
T

R

M

U
SE

ST

J
U

S

TIC
E TR

BR OWNING BRANC H RD

K
A
N

U
S

A
T

I
T
R

JU
L
IA

D
R

BARBER B
LVD

VIO
LE

T

R

D
G

PARK
DR

B
E
TH

ESD

A
LN

INGLE W
O

OD
CV

TS ALA G I TR

JULE NOLAND
D

R

R
A

Y
M

O
N

D

D
R

S
U

L
P
H

U
R

 S
P
R

IN
G

S
 R

D

TRIALS GAP DR

B
O

YSEN
BERRY

LN

B

L
A

Z
IN

G
T

R

S
TE

E

P
T
R

JUDY LN

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

 C
IR

SPRINGBROOK FA
R

M
R

D

FARMVIE
W D

R

L
A

K
E
V
IE

W
DR

H

U
N

T
E

S
T

A
T
E

S
D

R

K
A

T
R

IN
A

W
A

Y

TUSC
O

LA
SCHO

O

L
R

D

C
IN

D
Y

 L
N

P
RIVAT E CV

A
D

O
H

I
T

R

BE GONIA DR

N

LAKESHORE DR

W
ESLE

Y
W

A
Y

OLD S

C
H

O
O

L
R

D

L
E

A
T

H
E

R
W

O
O

D
C

O
V

E
R

D

LEATHE
R

W
O

O
D

RD

T
R

IS
T

O
N

D
R

R
E

IN
E

R
T

S
O

N
D

R

PARKER

P
T

FOX
CH

A
S

E
RD

SHINGLE C OVE RD

CICADA DR

S
Y
LV

A
N
 S

T

R
ID

G
E

T
O

P
R

D

JA
RVIS

S

T

L
O

N

G ST

M CCRACKEN ST

BOR DE R ST

W
ELDON WAY

G
REEN

W OOD LN

F U

R
R

Y

LN

BEN
T

O
AK DR

MOUNTAIN VIEW DR

D

ANA
RD

PAV ILION LN

VALLEY VIEW

T
E

R

C
A

M
P

B
E

L
L

M
T

N
D

R

FALCON RIDGE DR

CHAPEL DR

BUCHANAN DR

C
L

A
R
K

D R

A
N

G
E

L
IC

A
W

A
Y

EA GLE GAP

R
D

C
H

A
N

C
E
R

Y
LN

E
D

W
A

R
D

S
 S

T

B
R

E
N

D
L
E

 S
T

R
AC

H
AEL DR

F
R

ADY LN

L
U

S
K

A
R

D
G

APPLE TREE CT

GR EEN
DR

A
U

B
U

R
N

R
D

W
E
A
T
H

E
R

W
A

T
C

H
L
N

BURM A
R
D

L
E

W
IS

D
R

C
LE

M
E
N

T
 D

R

BRADL EY ST

D
OUBLE TOP DR

ORCHARD DR

TIMUCUA TR

S
P

IR
E

A DR

T AR

A
N

O
V

A
D

R

A
R

M
S

A
V

O
A

K
D

A
LE

R
D

BROADVIEW
 RD

WINDSOR
PL

J
A

D
E

S
T

H
Y

T
E

C

H

H
T
S

S
Q

U
A

W

R
ID

G
E

R
D

TURKEY TR

C

O
M

B
O

C
T

GI LE
S

P
L

B
IB

L
E

B
A

P
T
IS

T
D

R

C

O
U

Z
IN

S
L
N

MCLEAN LN

HENS
O

N
D

R

RA INBOW
RD

HAZELWOOD AV

C
R

O

SSCREEK RD

HA MER AV

W
IL

L
O

W
R

D

PANDA
TR

WALNUT ST

H
IL

LS
ID

E
 R

D

W
ELCH S

T

GOODSON SP R IN
G

R
D

MOUZON RD

N A
N

C
Y

L
N

POND VIEW DR

A
S
S
E
M

B
LY

 S
T

KENTUCKY AV

IN
D
U
S
T
R

IA
L

P
ARK DR

P
IN

K
D

O
G

W
O

O
D

L
N

W
R

E
N

WAY

MOODY
D R

S
E
D

I TR

B
A

B
B

ST

MONTEREY PL

W
R

IG
H

T
S

R
D

G

SUM MER WAY

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V

B
L

UEGRAS

S
L
N

JE
FF

R
E

Y
L
N

E
LY

S
IN

IA
 A

V

C
A

M
E

L
O

T
 D

R

B
O

U
L
D

E
R

 D
R

C
H

IN
Q

U
A

P
IN

L
N

C
L

IF
F

L
N

S
M

OKY LN

HYATT CREEK RD

SN A K

ES LOOP

ROLLING DR

K
E

R
L
E

Y
 S

T

JAMES
LOO P

FRAZIER ST

R
OBIN LN

CRESTMO NT
DR

G
IY

U
G

A
T

R

N
E
S

B
IT

T
 S

T

B
L

A
C

K
G

U
M

D
R

W
E

L
L
S

R
D

CORTLAND CT

S
K
Y
L
A

R
K

LN

A
R

D

EN
S
T

GEORGIA AV

GOLFVIEW DR

LAMBUTH DR

CAROLINA AV

D
O

LAN
 R

D

C
O

U
N
TR

Y
C
LU

B DR

ESS
EX RD

O X

F

O
RD RD

W
AY

UP Y ONDER RD

MEDCLIF F DR

L
A

N
N

IN
G

 D
R

S ILE R CIR

S
T

U
A

R
T

C
IR

JU
N
E

B
U

G
T
R

W
ORSH AM DR

JUNALUSKA OAKS DR

G
R

A
S

S
Y

 B
A

L
D

 R
D

R
IC

H
LAN

D
 S

T

EAGL E RDG

G
O
LF

C
O

U
R

S
E

R
D

G
R

A

H

A
M

S
T

R
A

D
IO

 T
O

W
E

R
 R

D

RANDALL RD

D

U
C

K
E

T
T

C
O

V
E

R
D

RUT H LN

W
H

IT
E

D
O

G
W

O
O

D
L
N

FOXWO OD DR

EQ
UESTRIA

N
DR

ALDERS

G
A

TE
R
D

LEN WOOD DR

LUM BOONE CIR

S
H

O
N

D
R

A
 D

R

IN DIGO
DR

S
T

R
E

A
M

W
O

O
D

CIR

O
A

K

V
IE

W
DR

V
IG

O
R

O
LN

LOW
ELL S

T

M
ACON ST

S
H

O
R

T
S

T

CHAMBERS RD

NIGHTIN

G
A
LE

P
L

W MAR

S
H

A
L
L

S
T

TRI VISTA DR

M
A

P
LE

G
ROVE CH RD

LIBERTY RD

LEGEND
RD

COLLIER
LN

H
A
M

PS

H
IR

E
D

R

OWL RIDGE RD

F
R

A
N

K
L
IN

 S
T

G

R
A

Y
D

E
N

S
T

LOFTY RIDGE D R

NINEVAH RD

S
E
V
E
N
TH

 S
T

W

OODSIDE CIR

FITZ G E R

A
L
D

L
N

A
L
L

IS
O

N
D

R

B
L
A

Y
C

O
D

R

R
U
S
S

A
V
E

-
G

R
E
A
T

S
M

O
K
Y

M
TN

A
N
D
R
E
W

 L
N

BIG COVE RD

GARLAND ST

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

S
T

S
H

A
C

K
F

O
R

D
S

T

H
O

O
S

IE
R CT

FAIRLANE DR

PURCELL DR

GRANDVIEW CIR

L
E

O
P

A
R

D
 D

R

BOUNDARY ST

M
A

G

N
OLIA WAY

FOXFIRE ESTATES CIR

HIG H
S
T

BR
AN

N
ER

 A
V

P
IO

N

EE

R
D
R

SKYVIE
W

DR

E
M

A
R

SHALL ST

E
N

C

LA
V

E
D

R

OAKCREST LN

BRO
W

N
RID

G
E

R
D

WAYNESVILLE PLZ

W
IN C HESTER DR

WOODS EDGE RD

FO REST VIEW DR

RASPBERRY LN

TIG
E
R

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
R

D

SECRET

H
O

L
LO

W
LN

COCHRAN ST

CHEROKEE
ST

MEADOW ST

AUBU
R

N PARK DR

HENGESTO

N
E

C
V

S
H

ACKFORD
HALL

RD

CI D ER M ILL RD

C
O

L
U

M
BINE DR

LEISURE
L
N

BALDW IN
DR

E
X
IT

102

MOCKINGBIRD DR

CO
KESBUR Y CIR

B IG
BE

AR
RD

T
O

P

VIEW
DR

LO IS

LN

KENNEL WAY

GLEN
EAGLE DR

KING ARTHURS CT

GWEN ST

S
H

E

R
R
ILL

DR

CHICKERING LN

HAZELV IEW DR

W
IN

D
M

ERE TRC

SEMEION RDG

FRIENDLY ACRES DR

ROVIN
G

W
O

O
D

D
R

RIDGE CREST LN

D
E

E
R

GLADE LN

BANB URY CT

TA

P
R
O

O
T

D
R

TREBLE CLEF LN

P
L
A
Y

G
R

O
U

N
D

 S
T

SORRELLS
COVE RD

ATK

IN
S

L

O
O

P

M
ELIN

D
A

DR

DELAN NE DR

APPLE BLOSSOM
LN

ANTHONY
ST

LANSIN
G

R
D

MEADO

W
L
A

R
K

L
N

MARY JOHN
D
R

ANGEL
PU

PP

Y
LN

J
O

S

H
HILL DR

B
E

L
L

E
V

IE
W

 R
D

J 
F
 M

O
R

R
IS

 D
R

MISSISSIPPI AV

N
ELS

O
N

PARK DR

W
H

IS
P

E
R

IN
G

HILL
DR

LITTLE HORSE RD

STAYM ON RD

S
U

T
T
O

N
L
O

O
P

AL E X TR

R
O

S
E

P
A

T
H

L
N

C
H

E

R
R

YW
OO

D

LN

ED
W

ARD
ALLEN

DR

W
O

O
D

F
IE

L
D

D
R

BLINK B O N
N

Y
D
R

C
A
R
P
E
N

T
ER WAY

EAG
LE VIEW CIR

TREAS U

R
E

T
R
C

LL
O

Y
D
S

M
T

N
R

D
G

SUR REY RD

JEF FERSON LN

BUCKEY
E

D
R

WALNUT T
R

A
IL

R
D

ARBOR DR

HUMMIN
G

BIR

D
L
N

CLELLIE VIEW DR

CLEARVIEW
DR

PLATE
AU

 P
L

FRANCIS

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
R

D

T
A

H
O

E
D

R

UNITY DR

LARCHWOOD PT

HATTIE HILL
D
R

FAIR
VIE

W HTS

GROUSE

R
ID

G
E

R
D

B
R
U
N

SWIC K DR

REFLECTIO

N
D

R
SHERM A

N

W
A
Y

MILNER DR

S
W

E

ETW
A

T ER LN

RO C KWOOD RD

BIG
HOLLY

W
A
Y

WAYNE W

O
O

D
D

R

G
A

T
O

R
 D

R

SOLITARY MEADOW
CIR

RAV E

N
R

D
G

N
AGS TRAIL RD

MCNA BB ST

GRANDVIEW CLIFF HTS

L
IT

T
LE

A
C

R
E

S
R

D

U
P

C HURCH RD

COVENTRY LN

COYOTE RDG

FAMILY RDG

STANDIN G ROCK TR

G
LE

N
V

I EW DR

APPLEHOUSE RD

DEER PAT H RD

W
ALDONPOND

PL

KIMBER
LY

LN

TRANQUIL LOOP

FARE
N

L
N

H
A
P
P
Y
 H

O
LLO

W
 A

C
C

E
S
S
 R

D

M
O

R

N
INGVIE W RD

KAMMERER DR

OLD BALSAM RD

P
IG

E
O

N
S

T

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

SPIRIT MTN
TR

APPLE
TREE CT

V
A

N
C

E
S

T

EAGLES NEST RD

MAUNEY C
OVE R

D

A
L

L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

A
L

L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

N
 L

A
K

E
S

H
O

R
E

 D
R

C
AMP BRANCH RD

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

R
D

L
IN

E
R

C
O

V
E

R
D

D
A
L
E
 D

R

MAUNEY COVE RD

N LAKESHORE DR

DELLWOOD RD

E
X

IT
 1

0
0

B
R

O
W

N
 A

V

CRYM
ES

COV

E
R

D

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
D

R

K
U

D
Z

U
L
O

O
P

EAST ST

O
A

K
D

A
L

E
R

D

S
L
A
K
E
S

H

O
R
E

D
R

O
R

A
C

IR

TAWO DI TR

GRANDVIEW CIR

G
R

E
ENVIEW DR

P
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T
IA

L
D

R

CO U

N
T
Y

R
D

DO GWOOD
TR

CRESTMONT DR

OLD BALSAM RD

EAG
LES

NEST RD

S
C

E
N

IC
CIR

C
AM

PBELL
M

T
N

D
R

F
R

A
N

C
IS

F
A

R
M

R
D

H
O

W
ELL MILL RD

W
E
S

T
W

O
O

D
 C

IR

DELLWOOD RD

COUNTY RD

A
LL

E
N

S
C

R
E

E
K

R
D

PIGEON RD

PIGEON RD

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

A
L
L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

PLOTT CREEK RD

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T
N

 E
X

P
W

Y
 W

R

O
LLIN

G
D R

MAUNEY
C

O
V
E

R
D

SUNNYSIDE RD

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

 D
R

APRIL PK

COUNTY RD

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T
N

 E
X

P
W

Y

GADDIS BRANCH RD

PIGEON RD

S
U

LPHUR
SPRIN

GS
RD

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E
 R

D

C
A

M
P

BRANCH
R

D

S
C

E
N

IC
C

IR

APPLE CREEK RD

A
S

H
E
V

IL
L
E
 R

D

R
U

S
S

A
V

EAGLES

N
E

S
T

R
D

DA N
IE

L
LN

E
M

A
R

S
H

A
L

L
S

T

CHAMBER
S

R
D

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

GADDIS BRANCH RD

E
X

IT
 9

8

HYATT CREEK RD

E
A

G
L

E
S

N
E

S
T

R
D

O
A

K
D

A
L
E

R
D

EAGLES NEST RD

R
U

S
S

 A
V

GEORGIA AV

DELLWOOD RD

HYATT CREEK RD

OLD BALSAM RD

PLOTT CR
E

EK RD

A
C

C
E

S
S

R
D

C
A

M
P

B
R

A

N
C

H
RD

LOCUST

D
R

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
D

R

DELLWOOD RD

S M
A
IN

 S
T

PH
IL

LIP
S R

D

EAGLES NEST RD

APRIL
PK

PIGEON RD

C
O

U
N

T
Y

R
D

COUNTY RD

CRYMES COVE RD

E
A

G
L
E

S
N

E
S

T
R

D

B
A

L
S

A
M

D
R

£¤23

£¤276

£¤19

£¤276

£¤23

£¤19

UV1812

UV1173

UV209

UV1134

UV1247

UV1818

UV1809

Sources: Esri, USGS, NGA, NASA, CGIAR, N Robinson, NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rijkswaterstaat, GSA, Geoland, FEMA, Intermap and the GIS user community

WAYNESVILLE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN

Context
Waynesville City Limits

Waynesville ETJ

Urban Services Boundary

# Local Landmarks

Transportation
Interstate

Primary US and State Highways

Secondary State and County Highways

Local Streets (Haywood County)

Railroad

Utilities
Water Lines

Gravity Sewer Main

Pressurized Sewer Main

Natural Features
Lake

Streams

Managed Areas

[
0 1,400 2,800700

Feet

1 in = 956 ft

- UTILITIES -
Date: 5/9/2018

WATER AND SEWER USAGE AND CAPACITY

WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT 

CAPACITY (4 
MGD AVG. DAILY 

USE)

TOWN’S PERMITTED CAPACITY
3.4 MGD IS AVG. DAILY USE

CURRENT CAPACITY OF EXISTING 
INFRASTRUCTURE PUMP STATIONS 

IN THE SEWER 
SYSTEM

6 MGD4.4 MGD*

8 MGD
0

*MGD = Million Gallons a Day

Did you know?
Looping and connnecting water lines is 
an important industry-standard practice 
that ensures chemicals added to 
drinking water are effectively disbursed.  
Water lines that are not interconnected 
require more flushing, as the added 
chemicals will no longer be effective 
after long periods of inactivity.

Did you know?
The adopted Urban Services Area (see 
map) was recommended by the 2020 
Land Development Plan in an effort 
to limit urban sprawl by focusing on 
increased density and mixed uses while 
discouraging low-density residential 
development.

W
A

TE
R

SE
W

ER

Waynesville Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan Update



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  109JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

URBAN SERVICES BOUNDARY AND SYSTEM MAP



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE110 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

Transportation System
The Town of Waynesville is expected to continue to grow, accompanied by more people 
driving along its roads and in search of more convenient ways to travel.  The Town is a member 
of the French Broad River Metropolitan Planning Organization (FBRMPO) which provides 
regional transportation planning services and is within the NC Department of Transportation 
Division 14.  Waynesville strives to meet the Smart Growth principles of creating walkable 
neighborhoods and in providing a variety of transportation options that accommodate all 
users – from freight to transit, to automobile to pedestrian, cyclists and wheelchair dependent 
people.  Because Waynesville is constrained environmentally by the Richland Creek 
watershed and mountainous terrain, it maximize capacity of existing local and state rights-of-
ways to promote accessibility and efficiency.  

Since the 2002 Comprehensive Plan, the Town has worked with the FBRMPO and NCDOT on 
corridor studies to improve existing infrastructure.  North Main, South Main and Russ Avenue 
Plans have resulted in significant roadway improvement projects being funded that will 
improve safety and roadway capacity:  

	» (U-5888) roadway re-alignment and conversion of intersection to a roundabout at North 
Main and Walnut Street; 

	» (U4712) roadway improvement, access management and partial widening of South 
Main Street between downtown and Hyatt Creek Road

	» (U-5839) roadway improvement, access management and widening of Russ Avenue 
from the Expressway to Main Street which is also designated US Highway 275.

Waynesville  also is studying roadway improvement on Russ Avenue from the Expressway to 
Dellwood Road, and along Brown Avenue in front of the Waynesville Middle School (U-5548), 
and working with Haywood County and the Tourism Development Authority to improve 
directional or “wayfinding” signage.  

In 2010, the Town completed a Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan which identified goals for 
pedestrian connectivity and greenways.  Each year through Powell Bill, local general funds, 
and grants and local fundraising, the Town implements portions of the plan with construction 
of greenways and sidewalks.  In 2017, the Town completed the greenway feasibility study for 
the Richland Creek Greenway from Will Hyatt Road to the Recreation Center, and in 2020 is 
continuing trail alignment from the Recreation Center to the Industrial park, connecting to 
Lake Junaluska.  This positions Waynesville’s greenway system to connect to regional planning 
efforts to develop a multi-jurisdictional trail system known as the “Hellbender.”  For more 
information on Waynesville’s transportation planning efforts see the Appendix.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  111JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

Page Intentionally Left Blank



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE112 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

Solid Waste Management
The Town of Waynesville’s Public Services Department provides curbside waste and recyclable 
pickup  service on a weekly basis to residential customers and public areas. Commercial 
waste services include dumpster collection. Waste is transferred to the White Oak Landfill 
which is owned and operated by Haywood County. Mixed recyclables are collected in blue 
bags available for purchase at grocery and retail stores. Items accepted for recycling include 
aluminum and steel cans, paper, cardboard boxes, plastic bottles, glass and used electronics.  
Yard waste is collected on the first full and third week of the month. Sanitation Services 
operates a vacuum truck for leaf collection in the fall from mid-October to mid-January each 
year. Street debris cleaning also is important to keep storm drains clear and is part of the 
Town’s main goals for stormwater management.

Stormwater Control
The Town operates a municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) that is regulated under the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Stormwater Phase II Final Rule. The Town has implemented 
a stormwater ordinance that requires the management of post-development stormwater 
runoff to meet state and federal requirements. The ordinance protects water quality and is 
targeted at managing and minimizing effects of development by implementing controls to 
erosion and sedimentation and requiring the completion of stormwater Best Management 
Practices (BMPs) in new development and redevelopment projects. The goal of stormwater 
control is to protect property that could be impacted by the quality or quantity of runoff 
caused from development, and to prevent pollutants from getting into the Richland Creek 
watershed.

Broadband Internet
There is a lack of consistent access to high speed internet in some areas of Town. Broadband 
is essential to residents, institutions, and businesses to access and utilize online markets and 
resources. 

Efforts to fulfill the 2002 Plan goal to make Waynesville a wired community is on-going. In late 
2017, ECC Technologies held a summit assessing broadband infrastructure, gaps, and more 
for officials in the Counties of Cherokee, Clay, Graham, Haywood, Jackson, Macon, Swain 
and the Eastern Band of the Cherokee Indians. Land of Sky Regional Council also is working 
on a statewide “build-out map” and survey for residents of Madison, Buncombe, Haywood, 
Henderson, and Transylvania Counties. Waynesville representation in regional discussions and 
efforts should continue.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  113JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

BROADBAND AVAILABILITY MAP

The map above shows the number of fixed residential broadband providers.  Though a number of 
providers are present in the Town of Waynesville, this map does not factor in exact location of infrastructure 
or cost of service provision. Source: Federal Communications Commission



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE114 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

PARKS, OPEN SPACE, & NATURAL RESOURCES
Within 5 miles of Waynesville’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) there are over 
42,000 acres of parks, public land and conservation areas. Additionally, the NC 
Department of Agriculture and Consumer services maintains a test farm east of 
Waynesville comprising nearly 400 acres. 

Parks and Greenways
Waynesville Recreation Center is the Parks and Recreation Department’s most 
heavily used facility. The 2017 Parks Master Plan as well as the Richland Creek 
Greenway Feasibility Study represent efforts to continue the Town’s commitment 
to providing quality recreational options. 

Waynesville offers a full program of activities for all ages at the Waynesville 
Recreation Center and the Armory Recreation Center. The Town is also working 
to develop neighborhood parks such as Chestnut Park. Improving existing 
parks, building greenways, encouraging recreation facilities and open space in 
new development and improving access to local and regional parks can help 
improve recreational opportunities for Waynesville residents.  

Parks and Open Space Statistics

The Waynesville Greenway Trail System includes 4.8 
miles of on-road and off-road greenways that link the 
Waynesville Recreation Center to Lake Junaluska.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  115JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

PARKS AND NATURAL RESOURCES MAP



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE116 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

Natural Environment
According to the NC Wildlife Commission, the western, southern, and eastern edges of 
Waynesville are important wildlife corridors. The area south of Waynesville is the second highest 
priority conservation area outside of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park.

Plott Creek, Eagle’s Nest Mountain, and Pinnacle Ridge have Natural Heritage Element 
Occurrences (NHEOs) nearby.  These areas rank high in biodiversity and are likely home to 
rare species. Pinnacle Ridge, is a designated Natural Heritage Natural Area (NHNA). These 
are the best examples of natural habitats that remain in the state.  In and around Waynesville, 
endangered species include the northern long-eared bat, the eastern hellbender, the 
southern pygmy salamander, as well as the northern saw-whet owl.

Conservation should be made a priority and special care taken when development takes 
place in these areas. Specific policy recommendations on preserving Waynesville’s natural 
resources can be found in Chapter 5.

Additional environmental resources include agricultural lands, forested views, Raccoon Creek, 
Richland Creek (a state-designated trout stream), and nearby Lake Junaluska (to the north) 
and Lake Logan (to the southeast) are both used by residents for recreation.

Northern Saw-Whet Owl 
Source: NCWC

There are 36 
Natural Heritage 
Element 
occurrences and 
3 designated 
Natural Heritage 
Natural Areas near 
Waynesville. 
(Source: NC Conservation 
Planning Tool, Within 2 miles of 
Waynesville’s ETJ)

Responses to the survey conducted as part of the 
plan indicate that there is a preference for preserving 
streams and areas important for water quality, lands 
important for habitat and biodiversity, farms and 
working agricultural lands and scenic views.

Preservation Priorities



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  117JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

CONSERVATION PRIORITY AREAS

Conservation Priority Areas (CPA) show valuable areas where lower density development 
should be clustered away from and respectful of environmentally sensitive areas and
important natural views. These areas can overlap with land that is identified as available or 
undeveloped and could become resources for stormwater and floodplain management or 
an amenity in new development. 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE118 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES 
Culturally, Waynesville is known for its history, music, dance, crafts and 
visual arts that connect its residents to the Appalachian Mountains. 
Waynesville’s current comprehensive plan notes the importance of 
preserving the Town’s heritage through historic preservation and the   
promotion of its cultural resources.   

Waynesville has a rich history that dates back to 1809 when Colonel 
Robert Love, a veteran of the Revolutionary War, deeded 17 acres to 
create a County seat for Haywood County in a community known as 
“Mount Prospect.” He named the new town Waynesville in honor of 
Mad Anthony Wayne.  By the mid-1800s Waynesville was a center for 
tourism and trade.  William Holland Thomas was born in Waynesville 
in 1805 and became the legal agent and “white Chief” of the 
Cherokee, served as a North Carolina State Senator from 1848-1860, 
and formed the Thomas Legion which was the largest single military 
unit raised in North Carolina during the Civil War.  The last recorded 
shot of the Civil War was fired on May 9, 1865 in Waynesville.  Waynesville was incorporated 
in 1871 and became known as the “Gateway to the Smokies” with a rich architectural fabric 
of inns, boarding-houses, neighborhoods and the commercial areas of Frog Level and Main 
Street.  In 1995, the Towns of Hazelwood and Waynesville merged into one community.

The Waynesville Historic Preservation Commission is established by Town Ordinance and the 
Town is a recognized Certified Local Government that meets the criteria of the 1980 Historic 
Preservation Act.  The Commission carries out multiple responsibilities on behalf of the Town to 
preserve historic resources, including:

•	 Inventory resources (conduct surveys and studies);

•	 Conduct educational programs;

•	 Cooperate with State and Federal governments on historic preservation;

•	 Prepare and recommend preservation in the Comprehensive Land Use Plan;

•	 Recommend restoration and preservation of properties;

•	 Recommend Historic Landmarks; and 

National Register Plaque 
Downtown



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  119JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

•	 Review projects involving designated historic properties and historic districts for 
“Certificates of Appropriateness.”

Designated historic structures and sites are scattered throughout the Town, and currently there 
are 4 National Register Historic Districts: 

•	 Frog Level Historic District (2003)

•	 Main Street Historic District (2005)

•	 Spread Out Historic District (2010)

•	 Greenhill Cemetery Historic District (2018)

The Historic Commission works with local property owners voluntarily to pursue historic 
designation of sites within the Town and in coordination with the State Historic Preservation 
Office. They also are responsible for reviewing construction projects within historic districts 
or those involving designated historic properties in accordance with the Waynesville, North 
Carolina Design Review Guidelines which were adopted in 2013.  

Building/District Name ID Date of 
Listing

Boone-Withers House HW0009 7/21/1983

Citizens Bank and Trust Company Building HW0011 3/14/1991

Frog Level Historic District HW0046 8/28/2003
Green Hill Cemetery HW0634 5/31/2018
Haywood County Courthouse HW0002 5/10/1979

Alden and Thomasene Howell House HW0136 4/22/2003

Charles and Annie Quinlan House HW0013 9/7/2005

Clyde H. Ray, Sr. House HW0016 10/22/1996
Masonic Hall HW0010 6/9/1988
Shelton House HW0003 1/31/1979
Frank Smathers House HW0072 7/10/1998
(former) United States Post Office Building HW0012 3/14/1991
Dr. J. Howell Way House HW0004 9/11/1980
Waynesville Main Street Historic District HW0161 12/16/2005
Windover Inn HW0017 01/25/2018

NATIONAL REGISTER LISTINGS IN WAYNESVILLE



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE120 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

National Register Listings are those properties included in the “National Register of Historic 
Places (NRHP), a federal program administered by the National Park Service.  Properties 
must go through a nomination process and be recommended for listing by the State Historic 
Preservation Office and approved by the Federal National Register Committee.

Building/District Name, Date of Listing
Clyde Ray House, 224 Love Lane, 06-10-97
R.D. Gilmer House, Suyeta Park Drive, 06-10-97
Judge Frank Smathers House, Smathers Street, 04-14-98
Grady Honeycutt Building, 313 Depot Street, 05-09-00
Charles U. Miller House, 53 Walnut Street, 12-12-00
J.B.S. Mcintosh Building, Main Street, 12-12-00
Citizens Bank and Trust Co. Building, Main Street, 05-08-01
Rotha House, Pigeon Street, 10-09-01
J.B. Henry Warehouse, 33 Commerce Street, 05-14-02
The Thomasine Woolsey Howell House, 129 Woolsey Heights, 08-13-02
The Atkins House, 421 Grimball Drive, 01-28-03
Charles and Annie Quinlan House, 274 S. Main Street, 06-07-04
The Windover Inn, 40 Old Hickory Street, 06-22-10

LOCAL LANDMARKS IN WAYNESVILLE

NATIONAL REGISTER HISTORIC DISTRICT & INDIVIDUALLY LISTED PROPERTIES



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  121JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

Local Landmarks are structures designated by the Town as historically significant and worthy 
of protection through local property tax credits. These properties also have to go through a 
nomination process and are approved by the Town’s Board of Aldermen. 
Historic and cultural preservation is important to Waynesville for many reasons:

1.	 Economic Development:  Historic preservation protects Waynesville’s unique identity and 
the architectural and neighborhood context that makes Waynesville a wonderful place to live 
and visit.  Waynesville’s rich inventory of historic “bed and breakfasts” and inns draw visitors 
for overnight stays, and the shopping districts of Main Street, Frog Level and Hazelwood are 
destinations because of their historic streetscape and store fronts.  Heritage tourism is a growing 
sector of the tourism economy because it conveys a unique community identity to visitors who 
seek an experience they cannot find elsewhere.

2.	 Quality of life:  Visitors and residents get a sense of a community’s self-image through its 
buildings, landscapes and history.  The Historic Preservation Commission has had great success 
with the annual Greenhill Cemetery Tour, speaker series, and other educational efforts because 
there is an interested audience in residents and visitors for the excellent stories that make up 
Waynesville’s past.

3.	 Sustainability:  Buildings constructed prior to the 1950s used long-lasting materials 
and if properly maintained may outlast more recent construction.  Maintenance of existing 
neighborhoods and infrastructure is less costly than outward development.  Rehabilitation and 
revitalization create jobs and tend to rely more on local 
labor and purchases for materials.  Keeping historic buildings 
in use also keeps them out of landfills.  Reuse and recycling 
of buildings and building materials is at the heart of historic 
preservation.

Haywood’s Historic Farmers Market was established in 2008 
as a producer-only market, featuring produce, meats, dairy, 
honey and heritage crafts sourced from Haywood or an 
adjacent county.  Crafts featured at the market are also carried in local stores and include 
pottery, woodworking and other hand-made goods.  The market creates a direct market 
between local farmers, crafts people and consumers.

Public Art
The Town of Waynesville’s Public Arts Commission consists of appointed volunteers who raise 
funds to integrate artwork into the streetscape of Waynesville.  Public art enhances the Town’s 
streetscape while telling the rich story of Waynesville’s natural and social history.  The central 
Business Districts of Frog Level, Main Street and Hazelwood host most of the installations, but 
the Arts Commission would like to extend the inclusion of art into new development and along 
Waynesville’s gateway corridors.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE122 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

Downtown Waynesville
The Downtown Waynesville Association manages 
revitalization activities and events within the municipal 
service district that serves Main Street and the historic 
downtown area.  The DWA was created in 1985 and 
qualified for the North Carolina Main Streets Program and 
established the municipal service district in 1986.   Their 
goal is preserving and sustaining the social, cultural, 
economic and historic role of the downtown as the 
center of the Waynesville community.  Every year the 
DWA organizes a variety of fun and inviting events 
in the downtown such as music and square dances, 
the Church Street Arts Festival and other festivals, the 
Christmas Parade, Trick or Treating on Main and other 
special events.  DWA also works with the Town on 
enhancing and maintaining a beautiful streetscape that 
include native species, art installations, and places for 
the public to sit and enjoy.

Waynesville’s walkable Main Street.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  123JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

Folkmoot
Folkmoot “is a nonprofit 501(c)3 organization that fosters the vibrancy of many cultures into 
one community.  Folkmoot programs are based on cultural exchange and designed to build 
global relationships, foster cultural understanding and develop community prosperity.”  It 
was founded by Waynesville surgeon Dr. Clinton Border, who saw an English folk festival while 
traveling, and thought such a festival would be perfect for Western North Carolina, which has 
its own rich history of dance.  Since in 1984, Folkmoot USA has brought folk dance from all over 
the world to Waynesville and Western North Carolina.  Folkmoot has brought dance groups 
from England, Germany, Holland, Ireland, Turkey, Mexico, Puerto Rico, Japan, the Netherlands, 
France, India, and others, over 200 countries since its beginnings.  

In 2002, the Folkmoot Friendship Center was established in the former Hazelwood Elementary 
School, contributing to the renovation and preservation of the historic school building and 
expanding Folkmoot’s programming.  This includes local art and dance classes, international 
dinners, performances and other activities.  Folkmoot continues its work to provide a popular 
festival that brings in visitors once a year, and has established itself as a local community cultural 
center throughout the year.  

Haywood Arts Council
Since 1977, the Haywood County Arts Council (HCAC) has 
supported the growth of the arts throughout the region, 
providing support for local creative artists and expanding 
opportunities for audiences, including pre-K through 
community college students.  The Arts Council maintains 
a gallery and exhibition space on Main Street and offers 
educational programs, performances, and events that 
support its mission to “promote artists, art education, and 
innovation in art.  The vision of the HCAC is a community 
involved in the arts.” HCAC has been the impetus for the 
creation of other arts organizations. The Smoky Mountain 
British Brass Band, Voices in the Laurel, and Haywood Crafts 
Associates and the Downtown Association all have roots in 
the Arts Council.  

HART Theatre and Historic Shelton House
Another “spin-off” organization from the Arts Council is the Haywood Regional Arts Theatre 
(HART) which was created in 1984.  HART is now a recognized and successful community theater 
with two performance spaces and a restaurant.  They host 
an annual season of plays, musicals, dinner-theater, and 
performing arts.
The HART Theater shares its location with the Historic Shelton 
House which is the home of the Museum of North Carolina 
Handicrafts.  Built in 1875, the Shelton House was owned by 
Stephen Shelton who was the Sheriff for Haywood County, 
fought in the Civil War and was active in the civic life of 
Waynesville.  The house was added to the National Register 
in 1979 as the first site in Haywood County listed in the NHRP.  
In 1977, the Museum of North Carolina Handicrafts was 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE124 DRAFT

EXISTING CONDITIONS6

established in the house by Mary Cornwell.  Today the house, barn and grounds continue to 
provide a collection of heritage crafts, agricultural exhibits, and connect today’s crafters and 
artisans to the public, as well as hosts the Haywood Farmer’s Market.    

Pigeon Community Multicultural Development Center
Nearby HART Theater and Shelton House, the Pigeon 
Community Multicultural Development Center is located in 
the former Pigeon Street School.  The school served African-
American elementary school students before desegregation 
in Haywood County in 1967 and is another historic property 
and structure being preserved and re-used by a local non-
profit for the benefit of the community.  The mission of the 
Pigeon Community Multicultural Development Center is “to 
strengthen harmony among the residents of our county and 
its communities.  To achieve this we help re-establish the long standing tradition of community 
as family. We foster intentional inclusiveness to create a holistic quality of life. As we serve we 
recognize and give glory to God.”
Today, the Center hosts after-school programs and a summer enrichment program for children, 
dinner for seniors, programs for veterans, and exercise and other classes for everyone.  The Board 
and Executive Director Lin Forney provided leadership in researching, documenting and sharing 
the history of African-Americans’ contributions to the history of Waynesville and its economy 
and development. 
These organizations support and contribute to a wealth of local artists, businesses and performers 
that are vital to making Waynesville the special community that it is.  



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  125JULY 2020

EXISTING CONDITIONS 6

Page Intentionally Left Blank



w7



w
APPENDIX
APPENDIX A: SURVEY 
ANALYSIS
APPENDIX B: TAPESTRY 
SEGMENTATION PROFILE
APPENDIX C: 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
ASSESSMENT
APPENDIX D: 
TRANSPORTATION  
EXISTING CONDITIONS 
ANALYSIS
APPENDIX E: MAPS
APPENDIX F: GLOSSARY



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE128 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

APPENDIX A: SURVEY ANALYSIS



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  129JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE130 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  131JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE132 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  133JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE134 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Community Strengths

In response to the open-ended question: what respondents value most about Waynesville, the 
response was as follows.  

“...49% noted that they most appreciated the “small town feel” of Waynesville. One 
respondent commented on “The small-town environment and the beauty of the 
location” as what was most liked. Others commented that town is a good mix of small 
town with amenities, such as one respondent that wrote that Waynesville had “small 
town charm” with “a lot of conveniences of a larger city.” Other respondents (22%) 
noted the geographic location as ideal, ... “views around every bend.” Others (15%) 
also stressed the importance of the downtown area -- “vibrant downtown, shopping 
areas and it’s a smart growth community.”

Community Concerns 

“Respondents were asked to select what they believe to be the most pressing issue 
facing Waynesville. With three choices from a list of 11 potential issues, the issue most 
often selected by respondents (38%) was jobs and economic growth. Other selections 
included growth management and controlling urban sprawl (34%), affordable and 
workforce housing (30%), redevelop distressed commercial and residential properties 
(30%), protection of agricultural lands and open spaces (29%), and addressing the 
addiction crisis (28%).” 

The survey also included one open-ended question which allowed respondents to address 
concerns and provide additional comments for Town staff and the project team.  Out of 216 
responses, 70 included a comment that stated a need for urban standards and to limit urban 
sprawl.

Community Preferences

The visioning workshop and online survey both contained visual preference exercises related 
to design, aesthetics, recreation, housing, density, and more. When asked the preferred type 
of affordable, workforce housing,  or low-to-moderate income housing, attendees primarily 
selected two-story detached single-unit dwellings as their preferred style with two-story 
attached single-unit dwellings as the next preferred style of residential development. Denser, 
multi-family apartment complexes received almost no votes as the preferred style of low-
moderate income housing. 

On the survey, over 68 percent of respondents 
selected small, single family homes as their preferred 
affordable or workforce housing type. Quite a distance 
behind were townhomes (14.92%), workforce housing 
duplexes/quadplexes (10.5%), apartments (4.14%), and 
manufactured homes (2.21%).

Very low density residential was the most preferred density/
neighborhood development type, with over 54 percent 
of respondents making that selection.  Following closely 
behind was medium density residential (32.33%).  A 
traditional, town grid-type development was selected the 

PREFERRED AFFORDABLE/
WORKFORCE HOUSING 68.23%



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  135JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

least frequently (13.42%).

For town center/infill housing, attendees overwhelmingly preferred small, craftsman-style 
bungalow visuals over single-family dwellings more suburban in appearance or dwellings with 

less square footage. Single-story garden apartments received the second highest number of 
votes based on visual preference for town center/infill housing. 

When asked about goals for housing, respondents selected “Provide different housing types 
including traditional single family, multi-family, nontraditional units that include rental and for 
sale units” as a preferred recommendation over “Provide affordable housing options” and 
“Provide housing options for aging in place.”

A disconnect seemed to exist among Workshop attendees regarding how to define low-
to-moderate income housing and the implications for creating more affordable housing 
stock in Waynesville. Additionally, many attendees seemed concerned about the possible 
construction of public housing and/or Section 8 dwellings and not only confused the two but 
also perpetuated misconceptions about how such programs operate. The community profile 
of Waynesville and Haywood County housing appears in Chapter 3, where there also is a 
explanation of the differences in housing classification. 

With regard to open space conservation, streams/rivers was the type of open space 
respondents chose most frequently to protect from 
development. That was closely followed by ridgelines 
(26.8%), woodlands (19.06%), farmland (11.05%), 
undeveloped land at the edges of town (7.46%), and 
orchards (2.49%).

OPEN SPACE TO 
PROTECT

PREFERRED INFILL DEVELOPMENT TYPES



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE136 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

The Small Town Simplicity group makes up 44.3% of Waynesville’s population. They are both 
young families and senior householders that have community ties. They live a down to earth 
and semi-rural lifestyle, with television for entertainment and news. Emphasis is on convenience 
for both young parents and senior citizens. Common hobbies are those such as online 
computer games, renting movies, indoor gardening, and/or hunting and fishing. Finances are 
kept simple and debt is avoided—1 in 4 households is below poverty level. 

KEY TRAITS: 
Median age: 40.8 ~ Median household income: $31,500 ~ Average 
household size: 2.26 ~ 67% have high school diploma or some 
college ~ labor force participation rate lower at 52%  

THE NEIGHBORHOOD:
	» Small towns or semi-rural neighborhoods mostly outside of 
metropolitan areas.  

	» Homes are a mix of older single-family houses, apartments, 
and mobile homes. Half of all homes are owner-occupied. 

	» Median home value is around $92,300, about half the US 
median 

	» Half of householders are aged 55 years or older and 
households are predominantly single-person.

APPENDIX B: TAPESTRY SEGMENTATION PROFILE 
Below are descriptions of the most popular geodemographic groups in Waynesville. “Tapestry 
is a geodemographic segmentation system that integrates consumer traits with residential 
characteristics to identify markets and classify US neighborhoods. Neighborhoods with the 
most similar characteristics are grouped together, while neighborhoods with divergent 
characteristics are separated. Internally homogeneous, externally heterogeneous market 
segments depict consumers’ lifestyles and life stages. Tapestry Segmentation combines the 
“who” of lifestyle demography with the “where” of local geography to create a classification 
model with 67 distinct, behavioral market segments.”

Source: https://doc.arcgis.com/en/esri-demographics/data/tapestry-segmentation.htm

SMALL TOWN SIMPLICITY

44.3%
Of Population in 

Waynesville



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  137JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

This group makes up 18.2% of the population in Waynesville. Many residents live in many of the 
heavily forested regions of the country, this group is heavily concentrated in the Appalachian 
mountain range as well as in Texas and Arkansas. Nearly 9 of 10 residents are non-Hispanic 
white. This group enjoys time spent outdoors, hunting, fishing, or working the garden. Family 
time is also important: time watching TV with a spouse or with pets is spent. These communities 
are heavily influenced by religious faith, traditional gender roles, and family history. They like to 
buy American made products. 

KEY TRAITS: 
Median age: 45.2 ~ Median household income: $42,300 ~ Average 
household size: 2.48 ~ Do-it-yourself mentality ~ Thrifty shoppers 
than use coupons frequently and buy generic goods ~ Far-right 
political values on religion and marriage

THE NEIGHBORHOOD:
	» 80% of homes are owner-occupied and are primarily single 
family.

	» Market is dominated by married couples, few with children

	» A high proportion of the housing stock is for seasonal use

	» Homes values are 

ROOTED RURAL

18.2%
Of Population in 

Waynesville

Rural Resort Dwellers make up 14.2% of the Waynesville population. They are a small market 
that survived through the Great Recession. Many are located in areas where the change in 
seasons supports a variety of outdoor activities. Many workers in this group are postponing 
retirement or returning to work to maintain their current lifestyles. They have simple tastes but 
are very passionate about their hobbies. 

KEY TRAITS: 
Median age: 54.1 ~ Average household size: 2.22 ~ close to 
retirement 

THE NEIGHBORHOOD:
	» Housing is owner-occupied, single family homes, with some 
mobile homes

	» Strong market for second homes; over half of the housing units 
are vacant due to a high seasonal vacancy rate. 

	» 42% of households consist of married couples with no children, 
28% of households are single person

RURAL RESORT DWELLERS

14.2%
Of Population in 

Waynesville



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE138 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

The Old and Newcomers group make up about 12.9% of the population in Waynesville. The 
focus of this group is more on convenience than consumerism. Composed of neighborhoods 
in transition, populated by renters who are just beginning their careers or retiring. Folks in this 
group are still in college or taking adult education classes. They support charity causes and 
are environmentally conscious. 

KEY TRAITS: 
Median Age: 39.4 ~ Average household size: 2.12 ~ 31% have a 
college degree ~ Lower unemployment rate at 5.1% ~ Median 
household income: $44,900 ~ Labor force participation rate of 
62.6%

THE NEIGHBORHOOD:
	» Metropolitan city dwellers

	» Predominantly single households with a mix of married 
couples with no children

	» 55% of homes are renter-occupied

	» 45% of housing units are single-family, 45% are multi-unit 
buildings in older neighborhoods, built before 1980.

OLD AND NEWCOMERS

12.9%
Of Population in 

Waynesville

Midlife Constants are about 5% of the population in Waynesville. This group is seniors, at or 
approaching retirement, with below average labor force participation and above average 
net worth. Located predominantly in metropolitan areas, but also live outside the central cities 
in smaller communities. Their lifestyle is more country than urban. 

KEY TRAITS: 
Median Age: 47 ~ Average household size: 2.31 ~ Median 
household income: $53,200 ~ unemployment lower at 4.7% ~ 
prefer to buy American and natural products ~ 63% have a high 
school diploma or some college

THE NEIGHBORHOOD:
	» Older homes (most built before 1980) found in the suburban 
periphery of smaller metropolitan markets.

	» Primarily married couples, but a growing share of singles.

	» Settled neighborhoods. Residents have lived in the same 
house for years. 

	» Single-family homes, less than half still mortgaged.

	» Median home value of $154,100

MIDLIFE CONSTANTS

5%
Of Population in 

Waynesville



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  139JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

NCDOT is developing a number of new roundabouts along Waynesville’s 
Main Street, working with the community to develop the most appropri-
ate design alternative for each site. These can serve as attractive and 
efficient gateways.

APPENDIX C: TRANPORTATION PLAN ASSESSMENT
In order to maintain the quality of life for which Waynesville is recognized while supporting 
future growth, the Town must plan for future transportation needs.

The railroad helped connect Waynesville to the rest of the region in the early 1900s and 
created opportunities for agriculture, forestry and tourism. The downtown area, and the 
Frog Level commercial area, became the center of transportation for the town. As the 
automotive industry took hold and North Carolina’s roadway network expanded, the railroad 
declined in importance, and development began to expand to new corridors and more 
distant residential tracts. By 1950, passenger train service to Waynesville was discontinued. 
Today, Waynesville’s proximity to Interstate 40 and the Great Smoky Mountains Expressway 
(Hwy 23/74) is more important than its connection to the railroad, with easy links to Asheville, 
Knoxville, and Atlanta; making it a very convenient location for regional travel.

The Town works with NCDOT to plan improvements on major thoroughfares so that projects 
met the needs of the community overall.   The Town conducted corridor studies for North 
Main, South Main and Russ Avenue which informed the NCDOT designs.  The studies promote 
connectivity, support active modes of transportation and encourage streetscape that is 
aesthetically pleasing.  Subsequent meetings facilitated by the Town on the Russ Avenue 
project have resulted in changes to NCDOT designs that decreased the proposed footprint 
of roadway improvements 
through the Spreadout 
Historic District (along Walnut 
Stret) and to extend sidewalk 
north of the Expressway.  
Similar efforts for North and 
South Main Street have 
produced new gateway 
elements, roundabouts and 
medians and improved 
sidewalk connectivity and 
landscaping. 

Similar efforts to design 
streetscapes for South and 
North Main Street have 
produced new gateway 
elements (e.g. roundabouts, 
medians) and improved 
pedestrian connectivity and 
accessibility. 

Meanwhile, the Town is 
determined to turn existing 
greenway plans into reality, 
extending the greenway 
on a parallel track along 
Richland Creek to create 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE140 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

New sections of the expanding Richland Creek Greenway are de-
signed for both functional transportation and recreation uses. They 
highlight the scenic appeal of the creek and its tributaries, while con-
necting to parks, neighborhoods, and the town’s sidewalk system. 

a backbone for a bicycle and 
pedestrian network.  As property 
and funding become available, 
the Town is constructing trail 
segments in a concerted effort to 
develop this multimodal corridor.  
The Town is also active on a 
regional level, participating in the 
Haywood County Greenways 
Council and supporting regional 
trail connections with Buncombe 
County and other localities.  
Regional trail initiatives of Land-
of-Sky Regional Council and 
the Southwestern Commission 
present on-going opportunities to 
connect Waynesville with other 
communities, to the benefit of 
residents, businesses, and visitors.

The Town completed an ADA Self-Assessment & Transition Plan, whereby all municipal 
buildings were analyzed by a third party to see if any changes were necessary to improve 
accessibility for all users, especially those with disabilities. These efforts continue making sure 
that Waynesville is a Town that everyone can enjoy. A complete sidewalk network allows for 
effective movement throughout the Town, but is ultimately only functional if people can safely 
access their destinations.

Haywood County has developed a wayfinding sign system with variations on a consistent 
theme for each Town in the County. 
The Town of Waynesville has endorsed 
the design and is looking forward to 
improved motorist and pedestrian 
directional orientation that comes from 
a distinct and effective wayfinding 
sign system. Wayfinding signs also give 
districts and destinations a much-
needed boost, and help the public find 
parking, improve traffic flow, and ease 
the transition between car, pedestrian, 
and transit use.

To implement the greenway feasibility 
study, the Town is planning trail 
alignments strategically, identifying 
path orientation in cooperation with 
landowners, available rights-of-way or 
unopened rights-of way, and where the 
trail can connect with neighborhoods, 
commercial centers, schools and parks.  

Wayfinding signs can reinforce an area’s defining history and 
culture. These signs will feature different animal motifs for 
each community, with an elk for Maggie Valley, a cardinal for 
Clyde, a bear for Canton, and a plott hound for Waynesville.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  141JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

The plan should spur economic investments throughout Waynesville, providing residents, 
developers, and entrepreneurs with opportunities to leverage this connectivity for economic 
opportunity.  In addition, trail development will create areas for streambank restoration and 
public access to Richland Creek and its tributaries as part of watershed management.

The success of Waynesville’s greenway system may influence support for additional trail 
connections and further investment in other projects like the Pigeon River Greenway, the 
Lake Junaluska trail, and even a regional trail system that could connect multiple counties.  
This will take continued initiative, championing, financing, commitment and partnership so 
that greenways continue to be 
considered in overall transportation 
planning.  

Waynesville is well-positioned 
to further develop its active 
transportation environment.  A 
robust sidewalk network and 
local support for bicycling can 
translate to improvements in 
connectivity and accessibility.  
Bike lanes, sidewalks and trail 
connections are part of the Russ 
Avenue, North Main and South 
Main roadway improvements, and 
sidewalk infrastructure is being 
expanded in accordance with 
the 2010 Pedestrian Plan through 
both Town Powell Bill investments 
and NCDOT programming.  The 
2013 Comprehensive Haywood 
County Bicycle Plan lays out 
recommendations for on-street 
and off-street bicycle infrastructure 
improvements.  

The town may see increase interest 
in transit and in emerging trends.  
Haywood Transit, a program of 
Mountain Projects, Inc. is working 
with the French Broad River MPO to 
implement fixed-route service that will provide scheduled mobility around Waynesville and 
Canton with connections to Buncombe County and Asheville. Reliable service to employment 
centers and neighboring towns can improve residents’ economic prospects and help relieve 
roadway congestion at peak hours.  Electronic scooter companies that allow users to rent 
scooters in urban areas are seeking new markets as trail, sidewalk and bicycle infrastructure 
is developed in urbanizing areas.  Such new modes of travel will require consideration in 
regulation, design, and parking as they emerge.  However, they can also alleviate parking 
demand and serve a wide range of citizens and visitors.   

Waynesville is situated at the western terminus of the long-term 
regional vision for trail connectivity in WNC known as the Hellbender 
Regional Trail Network. Linking the Town’s greenways to a broader 
system will enable bicycle commuting, recreational tourism and “trail 
town” economic development, and new races and events.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE142 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Transportation in Waynesville twenty 
years from now might look different than 
it does today. The NCDOT widening of 
the Smoky Mountain Expressway, sections 
of I-40, and Jonathan Creek Road will 
enable more efficient freight movement 
around Waynesville and keep commuter 
traffic moving. Meanwhile, automated 
vehicles (AVs) could offer improvements 
to efficiency and safety, and enhance 
regional transportation networks. As 
NCDOT projects on South Main and Russ 
Avenue are completed, Waynesville’s 
roadways and intersections will be much 
safer for all users, which is the ultimate 
goal. New roundabouts limit conflict points, 
center medians require safer turning 

movements, and pedestrians will 
have shorter crossings and sidewalks 
that meet state standards and ADA 
requirements. 

As the Town invests in new 
transportation projects, safety and 
accessibility are primary objectives, 
enabling safe connections to schools, 
parks, and all that the community has 
to offer. Multimodal accommodations 
and connections should always be 
considered in design, recognizing that 
diversified transportation options give 
people choice in their movement and 
benefit the entire community.

Roadway corridors are also gateways 
into Waynesville’s commercial and 
residential areas. The Town desires to 
integrate landscaping, wayfinding 
signage, and other treatments 
to create entry features. The Arts 
Commission would like to identify 
opportunities for public art installations 
within transportation corridors and at 
gateways into Town. 

Many  of Waynesville streets are two lanes, with a sidewalk along 
one side. The Town should make sure that drivers are adhering 
to the 20mph speed limits to maintain these streets’ safety and 
functionality.

pedestrians

bicyclists

public transit

private vehicles

freight



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  143JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

2035 French Broad River MPO Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) 
The 2035 French Broad River MPO Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) in effect for Haywood 
County includes a significant element related to pedestrian and bicycle transportation, 
including several references to policy initiatives at the state and federal level. Chapter 
3 focuses on pedestrian and bicycle usage and crash statistics throughout Buncombe, 
Haywood, and Henderson Counties and references to various funding programs. 

Tier II projects (2016-2025) include: 

	» $1 million for region-wide projects including signs, shared lane markings, and bicycle lane 
striping.

	» $7 million for region-wide bicycle 
and pedestrian elements of 
highway projects.

	» $1.8 million for region-wide 
infrastructure improvements to 
provide bicycle and pedestrian 
access to transit.

	» Tier III projects (2026-2035) include:

	» $10 million for implementation 
of municipal/county bicycle, 
pedestrian, and greenway plans.

	» $6.5 million for repaving and 
widening of rural roads to 
accommodate bicyclists and 
pedestrians.

	» $1 million for bicycle signage, 
sharrows, and bike lanes.

Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan 
(2010)
The Waynesville Comprehensive 
Pedestrian Plan focuses on providing 
convenient, safe pedestrian access while 
linking neighborhoods to destinations 
and promoting a sustainable and vibrant 
lifestyle.

Key recommendations from the Plan 
include:

•	 Support Safe Routes to School (SRTS) 
efforts to educate and expand 
infrastructure.

Source: 2010 Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan

The 2010 Comprehensive Pedestrian Plan 
recognized the value of greenways and 
recommends that the Town of Waynesville actively 
acquire ownership interest in properties within 
floodways along corridors planned for greenway 
expansion.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE144 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

•	 Extend Richland Creek Greenway and consider expansion along Raccoon Creek. 

•	 Develop and implement a plan to remove sidewalk obstructions, improve sidewalk 
maintenance, add missing sidewalk links, and provide end-of-trip amenities at major 
destinations that incorporates public art.

•	 Adopt regulations that require developments to incorporate sidewalks along pedestrian 
corridors and require dedication of right-of-way as needed. 

•	 Require sidewalk construction on both sides of thoroughfares and arterials and one side of 
local residential streets as well as require sidewalk and/or greenway connections between 
adjacent businesses.

•	 Improve safety and aesthetics to create a more pedestrian-friendly environment through 
improved signaling and markings, design improvements, wayfinding, and development of 
urban design standards.

•	 Invest in more distinguished wayfinding signage along the greenway and surrounding 
roads to inform residents and visitors of access points and general information.

Bike in Beds: How to Maximize Bicycle Tourism in Haywood County and 
WNC (2015)
In 2015, the Haywood County Tourism Development Authority (TDA) and Southwestern 
Commission developed Bikes in Beds: How to Maximize Bicycle Tourism in Haywood County 
and WNC, in an effort to capitalize on the rapidly changing and growing bicycle tourism 
industry. The report states that “While there are no greenways in Western North Carolina that 
have the same draw as the Virginia Creeper Trail in Virginia or Swamp Rabbit Trail in South 
Carolina, there is some potential to attract low stress riders. Each community should work 
toward developing facilities and strategies to attract all types while capitalizing on their unique 
attributes for specific bicyclists.” 

The report lists the economic benefits of bicycle tourism and lists several recommendations: 

	» A greenway connecting Waynesville to Canton, which it estimates could attract 
thousands of visitors to Haywood County each year and generate up to $1 million in 
annual tourism expenditures, serving as a regional attraction for visitors. Families and 
other groups looking for low-stress cycling excursions without vehicle traffic would enjoy 
the trail. The cost of constructing the proposed Haywood County greenway is estimated 
at $9 million, but could result in increased property values.

	» Mountain bike trails. The mountainous terrain and large amount of public land in 
Haywood County provide potential for the development of additional high quality trails 
that can attract visiting mountain bikers. There is a large network of Forest Service roads 
in the region that could be promoted to attract the growing number of cyclists looking 
for gravel road rides and gravel grinder events.

	» A Scenic Bikeways program to fuse recreation, transportation, and the economic 
benefits of bicycle tourism. 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  145JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

80% of survey 
respondents 
in Haywood 
County support 
greenways that 
connect parks to 
schools.

The Haywood County Bike Plan recommended im-
provements to the primary corridors through Waynes-
ville. NCDOT is planning for bike lanes along Russ 
Avenue, which should address some of these concerns, 
as well as some concerns about intersection safety.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE146 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

MountainElements: A MountainWise Health Impact Assessment for Western 
North Carolina

This 2015 eight-county health impact assessment (HIA) is designed to help the region 
share success stories and evaluate proposed planning and policy actions around the built 
environment, with recommendations based on the region’s context and heritage. The goal 
of the project is to merge planning with health , focusing on economic growth, job creation, 
mobility, access to nature, creating healthy conditions for citizens of all ages and abilities, 
and making sure future generations have a place to grow and prosper. 

One of the HIA’s seven major themes is that “active transportation can improve physical 
activity rates . . . [and] making walking, bicycling, and 
transit use accessible increases physical activity and 
participation.”

Priority recommendations include:

	» Linking recreational opportunities to communities 
via active transportation networks - connecting 
parks, rivers, and greenways. 

	» Ensuring new development constructs adequate 
active transportation infrastructure.

The Haywood County Parks & Recreation Master Plan highlights several possible locations for future greenways, 
including Allen Creek, Richland Creek, Raccoon Creek, and SR 209 in Waynesville.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  147JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

	» Collecting baseline count information for pedestrians and bicyclists around key areas for 
future comparison.

	» Secondary recommendations include:
	» Educating children about active transportation benefits and laws.
	» Ensure NCDOT follows ADA and AASHTO guidelines with all roadway projects.

GroWNC 
This plan highlights the goal of increasing transportation choices and providing for non-
motorized transportation as a means to accelerating the economic potential of the region.

	» Support watershed protection efforts that preserve the integrity of the region’s critical 
watersheds (i.e. sustain and enhance water 
quality) by establishing, restoring, and 
promoting streamside protection areas. 

	» Direct growth to areas where transportation 
infrastructure exists, preserving key 
ecological corridors that could 
accommodate greenways, which serve as recreational and transportation corridors.

	» Identify areas throughout the region for targeted infrastructure investments.

	» Ensure the region remains a premier destination for recreation and tourism.

	» Coordinate with NCDOT and FBRMPO to improve pre-NEPA environmental screening of 
transportation projects.

GroWNC states that “bicyclists can coexist with other modes on the road, and additional 
facilities are not always necessary or appropriate. However, adding facilities can improve 
safety and increase bicycle use throughout the region,” and that “the presence of sidewalks is 
less likely in areas further from downtowns, and rural areas often lack any pedestrian facilities. 
Even in areas with pedestrian infrastructure, gaps in the network, connectivity and access 
issues, substandard design, and poor maintenance is often a problem.”

Key transportation recommendations include:

	» Improve pedestrian and bicycle connectivity between neighborhoods and community 
destinations. This was the second-most important outcome of GroWNC overall, an 
“ingredient critical to achieving a number of other desired outcomes, including many 
not directly associated with transportation.”

	» Use the MPO/RPO process to advance pedestrian and bike priorities and increase 
funding levels for pedestrian and bike projects in the TIP. 

The continued push toward improving infrastructure for active transportation, 
like walking trails and bike lanes, will incentivize biking and walking, thereby 
increasing physical activity rates and the associated health benefits.- Mountain 
Elements Health Impact Assessment (2015)



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE148 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

	» Expand pedestrian and bicycle data collection. Assess current gaps, barriers, safety 
hazards, and usage.

	» Retrofit existing neighborhoods and commercial centers to include safe pedestrian 
facilities. Include these facilities in new developments as well.

	» Preserve and improve existing pedestrian and bicycle facilities to create safe routes to 
transit centers, bus stops, schools, and other key community destinations. Identify and 
eliminate gaps, barriers, and safety hazards.

	» Enhance coordination of ongoing greenway planning and implementation. 
	» Improve communications between NCDOT and local communities on greenway and 
bicycle plans as well as planned road improvements.

	» Identify local funding sources to support bicycle and pedestrian needs.
	» Work with NCDOT on better pedestrian/bicycle integration through implementation of 
state and local complete street policies.

	» Increase the amount of secure bicycle parking in commercial centers.
	» Include a public health component in local comprehensive, land use, and transportation 
plans.

Opt-In Regional Vision 
The Southwestern Commission, in partnership with the Appalachian Regional Commission and 
the NCDOT, produced a regional vision for seven WNC counties. Opt-In was predicated on 
evaluating the regional utility of a major highway corridor and calls for the development of 
compact downtowns with a variety of transportation choices including biking and walking. 

The Opt-In Vision states that “existing roads should be made more pedestrian friendly through 
the addition of sidewalks, bicycle lanes, crosswalks, good lighting, and other amenities. Traffic 
calming, tree planting, and landscaping initiatives can also create a safer and more pleasant 
experience for pedestrians and bicyclists. On-street parking, reduced building setbacks, and 
sidewalk shops can also improve the pedestrian experience.”

For the region, there exists a strong consensus that it is important to increase walking, biking, 
and public transportation choices within existing towns. This is seen not only as a quality-of-life 
issue but also as a way to increase the towns’ vitality and their ability to attract younger talent 
to the region, thus linking transportation with land use and economic priorities. 

The Opt-In Vision also supports incorporating NCDOT Complete Streets Design Guidelines in 
town transportation plans, ensuring streets enable convenient, comfortable, and safe travel 
and access by those walking, bicycling, driving automobiles, riding public transportation, or 
delivering goods.

Ongoing implementation of trails and greenways “should be a priority to position the region as 
a leader in recreation and wellness.” Towns should prioritize pedestrian and bikeway projects 
for funding through the French Broad River MPO.

Blue Ridge Bike Plan (2013)
This plan was developed by the Land of Sky Regional Council for a seven-county region and 
the municipalities within them.  This planning effort was developed to address safety, connect 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  149JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

destinations,  address dangerous roads and intersections, and develop recommendations 
communities can use to improve conditions.

Relevant recommendations included:

	» Develop a 12-mile on-road route that runs through downtown Waynesville and connects 
the Blue Ridge Parkway to Lake Junaluska

	» Form bike advocacy groups in each county

	» Support bicycle parking through ordinance requirements

	» Organize Bike-to-Work events

	» Develop and implement local greenway plans

Blue Ridge Bike Plan
County Priority Corridor 3
Haywood County, NC

The Blue Ridge Bike Plan identified this corridor as a priority for bicycle improvements, 
suggesting that a main arterial with adequate bicycle facilities could function to connect 
residents and the region to their destinations, and catalyze overall functionality of the system.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE150 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Greenway Feasibility Study (2017)
The goal of the Feasibility Study was to better understand 
the opportunities and constraints within the study area to 
determine the most feasible and preferred alignment.  The 
study area includes Richland Creek, Frog Level Historic 
District, Waynesville Middle School, and Hazelwood Park 
and is approximately 3.25 linear miles.

A preferred route was chosen based on project goals, 
existing conditions, opportunities and constraints and 
parcel analysis ranking of the study area and divided into 7 
sections to display.

Systemwide Parks Master Plan 2017-2026 (2017)
In 2007, Haywood County developed a Comprehensive 
System-Wide Parks and Recreation Plan. The plan 
provided a number of recommendations for Town park 
improvements. Many changes have occurred in the 
area since the completion of the 2007 Plan. While some 
of the recommendations of the 2007 Plan have been 
accomplished there are ongoing parks and recreation 
facility needs.

Recommendations:

	» Need to expand all types of parks, acquire land and 
develop specific master plans.

	» Encourage private developers to construct small 
amenity areas when building single family residential 
developments.

	» Utilize recommendations from the Town’s Pedestrian 
Plan.

	» Develop greenways in conjunction with other park 
and recreation providers in the area.

	» Develop and implement a bike plan.

	» benefits of bicycle tourism. 

The Town should encourage the State to include bike lanes whenever road-
way improvements are made or new roads constructed.

- Waynesville Systemwide Park Master Plan (2017)



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  151JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Roadways Overview
Many of Waynesville’s roads are in good condition and the Town is appropriately connected 
via a system of state- and Town-maintained streets that navigate the mountainous terrain.  
Most streets branch out from the primary corridors of US Route 276 and US Route 23 Business, 
whose crossings form the heart of Waynesville. The Town has some congestion during peak 
rush hours, but the current system functions well. With recent changes to Howell Mill Road and 
Asheville Road, NCDOT has demonstrated a commitment to improving these key accessways. 
NCDOT has also designed roadway improvements for several more streets in Waynesville, 
including Russ Avenue and South Main Street.

Russ Avenue is a five lane undivided roadway with a continuous two-way left turn lane. It is 
well-used during business hours, but patterned with multiple driveways, which has a dramatic 
effect on traffic operations due to the absence of any access control. These driveways serve 
to increase congestion, lower level of service, and decrease safety.  

The improvements slated for Russ Avenue mostly entail access management and new bicycle 
lanes. The new configuration will be a 4-lane, curb and gutter roadway with turn lanes at 
key intersections, and a landscaped median along the majority of the road. All new NCDOT 
construction will incorporate accessible curb ramps and minimum sidewalk widths. The new 
bike lanes are not buffered or protected, however, which will limit people’s perception of 
safety and discourage most riders from using the facility. 

2018-2027 NCDOT State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP). 
The North Carolina Department of Transportation’s STIP is NCDOT’s data-driven, multi-year 
schedule for its transportation projects. A community’s project(s) may be included in the 
STIP after the community scores projects against NCDOT goals. Projects in the STIP include 
highway, bridge, public transit, bike, pedestrian, railroad, and other improvements. 

The NCDOT projects for Haywood County mostly include bridge replacements, I-40 
maintenance, and a few roadway improvements in Waynesville. Russ Avenue and South Main 
Street, for instance, will see major construction in 2022 and beyond, while Brown Avenue will 
see a road diet and school safety improvements. Several new roundabouts are planned for 
both North and South Main Street, and Hazelwood will see pedestrian safety improvements 
near the elementary school. 

The most effective investments for Waynesville’s transportation system are those that link 
residential areas and employment centers to other attractions, such as schools, parks, 
cultural and historic sites, downtown, and greenways. These planned STIP projects will affect 
Waynesville’s roadway capacity for a long time.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE152 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Pigeon

Half Top

Hazelwood

Hard Ridge

Pinnacle Knob

Lake Junaluska

Little Mountain

Eaglenest Mountain

Downtown Waynesville

Pisgah National Forest

Walmart

Hazelwood

Frog Level

Waynesville Plaza

Green Hill Cemetery

Downtown Waynesville

Mountain View Creek Park

Mountain Research Station

Haywood County Courthouse

Laurel Ridge Country Club

Garrett Hillcrest Cemetery

Lake Junaluska Golf Course

Haywood County Public Library

Pigeon Community Development Center

The Waynesville Inn Golf Resort and Spa

SOCO RD

R
A

C
C

O
O

N
R

D

E
X

IT
 9

8

A
S

G
I 
T
R

ASHEV

IL
L
E

R
D

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY

LO

V
E

L
N

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

JU
LI

A
 L

N

WALL ST

GADDIS BRANCH
RD

EXIT 103

RO
CKY KNOB RD

DELLWOOD RD

TEST
FARM

RD

T A
W

O
D

I
T

R

US 1
9-2

3-7
4 E

XPW
Y E

HOWELL MIL
L

R

D

S M
AIN

 S
T

HALL TOP RD

V
A

N
C

E
 S

T

HARRIETTS TR

HIG
H RIDGE RD

US 19-23-74 EXPWY W

H
E

A
D

R
D

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
D

R

J
O

N
A

T
H

A
N

C
R

E
E
K

R
D

W
A

L
E

L
A

T
R

PLO
TT

CREEK RD

SKYLINE DR

P
R

ESIDEN TIAL DR

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

D
R

T
A

N
N

E
R

T
R

H
U

G
H

M
A

S
S

IE
R

D

KILLIAN ST

KNOLLW
OOD D

R

S
LA

K
E
S
H

ORE DR

HICKORY HILL RD

RU
S

T
IC

R
D

H
A

L
L
 D

R

JO

Y
L
N

T
A

R
H

E
E

L
 D

R

FARLEY ST

LIC
K
S
T
O

N
E

R
D

C
O

U
N

T
Y
 R

D

WOLFPEN RD

P

HIL
LI

P

S
R

D

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E

R
D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

TILL
M

A
N

R
D

ST
AN

DR
EW

S RD

B
R
O

W
N
 A

V

SUNNYSIDE RD

EAGLES NEST
RD

D
A

IS
E

Y
A

V

PIGEON ST

PARRISH FARM RD

CRUM
D

R

W
O

O
D

Y
L
N

O
X

N
E

R
C

O
V

E
R

D

D
O

G

WOOD TR

L
O

C
U

S
T

 D
R

S
LE

E
P
Y

H
O

LLO
W

D
R

HAPPY ACRE

S
R

D

O

LD
B
A

L
S

A
M

R
D

G
E

N
T

IA
N

W
A

Y

HICKORY DR

B
A

N
K

E
R

D
R

APPLE CREEK
RD

S
A

W
Y

E
R

S
T

GRIMBA

L
L

D
R

AC
C

E
S

S
R

D

B
A

L
S

A
M

D
R

SIM
S

C

IR

HIGHLAND RD

AW

O
H

A

LI TR

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
D R

T
W

IS
T
E

D
T
R

EX
IT

 1
00

FOURTH S T

O
R

A
C

IR

WALNUT
COVE RD

C
ALHOUN

RD

C
A

M
P

B
R

A
N

C
H

R
D

H
U

G
H

E
S

R
D

M
E

S

SER
RD

M
IL

L
S

T

RIDG
E RD

PIGEON RD

B
R

O
W

N
IN

G
R

D

B
R

Y
S

O
N

S
T

LITTLE MOUNTAIN RD

PINEY MOUN TAIN R D

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

C
A
R

D
IN

A
L LN

L
O

N

GVI E W DR

APRIL

P
K

F ULLER DR

R
OGERS

C
O

V
E

R
D

F
A

IR
WAY DR

TA
NN

EH
ILL L N

L
O

G
C

A
B

IN
R

D

SWEETH ART PL

P
L
O

T
T

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
R
D

CL EMSO
N

R
D

W
IL

D

C
A

T
M

TN
RD

S
P

Y

R

O
C

K
R
D

BRIDGET DR

QUEE N COVE
R
D

LAU R EL
R
ID

G
E

DR

HILLTOP DR

E
A
S

T
S

T

FRANCIS FAR M RD

R

A

Y

S
T

H
E

A
T

H
D

R

SHIN
ERS

TR

MOODY FARM RD

R
O

Y
A

L
C

R
E

S
T

H
T

S

WILEY FRANKLIN
RD

VISTA
R
D

CRYMES COVE RD

E
XIT

102A

A
F
T

O
N

P

L

K
U

D
Z

U
L

O
O

P

HENRY DIN

G
U

S
W

A
Y

HO
SPITAL DR

LO
RR

AIN
E DR

RAMBLIN
G RID

G

E
R
D

HERBERT TR

A
B

E
L
 L

N

GREENVIEW DR

PINEW
O

O
D

D
R

Q
U

IN
LA

N
D
R

H
ID

D
E

N

RD G

LITTLE COVE RD

C ARDINAL DR

ANG LERS RD G

D
A
N

IE

L
LN

MICADALE LN

STEPPING ST
O

N
E

L
N

LEGIO
N D

R

IVY HILL D R

LEA PLA NT RD

SCENIC
C

IR

MAPLE ST

D
A

L
E

D
R

P
IT

T
S

 S
T

PAR AG
ON

PKWY

WA YNEVIE
W

D
R

S
K

Y
LA

N
D

R
D

MAUNEY COVE
R

D

FL OYD RD

N
 H

IL
L
 S

T

L
IT

T
L
E

 L
N

H
E

G
GIE LN

E
C

H
O

D
R

SH A
D

O

WOOD
LN

S
A

U
N

O
O

K
R

D

N MAIN ST

CHILDREN ST

AL

P
IN

E
LN

RATCLIFF CO
V
E

R
D

NE

Y

LAND PL

WILL HY
A

T
T

R
D

C
O

O
L

A
U

G
U

S
T

H
T

S

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
H

A
V

E
N

R
D

CAMP SCHA UB
RD

A
L

L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

OLD CLYDE RD

MILLER ST

KILGORE RD

E
A

G
L
E

FO
R

K
DR

F O

X
R

U

N
R
D

T ORDA TRC

G
R

E
E

N
V

A
L

L
E

Y
R

D

F R
E
E
M

AN
R

D

LIN
E

R
C
O

V
E RD

LINCOLN WAY

K
E

R
O

U
A

C
D

R

CHE
S
T NUT WAL K DR

TIM
O

THY L
N

R
E

D
OAK LN

M
A

R
R

E
T
T
A

L
N

B
LA

N
T

O
N

D
R

S

H
IL

L
S

T

HOW

E
LL

S
T

S P

IR
IT

M
T

N
T

R

M

U
SE

ST

J
U

S

TIC
E TR

BR OWNING BRANC H RD

K
A
N

U
S

A
T

I
T
R

JU
L
IA

D
R

BARBER B
LVD

VIO
LE

T

R

D
G

PARK
DR

B
E
TH

ESD

A
LN

INGLE W
O

OD
CV

TS ALA G I TR

JULE NOLAND
D

R

R
A

Y
M

O
N

D

D
R

S
U

L
P
H

U
R

 S
P
R

IN
G

S
 R

D

TRIALS GAP DR

B
O

YSEN
BERRY

LN

B

L
A

Z
IN

G
T

R

S
TE

E

P
T
R

JUDY LN

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

 C
IR

SPRINGBROOK FA
R

M
R

D

FARMVIE
W D

R

L
A

K
E
V
IE

W
DR

H

U
N

T
E

S
T

A
T
E

S
D

R

K
A

T
R

IN
A

W
A

Y

TUSC
O

LA
SCHO

O

L
R

D

C
IN

D
Y

 L
N

P
RIVAT E CV

A
D

O
H

I
T

R

BE GONIA DR

N

LAKESHORE DR

W
ESLE

Y
W

A
Y

OLD S

C
H

O
O

L
R

D

L
E

A
T

H
E

R
W

O
O

D
C

O
V

E
R

D

LEATHE
R

W
O

O
D

RD

T
R

IS
T

O
N

D
R

R
E

IN
E

R
T

S
O

N
D

R

PARKER

P
T

FOX
CH

A
S

E
RD

SHINGLE C OVE RD

CICADA DR

S
Y
LV

A
N
 S

T

R
ID

G
E

T
O

P
R

D

JA
RVIS

S

T

L
O

N

G ST

M CCRACKEN ST

BOR DE R ST

W
ELDON WAY

G
REEN

W OOD LN

F U

R
R

Y

LN

BEN
T

O
AK DR

MOUNTAIN VIEW DR

D

ANA
RD

PAV ILION LN

VALLEY VIEW

T
E

R

C
A

M
P

B
E

L
L

M
T

N
D

R

FALCON RIDGE DR

CHAPEL DR

BUCHANAN DR

C
L

A
R
K

D R

A
N

G
E

L
IC

A
W

A
Y

EA GLE GAP

R
D

C
H

A
N

C
E
R

Y
LN

E
D

W
A

R
D

S
 S

T

B
R

E
N

D
L
E

 S
T

R
AC

H
AEL DR

F
R

ADY LN
L
U

S
K

A
R

D
G

APPLE TREE CT

GR EEN
DR

A
U

B
U

R
N

R
D

W
E
A
T
H

E
R

W
A

T
C

H
L
N

BURM A
R
D

L
E

W
IS

D
R

C
LE

M
E
N

T
 D

R

BRADL EY ST

D
OUBLE TOP DR

ORCHARD DR

TIMUCUA TR

S
P

IR
E

A DR

T AR

A
N

O
V

A
D

R

A
R

M
S

A
V

O
A

K
D

A
LE

R
D

BROADVIEW
 RD

WINDSOR
PL

J
A

D
E

S
T

H
Y

T
E

C

H

H
T
S

S
Q

U
A

W

R
ID

G
E

R
D

TURKEY TR

C

O
M

B
O

C
T

GI LE
S

P
L

B
IB

L
E

B
A

P
T
IS

T
D

R

C

O
U

Z
IN

S
L
N

MCLEAN LN

HENS
O

N
D

R

RA INBOW
RD

HAZELWOOD AV

C
R

O

SSCREEK RD

HA MER AV

W
IL

L
O

W
R

D

PANDA
TR

WALNUT ST

H
IL

LS
ID

E
 R

D

W
ELCH S

T

GOODSON SP R IN
G

R
D

MOUZON RD

N A
N

C
Y

L
N

POND VIEW DR

A
S
S
E
M

B
LY

 S
T

KENTUCKY AV

IN
D
U
S
T
R

IA
L

P
ARK DR

P
IN

K
D

O
G

W
O

O
D

L
N

W
R

E
N

WAY

MOODY
D R

S
E
D

I TR

B
A

B
B

ST

MONTEREY PL

W
R

IG
H

T
S

R
D

G

SUM MER WAY

V
IR

G
IN

IA
 A

V

B
L

UEGRAS

S
L
N

JE
FF

R
E

Y
L
N

E
LY

S
IN

IA
 A

V

C
A

M
E

L
O

T
 D

R

B
O

U
L
D

E
R

 D
R

C
H

IN
Q

U
A

P
IN

L
N

C
L
IF

F
L

N

S
M

OKY LN

HYATT CREEK RD

SN A K

ES LOOP

ROLLING DR

K
E

R
L
E

Y
 S

T

JAMES
LOO P

FRAZIER ST

R
OBIN LN

CRESTMO NT
DR

G
IY

U
G

A
T

R

N
E
S

B
IT

T
 S

T

B
L

A
C

K
G

U
M

D
R

W
E

L
L
S

R
D

CORTLAND CT

S
K
Y
L
A

R
K

LN

A
R

D

EN
S
T

GEORGIA AV

GOLFVIEW DR

LAMBUTH DR

CAROLINA AV

D
O

LAN
 R

D

C
O

U
N
TR

Y
C
LU

B DR

ESS
EX RD

O X

F

O
RD RD

W
AY

UP Y ONDER RD

MEDCLIF F DR

L
A

N
N

IN
G

 D
R

W
H

IT
N

E
R

D
R

S ILE R CIR

S
T

U
A

R
T

C
IR

JU
N
E

B
U

G
T
R

W
ORSH AM DR

JUNALUSKA OAKS DR

G
R

A
S

S
Y

 B
A

L
D

 R
D

R
IC

H
LAN

D
 S

T

EAGL E RDG

G
O
LF

C
O

U
R

S
E

R
D

G
R

A

H

A
M

S
T

R
A

D
IO

 T
O

W
E

R
 R

D

RANDALL RD

D

U
C

K
E

T
T

C
O

V
E

R
D

RUT H LN

W
H

IT
E

D
O

G
W

O
O

D
L
N

FOXWO OD DR

EQ
UESTRIA

N
DR

ALDERS

G
A

TE
R
D

LEN WOOD DR

LUM BOONE CIR

S
H

O
N

D
R

A
 D

R

IN DIGO
DR

S
T

R
E

A
M

W
O

O
D

CIR

O
A

K

V
IE

W
DR

V
IG

O
R

O
LN

SMATHERS ST

LOW
ELL S

T

M
ACON ST

S
H

O
R

T
S

T

CHAMBERS RD

NIGHTIN

G
A
LE

P
L

W MAR

S
H

A
L
L

S
T

TRI VISTA DR

M
A

P
LE

G
ROVE CH RD

LIBERTY RD

LEGEND
RD

COLLIER
LN

H
A
M

PS

H
IR

E
D

R

OWL RIDGE RD

F
R

A
N

K
L
IN

 S
T

G

R
A

Y
D

E
N

S
T

LOFTY RIDGE D R

NINEVAH RD

S
E
V
E
N
TH

 S
T

W

OODSIDE CIR

FITZ G E R

A
L
D

L
N

A
L
L

IS
O

N
D

R

B
L
A

Y
C

O
D

R

R
U
S
S

A
V
E

-
G

R
E
A
T

S
M

O
K
Y

M
TN

A
N
D
R
E
W

 L
N

BIG COVE RD

GARLAND ST

D
E

L
LW

O
O

D
 C

IT
Y

 R
D

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

S
T

S
H

A
C

K
F

O
R

D
S

T

H
O

O
S

IE
R CT

FAIRLANE DR

PURCELL DR

GRANDVIEW CIR

L
E

O
P

A
R

D
 D

R

BOUNDARY ST

M
A
G

N
OLIA WAY

FOXFIRE ESTATES CIR

HIG H
S
T

BR
AN

N
ER

 A
V

P
IO

N

EE

R
D
R

SKYVIE
W

DR

E
M

A
R

SHALL ST

E
N

C

LA
V

E
D

R

OAKCREST LN

BRO
W

N
RID

G
E

R
D

WAYNESVILLE PLZ

W
IN C HESTER DR

WOODS EDGE RD

FO REST VIEW DR

RASPBERRY LN

TIG
E
R

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
R

D

SECRET

H
O

L
LO

W
LN

COCHRAN ST

CHEROKEE
ST

MEADOW ST

AUBU
R

N PARK DR

HENGESTO

N
E

C
V

S
H

ACKFORD
HALL

RD

CI D ER M ILL RD

C
O

L
U

M
BINE DR

LEISURE
L
N

BALDW IN
DR

E
X
IT

102

MOCKINGBIRD DR

CO
KESBUR Y CIR

B IG
BE

AR
RD

T
O

P

VIEW
DR

LO IS

LN

KENNEL WAY

GLEN
EAGLE DR

KING ARTHURS CT

GWEN ST

S
H

E

R
R
ILL

DR

CHICKERING LN

HAZELV IEW DR

W
IN

D
M

ERE TRC

SEMEION RDG

FRIENDLY ACRES DR

ROVIN
G

W
O

O
D

D
R

RIDGE CREST LN

D
E

E
R

GLADE LN

BANB URY CT

TA

P
R
O

O
T

D
R

TREBLE CLEF LN

P
L
A
Y

G
R

O
U

N
D

 S
T

SORRELLS
COVE RD

ATK

IN
S

L

O
O

P

M
ELIN

D
A

DR

DELAN NE DR

APPLE BLOSSOM
LN

ANTHONY
ST

LANSIN
G

R
D

MEADO

W
L
A

R
K

L
N

MARY JOHN
D
R

ANGEL
PU

PP

Y
LN

J
O

S

H
HILL DR

B
E

L
L

E
V

IE
W

 R
D

J 
F
 M

O
R

R
IS

 D
R

MISSISSIPPI AV

N
ELS

O
N

PARK DR

W
H

IS
P

E
R

IN
G

HILL
DR

LITTLE HORSE RD

STAYM ON RD

S
U

T
T
O

N
L
O

O
P

AL E X TR

R
O

S
E

P
A

T
H

L
N

C
H

E

R
R

YW
OO

D

LN

ED
W

ARD
ALLEN

DR

W
O

O
D

F
IE

L
D

D
R

BLINK B O N
N

Y
D
R

C
A
R
P
E
N

T
ER WAY

EAG
LE VIEW CIR

TREAS U

R
E

T
R
C

LL
O

Y
D
S

M
T

N
R

D
G

SUR REY RD

JEF FERSON LN

BUCKEY
E

D
R

WALNUT T
R

A
IL

R
D

ARBOR DR

HUMMIN
G

BIR

D
L
N

CLELLIE VIEW DR

CLEARVIEW
DR

PLATE
AU

 P
L

FRANCIS

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
R

D

T
A

H
O

E
D

R

UNITY DR

LARCHWOOD PT

HATTIE HILL
D
R

FAIR
VIE

W HTS

GROUSE

R
ID

G
E

R
D

B
R
U
N

SWIC K DR

REFLECTIO

N
D

R

SHERM A
N

W
A
Y

MILNER DR

S
W

E

ETW
A

T ER LN

RO C KWOOD RD

BIG
HOLLY

W
A
Y

WAYNE W

O
O

D
D

R

G
A

T
O

R
 D

R

SOLITARY MEADOW
CIR

RAV E

N
R

D
G

N
AGS TRAIL RD

MCNA BB ST

GRANDVIEW CLIFF HTS

L
IT

T
LE

A
C

R
E

S
R

D

C
A
L
IN

E
D

R

U
P

C HURCH RD

COVENTRY LN

COYOTE RDG

FAMILY RDG

STANDIN G ROCK TR

G
LE

N
V

I EW DR

APPLEHOUSE RD

DEER PAT H RD

W
ALDONPOND

PL

KIMBER
LY

LN

TRANQUIL LOOP

IRENE VERN O

N
R
D

FARE
N

L
N

H
A
P
P
Y
 H

O
LLO

W
 A

C
C

E
S
S
 R

D

M
O

R

N
INGVIE W RD

KAMMERER DR

MAUNEY
C

O
V
E

R
D

COUNTY RD

R
IV

E
R

B
E

N
D

 S
T

C
O

U
N

T
Y

R
D

A
S

H
E

V
IL

L
E

 R
D

DA N
IE

L
LN

APPLE CREEK RD

S
C

E
N

IC
C

IR

SPIRIT MTN
TR

APPLE
TREE CT

G
R

E
ENVIEW DR

C
A

M
P

BRANCH
R

D

TAWO DI TR

LOCUST

D
R

DELLWOOD RD

C
AM

PBELL
M

T
N

D
R

PLOTT CREEK RD

PIGEON RD

GADDIS BRANCH RD

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

K
U

D
Z

U
L
O

O
P

MAUNEY COVE RD

CRYMES COVE RD

APRIL
PK

C
O

U
N

T
Y

R
D

C
A

M
P

B
R

A

N
C

H
RD

C
AMP BRANCH RD

GRANDVIEW CIR

OLD BALSAM RD

SUNNYSIDE RD

R

O
LLIN

G
D R

OLD BALSAM RD

B
A

L
S

A
M

D
R

N
 L

A
K

E
S

H
O

R
E

 D
R

A
L
L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

N LAKESHORE DR

MAUNEY C
OVE R

D

O
A

K
D

A
L

E
R

D

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

EAGLES NEST RD

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T
N

 E
X

P
W

Y

CO U

N
T
Y

R
D

A
L

L
E

N
S

 C
R

E
E

K
 R

D

F
R

A
N

C
IS

F
A

R
M

R
D

DELLWOOD RD

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY W

PIGEON RD

PIGEON RD

GADDIS BRANCH RD

PLOTT CR
E

EK RD

PH
IL

LIP
S R

D

EAGLES NEST RD

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

 D
R

P
IG

E
O

N
S

T

E
A

G
L
E

S
N

E
S

T
R

D

A
L

L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

E
X

IT
 9

8

EAGLES

N
E

S
T

R
D

GEORGIA AV

DELLWOOD RD

COUNTY RD

S M
A
IN

 S
T

W
E
S

T
W

O
O

D
 C

IR

R
U

S
S

 A
V

APRIL PK

D
A
L
E
 D

R

A
C

C
E

S
S

R
D

R
U

S
S

 A
V

E
A

G
L

E
S

N
E

S
T

R
D

S
C

E
N

IC
CIR

E
M

A
R

S
H

A
L

L
S

T

CHAMBER
S

R
D

V
A
N

C
E

S
T

EAST ST

A
S

H
E
V

IL
L
E
 R

D

DELLWOOD RD

PLOTT CREEK RD

A
LL

E
N

S
C

R
E

E
K

R
D

H
O

W
ELL MILL RD

EAGLES NEST RD
B

R
O

W
N

 A
V

DELLWOOD RD

HYATT CREEK RD

APPLE CREEK RD

S
L
A
K
E
S

H

O
R
E

D
R

P
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T
IA

L
D

R

S
A

N
C

T
U

A
R

Y
D

R

PIGEON RD

L
IN

E
R

C
O

V
E

R
D

OLD BALSAM RD

O
R

A
C

IR

O
A

K
D

A
L
E

R
D

S
 M

A
IN

 S
T

R
U

S
S

A
V

DO GWOOD
TR

COUNTY RD

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E
 R

D

CRYM
ES

COV

E
R

D

EAG
LES

NEST RD

E
X

IT
 1

0
0

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
D

R

S
U

LPHUR
SPRIN

GS
RD

CRESTMONT DR

WAYNESVILLE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN

Context
Waynesville City Limits

Waynesville ETJ

Urban Services Boundary

# Local Landmarks

STIP_Points

STIP_Lines

Transportation
Interstate

Primary US and State Highways

Secondary State and County Highways

Local Streets (Haywood County)

CTP_Projects

Railroad

Natural Features
Lake

Streams

Wetlands

100 Year Floodplain

Managed Areas

[
0 1,400 2,800700

Feet

1 in = 956 ft

Date: 5/1/2018

- UTILITIES -

STIP EB-5859
Hazelwood Avenue (Plott Creek Road)

From Richland Creek Bridge to Will Hyatt Rd, 

Construct Pedestrian Improvements (2023)

STIP EB-5757
Brown Avenue

From S. Main St. to Belle Meade Dr., Reduce Roadway 

Lanes to Three and Construct Bike Lanes (2019)

STIP U-5548
Brown Avenue

From Boyd Ave towards the Middle School (1200 ft), 

Realign Road, Create New Road (School Street), In-

stall Raised Croswalk, Painted Crosswalks, Refuge 

Island, Bulbout, and Signs (2018)

U-4412 ALREADY COMPLETED

R-4047 ALREADY COMPLETED

STIP U-4712
South Main Street

From Hyatt Creek Road to Pigeon Street, Widen Road-

way and Construct Pedestrian and Other Streetscape and 

Intersection Improvements (2023-2026):

• Diverging Diamond Interchange at Hyatt Creek Rd.

• Between Waynesville Commons Shopping Center and 

Ninevah Rd, Widen to 4-Lane w/ a 23-ft Median.

• Between Ninevah Rd and Pigeon St, Widen to 3 Lanes 

to Balsam Drive, w/ Roundabouts at Virginia Avenue 

and Hazelwood Avenue.

Roundabouts

STIP U-5839
Russ Avenue

From Main Street to Great Smoky Mountains Ex-

pressway, Upgrade Corridor to Improve Access Man-

agement and Safety (2020):

• From N. Main St to Boundary St, 2-Lane w/ On-

Street Parking and Sidewalks.

• From Boundary St to Walnut St, 3-Lane with Side-

walks.

• From Walnut St to Phillips Rd, 4-Lane w/ Median, 

Bike Lanes, and Sidewalks.

STIP U-5888
North Main Street & Walnut

Intersection Realignment and Im-

provements (2020); Preliminary De-

sign Preference is a Roundabout

NCDOT’s STIP Projects in the Waynesville Area

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

U-5839 (Russ Avenue) ROW/Utilities Construction

U-5548 (Brown Ave Ped) Construction

EB-5757 (Brown Ave Bike) Engineering Construction

U-4712 (S Main St) ROW Construction

U-5888 (N Main St/Walnut) Construction

EB-5859 (Hazelwood Ave) Engineering ROW Construction



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  153JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Russ Avenue Corridor Study 
The 2010 Russ Avenue Corridor Study recommends several key connectivity improvements 
for the Waynesville Shopping Center area, which could provide additional transportation 
connectivity benefits:

	» Construct a new street to connect the Shopping Center directly to Howell Mill Road. 

	» Construct a bridge over Richland Creek to connect the Shopping Center to Marshall 
Street. This bridge should be of sufficient length to allow for a greenway underneath the 
structure.

These connector streets could help alleviate vehicular traffic congestion along Russ Avenue, 
and facilitate a more comfortable pedestrian experience by giving people a calmer, lower 
speed option.

South Main Street Improvements
NCDOT is also planning for improvements to South Main Street, with a widened roadway, 
new sidewalks, roundabouts, and access management. This area historically had storefronts, 
complete neighborhoods, and somewhat more urban complexity than it does today. The 
Town is working to restore this part of town to a more functional space, and is leveraging 
NCDOT’s plans to improve walkability and form - trading vacant parking lots with landscaped 

NCDOT’s STIP Project U-5839 (Russ Avenue Improvements)



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE154 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

sidewalks. South Main Street’s viability as a successful commercial corridor should improve 
with better pedestrian accessibility and resulting infill investments, linking more appropriately to 
the grid of adjacent neighborhood streets by creating better protected intersections for cars, 
bikes, and pedestrians to cross. In the past, NCDOT and municipalities have designed streets 
for efficiency, maximizing vehicular movement, which would often induce speeds that were 
incompatible with surrounding land use. New methodologies and guiding principles are now 
dictating that streets are going to have to bring speed down to what is appropriate for their 
context and enabling safe behavior from all users. 

2040 Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP) (2015)
The French Broad River MPO is the planning organization in charge of transportation planning 
in a five-county region that includes the Town of Waynesville.  A Metropolitan Transportation 
Plan (MTP) is a fiscally constrained plan that identifies how the multi-modal transportation 
will be managed and operated. Oftentimes, projects included in the MTP are pulled from 
supporting plans like a Pedestrian Plan.  Projects are prioritized, and money is programmed for 
plans such as transit, roadway improvements, greenways, multi-use paths, sidewalks, and other 
upgrades and amenities.

Projects within the 20-year planning horizon for the Town include:

	» Widening NC 209 around the Lake Junaluska area.

	» Russ Avenue Corridor Improvements.

	» Construction of sidewalk on Russ Avenue.

	» A realignment of Brown Avenue.

	» Road diet and complete streets improvements along Brown Avenue.

	» Pedestrian improvements on Hazelwood Avenue.

NCDOT’s STIP Project U-4712 (South Main Street Improvements)



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  155JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

APPENDIX D: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING CONDITIONS 
ANALYSIS

History
This chapter describes Waynesville’s current transportation opportunities and challenges with 
an emphasis on promoting health, wellness, and accessibility. 

The Town of Waynesville is expected to continue to grow over the years, inevitably 
accompanied by more people driving on its roads, more people in search of convenient 
ways to travel around the town, and more demand for transportation amenities. In order to 
maintain the quality of life for which Waynesville is recognized while supporting future growth, 
the Town must plan for future transportation needs.

The railroad helped connect Waynesville to the rest of the region in the early 1900s and 
created opportunities for agriculture, forestry and tourism. The downtown area, and the 
nearby Frog Level commercial area, became the center of transportation for the town. As the 
automotive industry took hold and North Carolina’s roadway network expanded, the railroad 
declined in importance, and development began to expand to new corridors and more 
distant residential tracts. By 1950, passenger train service to Waynesville was discontinued. 
Today, Waynesville’s proximity to Interstate 40 and the Great Smoky Mountains Expressway is 
more important than its connection to the railroad, with easy links to Asheville, Knoxville, and 
even Atlanta; making it a very convenient location for regional travel by automobile.

Context 
According to a Federal Highway Association (FHWA) report, in 1969 about half of all students 
in the U.S. walked or bicycled to school. Today, fewer than 15 percent of all school trips are 
made by walking or bicycling. Many take a bus, but up to half of all school children go to and 
from school in a private automobile. The shift of student walking and bicycling trips to auto 
trips has contributed to many problems that local communities are now struggling to address:

	» Increased traffic congestion, especially around schools;

	» A perceived decrease in pedestrian safety, especially on routes to school;

	» Poor air quality around schools and related health problems for children such as asthma;

	» Childhood obesity and related health problems such as type-2 diabetes.

Various partnerships to improve bicycle and pedestrian safety are underway throughout the 
region, most notable of which is the Haywood Greenways Coalition, an effort to expand the 

The community’s desire for the development of walking trails, as well as the 
preservation of public open space, was expressed in the survey and at the public 
workshops. Based on this need for walking trails and greenways, a greenway 
master plan should be developed and opportunities for greenway development 
should be sought. Source: Waynesville Systemwide Parks Master Plan (2017)



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE156 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

regional system of trails. Also, most towns in the area are actively evaluating opportunities 
for smaller, more localized greenway facilities, and bicycle infrastructure is being actively 
evaluated by NCDOT with all new roadway construction projects. The construction of 
multimodal transportation infrastructure is a key goal of the Town of Waynesville, and NCDOT 
continues to adapt to a more determined multimodal approach to the state’s transportation 
system.

In 2016, The FHWA developed the Small Town and Rural 
Multimodal Networks Report as a resource and idea book 
intended to help small towns and rural communities support 
safe, accessible, comfortable, and active travel for people 
of all ages and abilities. It provides a bridge between existing 
guidance on bicycle and pedestrian design and rural 
practice, encourages innovation in the development of safe 
and appealing networks for walking and bicycling in small 
towns and rural areas, and shows case studies and visual 
examples of appropriate facilities.

A few thoughtful additions can significantly expand the 
number of residential areas with access and can connect 
directly to more commercial corridors. Having access 
points throughout various neighborhoods and onto main 
thoroughfares will incentivize people to bike and walk to 
their destination. By building greenways, bike lanes, and sidewalks, 
communities make it easier for people to incorporate active living into their everyday life. 
There are many approaches and solutions to the health crises in our communities, but a 
primary goal is to make it easy to be physically 
active - people shouldn’t have to get in a 
car and drive someplace for exercise. Cities 
and towns should help make it easy for their 
residents, by encouraging the right type of 
development and investing in equitable 
infrastructure. If people are able to simply walk 
out their front door and take their family on a 
neighborhood adventure outing, possibly to 
a small community park to play and visit with 
other neighbors, they will do so frequently. 
But if destinations are not well-connected to 
the people they serve and if driving is the only 
feasible mode of travel, achieving regular daily 
exercise becomes much more difficult.

A 2013 study in Canada found that for every 
dollar spent constructing a multi-use trail, at 
least $2  are avoided in health care costs. 
Similarly, walkable and bikeable communities 
have become more valuable and stimulate 
economies through increased property 
values, job creation, local spending, and 
tourist spending. Transportation infrastructure 
improvements can thus have an impact 
on our physical, social, occupational, and 
environmental health. 

Waynesville’s  downtown features several alleyways 
that easily connect Main Street to Wall Street, linking 
pedestrians to nearby additional parking. 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  157JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

NCDOT Waynesville Area Bicycle & Pedestrian Crash Map (2007-2015)

There  are no clear patterns in the crash data for Waynesville’s bicyclists and pedestrians. Planned improvements 
to South Main Street and Russ Avenue should alleviate the worst constraints by including new sidewalks and bike 
lanes. This map indicates that safety is less of an issue in residential neighborhoods, away from the core transpor-
tation and business corridors. Access management is helpful for improving pedestrian safety (because cars turn at 
intersections instead of across the sidewalk). Waynesville should continue to monitor vehicular crashes of all types 
and make assessments about which roadways are dangerous and what can be done to slow speeds and reduce 
the number of crashes overall.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE158 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

There are local streets throughout the city with low traffic volumes and low travel speeds; 
these networks are foundational to a bicycling system and popular with recreational riders. 
Additionally, the practice of constructing wider (10’-12’) greenways and multi-use paths is 
effective for suburban areas where bicycle traffic is not heavy; these paths are appropriate 
for both pedestrians and bicyclists, providing safe and comfortable infrastructure for users 
where  striping and painting on-road bicycle facilities may not be feasible. However, many of 
the higher traffic volume streets are not designed to safely accommodate bicyclists, and a 
number of parks and neighborhoods are not adequately connected by infrastructure to safely 
accommodate pedestrians or bicyclists; these conditions present opportunities to improve 
Waynesville’s quality of life and safe streetscape.

Waynesville’s older commercial areas and neighborhoods are designed with a grid pattern 
and are well- suited for walking and bicycling. Newer developments, however, have followed 
a branching pattern up the steep 
hillsides, which poses more of a 
problem for bicycle and pedestrian 
access because many of these 
communities are only accessible 
from one key roadway  - navigating 
the residential streets is sometimes 
hard to do because the winding 
streets feature many dead ends and 
rarely connect to one another in a 
straightforward or intuitive way. Even 
if a destination is nearby, the distance 
to reach it by bike or on foot is often 
prohibitive. Such conditions can be 
improved by constructing greenways, 
and by creating off-road connections between cul-de-sacs and nearby streets.

ROADWAYS
Many of Waynesville’s roads are in good condition and the Town is appropriately connected 
via a system of state- and Town-maintained streets that navigate the mountainous terrain.  
Most streets branch out from the primary corridors of US Route 276 and US Route 23 Business, 
whose crossings form the heart of Waynesville. The Town has some congestion during peak 
rush hours, but the current system functions well. With recent changes to Howell Mill Road and 
Asheville Road, NCDOT has demonstrated a commitment to improving these key accessways. 
NCDOT has also designed roadway improvements for several more streets in Waynesville, 
including Russ Avenue and South Main Street. A summary of the Corridor studies for these 
streets is in Chapter 2.

As more communities seek better balance 
between cars and people, context- based 
street design has gained prominence among 
transportation engineers, planners, public 

ADA Compliance Includes:
	» Accessible curb ramps with detectable 
warnings;

	» Smooth transitions;
	» Running slopes of under 8.3%, or a 1:12 
gradient;

	» The “WALK” signals allow time for a 
safe crossing and are at a height of 42 
inches.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  159JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

officials, and citizens. Indeed, NCDOT has redirected funding and prioritization to linking best 
practices in planning and engineering to follow its own Complete Streets and Vision Zero 
policies. In walkable neighborhoods and town centers, streets are public spaces that serve 
multiple social and economic functions, which contribute to the beauty and character of a 
community. Such thoroughfares should include main streets, boulevards, avenues, and local 
streets designed for slower traffic speeds.

When the Town of Waynesville modifies an existing street, it is valuable to understand what the 
community wants the surrounding to become and then design the street so that it enhances  
that vision and serves as a catalyst. Distinct and historic neighborhoods are sometimes 
destroyed when a roadway’s vehicular speeds and the support for regional through traffic are 
too high. Waynesville’s roadway plans must take into consideration many things—including 
placemaking, whether people will walk or bicycle, the target speed, topography and right-
of-way constraints, shade and landscaping, and stormwater drainage—before we even think 
about redesigning a street. Waynesville can take an active approach to street design, where 
future roadway cross-sections are matched to the context and what people want the place 
to be.

Metrics and the data behind them can influence additional project spending. Identifying 
how many people are using the greenway system and counting cars at particularly busy 
intersections can help justify capital improvement funding and help the Town quantify its 
investments in infrastructure. Performance measures allow public agencies to align their 
decisions at each phase of project development and delivery with established community 
goals. Performance measures, generally, can be interpreted to mean the data inputs used 
when: 

	» Undertaking long-range planning efforts 

	» Selecting projects to fund 

New  roundabouts on both ends of Main Street are planned through NCDOT’s STIP. Waynesville can coordinate  to 
include public art and gateway elements.

WELCOME TO
WELCOME TO  WAYNESVILLEWAYNESVILLE



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE160 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

	» Performing an alternatives analysis—an evaluation of all reasonable options for a 
transportation project 

	» Considering specific elements when finalizing a project’s design 

	» Evaluating the outcomes of a built project—the focus of this document 

	» Displaying the current state of a system, as with a dashboard 

Conventional transportation measures focused on automobile movement and have resulted 
in projects that expand roadway capacity and speed at the expense of safety.

GREENWAYS
Public input from this plan’s various meetings and feedback from surveys and previous 
plans have shown that Waynesville residents want greenways. It’s important that the town 
continue to pursue funding for these systems, as they meet many needs: recreational, 
health, transportation, environmental, aesthetic, and even economic. A new greenway can 
simultaneously increase a community’s physical activity, improve water quality in streams, 
shorten commute times, and boost real estate value and business investment. The Town has 
already demonstrated a commitment to adding miles to the greenway network, with plans 
in place for a continuation of the Richland Creek Greenway that will ultimately traverse the 
entire length Waynesville. 

Design principles for shared use pathways and sidepaths take both pedestrian and bicyclists’ 
needs into account. Bicyclists need more space for two-way operation, especially when 
pedestrians also use the facility; this is why these paths are wider than standard sidewalks. A 
pathway that accommodates both types of users should be 10-feet wide at minimum; (8-feet 
is allowed in short, constrained sections) but 12-foot or 14-foot wide pathways are preferred in 
high volume areas or near parks and schools. 

The Haywood County Comprehensive System-wide Parks and Recreation Master Plan was 
completed in March 2007. The plan noted the need for additional greenways, linear parks, 
and bike facilities throughout the 
County - survey respondents listed 
greenway trails as the second-most 
desired facility after neighborhood 
parks. 80.8% either strongly agreed 
or agreed that they would be in 
favor of greenway development 
to interconnect parks with school 
facilities. 

It also recommends planning a 
network of bike trails, bike lanes 
and shared roadways to enhance 
connectivity, provide a viable 
alternative means of transportation, 
and promote recreational 
opportunities.  The plan states that 
“any future roadway construction 

Richland Creek Greenway



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  161JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

project in the county should include provisions to accommodate pedestrian and bicycle 
travel . . . bike racks (sheltered ones at schools and other high potential use areas) should be 
installed at all publicly owned facilities across the county.”

Importantly, survey respondents indicated a willingness to support increasing financial 
investment in parks and recreation facilities - about 60% support. Respondents stated that 
the county should consider grant money, participation fees, and bonds. Additionally, the 
plan recommends partnerships with private sector organizations and businesses to secure 
donations, joint-use agreements, access through private lands, and funding. Generally, 
“commitment of funding for maintenance of new facilities should be a priority.”

Both the Blue Ridge Bike Plan (2016) and Canton’s Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan (2018) reflect a 
vision for a continuous greenway system that would link Waynesville to Canton by traversing 
Richland Creek, Lake Junaluska, and the Pigeon River. This vision, if implemented, could 
bolster new tourism and economic development activity, while improving the transportation 
and recreation options of residents throughout Haywood County. Meanwhile, the Haywood 
Greenways Coalition is re-energized with a plan to develop the Hellbender Trail, which would 
link Waynesville all the way to Asheville and beyond. Coupled with the Fonta Flora Trail (which 
will link McDowell County communities), someone from Waynesville could ride a bike safely 
and comfortably along a paved trail all the way to Morganton! It’s important for the Town 
to demonstrate support for these initiatives and plan ahead by creating a viable greenway 
system within its limits; Waynesville can become a leader and inspire other small towns 
throughout the region to follow.

Ratcliff Cove Road

R
A

C
C

O
O

N
 C

R
E

E
K

 G
R

E
E

N
W

A
Y

This proposed greenway would loosely follow Raccoon Creek from Howell Mill Road, along Asheville Road, Ratcliff 
Cove Road, and Raccoon Road all the way to Pigeon Road. Sidewalks should also be completed on Pigeon Road 
to connect this greenway to downtown Waynesville. 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE162 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

The Town of Waynesville’s 2017 Systemwide Park Master Plan provides guidance on selecting 
primary corridors for greenway trails, which include a focus on Richland Creek and Raccoon 
Creek. That plan also emphasizes the need for greenways to link existing and planned park 
facilities, forming a continuous recreational system that is accessible by all.  

Economic Impacts of Greenways
Greenways have been demonstrated to attract new business, increase tourism, enhance 
property values, and help promote a strong local economy. Many studies show increased 
property value and faster home sales near greenways. For example, homes near greenways 
were estimated to increase approximately 5% in value due to proximity to the trail.

A study of Greenville County’s Swamp Rabbit Trail shows that the trail has generated 
approximately $6.7 million for area businesses in 2013 - an excellent example of the positive 
influence greenways can have on a community’s economy. Travelers Rest, SC, attracted 
more than half a million walkers, joggers and bicyclists in one year. Additionally, the number 
of businesses in their three-block business district increased from four to 60 after the trail was 
constructed.

Based on local tourism expenditure data and visitor profiles for Western NC, Bikes in Beds 
(Haywood County TDA and Southwestern Commission’s report on bicycle tourism in the 
region) estimated that bicycle tourism accounts for roughly 2% of total trips to Rutherford 
County and generates more than $3 million in annual expenditures by visitors. The report lists 
these bicycle tourism numbers for the region:

	» $14 million estimated total impact of bicycle tourism in Western North Carolina. 

	» $150,000 to $170,000 estimated visitor spending per year from the Blue Ridge Breakaway.

	» $500,000 estimated economic impact of the 2014 Lake Logan Multisport Festival. 

	» 91.5 million Americans went biking in 2013.

	» 33 percent of cycling tourists staying overnight.

	» $76 spent per day of overnight stay and $50 per day trip.

	» 2.8 people in the average group of cyclists.

Nearby Asheville, NC, was able to provide incentives for a large California brewery to 
build their eastern factory, distribution center, and taproom in the city. The brewery chose 
its location partly because it was adjacent to the French Broad River and an anticipated 
greenway connector. In exchange for NCDOT Complete Streets improvements and city 
concessions, the company designed and built the greenway segment during facility 
construction. Now, trail users can easily walk right up to the taproom after exercising and the 
city has valuable new tax revenue.

For information about NCDOT’s goal of maximizing economic competitiveness, return on 
investment, and employment opportunities by creating walkable and bikeable communities, 
visit: http://www.walkbikenc.com/pillars-of-plan/economy

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285579311_An_Assessment_of_Tax_Revenues_Generated_by_Homes_Proximate_to_a_Greenway_The_Context
http://www.documentcloud.org/documents/404182-srt-20impact-20study-20year-201.html


COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  163JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

BICYCLES
Bicycle Lanes

A bicycle lane is defined by AASHTO as a “portion of roadway that has been designated for 
preferential or exclusive use by bicyclists by pavement markings and signs. It is intended for 
one-way travel, usually in the same 
direction as the adjacent traffic 
lane.” The bicycle lane is the most 
common application for dedicated 
bicycling facilities and typically 
ranges in width from four feet to six 
feet, adjacent to a motor vehicle 
lane. This width does not include 
the width of the gutter pan as it is 
not usable space for a bicyclist. 

Four foot wide lanes are only 
appropriate on low-speed streets 
where there is not as much 
discrepancy in the speed of the 
bicyclist versus the speed of the 
motorist. On higher speed facilities, 
the width should be greater (5 feet 
on 35 mph to 45 mph streets; 6 feet 
on streets with speed limits greater 
than 45 mph). 

Currently, Waynesville does not 
have any bike lanes, but NCDOT is 
planning for some along a portion 

 

A  roadway designated as a pre-
ferred route for bicycles, usually 
with a wide paved shoulder.

FHWA’s Bicycle Protection Hierarchy

Shared Lane Markings

A  shared roadway with pavement 
markings (“sharrows”) providing 
wayfinding guidance to bicyclists 
and alerting drivers that bicyclists 
are likely to be operating in mixed 
traffic.

On-Street Bike Lanes

An on-road bicycle facility des-
ignated by striping, signing, and 
pavement markings.

On-Street  Buffered Bike 
Lanes

Bike  lanes with a painted buffer 
increase lateral separation be-
tween bicyclists and motor vehi-
cles.

Separated Bike Lanes

An  exclusive facility for bicyclists 
that is located within or direct-
ly adjacent to the roadway and 
physically separated from motor 
vehicle traffic with a vertical ele-
ment.

Off  Street Trails /    
Sidepaths

Bicycle  facilities physically sepa-
rated from traffic, but intended for 
shared use by a variety of groups, 
including pedestrians, bicyclists, 
and joggers.

L
E

A
S

T
 P

R
O

T
E

C
T

IO
N

M
O

S
T

 P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N

MUTCD’s  R4-11 sign is preferable to 
“Share the Road” signs because it states 
that bicyclists have legal precedent for 
using the entire travel lane.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE164 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

of Brown Avenue, reallocating pavement width 
by means of a “road diet”. 

Shared Lane Markings (“Sharrows”)

The use of shared lane markings has become 
more popular on streets where adding a bicycle 
lane or shoulder is not feasible or planned. A 
shared lane marking is defined by AASHTO as a 
“pavement marking symbol that indicates an 
appropriate bicycle positioning in a shared lane, 
which is a lane of traveled way that is open to 
both bicycle and motor vehicle travel.”

Shared lane markings send other messages to 
bicyclists and motorists: 1) That a bicycle has 
a right to use the lane and the lane should be 
shared; 2) Positions a bicyclists in a travel lane 
with on-street parking in a location where they 
can avoid opening car doors; and 3) Positions a 
bicyclist in a travel lane without on-street parking 
in a location where they are not squeezed out or riding along the right edge of pavement. 

Special care should be taken when marking a shared lane. MUTCD recommends a 10-foot 
or 11-foot distance from the center of the marking to the curb face when on-street parking is 
present. However, local conditions may vary and necessitate placing the marking further out 
into the travel lane or in the middle of the travel lane. 

PEDESTRIANS

Pedestrian Accessibility

Connectivity is essential if non-motorized transportation is to be a viable and desirable option. 
Town streets should be designed to provide connectivity that meets all travel needs, especially 
people walking - after all, everyone is a pedestrian at some point in their day. 

Sidewalks in Waynesville are prevalent in most areas of town, and currently provide a 
suitable level of accessibility and connectivity. The major thoroughfares all have pedestrian 
accommodations, and most outlying streets and residential neighborhoods are safe enough 
to not need sidewalks on all occasions. Many lower-occupancy streets are also low speed 
(20mph) and have sidewalks on at least one side. 

With Waynesville’s topography, narrow roads are common, and it is acceptable to only have 
sidewalks on one side outside of the major corridors. Many residential neighborhoods do not 
have sidewalks, but the curves and hills create a low enough design speed that walking on the 
pavement is not uncomfortable or unsafe. 

Some areas in need of sidewalk infrastructure include the entire length of Hyatt Creek Road. 
A sidewalk here would enable residents to safely walk into town for work and to reach the 
commercial sector of South Main Street. Connecting to another sidewalk along Old Balsam 

A  bright, highly visible pedestrian crossing can make 
a big difference in establishing a safe, connected 
sidewalk network.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  165JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Road would provide a complete pedestrian loop for this part of town, improving safety 
dramatically and positively affecting the health of users. It is unlikely that a multi-use path 
along Old Balsam Road would be feasible due to right-of-way and topographical constraints, 
but this is a priority corridor for sidewalk improvements. Sidewalks are only needed on one side 
of each of these roads.

Creating a walkable Waynesville means much more than providing sidewalks and trails. 
Walkable communities take into consideration the following attributes in order to encourage 
walking as a preferable mode of transportation:

Convenience: The walk must be direct and convenient. Having to move around barriers or go 
out of the way will discourage walking.

Aesthetics: The environment should be attractive and interesting – highlighting community 
assets, great architecture, nature, public art, etc.

Activity: In addition to being attractive, pedestrian routes should be activated by adjacent 
uses. Walking one block past surface parking or blank walls feels much longer than walking 
one block fronted by restaurants, storefront windows, and outdoor dining.

Safety: One must feel safe walking in Waynesville - safe from traffic and safe from criminal 
activity. Walking when there are “eyes on the street” from adjacent uses provides a greater 
sense of security than walking along empty streets or along streets with poor visibility. Open 
sight lines and buffers from the roadway are critical.

Comfort: The walk needs to be comfortable. Access to shade when it is hot and sunshine 
when it is cool. 

Pedestrian Access Routes

Downtown street activity should continue to be encouraged, as both the display of 
merchandise and outdoor dining contribute to a business district’s vibrancy and visual 
attractiveness. These types of activities engage the pedestrian and invite people to 
linger, wander, and enjoy Main Street. At least five feet of sidewalk should be maintained 
unobstructed by permanent or temporary obstacles and protruding objects such as benches, 
bike racks, fire hydrants, planters, and utilities. The brick sidewalks, street trees, and wooden 
benches along Main Street all contribute to the comfort of people walking downtown. 
Waynesville should continue to invest in these amenities and strive to replicate that feeling 

According  to a report by Active Living Research for SRTS, of the recommended 60 minutes of daily activity, on av-
erage 16 minutes (25%) can be achieved simply by walking or biking to school.



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE166 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

along all commercial corridors, especially areas of higher density. 

Alternative Pedestrian Facilities

Given budget limitations, the Town of Waynesville may find opportunities to explore other 
options for pedestrian facilities in a manner that addresses required technical elements 
of design but is cost-effective. The common design manuals often demonstrate the ideal 
standard, but this is not always possible given an area’s context. Improvements can sometimes 
be constructed at 1/10th the cost of traditional curb, gutter and sidewalk designs, which is 
why it is important to consider these options before embarking on more costly improvements. 
Alternative facilities, such as painted pedestrian lanes or simple markings are suitable for low 
speed, low volume streets where motorists and pedestrians are already sharing the road 
space. An example in Waynesville is the striped pedestrian path on Wall Street, which provides 
an acceptable level of comfort for anyone walking, but there is no grade separation or buffer. 
Alternatives such as shoulders converted into labeled multi-use trails could be an interim 
measure before full-scale sidewalk construction or a link between greenways alongside a 
street. Gravel sidewalks and pathways without curbs can provide a minimum amount of safety 
for pedestrian travel without requiring extensive design work or implementation costs. 

TRANSIT
Passenger rail service is not available in Western North Carolina, though recent NCDOT studies 
have indicated a long-term goal of linking major municipalities along an east-west corridor, 
with ultimate intended connectivity throughout the state. The only rail lines operating in the 
Town of Waynesville are Norfolk Southern lines, which are used for freight between industrial 
destinations. There are currently active spurs off Howell Mill Road and in Hazelwood. There are 
no more than one or two trains a day, a few days a week. If ever this line is decommissioned, it 
could provide an ideal greenway route, linking Waynesville to Asheville, Sylva, Canton, Clyde, 
Bryson City, and beyond for recreational bicycle riding. Indeed, the scenic river corridors and 
relatively level terrain would make for a trail comparable to the Virginia Creeper, which has 
helped spur economic development along its length and at its termini. In addition, many 
commuters could use the trail to get from town to town for work (with the line passing directly 
through the heart of these communities, with easy access to employment centers). Walkers 
and joggers would also make use of a trail through town, as it would connect all sectors in 
Waynesville. Another alternative is to explore the idea of a rail-with-trail, which adds a paved 
multi-use trail alongside the rail line and within the existing easement. This option is far more 
expensive, requiring new bridges and clearing a new pathway altogether. 

Recently, Haywood County Transit has initiated plans for fixed-route bus service between 
towns and their commercial sectors. Mountain Projects is assessing the feasibility of two 
proposed routes - one through Waynesville and one through Canton and Clyde, linking up 
in the middle at a transfer hub in Clyde, providing cross-county transportation. Each route 
will have one bus making a continuous loop that’s about an hour long, with a fare of $1 a 
trip. Municipal staff, elected officials, and business representatives are providing input on this 
exciting new service, which will ultimately connect Waynesville residents to large employers, 
public services, and business districts within Haywood County.

Effective transit systems are vital for communities and their regional connections.  By exploring 
creative and innovative solutions to mobility through public transportation, Waynesville can 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  167JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

promote economic competitiveness, environmental sustainability, and improve the quality of 
life. This can involve broad and collaborative engagement with transit users, transportation 
providers, public and private industry associations, nonprofit organizations, private 
organizations, and federal partners.

Waynesville can position itself as a Town that welcomes public transportation expansion by 
planning for accommodating infrastructure. Such planning can promote the availability 
of transportation options such as transit bus service, express bus routes, and light rail for 
Waynesville residents and can guide roadway development towards improved accessibility 
for all users and establishing a standard of accessibility and service. Increased and publicized 
demand for public transportation services can support such expansion in Waynesville.

BIKESHARE & E-SCOOTERS
Waynesville is not ideally suited for any type of bike- or scooter-sharing system, but may want 
to consider exploring options for new regulations and establishing a framework for permitting. 
Electric-assisted bicycles and scooters may help address local topographic barriers to regular 
biking in Haywood County, while capitalizing on recent trends and making the service 
accessible to a wider variety of potential users, especially if bus service expands in Haywood 
County. The following are some of the core elements that may frame a bike share pilot permit, 
if Waynesville ever decides to test an electric bike or scooter system. 

Limit the system to a modest fleet size of about 20-60 bicycles at launch. Starting small will help 
operators and the Town manage any issues that may arise and prevent them from becoming 
major problems. This fleet limit should be divided equally among all permitted operators and 
distributed in defined geographic areas. 

Service should be allowed throughout Waynesville, but target bicycle distribution to activity 
centers and transit connections. Operators should be required to regularly rebalance a 
majority of their bikes to activity centers, helping ensure reliable service in Waynesville’s 
densest and most vibrant neighborhoods and minimizing the scattering of isolated bicycles 
throughout residential areas. Well-stocked hubs contribute to both service reliability and 
orderliness. Designated preferred parking areas (painted areas or bike racks) can be installed 
to help keep walkways clear. 

Waynesville must make sure to only use a pilot program with 
bikes or scooters that are GPS-enabled and trackable in real-
time. Accurate location data is critical to assessing operator 
compliance with parking and rebalancing requirements, 
while the data collected from trips taken by users can also 
help the Town better understand where people ride and 
how best to invest in new or improved infrastructure. Indeed, 
a pilot program may provide enough user data to plan for 
future bike lanes and greenways. 

System growth should be based primarily on operator 
compliance with permit requirements. Operators will be 
allowed to grow their fleets over time if they demonstrate 
they can abide by the Town’s requirements. 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE168 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Town of Waynesville funds should not be spent to 
own or operate bike- or scooter-share. Operator 
fees will help the Town recover costs associated 
with permit review, administrative oversight, bike/
scooter hub installation, and data collection and 
analysis

Having scooters and bicycles used throughout 
Waynesville could help change the perception 
that roads are only for cars, particularly on low 
volume, low speed facilities (one of the Town’s 
objectives in the 2010 Pedestrian Plan).

PARKING

Street Parking

Waynesville has designated on-street parking 
spaces along Main Street, Hazelwood Avenue, 
Virginia Avenue, Academy Street, Wall Street, 
Commerce Street, Miller Street, Montgomery 
Street, Depot Street, and several others, with 
parking allowed on most residential streets as 
well. However, there are no metered spaces at all within the town limits; the most in-demand 
spaces downtown have 3-hour limits between 8am-6pm (except Sundays), but there are 
currently no paid parking meters in town. Waynesville’s on-street parking downtown is often 
full or near capacity, heightening the perception that there are not enough parking spaces. 
However, there are options to park a block away from Main Street and numerous business 
parking lots without restrictions. It is important for Waynesville to assess which it deems less 
desirable: public backlash against having to pay for parking, or negative perceptions of a lack 
of parking.

Waynesville could consider charging for curb parking so there are always one or two open 
spaces on every block, spending the resulting revenue to pay for added public services along 
the metered blocks so that stakeholders benefit. Some towns use parking meter revenue 
to provide free wi-fi on the street, pressure wash the sidewalks, plant new street trees, and 
remove graffiti every night. Investing the money back into the metered street creates the 
political will to charge the right price for on-street parking. 

Waynesville could also pursue removing off-street parking requirements, which can have a big 
effect, even in the short run, because it allows for the adaptive re-use of older buildings and 
more infill development.

Parking Lots

Waynesville has several free surface parking areas and a large parking garage on Branner 
Avenue, which is also free. That garage and the primary public lot on Wall Street have a 
walkway and alleys to connect pedestrians directly to Main Street.

During  any given weekday, Waynesville’s downtown parking is 
usually at optimal capacity (high demand, but with at least 10% 
available). This demonstrates the commercial viability of Main 
Street and indicates that as development continues, the Town 
may need to consider priced parking or additional lots near 
commercial corridors.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  169JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Pedestrian circulation through parking lots is an essential element of walkability and can 
make the difference between a resident walking to a store or getting into a car for a short 
trip. Zoning should include requirements for pedestrian-friendly circulation to and from the 
front doors of places of business, and development review should include an assessment of 
pedestrian access and safety through vehicular areas in private developments, including 
attention to the standards for curb ramps, crosswalks, and driveways. Waynesville’s zoning 
ordinance should be as specific as possible regarding pedestrian facility requirements for new 
construction and redevelopment. Developers should be told up front about expectations for 
pedestrian facilities that not only meet minimum requirements but enhance the pedestrian 
experience. Requirements 
may vary by zoning district, 
size of development, and 
functional classification and 
design features of the road the 
development abuts.

Bicycle Parking

Waynesville has installed 
bike racks throughout the 
town, but should consider a 
more systematic approach 
to adding more. There is an 
opportunity to rely on public 
demand and business support 
to influence placement 
locations and prioritization.

AUTONOMOUS VEHICLES
While the private automobile yielded a 20th century dominated by 
suburban expansion, prevalent autonomous vehicle (AV) technology has 
the potential to support and promote denser, more urban development for 
the foreseeable future. AVs also have the potential to improve the safety 
and efficiency of transportation systems, reduce vehicle emissions, and 
improve the mobility of transportation-disadvantaged populations. However, 
AVs may also reinforce urban sprawl by reducing the monetary and perceived costs of 
travel. Proactive steps will be required for planners and policy makers to capitalize on the 
opportunities while mitigating the challenges. 

AVs will also affect the built environment in a number of ways, including new right-of-
way designs, changes to access management practices, reconsideration of signage and 
signalization, new models for pedestrian and bicycle networks, and reductions in demand 
and changes to the location of parking. A sustainable AV future can be made possible 
through thoughtful visioning, quality planning, and smart investment. This transformative 
technology can change our community for the better. The Town of Waynesville should 
continually monitor advances in the technology and explore the need for new policies and 
plans. 

So
ur

ce
: C

yc
le

sa
fe



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE170 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Indeed, Waynesville may need to rethink its streetscape 
overall, with reallocations of right-of-way for alternative 
modes, recognizing that AVs offer an opportunity to 
“right-size” roads at the human scale. Building upon the 
complete streets movement, AVs offer the potential 
for road diets that reallocate space previously used for 
automobiles back to human-powered and active travel 
modes. Waynesville has already demonstrated support 
for multimodal transportation, and may soon begin to 
experiment with new roadway typologies that provide 
prioritized accommodation to these modes. Right-of-way 
reallocation also holds the potential to provide new space 
for green infrastructure (public parks, landscaping, and 
stormwater management), public gathering places, and 
other features that can help achieve various community goals. Waynesville can also seek 
opportunities to pilot transit-specific applications of AV technology, with fully autonomous 
transit routes on public roads across the country. 

These efforts showcase the power of AV technology to provide transit services that provide 
accessibility to underserved portions of communities. 

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/docs/policy-initiatives/automated-vehicles/320711/preparing-fu-
ture-transportation-automated-vehicle-30.pdf
RESOURCES & REFERENCES:
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285579311_An_Assessment_of_Tax_Revenues_Generated_by_Homes_
Proximate_to_a_Greenway_The_Context
http://www.documentcloud.org/documents/404182-srt-20impact-20study-20year-201.html

So
ur

ce
: E

as
yM

ile

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/docs/policy-initiatives/automated-vehicles/320711/preparing-future-transportation-automated-vehicle-30.pdf
https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/docs/policy-initiatives/automated-vehicles/320711/preparing-future-transportation-automated-vehicle-30.pdf


COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  171JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Page Intentionally Left Blank



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE172 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

APPENDIX E: MAPS

1976 Future Land Use Map 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  173JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

2002 Future Land Use Map (From Old 2020 Plan)



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE174 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Future Land Use Map 



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  175JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

1977 Hazelwood Zoning Map 



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE176 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

Potential Railroad Overlay Map



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  177JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Landslide Map

#

#

#
#

#

#

#

# #

#

#

#

#

#

#

")

")

")

")")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")
")
")

")

")

")")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")")
")

")
")")

")

")
!(")")

")")

")

")

")")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

")

!(

")

")

")

")

!( !(

")!(!(

UV209

UV1818UV1247

UV1177

UV1164

UV1134

UV1147

UV1812

UV1809

£¤276

£¤276

£¤19

£¤276

£¤23 £¤23

£¤19

J
O

N
A

T
H

A
N

C
R
E

E
K

R
D

M O

NTROSE

LN

HOW ELL MILL RD

WILSON DR

ECHO

RDG

N
IC

H
O

L
S

R
D

G

K
U
D

Z
U

L
O

O
P

J
&

J
F

A
R

M
R

D

G O
R

D

ON

D R

GATA

TR

G
R

E
A
T
 S

M
O

K
Y

 M
T

N
 E

X
P

W
Y

A
B

E
L

L N

E
TT

A

ROY P
L

G
R

E
A

T
S

M
O

K
Y

M
TN

E
X
P

W
Y

W

PLO
TTCREEK RD

B
A

L
S

A
M

DR

JU NE

B
U

G

TR

H
ID

E
A

W

AY
LN

S
TEEP

TR

Q
U

E
E

N
S

F
A

R
M

L
N

B
IB

L
E

B
A
P

TI
S

T
D

R

SC
E
N
IC

C
IR

W
H
IT

E
D

O
G

W
O

O
D

L
N

H
IG

H

LAND
RD

E
X

IT
9
8

JUD YL
N

L
A

U
R

E
L

RID
G

E

D
R

D
U

N
C

A
N

H
IL

L
D

R

ASBURY
R

D

R
U

S
S

A
V

KAN U

S
A
TI

TR

B
L
U

EG R
A

S
S

L

N

A
S

H
E

V
IL

LE
RD

V
E

RM
O

N

T

D
R

G
O

L
F

C
O

U
R

S
E

R
D

JO

Y
LN

APA CHE DR

K
N

O
LL

W

OO
D

D
R

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

 C
IR

O
R

IO
N

D
AV

IS
R

D

B
LIN

K

B
O N N

Y
D

R

CHILDREN ST

R
A

C
C

O
O

N
R

D

JUNA LUSKA OAKS
D R

N
 H

IL
L
 S

T

CHA
N

C
E

R
Y

LN

S
Q

U
AW

R
ID

G
E

R
D

F

OXC

H
ASE RD

P

E
A C E

M

OUNTAIN
RD

L
E

N
W

O
O

D

D R

TAP

R
O

O
T

DR

FA

IRVIEW

HTS

R
E

IN
E

R
T

S
O

N
D

R

S
A

NC
T

U

A
RY

D
R

S

LAKESHORE

DR

W
R
IG

H
TS

R
D
G

BENT O
AK

DR

GREAT SMOKY MTN EXPWY

REBELR

ID

G
E

RD

BROWNINGBRANCH RD

K
A

TR
IN

A
W

AY

PARRIS H FARM RD

D
R

IF
TW

O
O

D

LO
O

P

GREAT SMOKYMTN EXPWYW

OLD CLYDE RD

M
O

U
N

TA
IN

V
IE

W

DR

OLY
M

P

IA
L
N

T
W

IN
BR

OOK DR

TURKEY TR

PIGEON RD

VIOLET R
D

G

DELLWOOD RD

O
X

N
E

R
C

O
V

E
R

D

CAM
P

B

RA
N

C
H

R
D

AW
O
HAL

I
T
R

N
LA

K
ESHORE DR

H
ODG

E
S

D
R

TILLM
AN

R
D

D OUBLE

TOP DR

LA

NS
ING

R
D

R
O

LLIN

G

DR

D

O
V
E

D
R

CA
D

ILLAC PT

OLD BALSAM RD

ALEXANDER DR

M
O
R

N
IN

G

DR

H
Y

A
T

T
 S

T

TR
IS

TO
N

D
R

FEBRU

A
R

Y
L

N

MICADALELN

CRYMES COVE RD

A
D

O
H

I
T
R

MARN E

Y
S

VISTA RD

M
A

R

RET
TA

L
N

K

ER
O

U
A

C
D

R

LEWISD
R

C
A

M
P

B
E

L
L

M
T

N
D

R

H
IGH RIDGE

RD

R

O
DE

O
D

R

LITTLE COVE RD

W
R
E

N

W

AY

VI
S

T
A

R
D

DOCK RATCL IFFE RD

LINCOLN WAY

B
IG

CO
V

E
R
D

IN
D
U

S
TR

IA
LP

ARK DR

WOLFPEN RD

M
A

R
IV

ILLE

L
N

LEATHERW
O

OD
RD

RICHLAND
C

R
E

E

K RD

HILLTOP
DR

OD A L

U
TR

P
A

L
M

E
R

RD

M
C

CRACKEN
ST

R
ED

B
A

N

K

R
D

P

LO
T
T

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

GREAT SMOKYMTN EXPWY

G
R

EE

NWOO
D

L N

ATK
INS LO

O

P

G
R

A
S

S
M

E
R

E

LN

B
R

Y
S

O
N

S
T

MACALLAND
R

SIM

S
C

IR

M
Y
S

T
IC

C
V

R
E
C

YC
LE

RD

ARC A

D
IA

L
A

K
E

DR

MOODYFARM RD

M
A

P
LE

G

ROVE CH RD

WILL HYA T
T

R
D

B
O

Y
S

E

NBE

RR
YL N

S
H

A
D

O
W

L
N

US 19-23-74 EXPWY W

P
O

W
D

E

RHORN

DR

SOCO RD

L O

CUST

D

R

A
P

RIL

P
K

PRE S ID

E
N

T
IA

L
D

R

C

REEKSI DEDR

HO
NEYSU CK

LE

LN

W

E S

L
E

Y
W

AY

RO
SE

L
N

ARLIN
G

TO
N

R

D

C
A
R

D
IN

A
L

LN

S P IR
IT

M
TN

TR

IN
G

L
E

W
O

O
D

C
V

VALLEYVIEW T
E

R

R O

C
KY

K

NOB RD

BE
TH

E
S

D

A

LN

F
L

O YD
RD

C
R

E
S

C

ENT
D

R

LA
U

R
E

L
R

ID
G

E

R
D

N
AT

H
A

N
IE

L DR
CIC A

D
A

DR

LE
N

O

IR
C

IR

PIN
N

A
C

L
E

D
R

C
R

A
B

T
R

E
E

R
D

R
A
T
C

LI
F
F

C
OVE RD

A

SHEVIL
LE

-

US
23

-7
4

O
L

D
S

C
H

O
O

L
R

D

OLD

B
A
L
S

A
M

R
D

TINY

D
R

A
L

L
E

N
S

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

R
A
Y

S
T

G
R

E
E

N
V

A
L

L
E

Y
R

D

B RIDGE T

DR

H
U

B

PATCH RD

COMP
ROMISED

R

F OURTH ST

E
C

H
O

D
R

C
A

M P SCHAUB

RD

M
E

S
SER

R
D

TAN
NE

HILL LN

W
A

L
N
U
TTRAIL RD

TE
S

T

FARM RD

TW
I S

TE
D

T
R

JUL
E NOLAN

D
D

R

G
A

D
D

IS
B

R
A

N
C

H
R

D

J

U
L
IA

L
N

L
IC

K
S

T
O

N

E

RD

S
H

E
E

P

PASTURE
RD

B
A

N
K

E
R

D
R

H
U

G
H

E

SDR

P
R

IVAT E CV

SEME
IO

NR
D

G

FARLEY ST

AC

C
E

S
S

R
D

O
R

A C
IR

STILLHOUSECOVE RD

F

REE M
A
N

R

D

F
U

L
B

R
IG

H
T

R
D

C
A

LH

OUN
RD

A
U

N
TB

E
L

LES CV

H
AL

LT
O

P
R

D

US 19-23-74 EXPWY E
DELLWOOD RD

C
R
A

B
T
R
E

E
RD

H
O

L LA
N

D
D

R

L
E

A
P

L
A

N
T

RD

O

XF OR

DR
D

C
O
U

N
T

Y
R

D

LO

OP R
D

CLUB

CR EST D R

COKE
S

BURY CIR

J
U
S

T
IC

E

TR

W
ATE RFALLSVIE

W DR

A
S

G
I T

R

EA GLES NEST
RD

L
O
R

RA
IN

E
DR

ROVING
W

O
O

D
DR

A
L
L
IS

O
N

D
R

H
E

A
D

R
D

E
A

G
LE

F
O

RK DR

S
P

Y
R

O
CK

R
D

T
O

W
N

C
E

N
T
E

R
LOO

P

STO

N
E

HA
V

EN
D

R

C
L

E

MS
O

N R

D

PA
R

A
D

IS
E

LN

GRANNY SMITH DR

FA
IR

WAY

D
R

GREE NVIEW
DR

H
Y
A

T
T

C
R

E
E

K
R

D

EXIT 103

SNAK
E

S
L
O

O

P

R
IM

ESD A

LE W
A

Y

T
A

R
H

E
E

L
D

R

W
A

L
E

L
A

T
R

P

O
T
TS

D

R

MAU NE

Y

C O
VE

R

D

CEDAR DR

H
U

G
H

M
A

S
S

IE
R

D

C

OU
N
T

R
Y

SID

E

D R

IMPALA DR

H
EG

GIE
L
N

P

HIL
LI

PS
R

D

C
H
ES

TNUT FLATS
LN

KI TTY

L
N

T
R

E
E

T
O

P
L
N

UN DERWOOD
C

O
V

E
R

D

R
O

A
M

IN

G

B
E

A
R

R
D

G

SIDNEY LN

SERENITY MTN
RD

HOSPITA
L

DR

CR

UM
D

R

SWEETHART PL

F
O

X
R

U
N

RD

H

IC KORY DR

H
ID

D
E

N

R
D

G

V
A

N
C

E
S

T

D

EER CREE
K

T

R

SUNNYSIDE RD

L
O

V
E

L
N

A
C

R
E

S
V

IE
W

D
R

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN

H
A

V
E

N
R

D

D
O

G

WO ODT R

A

PPLEHILL
DR

RA

V
E

N
R
O

C
K

D
R

FIN

CHER
M

T

N R
D

A
T

A
Y
A

TR

S
T

ANDREWS
R D

S
A

U
N

O
O

K
R

D

HA

L
E

F
A

R
M

R

D

DRAGON
F
IR

E

L
N

B
R

E
C

K
E

N
R

ID
G

E
R

D

LIN
E

R

C

O VE R

D

TI
MBE RCREE

K
H

T
S

QUEEN
C

O
V

E
R
D

R E

V
IS

M
TN

R
D

JO
N

A

THA
N

J A
M

E
S

C V

S
HA

DYS
ID

E

D
R

LO
V

EL

A

ND D
R

NEYLANDP

L

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

D
R

PINEY M
O UN T

A
IN

R
D

S
T

E
P

P
IN

G

S
T

O
N

E
L

N

M
IA

M
I

D
R

W
ALNUT COVE R

D

BIG STOMP
RD

O
LL

I
T

R

SUMMIT RIDGE

DR

FALL
IN

G
W

A
T

E
R

S
R

D

C

O

OLA
U

G
U

S
T

HT S

APPLE CR EEK

R
D

CR
E

S
T

M

O NTD R

S
H

IL
O

H
TR

SH
INERS

TRA
N

G
L

E

R S R

DG

O SC E

O
L

A

CIR

MOUNTAIN

V
I
E

W
DR

FARM
V
IEW

D
R

UNULA

LOOP

W
IL
DCAT

M

TN RD

H APP

Y

AC
R

E
S

RD

R
O

GERS

C
O

V

E

R
D

RU STIC RD

W
A

YN EV
IE

W
D

R

SHA D

O
WOOD

LN

W
O

O
D

YL
N

OWL RIDGE RD

R
O

A
R

IN
G

G
A
P

TR

FRA
NCIS FARMRD

S
K
YL

IN

E

DR

TA
W

O
D

I
TR

S
LE

E
P

Y

HOLLOW
D

R

SPRING

B
R

OO
K

FA
R

M
R
D

NIGHTINGALE

P
L

B

LU
E

RIDG E PKWY

F
O

R

ES
T

D

R

W

OOD
S

ID
E

CIR

PIGEON RIVER
(Waterville Lake

below elevation 2258)

Medford Branch

Hyatt Creek

Cove Field Branch

Al
le

n 
C

re
ek

Sh
el

to
n 

Br
an

ch

Shingle Cove Branch

G
ar

re
tt 

C
re

ek
Factory Branch

Redbank Branch

Nolen

Creek

Ri
ch

la
nd

Cr
ee

k 
(L

ak
e

Ju
na

lu
sk

a)

Plott Creek

Nick Creek

Jon
ath

ans 
Cree

k

Rogers Cove Branch

LakePalcoy

Ratcliffe Cove Branch

Camp Branch

Ri
ch

lan
d C

re
ek

Inman Branch

Jaynes Cove Branch

Bearpen Branch

Jones C
ove Branch

Bird C
reek

Sam Branch

Eaglenest Creek

Brow
ning B

ranch

McClure Creek

Mauney Cove Branch

Farmer Branch

McElroy Branch

Rocky Branch

Raccoon C
reek

Drift Branch

G
ad

di
s B

ra
nc

h

Big Spring B
ranch

Lake
Junaluska

Allen Creek
Reservoir

Laurel Ridge
Country
Club

Haywood
County
Courthouse

Mountain
Research

Station

Haywood County
Public Library

Frog Level

Lak e
Junaluska Golf

Cours e

Moun ta in
Vie w C re e k

Pa rk

Green Hill
Cemetery

Pigeon Community
Development
Center

Garrett
Hillcrest
Cemetery

Waynesville
Plaza

Hazelwood

The Waynesville
Inn Golf

Resort and Spa

Walmart

Downtown
Waynesville

Context
Waynesville City Limits
Waynesville ETJ
Urban Services Boundary (revised)

Landslide Susceptibility
1 -Where natural debris flows might start 
2 - Where natural debris flows might go
3 - Slope construction caution area

Landslide Locations

!( Naturally occurring landslide

") Landslide on slope modified by humans

[



WAYNESVILLE 2035: PLANNING WITH PURPOSE178 DRAFT

APPENDIX 7

APPENDIX F: GLOSSARY
The Glossary of terms below is provided to aid in understanding the Comprehensive Plan by 
defining terms that may be unfamiliar to readers. This glossary is not intended as an instrument 
of enforcement or policy. Additional information is available online; see website hyperlinks.  

Affordable Housing: According to Federal guidelines, housing that a household can obtain 
for 30% or less of its income. 

Conservation Development: An alternative form of subdivision design that focuses on 
environmental stewardship and preservation of land through configuration of lots that results in 
open space or linkages among open spaces within and outside a development’s boundaries. 

Existing Land Use: How land is currently used by parcel as determined from tax parcel 
records.

Floodplain: An area of low-lying land adjacent to a watercourse that is subject to flooding.

Infill: Development of a vacant or partially developed parcels that are surrounded by, or in 
close proximity to, areas that are substantially or fully developed 

Land Supply: Vacant or available land and underutilized land that could accomodate 
additional development.  Land supply is determined by an analysis of the ratio of the value of 
structures on a parcel compared to the value of land within the parcel. Land supply does not 
take into account environmental constraints or the owner’s intentions for the parcel, such as 
generational desire to continue land as a working farm. 

Living Wage: A wage that a worker must earn to afford basic necessities, without public or 
private assistance, as based on the local cost of living. 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO): As defined by the U.S. Census Bureau, a local 
governmental unit with legal jurisdiction over an urbanized area with a population of more 
than 50,000. Within their jurisdiction, MPOs provide government service planning such as 
transportation and land use planning.  

Mixed Use: The use of a building, a set of buildings, or a specific area for more than one land 
use (i.e. commercial and residential). 

Multimodal: A combination of more than mode of transportation. A multimodal 
transportation system caters to users of multiple modes (i.e. cars, transit, walking or biking).

Natural Heritage Element Occurrence (NHEO): Documented occurrences of rare species. 
This data is representative of historical and recent occurrences. The NC Natural Heritage 
Program collects this information and makes it available via the Natural Heritage Data Explorer 
and the Conservation Planning Tool. 

Natural Heritage Natural Area (NHNA): These areas are unique habitats that are of local, 
regional, state, national, or global significance. They represent the best and most intact 
versions of a particular natural community and/or habitat. The NC Natural Heritage Program 
collects this information and makes it available via the Natural Heritage Data Explorer and the 
Conservation Planning Tool.

NCDOT: The North Carolina Department of Transportation. 

http://NC Natural Heritage Program
http://NC Natural Heritage Program
http://NC Natural Heritage Program


COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  179JULY 2020

APPENDIX 7

Nodal Development/Node: A 
growth pattern that concentrates 
development within strategic spots to 
create nodes or activity centers. An 
alternative to strip development.

Redevelopment: Any proposed 
expansion, addition, or major change 
to an existing building, structure, or 
parking facility.   

Reuse: Redevelopment or 
rehabilitation of an existing building 
or set of buildings for any use(s) other 
than the present use(s). 

Streetscape: The natural and built 
environment of a street including 
but not limited to paving, lighting, 
plantings, stormwater management, 
furnishings, utilities, and transportation 
facilities. 

Strip Development: A growth pattern 
that is characterized by highly auto-
oriented commercial development arranged in a line, usually along a major roadway.

Suitability: The capacity of land to support a type of land use based on various environmental 
and economic attributes. 

Tactical Urbanism: A planning approach that uses small-scale, short-term, and low-cost 
installations that facilitate community building and allow projects or policies to be tested.

Viewshed: Area within view from an specific observation point. 

Vision Zero: Vision Zero is a multi-national road traffic safety project that aims to achieve a 
highway system with no fatalities or serious injuries involving road traffic.

Workforce Housing: Any form of housing that is affordable for households with an earned 
income that is insufficient to secure quality housing in reasonable proximity to the workplace.

Additional Web Resources 
American Planning Association      Department of Housing and Urban Development

Urban Land Institute                         National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO)

PP

PP

STRIP DEVELOPMENT

P

PP

P

NODAL DEVELOPMENT

http://The American Planning Association
http://Department of Housing and Urban Development
http://Urban Land Institute
http://National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO)


Please Publish on August 1st, and August 5th, 2020 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

The Town of Waynesville Board of Aldermen will be holding a public hearing on Tuesday, August 11th, 

2020 beginning at 6:30 p.m. or as closely thereafter as possible in the Town Hall Board Room located at 9 

South Main Street, Waynesville.   The purpose of the Public Hearing is for a Presentation on the Town of 

Waynesville Comprehensive Plan, Waynesville 2035: “Planning with Purpose.” 

Interested persons are encouraged to attend and be heard.  For more information please contact 

Elizabeth Teague, Development Services Director at 828-456-2004 or via email at 

eteague@waynesvillenc.gov.    

s/Eddie Ward 

By:  Eddie Ward, Town Clerk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:eteague@waynesvillenc.gov


TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  

Meeting Date:  August 11, 2020  
  

SUBJECT:  Amendment # 2 to the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance 
  
AGENDA INFORMATION:  
  
Agenda Location:   New Business  
Item Number:    5E 
Department:   Rhett Langston, Parks and Recreation Director 
Contact:   Dean Trader, Interim Finance Director / Rob Hites, Town Manager /  

Amie Owens, Assistant Town Manager / Preston Gregg, Town Engineer  
Presenter:    Dean Trader, Interim Finance Director / Autumn Lyvers, Fiscal Analyst 
    
BRIEF SUMMARY:   

The proposed amendment is needed to construct restrooms for the West Marshall Street Restroom Project. On 
July 21, 2020, the board approved the lowest bid of Shick Construction not to exceed $135,480 for the 
construction of restrooms on West Marshall Street. The amendment is proposing that $45,480 from 
Undesignated Fund Balance or savings in the General Fund be used for additional funding of the contract. The 
budget includes a contract price of $135,480 for Shick Construction of which $90,000 was previously budgeted 
for the FY 2020-2021 budget.  The General Fund’s Undesignated Fund Balance has a current balance of 
$5,803,010 before year end of FY 2019-2020. 

 

General Fund: 

Revenues: 

Fund Balance Appropriated     $45,480 

Expenditures: 

Recreation-Capital Outlay                      $45,480 

 

 

MOTIONS FOR CONSIDERATION:  To approve Amendment # 2 to the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance 
 

 .FUNDING SOURCE/IMPACT: 

The amendment is calling for the funding to come from the General Fund’s Undesignated Fund Balance or savings. 
 
 
 ATTACHMENTS:   

• Amendment # 2 to the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance 
 
MANAGER’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:  Approve as presented.  



Ordinance No. O-12-20 

 

Amendment No. 2 to the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance 

 

  WHEREAS, the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Waynesville, wishes to 

amend the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the Town of 

Waynesville that the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance be amended as follows: 

 

General Fund: 

Increase the following revenues: 

   Other Financing Sources 

Fund Balance Appropriated        103900-493992                        $45,480 

    

                                                                                            ________  

  Total General Fund revenue increase                                   $45,480 

 

(The Town Board accepted the lowest bid from Shick Construction to construct restrooms 

for the West Marshall Street Restroom Project. The size and scope of this project required 

additional funds to be appropriated for the current FY 2020-2021 budget.) 

 

Increase the following appropriations: 

   Parks & Recreation Department 

 Capital Improvements           106120-545900                             $45,480   

 

(The original estimated cost budgeted for this project was $90,000 which was $45,480 

below the accepted lowest bid of $135,480 from Shick Construction.)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

                                                                                                         _______  

   Total General Fund appropriation increase                        $45,480 

        

Adopted this 11th day of August 2020. 

       Town of Waynesville 

 

                                                                                 ____________________________ 

                                                                                J. Gary Caldwell 

                                                                                Mayor  

Attest: 

 

__________________________ 

Eddie Ward 

Town Clerk 

 

 

Approved As To Form: 

 

__________________________ 

William E. Cannon, Jr. 

Town Attorney                                                                                 



TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  

Meeting Date:  August 11, 2020 
 

  
SUBJECT:  Request to Amend our Career Track for attracting experienced officers.  
 
 
AGENDA INFORMATION:  
  
Agenda Location:   New Business   
Item Number:    6E 
Department:    Police Department   
Contact:    Chief David Adams  
Presenter:    Chief David Adams  
    
BRIEF SUMMARY:  We have an opportunity to hire seasoned officers from surrounding counties, which 
will allow us to become fully staffed and address traffic/speeding concerns more effectively. I am 
requesting that we be allowed to accelerate their Career Track. This will only be considered if they meet 
the years of qualified service and complete the required training.      
 
This amendment has been added to the full career track document to outline any exception to the 
existing career track schedule.  
 
MOTION FOR CONSIDERATION:  To approve the exception to the two year career track progression for 
an officer who may have previous experience when joining the Waynesville Police Department.   

 

FUNDING SOURCE/IMPACT:  Salaries/Wages line item funding 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Career Track Document with exceptions noted 

• Career track worksheet 
 
 
MANAGER’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:   Recommend approval – Police Department 

will monitor budget with Finance Office to ensure that salaries are budgeted appropriately each 

year.  

 



Page 1 of 7 

Waynesville Police Department                        

General Order 

 

Effective Date: November 04, 2004  Revised: August 11, 2020 Number: 

 
Career Development Program (Police)    

Distribution: All Personnel 
Related CALEA Standards:23.1.5, 23.3.3, 23.3.8, 23.3.10, 
23.3.13, 23.4.1   

 
 

PURPOSE: 
 

To establish guidelines and requirements for the promotions and advancements in rank 
with the Waynesville Police Department. 

 
 

 Career Development Program 

WPD Career Track 

  Probationary Police Officer            

  A. Basic Law Enforcement Training  

   1. Complete the Field Training Program  

   2. Obtain ASP and OC Certification 

   3. ICS 100, 200, and 700 

Upon successful completion of core training and 6 months on the job as 
full time Officer, the employee will be moved to Police Officer 1 and 
receive a 5 percent pay increase. 

  Police Officer - Police Officer I   

To be advanced to Police Officer 2 the employee must complete the 
following training courses totaling 224 hours and have 2 years as a 
Police Officer 1.  

   1) Intoxilyzer Training (40 Hours) 

   2) Standardized Field Sobriety Testing (24 Hours) 

   3) Report Writing (8 Hours)  



Page 2 of 7 

   4) Radar Certification (40 Hours) 

   5) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

   6) 64 Hours In-Service Training 

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Police 
Officer 1, the employee will be advanced to Police Officer 2 and receive 
a 5 percent pay increase. An employee adhering to this career track 
schedule will be a 2-year officer.    

    

  Police Officer - Police Officer 2 

  

To be advanced to Police Officer 3 the employee must complete the 
following training courses totaling 216 hours and have 2 years as a 
Police Officer 2.  

   1) Community Policing (24 hours)   

   2) Defensive Driving (40 hours) 

   3) Crime Scene Processing (24 hours)  

   4) Traffic Crash Investigation (16 hours) 

   5) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

   6) 64 Hours of In-Service Training 

   7) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                     

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Police 
Officer 2, the employee will be advanced to Police Officer 3 and receive 
a 5 percent pay increase. An employee adhering to this career track 
schedule will be a 4-year officer.   

     

  Police Officer - Police Officer 3  

To be promoted to Senior Officer the employee must successfully 
complete the following training courses totaling 232 hours, have 2 years 
as a Police Officer 3.  

   1) North Carolina Justice Academy’s Police Law Institute (80 hours) 

2) North Carolina Justice Academy’s Interviewing and Interrogation 
(40 hours) 



Page 3 of 7 

3) Awarded the North Carolina Intermediate Certification (through 
NC Criminal Justice Training Standards Commission)   

4) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

5) 64 hours In-Service training 

6) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Police 
Officer 3, the employee will be promoted to Senior Police Officer and 
receive a 5 percent pay increase. An employee adhering to this career 
track schedule will be a 6-year officer.   

 

  Senior Police Officer 

To be advanced to Senior Officer 2 the employee must complete the 
following training courses totaling 216 hours and have 2 years as a 
Senior Officer.   

1)        Field Training Officer (40 hours) 

2)  Officer Safety (40 hours) 

3) Active Shooter Training and Updates (24 hours) 

4) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

5) 64 hours In-Service training 

6) 12 hours of documented charitable non-compensated community 
service 

7) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Senior 
Officer, the employee will be advanced to Senior Police Officer 2  and 
receive a 5 percent pay increase. An employee adhering to this career 
track schedule will be an 8-year officer.   

  Senior Police Officer 2 

To be advanced to Senior Officer 3 the employee must complete the 
following training courses totaling 164 hours and have 2 years as a 
Senior 2.   

1)   First Line Supervision  (40 hours) 

2) Job Specific Electives (40 Hours) 



Page 4 of 7 

3) Tactical Training (20 Hours)                                                                     

4) 64 hours In-Service Training  

5) 12 hours of documented charitable non-compensated community 
service 

6) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Senior 
Police Officer 2, the employee will be advanced to Senior Police Officer 3  
and receive a 5 percent pay increase. An employee adhering to this 
career track schedule will be a 10-year officer.   

  Senior Police Officer 3 

To be advanced to Master Officer the employee must successfully 
complete the following training courses totaling 192 hours, have 2 years 
as a Senior Police Officer 3.  

1)   Instructor Certification  (80 hours) 

2) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

3) Awarded the North Carolina Advanced Certification (through NC 
Criminal Justice Training Standards Commission)  

4) 64 hours In-Service Training 

5) 12 hours of documented charitable non-compensated community 
service 

6) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Senior 
Police Officer 3, the employee will be promoted to Master Police Officer   
and receive a 5 percent pay increase. An employee adhering to this 
career track schedule will be a 12-year officer.   

    

  Master Police Officer  

To be advanced to Master Officer 2 the employee must complete the 
following training courses totaling 220 hours and have 2 years as a 
Master Officer 

1)   Police Law Institute Refresher  (24 hours) 

2) Advanced Field Training Officer (24 hours) 

3) 60 hours of Leadership Courses (60 hours) 



Page 5 of 7 

4) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

5) 12 hours of documented charitable non-compensated community 
service 

6) 64 hours In-Service Training 

7) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Master 
Police Officer, the employee will be advanced to Master Police Officer 2  
and receive a 5 percent pay increase. . An employee adhering to this 
career track schedule will be a 14-year officer.   

 

  Master Police Officer 2 

To be advanced to Master Officer 3 the employee must complete the 
following training courses totaling 216 hours and have 2 years as a 
Master Officer 2. 

1)  Complete a Community Based Project and present the project to                        
the Command Staff. (80 hours) 

2) Complete ICS 300, 400, and 800 (24 hours) 

3) Job Specific Electives (48 Hours) 

3) 64 hours In-Service Training 

4) 12 hours of documented charitable non-compensated community 
service 

5) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 2 years as Master 
Police Officer 2, the employee will be advanced to Master Police Officer 
3  and receive a 5 percent pay increase. . An employee adhering to this 
career track schedule will be a 16-year officer.   

 

 

  Master Police Officer 3 

Master Police Officer 3 is the highest rank that can be attained at the 
Waynesville Police Department unless the employee decides to enter the 
competitive process for promotion to Sergeant. 

 



Page 6 of 7 

  Sergeant 

Promotion to Sergeant is attained by application and participating in a 
competitive selection process.  To determine if you qualify to be eligible 
to apply for promotion to Sergeant refer to the Waynesville Police 
Department Standard Operating Procedures Manual section “Promotion 
to Sergeant”.  The raise in pay given as part of the promotion to 
Sergeant will be based upon the current salary plus 5 percent increase.  
A sergeant who is promoted prior to completing all steps up to Master 
Police Officer 3, can still attain those step raises by completing all the 
training and projects from the level at which they were promoted from 
through Master Police Officer 3.  

To be advanced to Senior Sergeant the employee must successfully 
complete the following training courses, have 5 years as a Sergeant 

1)  New Sergeants Course (24 hours) must be completed in first 
year 

2) Field Training Officer Supervisor  (20 hours) 

3) 64 hours In- Service Training 

4) Successfully complete the Management Development Program 
(MDP) approved by the Waynesville Police Administration.  The 
agency specific MDP will be comprised of a select series of 
courses provided by the North Carolina Justice Academy and 
approved by the administration.   

    a. Advanced Field Training Officer   
b. Budgeting and Finance for Law Enforcement Administrators   
c. Budgeting for Police Managers (web based)  
d. Conflict Management for Mid-Level Managers 
e. Leadership Development for Law Enforcement Managers 
f. Tactical Leadership Critical Lessons Learned  
g. TRRUTH Taking Race Relations and Understanding to Heart 
 
The agency specific MDP totals 212 hours of qualified training.     

5) No disciplinary suspensions for previous two years****                      

Upon successful completion of required training and 5 years as 
Sergeant, the employee will be advanced to Senior Sergeant and receive 
a 10 percent pay increase. 

  Senior Sergeant 

This is the highest level for a Sergeant.  In order to progress pass this 
level, the Senior Sergeant would need to apply for a Lieutenants position 
when there is an opening and participate in the competitive selection 
process. 

  



Page 7 of 7 

 

Officers must maintain all certifications required to attain a position. Any officer that is unable to 
maintain certain certifications due to a job description within the agency will be required to attain 
that certification once they transfer to a position in which the certification is applicable within one 
year.  

* Continuous law enforcement experience is defined as no break in service (no lapse in 
certification) with a law enforcement agency exercising full arrest powers based on full-time 
service. 

** If supervisor rates officer lower than 80%, the officer is given 90 days to correct and improve 
performance related issues 

*** Merit increase will be withheld if community service is not maintained on a yearly basis 

****Any disciplinary suspension will be evaluated by the staff on a case-by-case basis for final 
determination. 

 
          
EXCEPTION TO CAREER TRACK PROGRESSION – NEW HIRES WITH SIGNIFICANT 
EXPERIENCE (10+ years) 
 
As the highest initial hiring rank for an officer is Police Officer 3, we acknowledge that 
there may be individuals who have additional training or years of service, who may 
transfer to the Waynesville Police Department.  Individuals who have 10 or more years of 
service may be allowed an exception to the career track two-year progression by receiving 
an increase annually if all of the necessary education requirements have been met for the 
next corresponding level until they meet the equivocal career track for their years of 
service.     
 
Additionally, the Chief of Police may substitute training programs that are no longer 
available due to classes being canceled or no longer applicable for any particular career 
track.  
 

 
                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                 _____________________ 
        David P. Adams                   
                                                                                                        Chief of Police 
 
 



WPD Career Track 
 

RANK TRAINING REQUIRED HOURS TRAINING 

RECEIVED/HOURS 

DATE 

COMPLETED 

Probationary Officer Complete FTO N/A   

 OC Training 4-8   

 ASP Training 4-8   

 6 months LEO experience    

 ICS 100,200 & 700    

     

     

Police Officer 1 Intoximeter 40   

 SFST 24   

 Report Writing 8   

 Radar 40   

 Job Specific Electives 48   

 In-Service Training 64   

 2 years LEO experience    

     

     

     

Police Officer 2 Community Policing  24   

 Defensive Driving  40   

 Crime Scene Processing 24   

 Traffic Crash Inv. 16   

 Job Specific Electives  48   

 In-Service Training 64   

 4 years LEO experience    

     

     

     

Police Officer 3 PLI 80   

 I&I 40   

 Intermediate Certification    

 Job Specific Electives 48   

 In-Service Training  64   

 6 years LEO experience    

     

     

     

Senior Officer FTO 40   

 Officer Safety 40   

 Active Shooter/Updates 24   

 Job Specific Electives 48   

 In-Service Training 64   

 Charitable Comm. Service 12   

 8 years LEO experience    

     



WPD Career Track 
 

Senior Officer 2 1st Line Supervision 40   

 Job Specific Electives 40   

 Tactical Training Electives 20   

 In-Service  64   

 Charitable Comm. Svc 12   

 10 years LEO experience    

     

     

Senior Officer 3 Instructor/DARE School 80   

 Job Specific Electives 48   

 Advanced Certification    

 In-Service Training  64   

 Charitable Comm. Svc 12   

 12 years LEO experience    

     

     

Master Officer 1 PLI Refresher 24   

 Advanced FTO 24   

 Leadership Courses 60   

 Job Specific Electives 48   

 In-Service Training 64   

 Charitable Comm. Service 12   

 14 years LEO experience    

     

     

     

Master Officer 2 Community Based Project 80   

 ICS Courses 

(100,200,700,800) 

24   

 Job Specific Electives 48   

 In-Service Training  64   

 Charitable Comm. Service 12   

 16 years LEO experience    

     

     

Master Officer 3 Complete all above    

 

 

 

I, Sergeant ____________________________, recommend that Officer _________________  

advance to the rank of _____________________________. 

 

Sergeant ___________________________________          Date: ____________________ 

Documentation must be attached to this form and presented to your Sergeant. 



TOWN OF WAYNESVILLE BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  
Meeting Date: August 11, 2020 

 

 
SUBJECT:    
Law Enforcement Education Foundation Equipment Grant  
 
AGENDA INFORMATION:  
  
Agenda Location:   New Business   
Item Number:    7E 
Department:    Police Department 
Contact:    Lt. Chris S. Chandler 
Presenter:    Lt. Chris S. Chandler 
    
BRIEF SUMMARY:   
The Police Department recently applied for and received a grant from the Law Enforcement Education 
Equipment Foundation (LawEEF) based out of Atlanta Georgia. The purpose of the grant was to develop 
a solution to purchasing body cameras. The proposal submitted to LawEEF asked for funding to purchase 
FirstVu HD Body Cameras and everything needed for basic operation.  We chose FirstVu because they 
are produced by Digital Ally, who is our current provider for the in-car camera systems and could utilize 
our current VuVault Storage system.  As a result of grant application, we were awarded the following: 
 
Original quote from Digital Ally:  $20,155.00 
LawEEF Grant (75%):   $15, 116.25 
ToW Cost (25%):     $5, 038.75  
 
An ongoing study is being conducted to determine the best storage options available including utilizing 
the current VuVault system with the possibility of being required to increase server storage capacity 
with Electronic Office or contract with Digital Ally for access to cloud storage with an additional cost of 
$7,092.00 annually.  There are advantages to the cloud storage option that are not available to the self-
storage option utilizing our current VuVault system.   
 
MOTION FOR CONSIDERATION:   

To approve the transfer of Federal Forfieture Funds to cover the ToW costs of $5,038.75 to purchase 25 
FirstVu HD Body Cameras, a 12 Bay docking station, 25 magnet mounts and 25 Professional Service fees.    
 

FUNDING SOURCE/IMPACT:  (must have approval by Finance Director prior to submission to the Board) 

 

          
Finance Director   Date 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Complete Integrated Video Solution for the Waynesville NC Police Department 
 
MANAGER’S COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:  



























Ordinance No. O-13-20 

 

Amendment No. 3 to the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Waynesville, wishes to amend the 

2020-2021 Budget Ordinance. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the Town of 

Waynesville that the 2020-2021 Budget Ordinance be amended as follows: 

 

General Fund: 

Increase the following revenues: 

 

Restricted Intergovernmental Revenue  

 Other Police Grant  103350-434311             $20,155 

                                                                                                                      ________  

 

  Total General Fund revenue increase                         $20,155 

 

(Revenue needed to fund the grant requirement awarded to The Town of Waynesville from 

the Law Enforcement Education Foundation to purchase body cameras. LawEEF Grant 

(75%) $15,116.25 Town of Waynesville Asset Forfeiture Funds (25%) $5,038.75 ) 

 

Increase the following appropriations: 

 General Fund 

  Miscellaneous Grants 

Equipment        104315-545500  $20,155 

  

(The Police Department recently applied for and received a grant from the Law 

Enforcement Education Equipment Foundation. The purpose of this grant is to purchase 

FirstVu HD Body Cameras for our Police Department.)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

                                                                                                           ________                                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                                            

  Total General Fund appropriation increase                                  

          $20,155 

 

Adopted this 11th day of August 2020. 

       Town of Waynesville 

 

                                                                                 ____________________________ 

                                                                                J. Gary Caldwell 

                                                                                Mayor 

Attest: 

 

__________________________ 

Eddie Ward 

Town Clerk 

 

Approved As To Form: 

 

__________________________ 

William E. Cannon, Jr. 

Town Attorney                                                                                 


